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TITLE IV, MISSING CHILDREN'S ASSISTANCE
ACT

MONDAY, APRIL 9, 1984

HOUSE OF REPRi.b.-NTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND LABOR,

SUBCOMMITTEE ON HUMAN RESOURCES,
Chicago, IL.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10 a.m., in the Cere-
monial Courtroom, Dirksen Federal Building, Chicago, IL, Hon. Pat
Williams presiding.

Members present: Representatives Williams, Simon, and Hayes.
Staff present: Gordon A. Raley, staff director; Deborah L. Hall,

clerk; Denise R. Driver, legislative associate; Edward Larson, Re-
publican assistant counsel for Human Resources.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Good morning. The hearing is called to order to
consider the bill H.R. 4971, most specifically title IV of that bill,
which is known as the Missing Children's Assistance Act.

I'm chairing this morning this hearing in place of the regular
chairman, Congressman Ike Andrews, who has a longstanding com-
mitment in North Carolina, and was not able to be with us here
today.

My name is Pat Williams. I represent western Montana in the
U.S. Congress.

Earlier this year Congressman Andrews introduced H.R. 4971,
the Juvenile Justice, Runaway Youth, and Missing Children's As-
sistance Act Amendments of 1984, along with a bipartisan group of
cosponsors. I believe all of us on the panel this morning are among
those cosponsors. Congressman Paul. Simon, in particular, should
be congratulated and commended for his efforts in the original in-
troduction of H.R. 4300, the Missing Children's Assistance Act of
1983, which was incorporated just this past week into H.R. 4971,
during the markup of this subcommittee.

When dealing with a problem such as that of missing children,
there is a tendency to depend heavily on statistics as a rationale
for action. Indeed, we have statistics, and even the most conserva-
tive ones are sobering.

Somewhat more than 1 million children are reported missing
each year, but the vast majority return home within a few days.
Others stay away longer. Some of those run for good reasons. Too
many are physically and even sexually abused at home. Others
may, in fact, be pushed from their homes, throwaways. Title III of
the Juvenile Justice Act, the Runaway and Homeless Youth Act,
looks to their needs.

(1)
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But another group are not runaways, pushaways, or throwaways.
These children are removed from their homes against their will,
and against the will of their parents. They are abductedas many as
150,000 a year. These are the "statistics" with which we are con-
cerned this morning.

Many of these " statistics" these childrenare abducted by peo-
ple known to them. Perhaps estranged parents. This may seem less
serious, but often these children suffer abuse and neglect when the
reason for their abduction is revenge on a former spouse, rather than
concern for that child.

Only about 10 percent of these "statistics"these childrenare
returned to their legal parents. The remaining statistics are more
frightening. They concern stranger abductions; many thousands
each year. Some 4,000 children are found dead each year. The bodies
of others are found but never identified. The lives of these children
and those of their families are forever shattered.

Here hard statistics come alive for us:
Ann Gotlieb, age 12, vanished without a trace last summer from

a shopping center near her Louisville home;
Ricky Barnett, age 2, was last saen in August 1982 playing on

the farm where his grandparents work near Grangeville, ID;
Angela and Jodi Fout, ages 5 and 2, were in the care of a babysit-

ter when two men abducted them from their home M Ohio;
Adam Walsh, Sarah Avon, Patricia Kellett, it is these children

and their families, not statistics, which really bring us here today.
The problem is complex. It crosses State lines. Therefore, Federal

leadership is being sought, and is essential if we are to develop a
Federal solution for this grieveous problem. Things can be done with
adequate information, ideas, and resources.

Much has already been accomplished to guide us. The 2-year-old
Missing Children's Program within the FBI is now listing missing
children in the national computer accessible to most police depart-
ments. That, thanks to Congressman Paul Simon.

Model programs have been developed in Florida, Kentucky, and
here in Chicago.

NBC, through its made-for-TV program, "Adam," has demon-
strated the effectiveness of public information programs. The Ral-
ston Purina Corp. has initiated a public education effort to inform
parents how to help their children recognize and avoid lures used
by abductors.

Child Find, and the Child Stealing Research Center, have devel-
oped new ways to assist in locating children, and assisting their
families. Yet, much remains to be done.

Our purpose this morning then is to determine if the Federal
Government, through the legislation proposed in H.R. 4971, can be
of help. If so, how can that help be more effective.

[Text of H.R. 4971 follows:]
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98Th CONGRESS H. R. 49712D SESSION

To amend the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 to
authorize appropriations for fiscal years 1985 through 1989, and for other
purposes.

IN THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

FEBRUARY 29, 1984

Mr. ANDREWS of North Carolina (for himself, Mr. PERKINS, Mr. PETRI, Mr.
SIMON. and Ms. SNOWS) introduced the following bill; which was referred to
the Committee on Education and Labor

A BILL
To amend the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act

of 1974 to authorize appropriations for fiscal years 1985

through 1989, and for other purposes.

1 Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-

2 tines of the United States of America in Congress assembled,

3 TITLE IGENERAL PROVISIONS

4 SHORT TITLE

5 SEC. 101. This Act may be cited as the "Juvenile Jus-

6 tics, Runaway Youth, and Missing Children's Act Amend-

7 ments of 1984 ".
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2

1 FINDINGS

2 SEC. 102. Section 101(a) of the Juvenile Justice and

3 Delinquency Preventio.1 Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5601(a)) is

4 amended-

5 (1) in paragraph (1)

6 (A) by striking out "account" and inserting

7 in lieu thereof "accounted", and

8 (B) by striking out "today" and inserting in

9 lieu thereof "in 1974 and for less than one-third

10 of such arrests in 1983",

11 (2) in paragraph (2) by inserting "and inade-
12 quately trained staff in such courts, services, and facili-

13 ties" after "facilities",

14 (3) in paragraph (3) by striking out "the countless,

15 abandoned, and dependent", and

16 (4) in paragraph (5) by striking out "prevented"

17 and inserting in lieu thereof "reduced".

18 PURPOSE

19 SEC. 103. Section 102(a) of the Juvenile Justice and

20 Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5602(a)) is

21 amended-

22 (1) in paragraph (1) by striking out "prompt" and

23 inserting in lieu thereof "ongoing",

I U
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1 (2) in paragraph (4) by striking out "an informa-

2 tion clearinghouse to disseminate" and inserting in lieu

3 thereof "the dissemination of", and

4 (3) in paragraph (7) by inserting "and homeless"

5 after "runaway".

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21 and

22 (5) by adding at the end thereof the following new

23 paragraph:

24 "(16) the term 'valid court order' means a court

25 order given by a juvenile court judge to a juvenile who

DEFINITIONS

SEC. 104. Section 103 of the Juvenile Justice and De-

linquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5603) is

amended

(1) in paragraph (3)

(A) by striking out "control,",

(B) by striking out "for neglected, aban-

doned, or dependent youth and other youth", and

(C) by inserting "juvenile" after "prevent",

(2) in paragraph (6) strike out "services," and

insert in lieu thereof "services),",

(3) in paragraph (14) by striking out "and" at the

end thereof,

(4) in paragraph (15) by striking out the period at

the end thereof and inserting in lieu thereof "; and",

11
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4

1 has been brought into court. In order to be in violation

2 of a valid court order, the juvenile must first have been

3 brought into the court and made subject to a court

4 order. The juvenile in question would have to have re-.
5 ceived adequate and fair warning of the consequences

6 of violation of the order at the time it was issued. The

7 use of the word 'valid' permits the incarceration of ju-

8 veniles for violation of a valid court order only if they

9 T.( ived their full due process rights as specifically

10 enumerated by the United States Supreme Court.".

11 TITLE IIJUVENILE JUSTICE AND

12 DELINQUENCY PREVENTION

13 OFFICE OF JUVENILE JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY

14 PREVENTION

15 SEC. 201. Section 201 of the Juvenile Justice and De-

16 linquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5611) is

17 amended-

18 (1) striking out subsection (e),

19 (2) by amending subsection (f) to read as follows:

20 "(e) There shall be in the Office a Deputy Administrator

21 who shall be appointed by the Attorney General and whose

22 function shall be to supervise and direct the National Insti-

23 tute for Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention estab-

24 lished by section 241 of this Act. The Deputy Administrator

25 shall also perform such functions as the Administrator may

HR 1971 111

1 2
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5

1 from time to time assign or delegate and shall at as the

2 Administrator during the absence or disability of the Admin-

3 istrator.", and

4 (3) by striking out subsection (g).

5 TECHNICAL AMENDMENTS

6 SEC. 202. (a) Section 202(a) of the Juvenile Justice and

7 Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5612(a)) is

8 amended by striking out "him" and inserting in lieu thereof

9 "the Administrator".

10 (b) Section 202(c) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-

11 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (12 U.S.C. 5612(c)) is

12 amended--
13 by striking out "him" and inserting in lieu

14 thereof "the Administrator", and

15 (2) by striking out "his functions" and inserting in

16 lieu thereof "the functions of the Administrator".

17 CONCENTRATION OF FEDERAL EFFORTS

18 SEC. 203. (a) Section 204(a) of the Juvenile Justice and

19 Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5614(a)) is

20 amended by striking out "his functions" and inserting in lieu

21 thereof "the functions of the Administrator".

22 (b) Section 204(b)(2) of the Juvenile Justice and Delhi-

23 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5614(b)) is

24 amended-

113
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6

1 (1) in paragraph (2) by striking out "he" and in-

2 sorting in lieu thereof "the Administrator", and

3 (2) in paragraph (4) by striking out "he" and in-

4 sorting in lieu thereof "the Administrator".

5 (o) Section 204(e) the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency

6 Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5614(e)) is amended by

7 striking out "subsection ('1')" and inserting in lieu thereof

8 "subsection (1)".

9 (d) Section 204(f) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-

10 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5614(0) is

11 amended-

12 (1) by striking out "him" and inserting in, lieu

13 thereof "the Administrator", and

14 (2) by striking out "he" and inserting in lieu

15 thereof "the Administrator".

16 (e) Section 204(g) of the Juvenile Justice and Delin-

17 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5614(g)) is

18 amended by striking out "his functions" and inserting in lieu

19 thereof "the functions of the Administrator".

20 (f) Section 204(i) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-

21 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5614(i)) is amend-

22 ed-
23 (1) by striking out "title" and inserting in lieu

24 thereof "section", and

14
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1 (2) by striking out "he" aid inserting in lieu

2 thereof "the Administrator".

3 (g) Section 204(1) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-

4 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5614(1)) is

5 amended-

6 (1) in paragraph (1)-

7 (A) by striking out "section 204(d)(1)" and

8 inserting in lieu thereof "subsection (d)(1)", and

9 (B) by striking out "section 204(f)" and in-

10 serting in lieu thereof "subsection (f)",

11 (2) in paragraph (2)

12 (A) by striking out "subsection ('1')" and in-

13 serting in lieu thereof "paragraph (1)", and

14 (B) by striking out "section 204(e)" each

15 place it appears and inserting in lieu thereof "sub-

16 section (e)", and

17 (3) in paragraph (3)

18 (A) by striking out "him" and inserting in

19 lieu thereof "the Administrator", and

20 (B) by striking out "subsection ('1')" and in-

21 sorting in lieu thereof "paragraph (1)".

22 (h) Section 204(m) of the Juvenile Justice and

23 Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5614(m)) is

24 amended by striking out "7.5 percent" and inserting in lieu

25 thereof "4 percent".

16
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1 COORDINATING COUNCIL ON JUVENILE JUSTICE AND
2

DELINQUENCY PREVENTION

3 SEC. 204. (a) Section 206(a)(1) of the Juvenile Justice
4 and Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C.
5 5616(a)(1)) is amended by striking out "Community Services
6 Administration" and inserting in lieu thereof "Office of Corn-
7 munity Services".

8 (b) Section 206(c) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-
9 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5616(c)) is

10 amended by striking out "deliquency" and inserting in lieu
11 thereof "delinquency".

12 (c) Section 206(e) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-
13 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.O. 5616(e)) is
14 amended by striking out "he" and inserting in lieu thereof
15 "the Administrator".

16 (d) Section '206(g) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-
17 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5611:1(g)) is
18 amended by striking out "$500,000" and insert in lieu there-
19 of "$200,000 ".

20 NATIONAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE FOR JUVENILE JUSTICE
21 AND DELINQUENCY PREVENTION

22 SEC. 205. (a) Section 207(a) of the Juvenile Justice and
23 Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5617(a)) is
24 amended-

25 (1) in paragraph (2)

16.
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1 (A) by striking out "and persons" and insert-

2 ing in lieu thereof "persons",

3 (B) by inserting "the family," after "prob.

4 lems of", and

5 (C) by inserting before the period at the end

6 thereof the following: "; members of State adviso-

7 ry groups appointed pursuant to section 223(a)(3)

8 of this title; and local and State elected officials",

9 and

(2) in paragraph (3) by inserting after "(3)" the

11 following: "At least 2 of the individuals appointed as

12 members of the Advisory Committee shall be residents

13 of rural areas.".

14 (b) Section 207(b)(2) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-

15 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5617(b)(2)) is

16 amended by striking out "may" and inserting lieu thereof

17 "shall".

18 (c) Section 207(h) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-

19 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5617(h)) is

20 amended by striking out "$500,000" and inserting in lieu

21 thereof "$200,000 ".

22 TECHNICAL AMENDMENTS

23 SEC. 206. (a) The Juvenile Justice and Delinquency

24 Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5601 et seq.) is amended

17
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1 by inserting after the heading for subpart I of part B of title

2 II the following new heading for section 221:

3 "AUTHORITY TO MAKE GRANTS".

4 (b) Section 222(b) of the Juvenile Justice and Delin-

5 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5632(b)) is

6 amended-

7 (1) by striking out "and the Trust Territory" and

8 inserting in lieu thereof "the Trust Territory", and

9 (2) by inserting ", and the Commonwealth of the

10 Northern Mariana Islands" after "Pacific Islands".

11 STATE PLANS

12 SEC. 207. (a) Section 223(a) of the Juvenile Justice and

13 Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5633(a)) is

14 amended-

15 (1) paragraph (3)-

16 (A) by amending subparagraph (C) to read as

17 follows:

18 "(C) which shall include (i) representatives of pri-

19 vate organizations, including those with a special focus

20 on maintaining and strengthening the family unit, those

21 concerned with delinquency prevention and treatment

22 and with neglected or dependent children, and those

23 concerned with the quality of juvenile justice, educa-

24 tion, or social services for children; (ii) representatives

25 of organizations which utilize volunteers to work with
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1 delinquents or potential delinquents; (iii) representatives

2 of community based delinquency prevention or treat-

3 ment programs; (iv) representatives of business groups

4 or businesses employing youth; (v) youth workers in-

5 volved with alternative youth programs; and (vi) per-

6 sons with special experience and competence in ad-

7 dressing the problems of the family, school violence

8 and vandalism, and learning disabilities,", and

9 (B) in subparagraph (F)

10 (i) in clause (ii) by striking out "para.

11 graph (12)(A) and paragraph (13)" and in-

12 serting in lieu thereof "paragraphs (12), (13),

13 and (14)", and

14 (ii) in clause (iv) by striking out "para-

15 graph (12)(A) and paragraph (13)" and in-

16 serting in lieu thereof "paragraphs (12), (13),

17 and (14)",

18 (2) in paragraph (9) by inserting "special educa-

19 tion," after "education,",

20 (3) in paragraph (10)-

21 (A) in subparagraph (E) by inserting ", in-

22 eluding programs to counsel delinquent youth and

23 other youth regarding the opportunities which

24 education provides" before the semicolon at the

25 end thereof,

39-879 0 - 85 - 2



14

12

(B) in subparagraph (F) by inserting "and

2 their families" before the semicolon at the end

3 thereof,

4 (C) in subparagraph (H)

5 (i) in clause (iii) by striking out "or" at

6 the end thereof,

(ii) in clause (iv) by inserting "or" at

8 the end thereof, and

9 (iii) by adding at the end thereof the fol-

10 lowing new clause:

11 "(v) involve parents and other family

12 members in addressing the delinquency-relat-

13 ed problems of juveniles;",

14 (D) in subparagraph (I) by striking out "and"

15 at the end thereof,

16 (E) in subparagraph (J) by inserting "and"

17 at the end thereof, and

18 (F) by adding at the end thereof the follow-

19 ing new subparagraph:

20 "(K) programs and projects designed to pro-

21 vide for the treatment of juveniles' dependence on

22 or abuse of alcohol or other addictive or nonaddic-

23 tive drugs;",

24 (4) by amending paragraph (12) to read as fol-

25 lows:

2
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"(12)(A) provide within three years after submis-

sion of the initial plan that juveniles who

"(i) are charged with or have committed of:

fenses that would not be criminal if committed by

an adult;

"(ii) have committed offenses which are not

found to constitute violations of valid court orders;

8 or

9 "(iii) are such nonoffenders as dependent or

10 neglected children;

11 shall not be placed in secure detention facilities or

12 secure correctional facilities; and

13 "(B) provide that the State shall submit annual

14 reports to the Administrator containing a review of the

15 progress made by the State to achieve the deinstitu-

16 tionalization of juveniles described in subparagraph (A)

17 and a review of the progress made by the State to pro-

18 vide that such juveniles, if placed in facilities, are

19 placed in facilities which-

20 "6) are the least restrictive alternatives ap-

21 propriate to the needs of the child and the corn-

22 munity involved;

23 "(ii) are in reasonable proximity to the family

24 and the home communities of such juveniles, and

21
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1 "(iii) provide the services described in section

2 103(1);".

3 (5) by amending paragraph (14) to read as
4 follows:

5 "(14) provide that, begin ling after the 5-year

6 period following December 8980, no juvenile shall

7 be detained or confined in any all or lockup for adults,

8 except that the Administrator f tall, through 1989, pro-

9 mulgate regulations which make exceptions with

10 regard to the detention of juveniles accused of non-

11 status offenses who are F waiting an initial court ap-

12 pearance pursuant to an enforceable State law requir-

13 ing such appearances within 24 hours of custody (ex-

14 eluding weekends and holidays) provided that such ex-

15 captions are limited to areas. which-

16 "(i) are outside a Standard Metropolitan Sta-

17 tistical Area,

18 "(ii) have no existing acceptable alternative

19 placement available, and

20 "(iii) are in compliance with the provisions of

21 paragraph (13).".

22 (6) in paragraph (18)-

23 (A) by striking out "arrangements are made"

24 and inserting in lieu thereof "arrangements shall

25 be made",

2
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1 (B) by striking out "Act. Such" and inserting

2 in lieu thereof "Act and shall provide for the

3 terms and conditions of such protective arrange-

4 ments established pursuant to this section, and

5 such",

6 (C) in subparagraph (I)) by inserting "and"

7 at the end thereof,

8 (D) in subparagraph (E) by striking out the

9 period at the end thereof and inserting in lieu

10 thereof a semicolon, and

11 (E) by striking out the last sentence of such

12 paragraph,

13 (7) by striking out the last sentence thereof,

14 (8) by redesignating paragraphs (17), (18), (19),

15 (20), (21), and (22) as paragraphs (18), (19), (20), (21),

16 (22) and (23), respectively, and

17 (9) by inserting after paragraph (16) the following

18 new paragraph:

19 "(17) provide assurance that consideration will be

20 given to and that assistance will be available for ap-

21 proaches designed to strengthen and mintain the

22 family units of delinquent and other youth to prevent

23 juvenile delinquency. Such approaches should include

24 the involvement of grandparents or other extended

25 family members when possible and appropriate;".

23
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1 GRANTS AND CONTRACTS

2 SEC. 208. Section 224 of the Juvenile Justice and De-

3 linquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5601 et seq.) is

4 amended to read as follows:

5 "AUTHORITY TO MAKE GRANTS AND CONTRACTS

6 "SEC. 224. (a) From not less than 15 percent, but not

7 more than 25 percent, of the funds appropriated to carry out

8 this part, the Administrator shall, by making grants to and

9 entering into contracts with public and private nonprofit

10 agencies, organizations, institutions, or individuals to do each

11 of the following during each fiscal year:

12 "(1) develop and maintain community based alter-

13 natives to traditional forms of institutionalization of ju-

14 venile offenders;

15 "(2) develop and implement effective means of di-

16 verting juveniles from the traditional juvenile justice

17 and correctional system, including restitution and rec-

18 onciliation projects which test and validate selected ar-

19 titration models, such as neighborhood courts or

20 panels, and increase victim satisfaction while providing

21 alternatives to incarceration for detained or adjudicated

22 delinquents;

23 "(3) develop statewide programs through the use

24 of subsidies or other financial incentives designed to-

24
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1 "(A) remove juveniles from jails and lockups

2 for adults;

3 "(B) replicate juvenile programs designated

4 as exemplary by the National Institute of Justice;

5 or

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

"(C) establish and adopt, based upon the rec-

ommendations of the Advisory Committee, stand-

ards for the improvement of juvenile justice within

each State involved;

"(4) develop and support programs to encourage

the improvement of due process available to juveniles

in the juvenile justice system;

"(5) develop and implement model programs, re-

lating to the special education needs of delinquent and

other youth, which develop locally coordinated policies,

and programs among education, juvenile justice, and

social service agencies; and

"(6) develop model programs to strengthen and

maintain the family unit in order to prevent or treat

juvenile delinquency.

"(b) From any special emphasis funds remaining availa-

ble after grants and contracts are made under subsection (a),

but not to exceed 10 percent of the funds appropriated to

carry out this part, the Administrator is authorized, by

making grants to and entering into contracts wiih public and

25,
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1 private nonprofit agencies, organizations, institutions, or indi-

2 viduals, to develop and implement new approaches, tech-

3 niques, and methods designed to-
4 "(1) improve the capability of public and private

5 agencies and organizations to provide services for de-

6 linquents and other youth to help prevent juvenile de-

7 linquency;

8 "(2) develop and implement, in coordination with

9 the Secretary of Education, model programs and meth-

10 ods to keep students in elementary and secondary

11 schools and to prevent unwarranted and arbitrary sus-

12 pensions and expulsions and to encourage new ap-

13 proaches and techniques with respect to the prevention

14 of school violence and vandalism;

15' "(3) develop and support programs stressing advo-

16 cacy activities aimed at improving services to youth

17 impacted by the juvenile justice system;

18 "(4) develop, implement, and support, in conjunc-

19 tion with the Secretary of Labor, other public and pri-

20 vats agencies and organizations and business and in-

21 dustry programs for youth employment;

22 "(5) develop and support programs designed to

23 encourage and enable State legislatures to consider and

24 further the purposes of this title, both by amending

26
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1 State laws if necessary, and devoting greater resources

2 to those purposes;

3 "(6) develop and implement programs relating to

4 juvenile delinquency and learning disabilities, including

5 on-the-job training programs to assist law enforcement

6 personnel and juvenile justice personnel to more effec-

7 tively recognize and provide for learning disabled and

8 other handicapped juveniles; and

9 "(7) develop and implement special emphasis pre-

10 vention and treatment programs relating to juveniles

11 who commit serious crimes.

12 "(c) Not less than 30 percent of the funds available for

13 grants and contracts under this section shall be available for

14 grants to and contracts with private nonprofit agencies, orga-

15 nizations, or institutions which have had experience in deal-

16 ing with youth.

17 "(d) Assistance provided under this section shall be

18 available on an equitable basis to deal with female, minority,

19 and disadvantaged youth, including mentally, emotionally, or

20 physically handicapped youth.

21 "(e) Not less than 5 percent of the funds available for

22 grants and contracts under this section shall be available for

23 grants and contracts designed to address the special needs

24 and problems of juvenile delinquency in the Virgin Islands,

25 Guam, American Samoa, the Trust Territory of the Pacific

27
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1 Islands, and the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Is-

2 lands.".

3 APPROVAL OF APPLICATIONS

4 SEC. 209. (a) &lotion 225(b) of the Juvenile Justice and

5 Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5635(b)) is

6 amended

? (1) in paragraph (2) by inserting "(such purpose or

8 purposes shall be specifically identified in such applies.-

9 tion)" before the semicolon,

10 (2) in paragraph (5) by striking out ", when ap-
11 propriate" and inserting in lieu thereof "(if such local

12 agency exists)", and

13 (3) in paragraph (8) by striking out "indicate" and

14 inserting in lieu thereof "attach a copy of".

15 (b) Section 225(c) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-

16 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5635(c)) is

17 amended-

18 (1) by inserting "and for contracts" after "for

19 grants", and

20 (2) in paragraph (4) by striking out "delinquents

21 and other youth to help prevent delinquency" and in-

22 setting in lieu thereof "address juvenile delinquency

23 and juvenile delinquency prevention".

24 (c) Section 225 of the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency

25 Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5635) is amended

28
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1 (1) by redesignating subsection (d) as subsection

2 (e), and

3 (2) inserting after subsection (c) the following new

4 subsection:

5 "(d) New programs selected after the effective date of

6 the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act

7 Amendments of 1984 for assistance under section 224 shall

8 be selected through a competitive process to be established

9 by the Administrator. As part of such process, the Adminis-

10 trator shall announce publicly the availability of funds for

11 such assistance, the general criteria applicable to the selec-

12 tion of applicants to receive such assistance, and a descrip-

13 tion of the processes applicable to submitting and reviewing

14 applications for such assistance.".

15 (d) Section 225 of the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency

16 Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5035) is amended by

17 adding at the end thereof the following new subsection:

18 "(f) Notification of grants and contracts made under sec-

19 tion 224 (and the applications submitted for such grants and

20 contracts) shall, upon being made, be transmitted by the Ad-

21 ministrator, to the chairman of the Committee on Education

22 and Labor of the House of Representatives and the chairman

23 of the Committee on the Judiciary of the Senate.".

29
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1 USE OF FUNDS

2 SEc. 210. Section 227(c) of the Juvenile Justice and

3 Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5637(c)) is

4 amended by striking out "section 224(a)(7)" each place it

5 appears and inserting in lieu thereof "section 224(b)(3)".

6 PAYMENTS

7 SEC. 211. (a) Section 228(a) of the Juvenile Justice and

8 Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5638(a)) is

9 amended by striking out "he" and inserting in lieu thereof

10 "the Administrator".

11 (b) Section 228(d) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-

12 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5638(d)) is

13 amended by striking out "he" and inserting in lieu thereof

14 "the Administrator".

15 (c) Section 228(e) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-

16 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5638(e)) is

17 amended-

18 (1) by striking out "him" and inserting in lieu

19 thereof "the Administrator", and

20 (2) by striking out "section 224(a)(5)" and insert-

'21 ing in lieu thereof "section 224(a)(3)".

22 NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR JUVENILE JUSTICE AND

23 DELINQUENCY PREVENTION

24 SEc. 212. (a) The Juvenile Justice and Delinquency

25 Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5601 et seq.) is amended
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1 by inserting after the heading for part C of title II the follow-

2 ing new heading for section 241:

3 "ESTABLISHMENT OF NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR

4 JUVENILE JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY PREVENTION".

5 (b) Section 241(b) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-

6 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5651(b)) is

7 amended by striking out "section 201(f)" and inserting in lieu

8 thereof "section 201(e)".

9 (c) Section 241(d) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-

10 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5651(d)) is

11 amended to read as follows:

12 "(d) It shall be the purpose of the Institute to provide-

13 "(1) a coordinating center for the collection, prep-

14 aration, and dissemination of useful data regarding the

15 prevention and treatment of juvenile delinquency; and

16 "(2) a'- nropriate training (including training de-

17 signed to strengthen and maintain the family unit) for

18 representatives of Federal, State, local law enforce-

19 ment officers, teachers and special education personnel,

20 family counselors, child welfare workers, juvenile

21 judges and judicial personnel, probation personnel, cor-

22 rectional personnel (including volunteer lay personnel),

23 persons associated with law-related education, youth

24 workers, and representatives of private agencies and

31
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1 organizations with specific experience in the prevention

2 and treatment of juvenile delinquency.".

3 (d) The Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention

4 Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5601 et seq.) is amended-

5 (1) by redesignating subsection (f) as subsection

6 (g),

(2) by inserting after subsection (e) the following

8 new subsection:

9 "(f) The Administrator, acting through the Institute,

10 shall provide, not less frequently than once every two years,

11 for a national conference of member representatives from

12 State advisory groups for the purpose of disseminating infor-

13 mation, data, standards, advanced techniques, and program

14 models developed through the Institute.", and

15 (3) by adding at the end thereof the following new

16 subsection:

17 "(d) Any grant or contract made under this part after

18 the effective date of the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency

19 Prevention Act Amendments of 1984 shall be selected

20 through a competitive process to be established by the Ad-

21 ministrator. As part of such process, the Administrator shall

22 announce publicly the availability of funds for such grant or

23 contract, the general criteria applicable to the selection of

24 applicants to receive such grant or contract, and a description
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1 of the processes applicable to submitting and reviewing appli-

2 cations for such grant or contract. ".

3 RESEARCH, DEMONSTRATION, AND EVALUATION

4 FUNCTIONS

5 SEC. 213. Section 243 of the Juvenile Justice and De-

linquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5653) is

7 amended-

8 (1) in paragraph (4) by striking out "Associate",

9 and

10 (2) in paragraph (5) by striking out "recreation

11 and" and inserting in lieu thereof "familial relation-

12 ships, recreation, and".

13 TRAINING FUNCTIONS

14 SEC. 214. Section 244 of the Juvenile Justice and De-

15 linquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5654) is

16 amended-

17 (1) in paragraph (1)

18 (A) by striking out "or who are" and insert-

19 ing in lieu thereof "working with or", and

20 (B) by striking out "and juvenile offenders"

21 and inserting in lieu thereof ", juvenile offenders,

22 and their families",

23 (2) in paragraph (2) by striking out "workshop"

24 and ilserting in lieu thereof "workshops", and
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1 (3) in paragraph (3) by striking out "teachers"

2 and all that follows through the end thereof and insert-

8 ing in lieu thereof the following: "teachers and special

4 educati,n personnel, family counselors, child welfare

5 workers, juvenile judges and judicial personnel, proba-

6 tion personnel (including volunteer lay personnel), per-

7 sons associated with law-related education, youth

8 workers, and organizations with specific experience in

9 the prevention and treatment of juvenile delinquency;

10 and".

11 ESTABLISHMENT OF TRAINING PROGRAM

12 SEC. 215. Section 248(b) of the Juvenile Justice and

13 Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5659(b)) is

14 amended read as follows:

15 "(b) Enrollees in the training program established under

16 this section shall be drawn from correctional and law enforce-

17 ment personnel, teachers and special education personnel,

18 family counselors, child welfare workers, juvenile judges and

19 judicial personnel, correctional personnel (including volunteer

20 lay personnel), persons associated with law-related education,

21 youth workers, and representatives of private agencies and

22 organizations with specific experience in the prevention and

23 treatment of juvenile delinquency.".
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1 TRAINING PROGRAM

2 SEC. 216. (a) The heading for section 250 of the Juve-

3 nile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42

4 U.S.C. 5661) is amended to read as follows:

5 "PARTICIPATION IN TRAINING PROGRAM AND STATE

6 ADVISORY GROUP CONFERENCES".

7 (b) Section 250(c) of the Juvenile Justice and De lin-

8 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5661(c)) is

9 amended to read as follows:

10 "(c) While participating as a trainee in the program es-

11 tablished under section 248 or while participating in any con-

12 ference held under section 241(0, and while traveling in con-

13 nection with such participation, each person so participating

14 shall be allowed travel expenses, including a per diem allow-

15 ance in lieu of subsistence, in the same manner as perisons

16 employed intermittently in Government service are allowed

17 travel expenses under section 5703 of title 5, United States

18 Code. No consultation fee may be paid to such person for

19 such participation.".

20 ESTABLISHMENT OF LAW-RELATED EDUCATION

21 RESOURCE CENTER

22 SEC. 217. The Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Pre-

23 vention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5601 et seq.) is amended by

24 inserting after section 250 the following new section:

35
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"LAW-RELATED EDUCATION RESOURCE CENTER

"SEC. 251. (a) There is hereby established within the

Institute a Law-Related Education Resource Center (re-

ferred to in this part as the 'Center).

"(b) The Administrator, through the Center, is author-

ized to provide, either directly or through grants or contracts,

for-
8 "(1) technical assistance at the Federal, State,
9 and local levels to public and private educational agen-

10 cies and institutions to implement and replicate law-re-

11 lated education delinquency prevention programs;

"(2) delinquency prevention braining programs and

13 materials for persons who are responsible for the im-

14 plementation of law-related education programs in 'ele-

15 mentary and secondary schools;

16 "(3) research, demonstration, and evaluation pro-

17 grams designed to determine the most effective means

18 of implementing and replicating law-related education

19 programs in order to maximize their potential for delin-

20 quency prevention; and

21 "(4) dissemination of information concerning the

22 findings of such research, demonstration, and evalua-

23 tion programs.

24 "(c) For purposes of this section the term law-related

25 education' means education which provides nonlawyers, es-
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1 pecially students, with knowledge and skills pertaining to the

2 law, the legal process, and the legal system, and the funda-

3 mental principles and values upon which these are based.

4 "(d) Not less than 15 percent, but not more than 20

5 percent, of the funds available to carry out this part, shall be

6 available to carry out the purposes of this section.".

7 AUTHORIZATION OF APPROPRIATIONS

8 SEC. 218. (a) The Juvenile Justice and Delinquency

9 Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5601 et seq.) is amended

10 by inserting after the heading for part D of title 11 the follow-

11 ing new heading for section 261:

12 "AUTHORIZATION OF APPROPRIATIONS".

13 (b) The first sentence of section 261(a) of the Juvenile

14 Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C.

15 5671(a)) is amended-

16 (1) by striking out "ending September 30, 1981"

17 and all that follows through "1983, and September

18 30,", and

19 (2) by inserting before the period the following:

20 ", 1985, 1986, 1987, 1988, and 1989".

21 (c) Section 261(b) of the Juvenile Justice and Delin-

22 quency Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5671(b)) is

23 amended by striking out "section 261(a) of the Juvenile Jus-

24 tice and Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974" and inserting

25 in lieu thereof "subsection (a)".
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1 (d) Section 261 of the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency

2 Prevention Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5671) is amended-

3 (1) by redesignating subsection (c) as subsection

4 (d),

5 (2) by inserting after subsection (b) the following

6 new subsection:

7 "(c) Of such sums as are appropriated to carry out the

8 purposes of this title-

9 "(1) not to exceed 4 percent shall be available to

10 carry out part A;

11 "(2) not less that 85 percent shall be available to

12 carry out part B; and

13 "(3) 11 percent shall be available to carry out
14 part C.", and

15 (3) by adding at the end thereof the following new

16 subsection:

17 "(e) No funds appropriated to carry out the purposes of

18 this title may be used for any bio-medical or behavior control

19 experimentation on individuals or any research involving

20 such experimentation.".

21 TITLE IllRUNAWAY AND HOMELESS YOUTH

22 RULES

28 SEC. 301. Section 303 of the Runaway and Homeless

24 Youth Act (42 U.S.C. 5702) is amended to read as follows:
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"RULES

2 "SEC. 303. The Secretary of Health and Human Serv-

3 ices (hereinafter in this title referred to as the 'Secretary')

4 may issue such rules as the Secretary considers necessary or

5 appropriate to carry out the purposes of this title.".

6 PURPOSES OF GRANT PROGRAM

7 SEC. 302. (a) Section 311(a) of the Runaway and

8 Homeless Youth Act (42 U.S r! 5711(a)) is amended by in-

9 sorting "and their families" before the period at the end

10 thereof.

11 (b) Section 311(b) of the Runaway and Homeless Youth

12 Act (42 U.S.C. 5711(b)) is amended by inse !gig "and to the

13 families of such juveniles" before the period at the end there-

14 of.

15 ELIGIBILITY

16 SEC. 303. Section 312(b) of the Runaway and Homeless

17 Youth Act (42 U.S.C. 5712) is amended-

18 (1) in paragraph (2) by striking out "portion" and

19 inserting in lieu thereof "proportion",

20 (2) in paragraph (3) by striking out "(if such

21 action is required by State law)",

22 (3) in paragraph (5) by striking out "parents" and

23 inserting in lieu thereof "families", and

24 (4) in paragraph (6) by striking out "parents" and

25 inserting in lieu thereof "family members".
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1 GRANTS TO PRIVATE AGENCIES, STAFFING

2 SEC. 304. Section 314 of the Runaway and Homeless

3 Youth. Act (42 U.S.C. 5614) is amended by striking out

4 "house" and inserting in lieu thereof "center".

5 REORGANIZATION

6 SEC. 305. Part C of the Runaway and Homeless Youth

7 Act (42 U.S.C. 5741) is repealed.

8 AUTHORIZATION OF APPROPRIATIONS

9 SEC. 306. (a) Part D of the Runaway and Homeless

10 Youth Act (42 U.S.C. 5651) is redesignated as part C.

11 (b) The Runaway and Homeless Youth Act (42 U.S.C.

12 5601 et seq.) is amended by inserting after the heading for

13 part D the following new heading for section 341:

14 "AUTHORIZATION OF APPROPRIATIONS".

15 (c) Section 341(a) of the Runaway and Homeless Youth

16 Act (42 U.S.C. 5751(a)) is amended by striking out "each of

17 the fiscal years" and all that follows through the period at

18 the end thereof and inserting in lieu thereof "$25,000,000 for

19 fiscal year 1984; $26,250,000 for fiscal year 1985;

20 $27,600,000 for fiscal year 1986; $28,950,000 for fiscal year

21 1987; $30,400,000 for fiscal year 1988; and $31,900,000 for

22 fiscal year 1989.".

23 (d) Section 341(b) of the Runaway and Homeless Youth

24 Act (42 U.S.C. 5751(b)) is amended by striking out

25 "Associate".

40



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22 "FINDINGS

23 "SEc. 402, The Congress hereby finds chat-

24 "(1) each year many children are abducted, or re-

25 moved from the control of a parent having legal custo-
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(e) Section 341 of the Runaway and Homeless Youth

Act (42 U.S.C. 5651) is amended by adding at the end there-

of the following new subsection:

"(c) No funds appropriated to carry out the purposes of

this title-

11) may be used for any program or activity

which is not specifically authorized by this title; or

"(2) may be combined with funds appropriated

under any other Act if the purpose of combining such

funds is to make a single discretionary grant or a

single discretionary payment.".

(f) Section 341 of the Runaway and Homeless Youth

Act (42 U.S.C. 5757) is redesignated as section 331.

TITLE IVMISSING CHILDREN'S ASSISTANCE

ASSISTANCE RELATING TO MISSING CHILDREN

SEC. 400. The Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Pre-

vention. Act of 1974 (42 U.S.C. 5601 et seq.), is amended by

adding at the end thereof the following new title:

"SHORT TITLE

"SEc. 401. This title may be cited as the 'Missing Chil-

dren's Assistance Act'.
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22 "DEFINITIONS

23 "SEC. 403. For purposes of this title-

24 "(1) the term 'missing child' means any individual

25 less than 18 years of age who disappears if the circum-
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dy without such parent's consent, under circumstances

which immediately place them in grave danger;

"(2) many of these children are never reunited

with their families;

"(3) often there are no clues as to the where-

abouts of these children;

"(4) in many cases, parents and local law enforce-

ment officials have neither the resources nor the exper-

tise to mount expanded search efforts;

"(5) abducted children are frequently moved from

one locality to another requiring the cooperation and

coordination of local, State, and Federal law enforce-

ment efforts;

"(6) on frequent occasions, law enforcement au-

thorities and others searching for children quickly ex-

haust all leads in missing children cases and require as-

sistance from distant communities where the children

may be located; and

"(7) Federal assistance is urgently needed to co-

ordinate and assist in efforts to address this interstate

problem.
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24 "(1) make such arrangements as may be neces-

25 sary and appropriate to ensure that there is effective
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stances surrounding such individual's disappearance in-

dicate that such individual may possibly have been ab-

ducted or that such individual may possibly have been

removed from the control of a parent having legal cus-

tody of such individual without such parent's consent;

and

"(2) the term 'Secretary' means the Secretary of

Health and Human Services.

"ESTABLISHMENT OF NATIONAL BUREAU OF MISSING

CHILDREN

"SEC. 404. (a) There is hereby established within the

Administration for Children, Youth, and Families within the

Department of Health and Human Services a National

Bureau of Missing Children (hereinafter in this title referred

to as the 'Bureau').

"(b) The Secretary may issue such rules as the Secre-

tary considers necessary or appropriate to carry out this title.

"(c) The Bureau shall be under the general authority of

the Secretary and shall be headed by a Director to be ap-

pointed by the Secretary.

"FUNCTIONS OF THE BUREAU

"SEC. 405. The Secretary, acting through the Bureau,

shall-
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1 coordination among all federally-funded programs relat-

2 ing to missing children (including the preparation of an

3 annual comprehensive plan for assuring such coordina-

4 tion);

5 "(2) allocate staff and resources which are ade-

6 quate to properly carry out the functions of the

7 Bureau;

8 "(3) establish and operate, either directly or

9 through grants or contracts, a national toll-free tele-

10 phone line by which individuals may report and receive

I1 information regarding the disappearance or location of

12 any missing child and pertaining to procedures neces-

13 sary to reunite such child with such child's family,

14 parent having legal custody, or legal guardian;

15 "(4) provide technical assistance to local and

16 State governments, public and private nonprofit agen-

17 cies, and individuals in locating and recovering missing

18 children;

19 "(5) coordinate Federal efforts to locate missing

20 children and reunite them with their families, parents

21 having legal custody, or legal guardians;

22 "(6) disseminate information nationally on innova-

23 tive and model programs, services, and legislation re-

24 lating to missing children;
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1 "(7) conduct a national incidence study to deter-

2 mine for a given year the number of children reported

3 missing, the number of such children who are victims

4 of abductions by strangers, the number of such children

5 who are removed from the control of parents having

6 legal custody of such children without the respective

7 parent's consent by a person known to such parent,

8 and the number of such children who are located in a

9 given year;

10 "(8) compile, publish, and disseminate an annual

11 summary describing and evaluating recently completed

12 Federal, State, and local research and demonstration

13 projects relating to missing children with particular

14 emphasis on-

15 "(A) effective models of local, State, and

16 Federal coordination and cooperation in locating

17 missing children;

18 "(B) effective programs designed to promote

19 community awareness of the problem of missing

20 children;

21 "(C) effective programs to prevent the ab-

22 duction of children (including parent, child, and

23 community education); and

24 "(D) effective program models which provide

25 treatment, counseling, or other aid to parents of

45



40

38

1 missing children or to children who have been the

2 victims of abduction.

3 "GRANTS

4 "Sic. 406. (a) The Secretary, acting through the

5 Bureau, is authorized to make grants to and enter into con-

6 tracts with public agencies and private nonprofit agencies for

7 research, demonstration projects, and service prokrams de-

8 signed-

9 "(1) 13 educate parents, children, and community

10 agencies and organizations in ways to prevent the ab-
11 duction of children;

12 "(2) to provide public information to assist in the
13 locating and return of missing children;

14 "(3) to aid communities in the collection of mate-

15 rials which will be useful to- parents in assisting others

16 to identify such children;

17 "(4) to increase knowledge of and develop effec-

18 tive treatment pertaining to the psychological conse-

19 quences to both parents and children resulting from a
20 child's abduction, both during the period of disappear-

21 ance and after the child is returned; and

22 "(5) to collect data from selected States or local-
23 ities on the investigative practices used by law enforce-

24 ment agencies in cases involving missing children.
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1 "(b) In considering applications for assistance under this

2 title, the Secretary shall give priority to applicants who have

3 demonstrated experience in-

4 "(1) providing services to missing children or the

5 families of missing children;

6 "(2) conducting research relating to missing chil-

7 dren; or

8 "(3) locating missing children and reuniting them

9 with their families.

10 "(c) The Secretary, acting through the Bureau, shall en-

11 courage the substantial utilization of volunteers in such dem-

12 onstration projects and service programs as the Secretary

13 deems appropriate.

14 "CRITERIA FOR GRANTS

15 "SEc. 407. The Secretary, acting through the Bureau,

16 shall establish priorities for making grants or contracts under

17 section 406 and, not less than 60 days before establishing

18 such priorities, shall publish in the Federal Register for

19 public comment a statement specifying such priorities.

20 "AUTHORIZATION OF APPROPRIATIONS

21 "SEc. 408. (a) To carry out this part, there are author-

22 ized to be appropriated $10,000,000 for fiscal year 1985,

23 $10,500,000 for fiscal year 1986, $11,000,000 for fiscal year

24 1987, $11,600,000 for fiscal year 1988, and $12,250,000 for

25 fiscal year 1989.".
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1 TITLE VEFFECTIVE DATES

2 EFFECTIVE DATES

3 SEC. 501. (a) Except as provided in subsection (b), this

4 Act and the amendments made by this Act shall take effect

5 on the date of the enactment of this Act or October 1, 1984,

6 whichever occurs later.

7 (b) Paragraph (2) of section 341(e) of the Runaway and

8 Homeless Youth Act, as added by section 306(e) of this Act,

9 shall not apply with respect to any grant or payment made

10 before the effective date of this Act.
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Mr. WILLIAMS. We have many well qualified witnesses here today
to assist us in our deliberations, but before we hear from them we
will call for any opening statements which they wish to make on
my two colleagues here this morning.

First, Congressman Hayes.
Mr. HAYES. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My statement will neces-

sarily be very brief in the interest of trying to get right to the wit-
ness testimony. But I think it's quite fitting that such a hearing is
held here in Chicago on a problem that I see is continuing to esca-
late, the missing children problem.

I think the proposed legislation, which calls for the development
of a resource center, to aid in the location and search for missing
children is important.

And studies that are to be made, if such a law is adopted, on fre-
quency of parental kidnappings, stranger abductions, and run-
aways. I think federal coordination of this kind of effort certainly
would be important.

Just to the south of us here more recently we had a disappear-
ance of a child who which has never been found, to my knowledge,
yet. And no one really knows what happened. So I think it's the
kind of thing that I feel comfortable in joining in with this subcom-
mittee in support of such legislation, and I think Chicago is a good
place to begin.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you, Mr. Hayes.
Mr. Simon.
Mr. SIMON. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
I want to thank my colleagues, Congressman Pat Williams and

Congressman Charlie Hayes for being here today, and Chairman
Ike Andrews, who is in North Carolina today, for his leadership.

Let me just take a minute or two for those who are here, and for
the record, to indicate how I got involved in this whole missing
children question. I read an Associated Press story about the disap-
pearance of a little boy in New York by the name of Etan Patz. He
went to catch a schoolbus, and his parents never saw him again.

But his parents were quoted as saying the Federal Government
provided no help. I called the parents and asked, "What did you
want the Federal Government to do?"

They said, among other things, "The FBI computer keeps track
of missing automobiles, but doesn't keep track of missing children."
I couldn't believe it. I was sure they were wrong. I had my staff
call the FBI, and I found out that they were right.

I then had breakfast with Judge William Webster, the head of
the FBI, and what eventually emerged was the bill that puts miss-
ing children on the FBI computer, and that also, for the first time,
does something we should have done a long time ago, and that is to
put unidentified bodies on the FBI computer.

That bill, however, would not pass and become law but for the
first witness we have here today, John Walsh, who, along with his
wife, are the very courageous parents of little Adam, whom many
of you heard about on TV. And I am grateful to you, John, for all
you've done. This Nation is a better nation for what you have done
on behalf of the memory of your son.
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But these problems continue. Charlie Hayes just mentioned one.
We received a call from Mrs. Patty Wingerter of Quincy, IL. She
has three children; a 7-year-old girl, a 9-year-old boy, and a 10-year-
old girl, who apparently have been stolen by her former husband,
contrary to court decree. There is no request from anyone for tran-
scripts from the Quincy schools. Mrs. Wingerter is a very dis-
traught mother right now, understandably.

We have asked NBCand I might lobby a little bit hereto in-
clude these three children in their occasional listing of missing
children. And that service, Linda Otto, as a result of your program,
has been a tremendous help.

But we need to take some additional steps, and this bill will pro-
vide additional steps. Among them, two steps.

One, to have an 800 number so that if people see something that
looks unusual, or strange, that they might be reluctant to call their
local police on, they can call that 800 number.

And, second, that there would be a resource center, both to track
what's going on, and to work with the FBI, so we can detect if
there are patterns of crime developing. It would also be a resource
center for parents.

What I find is that parents will call our office. All of a sudden
Johnny or Jane is missing. They don't know what to do. This can
be a resource center where they can learn what to expect from the
local police; what they should do as far as contacting the telephone
companies, and other things.

In sum, I think we're making progress, Mr. Chairman, and I ap-
preciate your taking time from your schedule that I know is a
hectic one. And you took time from your daughter's birthday today,
I'm also aware, to be here. And we appreciate it.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you very much, Mr. Simon. And our first
witness today is Mr. John Walsh, founder of the Adam Walsh Child
Resource Center. Mr. Walsh is from Fort Lauderdale, FL.

If you'll please take the table and microphone, Mr. Walsh. Your
entire record will be, without objection, included in our hearing
record. And you may proceed as you wish.

STATEMENT OF JOHN WALSH, FOUNDER, ADAM WALSH CHILD
RESOURCE CENTER, FORT LAUDERDALE, FL

Mr. WALSH. Thank you, Congressman. I appreciate the opportu-
nity to testify today. I think that you giving up your daughter's
birthday to be here is probably the best present she could have,
and an indication of your concern for children.

I would like to commend Congressman Simon, and thank him on
behalf of lots of children in this country that he'll never meet that
he has made it a safer place because of his initiative, and his per-
serverance, in spite of several bureaucratic snafus, and the long ar-
duous process of getting legislation through in this country, and for
his commitment to children. I thank you on their behalf.

Mr. SIMIAN. Thank you.
Mr. WAISH. Since Adam's abduction and murder 21/2 years ago

I've criss-crossed this country asking the question why. This is my
seventh testimony before a congressional committee. I've met with
and interviewed local police throughout the country, county sher-
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iffs, State police, Federal authorities from the FBI and the Justice
Department, coroners throughout the country, private detectives.
I've testified before several State legislatures; interviewed State
legislators; and proposed statutes.

I have addressed the National Association of District Attorneys,
the American Bar; met with Senators, Congressmen such as your-
selves, the President on two occasions. I've sat through the night-
mare trials of the sexual batteries of children, and suffered
through endless meetings with hundreds of parents of missing and
murdered children, and I talked to children, children who were vic-
tims of incest, parental abuse, abduction, stranger abduction, and
molestation.

Each one of those children that I spoke to believed that either
mommy, daddy, Mr. Policeman, Mr. TV Hero, Mr. FBI Man, Mr.
Congressman, would help them, and no one did.

What have I learned in the last 21/2 years? That every parent's
nightmare is a reality in America. That most laws are medieval, or
nonexistent, as they relate to child safety. Or prtection. That in
some States to murder a juvenile is only second degree manslaugh-
ter. That if a juvenile was the victim of incest, or rape, or sexual
battery at an early age, and it happens again later on in the juve-
nile life, that the defense can plead to a lesser charge because the
child is not considered chaste by that State. That the average child
molestor molests 68 times before he's even suspected. That in my
State of Florida 125 arrests of schoolteachers in 1981 for sexually
molesting children because we have no background checks of the
teachers in our State, although to fulfill 50 jobs in the State of
Florida, such as a lawyer or a doctor, or to sell paramutual tickets,
you have to run through a State check to see if you were previous-
ly convicted of a felony. But yet previously convicted felon child
molestors come to the State of Florida to teach school and go to
other States throughout the Nation.

That in one State, the State of Florida, a State that has a miss-
ing children's clearinghouse, the only one in the country, in spite
of the critics who say that the numbers were exaggerated, in the
first 4 months that that clearinghouse was operational 4,100 chil-
dren, missing children, were entered into the Florida clearing-
house. We mandated it by statute that local law enforcement enter
children into the clearinghouse because even with the passage of
Missing Children's Act, we found that only 25 percent of the police
in this country use the NCiC now for listing missing children. So
where are the rest of those children in this system? They're not in
the system.

We found out that police throughout this country arbitrarily
decide to wait 24, to 48, to 72 hours to institute a search for chil-
dren, listing many of the children as runaways. Evidenced in this
State, John Wayne Gacy murdered 33 boys. They were all listed as
runaways by the police in this State, even though one of those boys
was the son of Sgt. Robert Gillroy of the Chicago Police, who could
not even convince his own colleagues that his son was not a run-
away.

Who has the arbitrary right to sign the death warrant of a child
by listing them as a runaway? These cases should be handled indi-
vidually.
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We found that the number of random unsolved murders of
women and children in this country rose from 600 in 1966 to 4,500
in 1981, and that the FBI now estimates because of our abilities in
the House and the Senate, to get a grant for them to study the vio-
lent criminal apprehension program, and the tracking of serial and
mobile murders; that they conservatively estimate that right now
there are between 25 and 35 mobile murderers roaming this coun-
try killing women and children.

The list of these myths, and the realities, is endless. We live in a
country of 50 feudal kingdoms; 50 little feudal kingdoms called
States, with as many as 60 counties in each State, with as many as
20 police agencies vying for turf and territorial disputes within
those counties.

The need for Federal leadership, direction, and coordination is
more than evident. This is the first piece of Federal legislation that
would take a proactive stance dealing with the exploitation of
American children.

The missing children's bill, as revolutionary, as groundbreaking
as people would like to claim it to be, just set up an unidentified
dead file because we buried about 2,000 children a year, unidenti-
fied children in Joe Doe graves in this country.

The creation of a national center through this bill to train and
educate understaffed and underfunded police agencies is an abso-
lute necessity.

The need to advise and counsel parents is an absolute necessity.
To collect data. There is no data. The FBI Uniform Crime Report

never broke out the crimes against children. Crimes against the
children of this country were lumped into the violent crime catego-
ry with adults. In every State's Uniform Crime Report is modeled
after the Federal Crime Report, so no one can tell you how many
children are raped, molested, and murdered in this country.

The most important function that the national center could do
would be to coordinate the fragmented efforts of local law enforce-
ment, and for the first time in this country educate the millions of
children who have never had any formal training or education
about how to resist child molestors and abduction, and they cer-
tainly deserve to know what is out there.

Children need protection regardless of what party or administra-
tion is in power. Permanence, and a commitment to children is the
issue. This legislation would create that permanence regardless of
what administration is in power; what State the child lived in;
what county the child would live in.

Some of what you'll hear today you might have been aware of.
Some of it might surprise you. Whatever your reaction, I beseech
you not to assume that it couldn't happen to you. The people who
prey upon our children have counted on this society's aversion to
this problem, and people's tendency to turn their heads in disgust.
We can no longer afford to turn our heads.

The exploitation of children has reached epidemic proportions.
What has been accomplished so far is just barely to define the
problem. Almost nothing toward education and prevention, and the
removal of these individuals from the ranks of society.

Our priorities have to change. A society, and a Federal Govern-
ment that can put a spacecraft on the Moon should be able to pro-
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tect its children. The problem knows no boundaries. From the poor-
est black mothers in Atlanta, to a U.S. Congressman from this
State, the exploitation of children is everyone's problem.

The FBI Uniform Crime Report of 1982 stated that of the 200
million plus Americans, 40 million Americans will be the victims of
a violent crime. That's almost one quarter of the population. Take
a guess who the majority of those victims were. The elderly,
women, and children.

I have a new daughter, and I fear for her even more. "Newsweek
Magazine" in a national survey estimates that 1 in 4 girls will be
molested by age 18; 1 in ' boys. Our son Adam represented just one
of thousands of children murdered in 1981. It's the worst night-
mare parents can face. But people forget who the real victims are;
the children, the silent, helpless victims.

I'm often asked to give the prospective of the victim, but I can't
because the real victim isn't here today. I'm just the heartbroken
father left behind.

I speak with great urgency because every hour this legislation is
not passed 205 children are reported missing in this country. No
one can estimate the number that are molested.

This is 1984, not 1954. No matter how protective your environ-
ment is, or you think it is, tomorrow's victim could be your child,
or your grandchild.

It took an incredible coward to murder a 6-year-old boy, but we
are even bigger cowards if we don't address this problem through
this speedy passage of this legislation.

I thank you for your time. I'd be glad to answer any of your
questions.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you very much, Mr. Walsh, and Mr.
Simon.

Mr. SIMON. Yes. I thank you again for your leadership.
If I may, and this does not pertain to Federal legislation, but

since we're in the State of Illinois and Illinois has not done what
you have done in Florida, I wonder if you'd just take a couple of
minutes to describe what you have done in the State of Florida as a
State to work on this problem.

Mr. WALSH. I researched the Florida statute, and like most par-
ents in this country, I believe that most of these laws were on the
books. We didn't have a clearinghouse in the State of Florida, so
we proposed a statute for it to be funded statewide. The bill was
passed, and the Florida clearinghouse started last year for funding
appropriations impact of $87,000. We have a toll free 800 number
manned 24 hours a day in the State capitol. We have a law enforce-
ment bulletin with pictures of missing children, and unidentified
dead children, that's mailed on a monthly basis to every law en-
forcement agency in the State of Florida.

Florida Department of Law Enforcement goes around the State
and educates law enforcement officers on every level in the State
of Florida on how to use the Florida clearinghouse. And they will
assist parents 24 hours a day in giving them a directive of how to
deal with their local police, and how to look for missing children.
We mandate that Florida police file missing children reports imme-
diately, not wait 24, 48, to 72 hours, and we don't allow them to
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take the liberty to put the information in the NCIC. The Florida
clearinghouse does.

We have before the Florida Legislature at present right now 22
laws; video taping of children, background checks of schoolteachers,
mandating safety with strangers programs in the schools of Flori-
da, the public schools. We did a survey of 1,800 molested children
in the State of Florida that survived molestation; 90 percent of
them never had any type of rudamentary education as how to
resist child molestors.

Stiffer penalties for child molestors, reeducation of judges, school
callback programs where from the grades kindergarten to 6th
grade if the child does not show up the parents don't wait 8 hours
to find out their child is missing. The schools call the children.

Those are some of the 22 pieces of legislation we have before the
Florida Legislature. I brought those with me today. I have hoped
that other States would emulate them. Kentucky has passed eight
of the laws that we proposed this session. New Jersey is starting a
clearinghouse. And I realize that there needs to be Federal leader-
ship, as you have so aptly stated today, But the States also have to
respond because the system doesn't work unless every State enters
into it.

Child molestors and the people who prey upon our children know
that all they have to do is cross the county line to be out of trouble.

Mr. SIMON. I thank you very much. All I can add, Mr. Chairman,
is that if every Member of the House and Senate could have the
chance to hear and get acquainted with John Walsh, we'd pass the
bill in 24 hours.

Mr. WALSH. I thank you. I hope this one will be on a fast track,
so to speak.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Hayes.
Mr. HAYES. Just a couple of questions.
Mr. Walsh, as you also know, both the Senate and House bills

respectively call for the creation of a national advisory board.
Among other things, the board would be charged with the rather
large task of developing a plan for coordination, not only in Feder-
al efforts, but private efforts as well.

My question is, what private groups are you aware of which
should be coordinated, and what wouldthat coordination look
like?

Mr. WAISH. Well, there are several groups that look for missing
and exploited children. We have a center in south Florida, the
Adam Walsh Child Research Center, Child Find in New York, sev-
eral State agencies. Most of them are poorly funded. They're very
unprofessional because they're started by parents of murdered and
missing children, and no local State or Federal agency has seen fit
to allocate funds for the search for missing children, or education.

For the first time this national center could be the cohesive
factor to bring these groups together to educate them on how to
properly fingerprint children; proper videotaping of children's testi-
mony; safety with strangers programs; to coordinate efforts be-
tween local law enforcement through the country. It has to be on a
national level.

I think the main impetus of the national advisory board, of
course, would be the intent of this bill is to raise fundsadditional
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funds from the private sector. I agree that the private sector needs
to be involved in the search for missing anti exploited children, and
that the Federal GovernmentI am very well aware that the Fed-
eral Government cannot mandate the 50 States to do certain
things. They can only advise, and, therefore, that would be the
need of the advisory board to raise private funding, unite groups
together, and provide a good proactive stance.

Mr. HAYES. My second and final question, as you're aware, too, a
proposed bill first introduced by Congressman Andrews, would
have

p
laced reponsibility for missing children's program within the

Department of Health and Human Services where the Runaway,
Homeless Youth Act is administered.

This was done specifically because the President hes suggested
terminating the Juvenile Justice Program. We understand that you
talked to the President about continuing the Juvenile Justice Pro-
gram, where you and many others suggested that missing chil-
dren's programs should be loaded.

Now, my question is, could ou share with us what the President
told you about the future of the Juvenile Jt'stice Program?

Mr. WALSH. Well, in all due respect to the President, who has al-
located a temporary funding of $1.5 million to start a national
center this summer, in the event that this legislation is stalled, he
was somewhat noncommital, as I have experienced from talking to
many politicians in the last 2 years, in all due respect, but I don't
feel it's propitious for him to oppose the refunding of these OJJDP
in an election year. I believe OJJDP will be refunded. I believe the
Runaway Youth Act will, and the intent of putting the missing
children'sthe National Center for Missing and Exploited Chil-
dren in the Justice Department, and OJJDP, is for the fact that
local law enforcement will listen to the Justice Department. The
Justice Department can reeducate, train local enforcement. They
will not listen to people in HHS. I know that for a fact, and the
people in HHS are willing to admit that.

There is a lot of restructuring in HHS right now. There is a cer-
tain amount of confusion over there. The intent of this bill, of
course, is not to take anything from the Runaway Youth Act, or
the refunding of OJJDP I personally believe that the President, in
regard to our recent conversation, has rethought his position in the
administration, and I did spend 2 days in t' .W White House with
the advisers of the President informing them of the fact that I
think that their initial assumption that OJJDP should not be re-
funded is one that is misdirected. And I pray, and I hope, and I
think, and I'm sure that they will see that direction.

Mr. HAYES. Thank you very much. I hope future actions will
cause me to share in your optimism.

Mr. WALSH. I do, too.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Walsh, other congressional committees, both

the Senate and the House, and other Members of Congress, have
thanked you for your good efforts under a most grieveous and
trying of circumsta.-Ices, and I just want to add my thanks to
theirs,

Mr. WALSH. I appreciate that.
Mr. WILLIAMS. We appreciate having you here today.
Mr. WALSH. I'm a father like you are.
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Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you very much.
Mr. WALSH. Thank you.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Our next witness is Linda Otto, the president of

Find the Children, Los Angeles, CA. I understand that you are ac-
companied by Brad Kellett.

Your entire record will beyour entire testimony will be includ-
ed, without objection, in the record, and you may proceed.

STATEMENT OF LINDA OTTO, PRESIDENT, FIND THE CHILDREN,
LOS ANGELES, CA, ACCOMPANIED BY BRAD KELLETT

Ms. Orro. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate the opportuni-
ty to be here today. I'm not at all surprised to see Paul Simon here
working for missing children. You always have.

I'm here today in my capacity as president of the Find the Chil-
dren Foundation, an outgrowth of my work both as a documentary
filmmaker, and as the producer of the television movie "Adam, the
Story of Adam Walsh."

Four years ago when I began research for a documentary on
missing children, which appeared as part of one of ABC's "20/20"
segments, I found myself in a state of shock. Even then the most
haphazardly gathered statistics indicated that as many as a million
and a half children were missing in this country.

Local law enforcement was doing little about it. The FBI almost
never got involved. There was no Federal agency addressing itself
to the problem. And nothing has changed. Very little has changed
since that day 4 years ago when I began researching.

In the interest of time, I would like to show you three short docu-
mentary segments, which directly relate to the need for this legis-
lation, not only on a local and statewide level, but also on a nation-
al level.

The first two segments are part of NBC's weekly "Child Search"
series, which my foundation, Find the Children, often supplies the
research for.

I would like to thank, for the record, Steve Antionetti, a news
director of KNBC News in Los Angeles, and Mike Wright of
WMAQ here in Chicago.

The first segmentboth these children are about to be abducted
by strangers, and the first segment is about Sarah Avon, who was 6
years old when she disappeared.

[First videotape was shown.]
Ms. OTTO. The FBI did not need proof of interstate transport, or

a ransom note to get involved in Sarah Avon's case. I think her
father is right, it's probably too late now.

The next segment is about Trisha Kellett, who was 8 years old
when she disappeared, and her father is sitting next to me today.
She's been gone for 2 yearsover 2 years.

[Second videotape was shown.]
Ms. Orro. You have seen some of the problem as it exists in Illi-

nois. I would like to, as soon as John is ready, show you the third
segment.

This third segment is part of the movie "Adam." Thanks to
Grant Tinker, chairman of the board of NBC, I was given permis-
sion to do something no television network had ever done before in
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a movie. I was able to broadcast a rollcall of missing children and a
800 number for viewers to call.

NBC has given us a second airing of "Adam," which is unprece-
dented for a television movie to air twice in one season. In case
an body is interested, it's on April 30 at 9.

But the most difficult task in preparing these rollcalls is what
pictures do I choose? There are 1.8 million children missing, and
thousands of pictures on my desk. Whose children's pictures do I
pick, and whose do I leave out?

I ask you to watch carefully, no matter if you're a legislator, a
media person, law enforcement, or just a private citizen like me,
because people from all walks of life help to bring these children
home. Maybe you can.

[Third videotape was shown.]
Ms. Orro. You may recognize the voice of John Walsh who said

the names of all the missing children, and will again in the second
airing of "Adam," and will also appear with Rave and Meagan in
the second airing of "Adam."

But why am I here today? What have I learned? I've learned it's
a sad commentary on this country's priorities that these recovered
children, who will look for some of them up to 5 years, by local law
enforcement, by State law enforcement, by Federal law enforce-
ment. But how were they found? A television movie found them; an
entertainment found them. There's something wrong with the pri-
orities here.

NBC's "Child Search" series has been on the air for 12 weeks.
They've recovered three children in 12 weeks. One of those chil-
dren was missing for 9 years.

I know that the problem of missing and exploited children is a
difficult one to confront, and many people have turned their backs
on it. But this is the first piece of legislation that would provide the
urgently needed Federal coordination that is so desperately lack-
ing.

As a result of the television movie "Adam," 50 million people
want to know what can they do now. Fifty million people saw
"Adam"; 10 volunteers answered the phones. Fifty million people
might see Adam again this time. We have the same 10 volunteers
answering the phones. How many calls will they miss? How many
children might have been found if we had more phones, more vol-
unteers, or a national center?

People want to know what they can do. And I say that this legis-
lation, and the burden of its responsibility, is with you. Thank you
for taking your time to listen.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you very much.
Mr. Simon.
Mr. SIMON. We thank you, again.
If I mayfirst of all, how did you get interested in all this?
Ms. Orro. Well, I've always wanted to effect social change for

children, and I've always wanted to make movies. So it seemed like
a good idea to make a movie about social issues that have to do
with children. It only took me 20 years to do "Adam," an overnight
success after 20 years.

But I've done a lot of other movies along the way. One with Tim-
othy Hutton about foster care. I've done documentaries about miss-
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ing children; children and suicide; children and divorce; teenagers
and sex. It's not enough to make a movie is what I learned. I
always thought if I made a good movie, and people watched it, that
they would do something about it.

"Adam" was the first time I ever had the support of the adminis-
tration, and a grassroots support, sadly, of parents of missing and
murdered children, like John Walsh. But it made a difference, and
people watched. They paid attention.

And I think that because of the consciousness raising in this
country about the low priority of children, I think the people are
ready and willing to pay attention to what our legislators are
doing. And I commend all of you for your long and hard work. This
is a very important bill. And it has my support, and the support of
just about everyone I know who cares about children.

Mr. SIMON. Mr. Kellett, if I may ask youfrom your prospective,
is this legislation a step in the right direction?

Mr. KELLErr Yes, it is. Anything right now would help, you
know, any kind of bill that can go through. Anything will sort of
help as far as new laws, or whatever, on missing children, and
abused children are concerned.

Mr. SIMON. And when you first learned about the disappearance
of your childobviously it was a horrible tragedybut did you feel
frustration at the lack of cooperation from various police officials?

Mr. Mum Very much so.
The Chicago Police Department didn't hesitate about getting in-

volved in it whatsoever. As soon as they finished making out the
report it was put on the air, and on their radios. And they began
investigating right away. You know, they didn't wait 24 hours, or
48 hours, or 72 hours, whatever it is. They started investigating
right away.

And there's one officer, Tom Burn, he's been on it since it was 4
hours old. He still is very active in the case. And he has other work
to do, but he still tries bringing this in as much as he can.

Mr. SIMON. That is great, becausewhen you refer to the 24-
hour waiting period, and John Walsh referred to that earlierthat
unfortunately is too often a practice among various police depart-
ments.

Thank you both very much.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Hayes.
Mr. HAYES. Ms. Otto, Mr. Kellett, just a couple of short ques-

tions.
If I followed you correctly, I think you said three children had

been recovered as a result of the movie "Adam," is that right?
Ms. Opro. Twelve children were recovered as a result of the

movie "Adam," those last children that you saw. Three children
have been recovered as a result of NBC's innovative weekly "Child
Search" series, which appears on the 5 o'clock news nationwide on
the NBC owned and operated stations, which are Chicago, LA,
Cleveland, New York, and DC.

Mr. HAVES. Were those recoveries as a result of parent abduc-
tions?

Mr. arro. Yes.
Mr. HAYES. Most of them?
Ms. 0770. All. We have yet to recover a--
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Mr. HAYES. No stranger abductions?
Ms Orro [continuing]. Stranger abducted child. We're hoping to.

There have been lots of sightings in the last 6 months on several of
the Caildren who were thought to be abducted by strangers.
Johnny Gosch, for instance. I know you know a lot about that case.
There have been sightings of him all along a main highway, and
I've made 40 personalized PSA's with Daniel Travanti, who played
John Walsh, and pictures of missing children, which will be distrib-
uted to theto 40 stations throughout the country.

And we put Johnny Gosch's picture directly on that route. And,
of course, we'll air his picture again on the role call. And he was
almost found last time. We got very close.

Mr. HAYES. Which gives rise to my final question, Ms. Otto.
You know the House bill provides language in several places

which refers to reunited children with their families. Once the
child is located, are additional problems encountered after reunit-
ing them with their families based on those recovered so far?

Ms. O'rro. Well, in my experience, the children who were recov-
ered in California, my foundation, Find the Children, had to practi-
cally make the reunion happen, not only financially, but in Califor-
nia there are no State agencies or local agencies to help the parent
and the child reunite once the child is found.

And you have a childin one case we had a child in a foster care
home being taken away from the kidnapping father. The child was
in a foster care home in San Jose. The mother was on welfare,
having spent her last penny looking for her child; couldn't get to
San Jose from Los Angeles. So we sent her to San Jose and back.

There is nobodythat's the ironic part. Once the child is found
there's almost no help for the searching parent.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Ms. Otto, you mentioned, and have answered a
question about the success of recovery of children through the use
of national television pictures, an indication of who those children
are.

Now, the Federal Government, of course, has no such communi-
cation at its disposal. Would you recommend legislation that re-
quires the networks to air missing children information?

Ms. O'rro. No, I don't think so, but I think that people like
myself who work in the television industry would be able to gener-
ate high visibility on a very regular basis for missing children with-
out Federal legislation.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Have the other networks aired similar informa-
tion?

Ms. Orro. Not on a regular basis. There areGroup W, for in-
stance, which I think has five owned stations throughout the coun-
try, is doing a missing child series like NBC is on a regular basis.
But there are at least 100 NBC affiliates that are now going to do
their own missing child stories in their own areas, as well as being
able to take the fee on the affiliate news service of the "Child
Search" series.

So I think that it's up to private sector, and to the networks
themselves, to get together, and make a difference in the lives of
the children. And it's happening now. I haven't had a big problem.
NBC has been very supportive, and the other networks are doing it
on their own.
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Mr. WILLIAMS. Should the parents who suffer this grievous diffi-
culty, and children, have to wait until the networks volunteer, or
until another Ms. Otto comes along in one of the other competing
networks to insist that this information be shown? Or should the
Federal Government if not require, at least, encourage the net-
works in this effort?

Ms. OTro. Well, I think encouragement would certainly be a very
good thing to do, but don't forget it's not just television. Why aren't
children's pictures run in the newspapers? Why aren't they run in
magazines? Why doesn't the New York Times have a section for
missing children every day? Why doesn't every newspaper have it?
I think that would be even more to the pt._ -t because that's some-
thing that you have in your hands.

We haveNBC has sent out 100,000 flyers, and I've left some of
them here with an NBC study guide, which tells about Adam, and
which addresses itself to children and parents. But it also has at
the end of it a flyer of all the children who appear in the rollcall.
One hundred thousand of them went out to be put up in schools, in
police departments, and hospital, and doctor's offices, and dentist's
offices, and community places. I think that's very important. It's
all important. We've made a beginning, I think.

Mr. WILLIAMS. My thanks to both of you.
The next witness is Mr. Ken Wooden, with ABC News' program

"20/20."
[Prepared statement of Ken Wooden follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF KENNETH WOODEN, INVESTIGATIVE REPORTER, ABC NEWS
20/20, FOUNDER, NATIONAL COALITION FOR CHILDREN'S JUSTICE

In 1980-81, the conscience of this nation was jolted as a series of child abductions
and murders in Atlanta, Georgia filled newspapers daily. In 1983, millions of us
watched the TV movie, "Adam," and wept as the story unfolded of a young couple
whose little boy was snatched from a shopping center and murdered. An awakening
media has printed and televised what appears to be an endless procession of photos
of missing youngsters. So, now the problem of missing and murdered children is
squarely before the public's attention and, in some instances, raising its worst fears.
After the airing of a recent ABC News "20/20" story"The Lures of Death"
which offered a prevention booklet, over 250,000 concerned Americans responded,
not only requesting help, but volunteering to help so that their children, and other,
would be saved from the terrorist acts of those who prey on our young.

What presents a very confusing picture to the public is the fact that most missing
youngsters are runawaysfrom one to two million leave home annually; 97%
return within 72 hours. Another 100,000 to 600,000 are victims of parental snatch-
ing. And while I am not in any way belittling the trauma incurred in par4nt.al
snatching, self-interest groups have successfully painted these children as facing the
same dire consequences as those who have been abducted by strangers. As many as
50,000 children are criminally abducted each year: More than 3,000 of these are re-
ported murdered: Many experts believe that number is greatly underreported. Most
of those homicides are committed in the first 14 to 48 hours after abduction.

Now has law enforcement and the political system responded? The ever-increasing
number of children who become casualties of domestic turmoil have overwhelmed
law enforcement to the point that when a life-threatening situation occurs, police
departments are "programmed" to wait, assuming the child is a runaway or
snatched by a parent and will return home safely. The Reagan administration has
cut appropriations for runaway shelters from $24 million to $11 million, thus free-
ing the big city pimps of much competition in their quest for the lost and abandoned
children who will never see the safety net as they fall to street horror. The Con-
gress, in response, is debating a paltry $10 million for defense of our missing and
murdered young, and $320 billion for national defense. The fact is, we adults give
precedence to the grave concerns of El Salvador, Poland, deficit spending, the
Middle East, etc., while a non-voting block of 68 million American children are basi-
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cally ignored. Let me seize this opportunity to inform the Congress, the Presidential
candidates, and the voters of my personal findings while working on two ABC News
"20/20" pieces"They Are Murdering Our Children" (March 1) and "The Lures of
Death" (March 3). Children in America are being treated like garbage. Raped and
killed, their young bodies are discarded in plastic bags, on trash trucks, and left on
dumps. A 2-year-old girl was left to die at the bottom of an outhouse in Colorado.
She was miraculously found.

Not so with others. Like litter, they are thrown into lakes, rivers, and streams
the tender drift wood of life. Some are found on roadsides like empty soda and beer
cans, or crushed cigarette butts, or cast aside like broken furniture in dirty, empty
houses or stripped, abandoned cars in wooded or swamp areas. Left to the elements,
these youngsters meet their maker. Since those who pick from the garden of life
have no respect for life, neither do they have respect for the dignity of death. Poor
little wilted flowers, plucked from the vases of home and safety of parents, are, in
large part, left unburied and alone in the openness of fieldsand now the closed
minds of our thoughts. In the words of colleagues and friends, "It's too depressing
racketball, tennis, anyone?" Ignored collectively by our nation and its leaders, their
numbers grow and grow.

The firestorms of young death and violent abduction will not go away. The smil-
ing faces of Ran Patz of New York City, Johnny Gooch of West Des Moines, Iowa,
Ann Gotilib of Louisville, Kentucky, Beth Miller of Idaho Springs, Colorado, Kevin
Collins' of San Francisco, and Michael Des Forges of Crete, Illinois poignantly beg
for our help and attention.

Parents of missing and murdered children have become modern day lepers. Cast
aside by friends and neighbors, they cope as best they can. Such is the case of Bill
and Rosemary Kohm of Santa Claus, Indiana, whose 11-year-old daughter, Kathy
disappeared while jogging. Two months later, officials found her skeletal remains.
The Kohm's ended up taking a suspect to civil court and winning a mere $5,000 ver-
dict of wrongful death. Bill Kohm recalls:

"She used to tell me, 'Daddy, I want to be a nurse.' I would say, 'Honey, you can
be anything you wanta doctor, a lawyeryou are very smart. Aim high, Babes!

. .And then she was gone, taken from us. Rosemary and I are, at times, at each
other's throats.

"I went out late at night when it first happened and yelled in the darkness (my
nickname for Cathy), 'Mert, do you hear me? Mert, this is your daddy. Are you kid-
ding, Mert? Please let me hear you voice! . . . She never answered. . . .She never
answered . . . This week, they found another 11-year-old girl. Her panties were
pulled down and her sweater covered her face and neckraped and
murdered . . . I want justice, God damn, I want justice . . I'm only an iron worker,
but damn, I hunger for justice. . . ."

In the meantime, we adults debate the death squads in El Salvador and the $80
millionor is it $800 million to do something about that problem.

STATEMENT OF KENNETH WOODEN, INVESTIGATIVE REPORTER,
ABC NEWS "20/20," FOUNDER, NATIONAL COALITION FOR CHIL-
DREN'S JUSTICE
Mr. WOODEN. Thank you for the opportunity to come here and

share some of the experiences we had doing two pieces for ABC
News "20/20."

But, if I may, Mr. Williams, correct one little statement in your
opening comment. The Ralston Purina Co. did not prepare the
booklet "Child Lures." They, as a public service, did underwrite the
booklet. It was prepared by the National Coalition for Children's
Justice, which was a 5-year investment of time and work interview-
ing child murderers and molesters on how they lured the children.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you for that correction.
Mr. WOODEN. And as a gift to your child, I'll gladly make one of

those booklets available, and to all of you.
I'm really happy to report that in 3 weeks we've had 300,000 re-

quests for that booklet, and we are receiving about 7,500 per day.
We expect to reach about half a million very shortly.
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And the beauty of that booklet is that it's going to make a lot of
eyes available in the community looking. We're already getting
phone calls from molesters with as many as 300 experiences under
their belt, wanting to give up, and we're recommending they go to
mental health centers.

Let me say as the father of four daughters, and proud to be a
grandfather this summer, very young, thatyoung grandfather,
that isthat I totally support your legislation, and I don't want my
testimony to appear to be critical of the legislation.

I'm a little apprehensive coming here because I had to clear my
testimony, which is really an article for the New York Times, op ed
with Ob Weston, the executive producer of "20/20." And he not
only gave me permission to come here, but he said I can say any-
thing that I want.

So with that wonderful free check, let me say a few things.
Mr. Wrwams. It's very, very clear that you work for ABC, and

with the present administration then.
Mr. WOODEN. I'm a full-time investigative reporter with ABC

News "20/20," r id I do have a few things to say.
Concerning the 2,000-plus dead children that we bury unidenti-

fied, perhaps we could enlist the support of pathologists in the De-
fense Department. I'm told because of my interest in the Jones-
town tragedy, where we buried 276 young flowers unidentified, that
we have identified every soldier that died in the Vietnam war be-
cause the Defense Department has that expertise in identifying
those men that have fallen in battle.

We do not have a soldier for the unknown soldier in Arlington
because we have identified him. Yet, priorities show we have 2,000
kids that fall to the sexual battle in America per year unidentified.
Shameful.

Also, I think there's a need to clarify missing kids. In our report,
they are murdering our children. In all fairness to law enforce-
ment, inundated with work, and the Reagan cuts are real. There
are runaways; there is parental snatchings; there's stranger abduc-
tions. They are almost programmed to wait 24 hours, 48 hours, 72
hours, And we found that that period of waiting is critical.

We found that autopsy reports show that when a child is crimi-
nally abducted life begins to evaporate in 14 to 48 hours. So there's
a need in this country to clarify the missing kids, and to make a
priority of the criminally abducted children.

Something that I'm told the Reagan administration is going to
doit's under my craw to no endthe fact that they're proposing
to cut the Runaway Shelter Program from $24 million to $11 mil-
lion is a disgrace which desecrates the death of 27 children in
Houston, TX.

I remember when the Runaway Shelter Program was first initi-
ated by Senator Birch Bayh. I remember when Congress had no in-
terest at all in runaway shelters. And then they found 27 dead
bodies in Houston, TX.

I remember when Congress was inundated with millions of let-
ters from parents whose kids have run away over the period of
years. And Congress, under the Nixon administration under Mel
Lahr, of all people, initiated runaway shelters. To cut that back-
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to cut that program back is to play a shell game. A shell game with
social programs.

To give $10 million for this program, and take away $11 million,
let me tell you what I think it will do from my prospective. It will
free the big city pimps of any competition in their quest for the lost
and abandoned children who will never see the safety net as they
fall to the street horror in America.

Also, saying anything I want, I'm apalled that we're talking $10
million. I wish it was $10 billion. As we give $320 billion to nation-
al defenseI was in Korea. I remember when my commanding offi-
cer didn't want a gig on his record because he had oversupplies.
And we loaded deuce and halfs of supplies, and we unloaded it in
the deepest part of the river. The waste of defense money is stag-
gering. And we are debating $10 million for this bill.

And police departments are inundatedlack the manpower to
trace all missing kids and we're giving that much money to nation-
al defense. I think it's outrageous. It's a sham. It's disgraceful.

Here's a statement I would like to read. It's really a statement of
what we found working on "20/20," murdering our children, and
the lures of death.

Children in America are being treated like garbage. Raped and
killed, their young bodies are disposed of in plastic bags, in trash
trucks, and left in city dumps.

A 2-year-old girl was left to die at the bottom of an outhouse in
Colorado. She was miraculously found. Not so with others. We
found them like litter. They were thrown into lakes, and rivers,
and streams, the tender driftwood of life.

Some were found on roadsides like empty soda and beer cans, or
crushed cigarette butts; were cast aside like broken furniture in
empty houses; were stripped in abandoned cars in wooded and
swamp areas. Left to the elements, these youngsters met their
maker.

Since those who've picked from the garden of life had no respect
for life, neither did they have any respect for the dignity of death.
Poor little wilted flowers plucked from the vases of homes and
safety of parents are in large part left unburied in the lone and the
openness of fields. And now the closed minds of leaders and col-
leaguesfriends of mine said it's too depressing. Racketball. Tennis
anybody. Ignored collectively by our Nation, and its leaders, their
numbers grow and grow.

I also found, and we found, that parents of missing kids, mur-
dered kids, have become the modernday lepers. Neighbors don't
have anything to do with them. They're cast aside by friends, rela-
tives, and they cope the best they can.

Such was the case of Bill and Rosemary Kohm, Santa Claus, IN,
whose 11-year-old daughter Kathy disappeared while jogging. Two
months later officials found her skeletal remains. The Kohms
ended up taking a suspect to civil court and winning a mere $5,000
verdict for wrongful death.

The father has said to us "she used to tell me, 'daddy, I want to
he a nurse.' And I'd say, 'honey, you can be anything you want, a
doctor, a lawyer, you're very smart. Aim high, babes.' " And then she
was gone. Taken from us.

33



58

I went out late at night when it first happened and yelled in the
darkness my nickname for Kathy, Mert, do you hear me? Mort,
this is your daddy. Are you hiding, Mert? Please, Mert, let me hear
your voice."

This week they found another 11-year-old girl. Her panties were
pulled down, and her sweater covered her face and neck, raped,
and murdered. Bill Combes said "I want justice, ---, I want jus-
tice. I'm only an ironworker, but, damn, I hunger for justice."

In the meantime, we, as a country, editorial writers, and Con-
gress, we debate the death squads in El Salvador, and $80 million,
or was it $800 million, to do something about that problem.

Again, I'm not being disrespectful, but I'm outraged. I'm out-
raged we can spend $320 billion in defense, and Reagan will cut
runaway shelters by 60 percent. Those runaway shelters are the
only safe havens in the combat zones of America, in the big cities.

Congressman, there was one big city not far from here where a
reporter went with two police officers to check out the night life
and child prostitutes. They parked their patrol car, and two pimps
came up to the car, looked in, and said to the police officers and
the reporter "if you don't get the --- out of here we'll kill you."

Both police officers and that reporter retreated from free Amer-
ica, leaving those kids on those street corners abandoned and
alone.

I'm a reporter. I cover this country, and there are street corners
like that in every major city of America. I don't fear the Russians.
I fear the pimps that intimidate the police officers.

We're now going to repair a satellitewonderfulfor $48 mil-
lion. I hope they do it. Why can't we repair those street corners in
America and save our kids from child prostitution?

I read, because I have a little computer project with George
Gallup, Jr., that the Defense Department spent close to $3 million
on a computer in El Salvador to insure a higher vote turnout, but
we have no idea in this country how many children are murdered,
who they are, who killed them, how they were lured into their
death. We simply know very little. And we're going to give El Sal-
vador another $80 million.

Well, I do hope we can protect the people of El Salvador, but as a
father, and a taxpayer, I am very interested in protecting the chil-
dren of this country. I make a strong appeal to you.

As you entertain new legislation in the future you have to beef
up law enforcement in this country, and give the juvenile officers
some beef. You have to give child exploitation units some manpow-
er; a walkie-talkie or two wouldn't help; a car wouldn't hurt them.
I'm sorry, they need resources.

I hope you would consider a National Child Defense Act. I hope
you would shift some of the defense money that's being dumped in
rivers around this country so officers can protect their careers, into
police units so we can have full-time child exploitation units.

The other suggestion I'd like to make involves the private sector.
Right now with a computer project that I'm working on I have
people volunteering time, brain power from MIT, Carnegie Insti-
tute, the large computer companies, with wonderful ideas that they
would never share with the Federal Government. Involve the pri-
vate sector.
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And there is something that you can do, and, Mark, would you
help me.

In our program, "Child Lures," we made Tom Gerald our corre-
spondent, a deputy sheriff for $19. Would you like me to read you
the Miranda Rights? Do you know how many young kids would fall
for this?

As many young kids would fall for this as teenagers and young
women in supermarkets. $19. You can buy it from any sleazy detec-
tive magazine you want.

We showed this badge to an FBI agent, and he pulled out his
badge and said "it looks more authentic than mine," and it did.

We can buy these patches, Santa Monica Police Department. You
can buy sheriff patches. All around the country you can buy these
things. Biandt had them on his shoulder when he killed young girls
in California.

A badge like this John Wayne Gasey had. Two men that immor-
talized themselves by going around the country killing almost 200
people had badges. And why would anyone want to buy handcuffs
not in law enforcement. You can buy these in any cop shop in
America.

I do think we have to standardize and regulate badges, and this
sort of thing, because who, again, would buy this thing? It's luring
children; it's luring young adults; it's luring Americans into a hell
hole of horror and terror.

I thank you for the opportunity. I thank you for the chance to
come here to discuss this issue, and I will pass the booklets out to
all three of you.

[Booklets are included in the appendix:)
Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you very much, Mr. Wooden.
Mr. Simon.
Mr. SIMON. First of all, I like people who are outraged at the

right thing, and I thank you very, very much for your testimony,
and for being here. And we clearly should not go along with the
kind of cuts that have been requested in that runaway program.

You mentioned one other thing that's totally out of the jurisdic-
tion of our subcommittee, but something that we ought to be look-
ing into. And it had not occurred to me until you mentioned it, and
that is the abuse of these badges. There ought to be some kind of
Federal penalty for the improper rnaiiufacture and sale of those
badges, because there is no question that some of the people who
pick up children are people who are using badges that obviously
look real to those children. You learn at home to respect the police
officer, and if a "police officer" with a fake badge approaches you

' I think wer're inviting trouble.
Mr. WOODEN. I will share this booklet with you.
We paid $5 for this booklet. You can order badges. You can put

on the badge of whatever city, police department you so desire.
And in the back you can order a flashing red light for your car.
You can order on how to pick a lock. How to drill a special drill for
breaking and entering. Handcuffs, thumbcuffs. It's amazing what
you can order in the field of law enforcement.

And if you have ever read those detective magazines, they make
Penthouse look rather mild when it comes to sadomasochism; when
it comes to their covers.



60

Mr. SIMON. If someone on the staffDebbie, could you duplicate
that little folder he has and return it to him.

I thank you very much for your testimony. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

[Booklet referred to follows:]
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PROFESSIONAL BADGES
Authentic symbols of authority. Worn by private detectives and
professional investigators in top organizations throughout the
world. Designed for a lifetime of proud wear, our badges are
not to be confused with cheap toys or imitations. Made of heavy
gauge SOLID BRONZE with a beautiful jeweler's finish.

103A
international
Private
Investigator
Solid bronze.
$14.95
plus $1.00
postage $
handling

Badges
are shown
actual
site

1038
Private
Detective
Solid bronze
514.95
Plus $1.00 wt.
postage &
handling

USE ORDER RI ANT( -A-

Available only with lettering and cow wablerr shown above
See pages 8, 9 & 10 for Custom Lettered Badges manufactured
to your specifications
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PROFESSIONAL BADGES

Badges are shown
actual size.

203

deputy Sheriff
Sipo Int star.
Solid bronze.
$14.95
plus $1.00 postage
& handling

103C
Metal
Press
Photographer
Unique camera
Insignia
Solid bronze.
$14.95
of us $1.00
postage
I handling

#200 .

Not available
in California

USE ORDER BLANK "A"

Available only witn lettering and center emblem as shown above.

See pages 8, 9 & 10 for Custom Lettered Badges manufactured

to your specifications.

3 63
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BADGES,
BOLS , OF AUTHORITY

471%1'.

313A
Special

Investigator.
Solid bronze.
$14.95
plus $1.00
postage &
handling

Badges are shown
actual. size.

3138
Special
Agent

S14.95
plus $1.00
postage &
handling

USE ORDER BLANK "A"
International Police Equipment Co.

Available only with lettering and center emblem as shown, low
See pages 8, 9 & 10 for Custom Lettered Badges manufactured
to your specifications.

4
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PROFESSIONAL BADGES

500
Professional
Investigator
Solid bronze.
$14.95
plus $1.00
postage & handling

613A
Special
Officer.
Solid bronze.
$14.95
plus $1.00
postage &
handling

Protect your
badge
with
a badge
Case

6138
Security
Officer
Solid bronze.
$14.95
plus $1.00
postage 3,
handling

USE ORDER BLANK "A'
Available only with lettering and center emblem as shown
See pages 8. 9 b 10 for Custom Lettered Badges manufactured
to your specifications

5
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WALLET BADGES
Available only with lettering and center emblems as shown below.
See pages 8, 9 & 10 for Custom Lettered Badges manufactured
to your specifications.

Handsome, distinctive designs in heavy gauge, finest
quality gleaming solid bronze . . . polished to a lus.
trous jeweler's finish. Satisfaction guaranteed.

Professional type Varies real prestige
and gives instant identification...anywhere.

20313

$5.95
plus 80c
postage
handli

*203A
Private
International
Investigator

$5.95
plus 80c
postage &
handling

203C
Official
Press
Photographer

$5.95
plus 80c posts,.
& handling

250
Deputy
Sheriff
Sixnoint star.

$5.95
plug. Eut
postage &
handling

Purp

*Itpt.11
Mg

All badges shown actual silt

6
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osicl bronze'

WALLET BADGES
Available only with lettering and center emblems as shown below
See pages 8, 9 & 1G for Custom Lettered badges manufactured
to your specifications

603A
Special
Officer
$5.95
plus 80c postage
& handling

303B
Special
Agent
$5.95
plus 80c
postage &
handling

303A
Special
Investigator
$5.95
plus 80c
postage &
handling

403
Profess lanai
Investigator
$5.95
plus.80c postage
& handling -

Badges
are shown
actual
sue

60313

Security
Officer
$5.95
plus 80c
postage &
handling

Use Order Blank "A"

7
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CUSTOLETTERED BADGES
Designed To Your Specifications

Available in Solid Orme (Gold) or Rhodium Plate finish (Silver)Add $1 extra for each badge in Rhodium finish.
403CU
Small
Custom
Shield

4514.95plus g
postage &
handling

500CU
Large
Custom
Shield
$18.95
plus $1.00

POst e & handling

ti

103CU
lArge .

Qustom
Shield
(See Order
Blank 1:1"1
$19.95
plus $1.00
postage &
handling

rl

A

203CU
Small

fledges Custom
are shown Shield
'oval $14.95
site plus 80c

postage &
handling

USE BLUE ORDER BLANK "8" ONLY.

International Police Equipment Company
1040 Ventura Blvd., Oept. 1200. Encino, Calif. 91435
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Badges
are shown
actual
site

200C U
Large
Custom Star
$18.95
plus 51.00
postage &
handling

250CU
Small
Custom Star
$14.95
plus 80c
postage &
handling

. STAR CIVIL JUSTICE CHOICE OF
DEFENSE SYMBOL STATE SEAL

YOUR CHOICE OF 4 CENTER INSIGNIAS SHOWN
PLUS CUSTOM LETTERING TO YOUR SPECIFICATIONS

SEE BLUE ORDER FORM "B" FOR INSTRUCTIONS.

150CU
Official
COP Badge
Custom

$18.95
plus $1.00
postage &
handling

9 75
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CUSTOM-LETTERED BADGES
Custom designed to your exact specifications. Avail.
able in two finishes: Bronze (Gold color) and Rhodium
Plate (Silver). For Rhodium, add $1 each.

603CU Small Shield
Custom design
$14.95
plus 80c
°stage &
handling

613CU Large
Custom Shield
$18.95

plus $1.00
postage &
handling

303CU
Small
Custom
Shield
$14.95
olus 80c
postage & handling

Badges are shown
actual size

3I3CU
Large
Custom
Shield
$18.95
plus S1.00
Postage &
handling

09)

f OR ORDERING INSTRUCTIONS, SEE ORDER BLANK "B"

10
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OULU.* 131W111C.
TWO-PIECE MATCHING SETS

PROFESSIONAL UNIFORM
CAP INSIGNIA & BADGE

Designed for professional use by private officers
and patrolmen.
CAT.NO.

BC1 Security Officer...., $28.95 PER SET
plus $1.50 postage & handling

BC5 Special Officer....... $28.95 PER SET
plus OM postage & handling* * * *

IMPORTANT.
No substitutions!
Available only in 2
titles shown in
Gold finish.
For other lettering,
see CUSTOM BADGES,
pages 8, 9 & 10.

Badges
are shown
actual

site

411J 4.2 0114
-ahherviorAttir,

USE ORDER BLANK "A" TO ORDER SETS

77
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AUTHENTIC WESTERN BADGES .. ,

REAL COLLECTORS' ITEMS!
Made from the original dies . . . rugged Wild
West design in handsome nickel finish. Perfect
for "quick draw" artists.

230 DEPUTY MARSHAL . . . A tour .1 the old frontier.
Authentic in ever./ detail, gleamiii,: $6.95

plus 60c postage &.handling

22S DEPUTY SHERIFF . Ideal for Western Buffs. Made
from the original die; nickel finish

$6.95
plus 80c postage & handling

USE ORDER BLANK "A" TO ORDER

12
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FLASH YOUR AUTHORITY WITH.
GENUINE LEATHER BADGE CASES

Professional Quality to Protect
and Enhance Your Badge

Tr-
;
1

' I

s".:
Nfit,44

452 POCKET SECRETARY Combines badge case, notepad and
I.D. card case; holds a pen or pencil, too. Recessed to hold any
badge shown in this catalog. Two compartments for money and
papers, plus clear Vinyl window for 1.0. Gtnuine leather with felt
flaps that protect badge & I.D, $16.95

plus $130 poitage & handling

.1114.,=

454 THREEWAY FOLDING CASE has TWO Vinyl ident
ification card windows, plus recessed area to hold badge.
Displays your authority instantly ideal for investigators
and law enforcement personnel. Rugged, durable proles
sional quality genuine leather. $12.95

plus $1.00 postage & handling

International Police Equipment Company
15840 Ventura Blvd., Dept. 1200, Encino, Call,. 91436

13
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FLASH YOUR AUTHORITY!

`"

.:4

'1 Ittc" 44`
1:1

1.17.,
11:
f

453 WALLET BADGE CASE Combines badge case, billfold and
I.D. Recessed area for flushmounting badge, with felt flap for
protecting badge and Vinyl window for I.D. Genuine leather;
roomy money compartment. $14.95

Plus $1. 25 postage & handling

450 LEATHER BADGE CAS. for investigators and special
officers. Protects your badge on all sides; has felt flap
and badge "slack strap", Vinyl I.D. window. Shows cre.
dentials in an official manner. $5.95

plus 80c postage 8 handling

451 DE LUXE LEATHER BADGE CASE Professional case, rem
forced with goldcolored metal corners. Slack strap and felt pro.
testing flap $6.95

_plus 80c postage , .,andling

International Police Equipment Company
15840 Ventura Blvd.. Dept. 1200, Encino, Calif. 91438

14
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Valuable identification for those in law enforcement and investi
gation work. Nine titles to choose from, each with its own
handsome badge insignia. We will print up to FOUR lines of
information at no extra charge. When you order, type or print
the title you want giving both name and number (see list
below) plus your name: address; city. state and zip code; and
phone number, No substitutions, order ONLY titles shown.
1. International Private Investigator 2. Private Detective
3. Official Press Photographer 4. Deputy Sheriff
S. Special Investigator 6. Special Agent
7. Professional Investigator S. Special Officer

9. Security Officer
#475 1,000 Business Cards (all with same title) ....524.95

plus $1.50 Postage& naming

NEW! PROFESSIONAL FORMS FOR
INVESTIGATION REPORTS ...

#1600 INVESTIGATOR'S INFORMATION
KIT

All the forms you need to make and file an official-
looking report. Our exclusive kit contains all of the
following important forms: Fingerprint Cards; Field
Interregatten Forms; Official Miranda Forms (Advises
criminal of rights.) Suspect Description Forms - with
detailed list of physical traits for identification of 'sus-
pect by witnesses. Our exclusive package makes your
work easy and it will look professional
ORDER CAT. 1600 Complete Kit 65.00

plus 80c Postage & handling

INSTANT AUTHORITY IN ANY SITUATION'

t:1504 - PROFESSIONAL
IDENTIFICATION CARDS

Identify yourself with our impressive custom printed I.O.
cards. Finest quality heavy stock; will fit any of our
professional badge cases Or any wallet. Space is allowed
for your photo and right index finger print. GIVE NAME
AND NUMBER OF EACH I.D. CARD YOU WANT.
(Exampler 1504.5 Special Investigator)

1. tntntl, Private Investigator
3. Official Press Photographer
5. Special Investigator
7. Professional Investigator
9. Security Officer

11. Emergency Medical Technician
13. Security Enforcement Officer
15. Accident Investigator
17. Volunteer Fire Fighter

2. Private Detective
4. Deputy Sheriff
6. Special Agent
8. Special Officer

10 Legal Investigator
12. Neighborhood Watch
14. Search and Rescue
16. Ambulance Service
18. Fingerprint Technician

ORDER CAT. NO. 1504 PLUS NAMES AND NUMBERS

ABOVE S2.00 for EACH Cord Postpaid

15
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PROFESSIONAL POLICE
RESTRAINING DEVICES

64"

650 HEAVY OUYY DOUBLE LOCK HANDCUFFS Professional
ftipon wrist action cuffs lock instantly when applied to wrists.
Sturdy. lifetime steel with polish nickel finish. A necessity for
all law enforcement agents. Complete with two keys.

x18.95
plus $1.50 postage I handling

652 Genuine Saddle
Leather Handcuff
Case.
59.95
DI us $1.00
postage &
handling

655 THUMB'CUFFS Unique, hardtofind manacle, available
to International Police Equipment Company customers. These
thumbcuffs offer remarkable restraint, yet they weigh only 3
ounces! it any size thumb, large or small, male or female, with
a positive locking action . will not slip. Ideal for juvenile
officers, offduty personnel, investigators and detectives. Nickel
finished steel. $15.95

plus $1,25 postage & handling

HARD TO FIND COLLECTOR'S ITEM PailABLE AGAIN.

16
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FINGERPRINT EQUIPMENT

802 LATENT FINGERPRINT IN..."
KIT

For investigators, students \
and businessmen who want
to turn up hidden prints at

I i I ,s.....

the scene of a crime. Port.
able carrying case plus 3

powders, 3 brushes, 72
transolifte 36 transheets and 20 evidence cark, Everything for
locating ai4 lilting prints $24.95

plus $2.00 postage & handling

801 DE LUXE ID. 41Q.
AND LATENT
FINGERPRINT KIT
All the basic
equipment needed
for charting
evidence at the
scene of the crime
in a portable
carrying case. New.
"Porelon" fingerprint
pad, cardholder,
5 types of special
scientific powders . :at
PLUS 3 powder
brushes, magnifier, atomizer,
transolifts, full supply of 3"
8" a 8" record cards You also
and two fingerprint charts

$79.95
plus $3.00 postage & handling

notebook, winding tape, ruler,
a 5" evidence cards and large
get a ridge counter, pencil, knife

999 TRANSFORM ANY PANE OF ORDINARY GLASS

INTO A GENUINE ONEWAY MIRROR!

You can see through II as clearly as a windovi but on the other side, it
appears lo be a mirror' You can se:.; oily vialch any activity on the other
side, and no one is aware they are being observed' Until now, ONE.
WAY MIRRORS were expensive to purchase, difficult to install. But,
recognizing their importance in crime work, we have perfected a formula
using simple, everyday chemicals. easily obtainable al low cost that
allows you to transform any glass in doors. windows, mirrors, etc. Into
a valuable ONE WAY MIRROR'

39879 0 85 6
1,r

CAT.NO. 999 S2
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TD5 PROFESSIONAL THEFT
DETECTION KIT

A must for trapping sneak thieves, prowlers, dishonest
employees, industrial espionage, etc. Foolproof scientific
method uses an Invisible powder that IS blown onto safes,
doorknobs, confidential papers, money, cash registers,
drawers wherever you want to set a trap for suspects.
When the powder comes in contact with a person's skin, It
turns into a brilliant purple stain that will not wash off.
(Does not harm skin.) Complete kit in a durable carrying
case to take on jobs.
ORDER CAT. NO. TD-S $16.95

plus $2.00 postage & handling

1903 THREE-WAY FLASHING SPOT LIGHT
FOR EMERGENCIES

Has Four Colored Lenses and 12-Foot Cord
For fires, accidents, high-

way mishaps, rescues'
Plugs into auto lighter

and works THREE WAYS
...as flasher,

-,

4vrear
4.

hand-held or stationary spot light. Has finest Tungsten
flashers and long-life sealed beam GE bulbs. Comes with
FOUR different color lenses -'Red, Preen, Amber, Blue.
Sturdy magnetic base holds firmly to dal.noard and metal
surfaces.
ORDER CAT. NO. 1900 Compl.t so $39.95

plus $2.50 postage & handling

995 OBSERVASCOPE LETS YOU SEE THROUGH ANY WALL
Opticar wall probe is used by police agencies throughout the
world. Contains two powerful wide angle lenses . . . you are
unseen but can see through walls Used to detect shoplifters.
for industrial espionage, vice cases Order several and use to
gain important evidence $4.95 each

plus 50c postage & handling

18
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FIAHD-10.fIND tQUIPMM I

for INVESTIGATORS

PROFESSIONAL LOCK PICK SET
You can open locks when emergency
entrance is necessary and keys are

not available. Investigators
and detectives need

these invaluable
tools. Made of
blue tempered

spring steel. Handy
carrying case conven-. iently fits shirt or coat

pocket. Professional lock
pick set with full instruction

book.

ORDER CAT. 020SO $16.95 plus $1.50 postage & handling

2075 PROFESSIONAL 12-PIECE DELUXE
LOCK PICK SET ... COLOR CODED
HANDLES

.. Emergency entrance needed
... and no keys? All

investigatorssweaar nbdydteteesc;1
valuable tools. TEN
blue - tempered spring

4 steel picks, each.with a
different color handle
for easy selection ...

plus TWO tension
wrenches ... all in a

convenient carrying case;
room for your small tools,

too. Made by skilled crafts-
men in the U.S.A. Space-

saving compact kit includes a complete Instruction Book.
ORDER CAT. NO. 2075 12Piece De Luxe Lock Pick
set S29.95 plus $2.00 postage & handling

OPENS ANY PIN TUMBLER LOCK!

i' Ift ,, ' Used by professional

.;,.

I

insurance investigators

essential for private
investigators, all law
enforcement agents.

locksmiths. it's also

Fits all keyways ..
opens every type of

pin tumbler lock

*lir
Q1

1050 LOCK GUN

. even many so.
called "pickproor'

!WS Simple to use Insert into lock, pull trigger shoot it

4ke a pun Canno! harm leeks Another International Police

roopment Company professional quality aid in investigation

"ours 'or aniy 559.95 plus $2.00 postage & handling
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INTERNATIONAL POLICE EQUIPMEN I 10UMNAII
15840 Ventura Blvd., Dept. 1200, Encino, Colifornio 91436

ORDER BLANK "B"
FOR CUSTOM-LETTERED BADGES ONLY

(Use white Order Blank "A" for all other items.)
10. IMPORTANT: Please read these simple instructions before ordering: +O.

METHOD OF PAYMENT:

A. Personal or company checks will delay your order, as we must wait
until they clear bank for payment. For faster service send Money
Order or Cashier's Check.

deitiP B. All foreign orders including Canada and Mexico must be paid in U.S.
funds payable through a U.S. bank or post office.

CUSTOM ORDERS TAKE TIME . .. PLEASE ALLOW 4 6 WEEKS FOR DELIVERY

Catalog Number

0 Polished Bronze (gold color)

How Many Badge Price each
( Add $1 extra for each Rhodium Plate badge

tttttt PINNY CAMITYLLT
or Rhodium Plate (silver color) $1 extra

Add $1 extra for each
Rhodium Plate badge $

TOTAL $

Add 6% sales tax for
California residents only $

Handling & postage $

TOTAL AMOUNT
ENCLOSED I

In cash 0 Check 0 Money order 1:1
r NO C.O.D.3 on any CustomLettered Badges

Name
ttttt MINT CAROFULLT

Address
P ttttt PRINT CAROINILLY

City
ttttt PRINT CARCITYLLT

State Zip

PRINT OR TYPE THE LETTERING YOU WANT ON YOUR BADGE IN THE PANELS SHOWN.

a) All badges do not have all five panels, so fill in only the

---7
numbers that apply to the badge you are ordering, Use a
separate sheet of paper, if ordering more than one badge.
If the badge you order has more panels than you need for
your custom lettering don't worry! We will fill In the ex
tra panels with a design of small star,.

PANEL 1 LETTERING
iNoNt on TVt i

PANEL 2 LETTERING
.PRINT On TTPC I

Al' PANEL 3 CHOICE OF DESIGN. SEE PAGE 9. CHECK ..)NE
ONLY:
STAR 0 / JUST ICE [) / CIVIL DEFENSE 0

STATE SEAL Name of State

PANEL 4 LETTERING
. rank f hlu 1,10

PANEL 5 CHOICE OF LETTERING, NUh,"ERS, SCROLL

OR STARS
tooll WWI

REMEMBER: Personal or company checks will delay your order. as we must watt until
they clear bank before we can ship your order.
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COMPLETE "BUGGING" MANUAL
information available to the public for the very
first time!! . the complete manual of investi
gator's intelligence methods and electronic
surveillance devices.

'1111.m.
11141 INVESTIGATOR'S MANUAL
This big, tabindexed book describes
every detail of how bugging, elec.
tronic eavesdropping and antisur.
veillance takes place. You'll learn
about the sophisticated equipment
ued . . . plus the true facts on
bugging. This is the type of infor
motion you would expect to find
only in a classified document. A
manual of equipment and proce
dures that is as informative for the
professional as it is instructive and
educational for the amateur. Pro.
tent yourself against privacy inva
sionl

PACKED WITH DETAILED PHOTOGRAPHS . . .

A1l'new Information, including: Actual Case Histories . . . 50
Questions & Answers To Test Yourself on Bugging . . . Anti.
Bugging . . CounterEspionage . . . Transceivers . . Amplifiers
. . . Tailing Devices . . . Shadowing Methods . . . Tape Re.
corder: . . . WireTapping . . . Surveillance of the Future .
Equipment .. . and many, many more.

THE INVESTIGATOR'S MANUAL is an important accessory in
crime detection and all phases of investigation. Invaluable k
any businessman, industry, law enforcement agency or investi
gator . . , a wealth of information the serious student will not
find elsewhere . . . Handsomely bound in black leathertike.
goldstamped binder $15.00 plus ;1.50 postage & handling

FORMER FBI AGENT REVEALS INSIDE INFORMATION
ON ANTIBUG6ING

*1500HOW TO AVOID
ELECTRONIC EAVESDROPPING

AND PRIVACY INVASION
By William W. Turner, FBI
agent for ten years. You've
read about his "blank bag"
jobs In newspaper sc

counts of the Watergate
breakin. Now read his
192.page manual. Fully

illustrated, compact, easy.
to.read. Covers every Important subject:

AntiBuuing Laws: Complete Text; What's Legal . . . What's
Illegal.
How Telephone can be used by Eavesdroppers 1,000 miles away.
How to use your TV Set as a Bug Sniffer and Locator; step-
by.step instruction; how to use other eppliances as bug
detectors.
Auto Bugging; The Bumper Beeper; White Sound . . . How It
Thwarts Bugs.
Sophisticated Bugs Instructions for Locating and Removing
Their Threat. SubMiniature Microphones, Parabolic (Big Eir)
Listening Devices. Shotgun Mike. Spike Mike. Stethoscope
Mike . . . and many more. Your privacy may already be at
stake . . . and your client's, too, If you are a professional
investigator this manual is a MUST. $9.95

20 plus sOc postage & handling
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Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Hayes.
Mr. HAYES. I just must express my admiration to Mr. Wooden for

his forthright position, particularly in terms of spending priorities,
and spending less money for our defense, and too little onshould
spend less money for defensive purposes, and spend more on trying
to protect our children. I share and agree with your opinions in
this respect.

I did not hear you saymaybe before I say this I should back up
a little bit. The thing that sort of shocked me a little bit by your
forthrightness I always felt there were certain inhibitions that had
to be shared by people in the media, as you are, and expressing
their real feeling on issues such as our national defense spending. I
guess you have no fear, retributions for having been forthright
here with us.

And my final question is is whether or not you support the bill
that we're conducting a hearing on here today?

Mr. WOODEN. Of course. Of course I support it totally. And let me
just say this. As a former political campaign manager who never
lost elections for seats in Congress, for legislature, the municipality
of White Plains, NY, I'm going to have a ball with that 300,000
people that sent for the brochure. And when we get up to a half a
million I'm going to have a creative ball. And with our computer
project I'm going to have a multicreative ball.

Mr. HAYES. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Wooden, as you know, these are difficult defi-

cit times, and the Congress and the President, the American people
are struggling with how to move this terribly out-of-balance budget
closer to some equilibrium.

I serve on the House Budget Committee. One, as did Paul Simon
before me, and as Paul knows, one doesn't serve on that commit-
teevery long before you quickly recognize that this country has
enormous wealth. While tax dollars are not finite, and there's only
a certain amount that the American people are willing to contrib-
ute and spend on this federal system, that amount is nonetheless
an enormous number of dollars.

So when we seek $10 million for this type of an effort, that $10
million is there. It's there many, many times over.

What has not been there in the past is the appropriate will to
reset America's compass to spend significant amounts of money on
these types of efforts.

Since you've been testifying, Mr. Wooden, the Pentagon has
spent all of the money asked for in this legislation. And since this
hearing began this morning the Pentagon has spent four and a half
times the money that is asked for in this legislation. The dollars
are there. We just need more people such as you who say "let's re-
direct America's compass, and spend the dollars where they need
to be spent."

I cernmend you for your testimony.
Mr. WOODEN. Well, I thank you, and I'm here, you know, as a

private citizen, again, father, and I'm here as the founder of the
National Coalition for Children's Justice, and I'm dedicated to
making the Pentagon go into financial weight watchers club be-
cause we can't toleratewe can't tolerate their obscene, obscene
greed while kids are being murdered in this country.

Sd
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I leave you with one last thought. It's an anecdote.
During the campaign I'm told the chief of police met Gov. Ronald

Reagan, and he said to Governor Reagan "Governor, I have never
met a Russian who killed an American yet." Since that comment
was made, about 15,000 children were murdered in this country not
by any Russian lord, not by any guerrilla terrorist tactics. It was
done individually; it was done alone; and it is a national disgrace.

I hope you quickly pass this law, and I hope you will take into
serious account a National Child Defense Act. And in my own
small part, with a classroom of some 29 million people on "20/20,"
perhaps we can educate the public, and make children safe. They
look up to us. They have a trust where they think we're going to
protect them. It's a start, but it's a small step.

Mr. WILLIAMS. We thank you for your good efforts.
Mr. WOODEN. Thank you.
Mr. WILLIAMS. The next witness is Dr. Michael W. Agopian, di-

rector of Child Stealing Research Center, Los Angeles, CA.
Doctor, we appreciate you being here, and you may proceed.
[Prepared statement of Dr. Michael W. Agopian follows:]
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PREPARED STATEMENT DE DR. MICHAEL W. AGOPIAN, DIRECTOR, CHILD STEALING RE-
SEARCH CENTER, Los ANGELES, CA, AND CHAIRMAN, CALIFORNIA STATE ADVISORY
GROUP ON JUVENILE JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY PREVENTION, SACRAMENTO, CA

DEAR CONGRESSMAN ANDREWS AND SUBCOMMITTEE MEMBERS:

ON BEHALF OF GOVERNOR GEORGE DEUKMEJIAN AND THE CITIZENS OF CALIFORNIA

I THANK YOU FOR THE INVITATION TO SPEAK TO YOU TODAY REGARDING MISSING

CHILDREN AND THE REAUTHORIZATION OF THE JUVENILE JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY

PREVENTION ACT. YOU ARE ALL TO BE COMMENDED FOR CONDUCTING THIS HEARING.

YOUR LEADERSHIP AND VIGOR IN MEETING OUR NATIONAL RESPONSIBILITY TO OUR

CHILDREN IS DEEPLY APPRECIATED.

I AM DIRECTOR OF THE CHILD STEALING RESEARCH CENTER IN LOS ANGELES.

SOME OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE MEMBERS ARE AWARE OF THE MOST SIGNIFICANT WORK

FROM THIS PROGRAM, MY BOOK -- PARENTAL CHILD STEALING (D.C. HEATH,1981).

IN ADDITION, I WAS APPOINTED BY GOVERNOR DEUKMEJIAN AS CHAIRMAN OF THE

CALIFORNIA STATE ADVISORY GROUP ON JUVENILE JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY

PREVENTION. THIS STATE ADVISORY GROUP ADMINISTERS THE JUVENILE JUSTICE

ACT IN OUR STATE. THEREFORE, I AM INTENSELY CONCERNED WITH YOUR

SUBCOMMITTEE AND ITS EFFORTS TO IMPACT MISSING CHILDREN AND JUVENILE

JUSTICE.

EIGHT YEARS-A-GO THIS HEARING WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN HELD. I SUSPECT

THAT THE MEDIA WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN,50 INTERESTED NOR WOULD THE LARGE

NUMBERS OF PEOPLE HAVE ATTENDED. WE ARE ALL AWARE OF THE ADAM WALSH

CASE. BUT PLEASE RECOGNIZE THAT THERE ARE TENS OF THOUSANDS OF

ADDITIONAL ADAMS' THAT ARE NOT SO PROMINENTLY REPORTED BY THE MEDIA.

TODAY THE PROBLEM OF MISSING CHILDREN IS A SEROUS AND PERVASIVE

NATIONAL TRAGEDY. THE SORROW THAT PARENTS ENDURE WHEN A CHILD IS

MISSING POSES AN UNFAIR TEST OF COURAGE. THIS IS A UNIQUE PAIN. IT

INFLICTS A DEEP AND OPEN WOUND THAT DRAINS A PARENTS LOVE, STAMINA,
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HOPE, AND ALSO FINANCES. THE DANGER AND ABUSE THAT OUR CHILDREN

EXPERIENCE TODAY IS A NATIONAL DISGRACE.

CALIFORNIA HAS BECOME AN ENTICING ENVIRONMENT FOR MISSING

CHILDREN. IN NORTHERN CALIFORNIA WE HAVE SAN FRANCISCO AND BERKELEY

WITH THE HAIGHT-ASHBURY DISTRICT WHICH STILL ATTRACTS MANY JUVENILES.

IN SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA WE HAVE THE APPEAL OF THE FAMOUS HOLLYWOOD

AREA. THESE TWO REGIONS ARE STRONG MAGNETS FOR NOT ONLY CALIFORNIA'S

JUVENILES BUT ALSO YOUTHS FROM OTHER STATES.

YET, WHATEVER THE LURE THAT BRINGS CHILDREN TO CALIFORNIA OUR

PRIMARY CONCERN IS WHAT HAPPENS TO THESE CHILDREN. THE PROBLEMS

FACED BY MISSING CHILDREN ARE SHOCKING.

--- YOUNG, NAIVE, UNABLE TO SUPPORT THEMSELVES OR AFRAID TO ASK FOR

HELP, THEY EASILY FALL INTO THE CLUTCHES OF "KIDDIE HAWKS" TO

BE USED FOR PORNOGRAPHY.

--- THEY ARE USED BY PIMPS AND OTHERS FOR PROSTITUTION AND SEXUAL

EXPLOITATION. THESE CHILDREN OFTEN FALL ALONG THE WAY INTO DRUG

USE AND ARE VICTIMS OF REGULAR PHYSICAL ASSAULTS.

THE CHILDREN WHO ARE FORTUNATE ENOUGH TO BE RECOVERED, OR RESCUED,

ARE OFTEN SCARRED AND DAMAGED BOTH PHYSICALLY AND EAXOTIONALLY.

THE VOLUME OF MISSING CHILDREN IS A CLEAR SIGNAL THAT WE HAVE

THE SEEDS FOR A TRUE EPIDEMIC. ALTHOUGH THERE ARE SOME STATISTICAL

PROBLEMS WITH DETERMINING THE EXACT NUMBER OF MISSING CHILDREN, THERE

IS GENERAL AGREEMENT AMONG PROFESSIONALS REGARDING THE FOLLOWING

PROFILE:

--- THERE ARE ALMOST 2 MILLION CHILDREN REPORTED MISSING EACH YEAR
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ACCORDING TO A STUDY BY THE FEDERAL DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN

SERVICES. NEARLY 1.8 MILLION OF THESE CHILDREN ARE RUNAWAYS ( 90

PERCENT).

--- APPROXIMATELY 75,000 ARE ABDUCTED EACH YEAR BY A NON-CUSTODIAL

PARENT.

--- AS OF NOVEMBER 1983 THE F.B.I.'S NATIONAL CRIME INFORMATION CENTER

(NCIC) MISSING PERSONS FILE CONTAINED A TOTAL OF 26,887 REPORTS OF

WHICH 19,345 ARE JUVENILES --- AN ASTONISHING 72 PERCENT. IT IS

"'IMPORTANT TO NOTE THAT ONLY 10 PERCENT OF ALL MISSING PERSONS ARE

ENTERED INTO THIS RECORD.

--- IN CALIFORNIA, THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE BUREAU OF CRIMINAL

IDENTIFICATION AND INFORMATION, OUR STATE CRIMINAL JUSTICE DATA

CENTER, COMPLETED A SURVEY DURING 1983 THAT DISCOVERED 70,000

MISSING CHILDREN IN CALIFORNIA REPORTED TO LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES.

(SURVEY OF 13 LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES THAT REPRESENTED 25 PERCENT

OF THE STATE POPULATION (SEE SEC. 11114 PC). ALSO, BETWEEN 1979

AND 1983 WE HAVE 553 UNIDENTIFIED PERSONS, JOHN OR JANE DOE'S,

OF WHICH 40 PERCENT ARE JUVENILES. OF THESE 40 PERCENT JUVENILES,

65 PERCENT ARE MALES. 'OF THE 70,000 MISSING JUVENILES, 20,000

AkE STILL MISSING AFTER 30 DAYS.

--- IN 1983 THE LOS ANGELES SHERIFF'S OFFICE RECORDED A TOTAL OF

4,202 CHILDREN MISSING. IN 20 PERCENT OF THESE CASES THE MISSING

CHILD IS NEVER LOCATED OR RECOVERED. RUNAWAYS ACCOUNTED FOR 80

PERCENT OF THESE CASES WHILE 10 PERCENT WERE NON-CUSTODIAL ABDUCTIONS,

AND THE REMAINDER INCLUDED STRANGER ABDUCTIONS OR OTHER TYPES.
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--- IN 1982 THE LOS ANGELES POLICE DEPARTMENT RESPONDED TO 3,863

MISSING JUVENILE REPORTS. OF THESE, 1,553 WERE BOYS AND 2,310

WERE GIRLS -- DOES NOT INCLUDE KIDNAPPINGS OR PARENTAL ABDUCTIONS.

--- IN 1983 THE SAN FRANCISCO POLICE DEPARTMENT LOGGED 2,938 MISSING

PERSONS REPORTS OF WHICH 1,764 OR 60 PERCENT ARE JUVENILES.

--- THE SAN DIEGO SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT REPORTED 1,211 CHILDREN MISSING

IN 1983 WITH 224 NEVER RECOVERED. IN 1982 THEY RECORDED 870 CHILDREN

MISSING WITH 110 OF THESE CHILDREN NEVER FOUND.

--- AND FINALLY, THE ALAMEDA COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT REPORTS 1,040

MISSINC CHILDREN DURING 1983.

WE NEED TO KEEP I" MIND THAT THESE STATISTICS FOR CALIFORNIA ARE

BASED UPON CRIMES REPORTED TO LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES AND SUFFERS

FROM UNDER-REPORTING. THESE FIGURES ARE, THEREFORE, CONSERVATIVE.

YOUR LEADERSHIP IN THE FORM OF H.R. 4971 IS AN EXCELLENT

ATTEMPT TO DEAL WITH THE TRAGEDY OF MISSING CHILDREN. THIS LEGISLATION

IS THE NEXT SENSIBLE AND NECESSARY STEP FOLLOWING THE IMPLEMENTATION

OF THE MISSING CHILDREN'S ACT IN 1982 AND THE PARENTAL KIDNAPPING

PREVENTION ACT IN 1980. H.R. 4971 WOULD PROVIDE THE FIRST COMPREHENSIVE

FEDERAL EFFORT TO ASSIST MISSING CHILDREN. IT WILL GO A LONG WAY IN

REDUCING THE ROADBLOCKS TO LOCATING MISSING CHILDREN. THIS LEGISLATION

WILL PLAY AN IMPORTANT ROLE IN ASSISTING STATE OR LOCAL SERVICES WHICH

ARC NOW FRAGMENTED, EPISODIC, OR NON-EXISTENT.

STATE AND -LOCAL AGENCIES NEED FEDERAL LEADERSHIP AND DIRECTION.

THIS FEDERAL ROLE MUST INDUCE STATES TO TAKE ACTION. IT SHOULD SET

GENERA' GUIDELINES AND SUGGEST PROGRAMS, COORDINATE ASSISTANCE IN

INTER-STATE CASES, PROVIDE TRAINING, TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE, PROVIDE
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SUPPORT FOR ESSENTIAL RESEARCH, BUT MOST IMPORTANTLY OF ALL, CLEAR

LEADERSHIP IS NEEDED IN PRACTICAL EFFORTS TO REDUCE THE INCIDENCE OF

MISSING CHILDREN AND TO RECOVER LONG-TERM MISSING CHILDREN.

I WOULD RECOMMEND THAT YOU CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING ADDITIONS TO

H.R. 4971:

1. THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE ACT SHOULD BE PLACED WITHIN THE

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, MOST LIKELY WITH THE OFFICE OF JUVENILE

JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY PREVENTION AS H.R. 4300 SPECIFIED.

MISSING CHILDREN IS PRIMARILY A LAW ENFORCEMENT PROBLEM.

EXPANDED INTER-STATE SEARCHES, INTER-AGENCY COORDINATION

AND COMMUNICATION, TRAINING, AND THE EXPERTISE TO ASSIST

STATE AND LOCAL AGENCIES CAN BEST BE ACCOMPLISHED WITH

FEDERAL LEADERSHIP FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE.

2. INSTEAD OF A "COMPETITIVE" GRANT PROGRAM I WOULD SUGGEST

A "CATEGORICAL" GRANT PROGRAM THAT IS BASED UPON

DEMONSTRATED NEED OR THE AT-RISK POPULATION.

3. PROVIDE AS MUCH FUNDING AS POSSIBLE UNDER THIS ACT TO

STATES FOR DIRECT SERVICES AND PROGRAMS TO MISSING CHILDREN.

4. SPECIFY WITHIN THE LEGISLATION TO PROVIDE TRAINING AND

INFORMATIONAL PROGRAMS FOR LAW ENFORCEMENT, LAWYERS,

JUDGES, MEDICAL, AND SCHOOL PERSONNEL, AND ALSO PARENTS.

CALIFORNIA IS VERY ENTHUSIASTIC ABOUT YOUR EFFORTS ON BEHALF OF

MISSING CHILDREN AND STRONGLY SUPPORTS THE IMPLEMENTATION OF H.R. 4971.

THE MAJOR ISSUE HERE IS OUR COMMITTMENT TO OUR CHILDRENS SAFETY, AND

SUPPORT TO FAMILIES. GIVE CHILDREN A CHANCE TO GROW-UP IN SAFETY.
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AND NOW, I WOULD LIKE TO MAKE SOME BRIEF REMARKS ABOUT ANOTHER

ASPECT OF H.R. 4971 -- TITLE II, SEC. 201 -- THE JUVENILE JUSTICE AND

DELINQUENCY PREVENTION ACT.

THE JUVENILE JUSTICE ACT IS ONE OF THE FINEST EXAMPLES OF

"COOPERATIVE FEDERALISM" TO BE FOUND. THIS PROGRAM HAS PROVIDED A

CLEAR AND COMPREHENSIVE NATIONAL POLICY FOR THE REDUCTION OF YOUTH

CRIME. SINCE ITS CREATION IN 1974, THE ACT HAS PROVIDED NEEDED

LEADERSHIP AND MOTIVATION FOR IMPORTANT IMPROVEMENTS AND CHANGES IN

JUVENILE JUSTICE. I KNOW FIRST HAND THAT IN CALIFORNIA, AND IN MANY

OTHER STATES THAT I HAVE VISITED, THAT IMPROVEMENTS IN THE JUVENILE

JUSTICE SYSTEM ARE DUE, LARGELY, TO THIS FEDERAL JUVENILE JUSTICE ACT.

THE PROGRAM EXPECTATIONS HAVE SEEN GENERALLY MET BY PARTICIPATING

STATES.

--- YES, THIS ACT HAS INSPIRED THE REMOVAL OF STATUS OFFENDERS,

NEGLECTED, OR DEPENDENT CHILDREN FROM SECURE DETENTION FACILITIES

AND PLACED THEM INTO MORE APPROPRIATE ALTERNATIVE PROGRAMS. IN

FACT, WE HAVE REDUCED THE NUMBER OF SUCH CHILDREN NATIONALLY BY

82 PERCENT.

--- YES, THIS ACT HAS BEEN THE CATALYST FOR THE REMOVAL OR SEPARATION

OF JUVENILES FROM ADULTS IN JAILS.

--- AND YES, BECAUSE OF THIS ACT STATES HAVE VIGOROUSLY PURSUED MORE

EFFECTIVE AND CREATIVE DELINQUENCY PREVENTION PROGRAMS.

BUT KEEP IN MIND THE NEEDS OF OUR CHILDREN THAT REMAIN UN:

ACCOMPLISHED:

--- 50,000 STATUS OFFENDERS, DEPENDENT, OR NEGLECTED JUVENILES

9-5
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CONTINUE TD REMAIN HELD IN SECURE DETENTION FACILITIES.

EACH YEAR ABOUT 500,000 JUVENILES CONTINUE TO BE LOCKED UP IN

ADULT JAILS. THE AVERAGE AGE OF THESE CHILDREN IS 15 YEARS. THIS

REMINDS ME OF CHRISTOPHER PETERMAN, A 17 YEAR OLD WHO WAS LOCKED

IN THE BOISE, IDAHO JAIL FOR FAILING TO PAY $73.00 IN TRAFFIC

TICKETS. OVER A 14 HOUR PERIOD HE WAS TORTURED AND EVENTUALLY

BEATEN TO DEATH BY OTHER INMATES IN HIS CELL.

--- I THINK OF THE FACT THAT THE SUICIDE RATE FOR JUVENILES HELD IN

ADULT JAILS IS 8 TIMES GREATER THAN THE RATE FOR THOSE HELD IN

JUVENILE DETENTION FACILITIES.

THE JUVENILE JUSTICE ACT HAS BEEN A VERY IMPORTANT COMPONENT OF

CALIFORNIA'S PROGRAM DEALING WITH YOUTH CRIME. THE FUNDING PROVIDED TO

STATES UNDER THIS PROGRAM, WHAT MANY CALL "SEED MONEY", HAS INSPIRED

IMPORTANT TREATMENT, SERVICE, AND INTERVENTION PROGRAMS TO JUVENILES

IN CALIFORNIA THAT INCLUDE: GANG VIOLENCE SUPPRESSION, SCHOOL SAFETY,

RESTITUTION PROGRAMS THAT NOT ONLY IMPACT THE OFFENDER BUT AID THE

VICTIMS OF YOUTH CRIME, CHILD ABUSE, AND OF COURSE, THE MAJOR PROGRAM

OBJECTIVES THAT I NOTED PREVIOUSLY. I WOULD CALL YOUR ATTENTION TO A

REPORT WHICH IS ATTACHED AFTER MY tESTIMONY THAT DISCUSSES IN DETAIL

ADDITIONAL SUCCESSES CALIFORNIA HAS ACHIEVED UNDER THIS ACT.

THIS ACT PROVIDES SPECIFIC AND IMPORTANT NATIONAL STANDARDS TO

STATES FOR JUVENILE JUSTICE. WE MUST NOT BE SO SHORT-SIGHTED, NOR

UNCARING, TO THROWAWAY OUR PAST GAINS. THE JUVENILE JUSTICE SYSTEM

REQUIRES NATIONAL LEADERSHIP WITH A FEDERAL OFFICE WITHIN THE

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE TO BE A VOICE FOR BOTH YOUNG PERSONS IN TROUBLE
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AND ALSO FOR OUR CITIZENS WHO ARE FEARFUL OF JUVENILE CRIMINALS.

THE PROBLEMS WE FACE IN THE JUVENILE JUSTICE SYSTEM ARE NOT STATIC.

THE DEMANDS PLACED ON THE JUVENILE SYSTEM FOR JUSTICE ARE EVOLVING AND

DYNAMIC. IT IS NAIVE TO BELIEVE THAT THE SUCCESSES OF YESTERDAY ARE

SUFFICIENT TO PROVIDE OUR NATION WITH A SAFE AND PROSPEROUR FUTURE.

ALTHOUGH THE JUSTICE SYSTEM IS LARGELY RE-ACTIVE, THE FEDERAL JUVENILE

JUSTICE ACT IS A RARE PROGRAM THAT IS CREATING A PRO-ACTIVE SYSTEM FOR

JUVENILES THAT IS CLEARLY A SUCCESS.

I MUST ADMIT THAT / AM ENORMOUSLY IMPRESSED WITH TITLE II OF

H.R. 4971. IT IS EVIDENT THAT YOU DISTINGUISHED CONGRESSMEN'UNDERSTAND

THE NEEDS OF YOUTHFUL OFFENDERS AND THE PROBLEMS THAT STATES GRAPPLE

WITH IN ATTEMPTING TO PROVIDE EFFECTIVE JUVENILE JUSTICE. N.R. 4971 IS

AN EXQUISITELY FINE-TUNED LEGISLATION, ADDING IMPORTANT NEW QUALITIES,

THAT WILL MAKE FOR A VERY SUCCESSFUL PROGRAM. THE OVERALL SCOPE OF

TITLE II, WHETHER IT BE THE PROGRAMS GOALS AND EMPHASIS,FORMULA FOR

SUPPORT TO STATES, THE FUNCTIONING AND STRUCTURE OF THE FEDERAL

ADMINISTRATION, TRAINING, OR COMPETITIVE RESEARCH PROGRAM, PROVIDES

THE INGREDIENTS FOR A TRUELY OUTSTANDING PROGRAM. I WOULD RECOMMEND,

HOWEVER, THAT A FIRST YEAR FUNDING -LEVEL OF $125,000,000 BE

ESTABLISHED.THIS WOULD ENSURE THE SUCCESSFUL IMPLEMENTATION OF THE

LEGISLATION.

CALIFORNIA GOVERNOR GEORGE DEUKMEJIAN HAS LONG BEEN AWARE OF THE

IMPORTANT ROLE THIS JUVENILE JUSTICE ACT HAS PLAYED IN IMPROVING SAFETY

IN CALIFORNIA. YOU SHOULD RECENTLY HAVE RECEIVED A PERSONAL LETTER

FROM OUR GOVERNOR INDICATING HIS VIGOROUS SUPPORT TO REAUTHORIZE THE

JUVENILE JUSTICE ACT. WE ENCOURAGE YOUR STRONG SUPPORT OF H.R. 4971.

IF THERE IS ANYTHING THAT WE CAN DO IN CALIFORNIA TO ASSIST ITS

AUTHORIZATION PLEASE LET ME KNOW.

THANK YOU VERY MUCH FOR THE OPPORTUNITY TO SPEAK TO THIS

DISTINGUISHED SUBCOMMITTEE.

A it
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060R06 DEUKMEJIAN Gamma

March 3D, 1984

Dear Congressman:

Subject: Reauthorization of the Juvenile Justice
and Delinquency Prevention Act

The Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (JJDP) Act will terminate on
September 30, 1984. Since its inception in 1974, the JJDP Act has inspired and
Supported important services and programs dealing with delinquency prevention
and improvements in the juvenile justice system. H. R. 4971 (Andrews) provides
for the reauthorization of this program with important improvements.

It is vital that leadership at the national level recognize and support local
efforts in dealing with delinquency prevention and improving juvenile justice.
The JJDP Act has been a valuable foundation for California in providing care
and treatment services for juveniles. The Act has supported successful and
needed services for minors, including the areas of: child abuse, school
safety, crime control and delinquency prevention, reduction of gang violence,
drug abuse suppression, separation of minors from adults in jails, and
deinstitutionalizatlon of status offenders.

Your support for H.R. 4971 to reauthorize the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency
Prevention Act is vital. A great deal has been accomplished under this
program. We must vigorously support. our most valuable resource -- our
children.

Sincerely,

104144.1Grt().
DR. MICHAEL W. AGOPI
Chairman, State Advisory Group on
Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention

MWAlch
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REAUTHORIZATION

OF THE

JUVENILE JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY PREVENTION ACT

I. POSITION

California supports the reauthorization of the Juvenile Justice and

Delinquency Prevention (JJDP) Act.

II. INTRODUCTION

It is of utmost importance that the federal government continue its

leadership role in the juvenile justice area. Federal emphasis on juvenile

programs reinforces the importance of the greater amenability of youthful

offenders to prevention, rehabilitation and deterrence from criminal

benavior. It recognizes that the future of the nation rests on our

children and ib important tnat the juvenile justice system not become

subservient to the adult justice system. An effective attack on the threat

of crime requires a balance which focuses on the serious violent offenders

yet, does not ignore the needs of young people in our society.

California has participated in the JJDP Act Formula Grant Program since

1975. The State haS received a Vita) of S40 million to support local

public and private agency projects dealing with services for juveniles.

The State has consistently distributed a minimum of at least seventy-five

percent (75%) of its annual allocation to local public and private agencies

to support juvenile services.

The availability of JJDP funds has been of great assistance to California's

juvenile justice system. Local public and private agencies have utilized

these funds to initiate effective pilot programs, demonstrated their

9
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success, become strong competitors for local support, and in many cases,

continued with local funding.

Reauthorization of the JJDP Act is of great importance to California.

Since FY 1982, California's allocation has been approximately $4 million

annually. Although the amount is small compared to the total expended in

the state for criminal justice, it is critical in terms of the message it

conveys and in supplementing local funding for services.and treatment to

juveniles. The funding has allowed private agencies to demonstrate their

value in the juvenile justice system complementing public agencies to

provide a full range of service and treatment needs for juveniles. The

impact of these projects results in a greater balance of appropriate

services assisting in alleviating already crowded public juvenile

facilities and huge caseloads carried by probation personnel.

III. DISCUSSION

A. Program Areas

Under the JJDP program, California has consistently set aside funding

for the following program areas:

o Serious and Violent Juvenile Offenders

o Child Abuse

.o Delinquency Prevention

o Community Corrections and Restitution

o Diversion

1. Serious and Violent Juvenile Offenders

During FY 1982, under the State Gang Violence Suppression Program

legislation, AS 788 (Chapter 1030, 1981 Statutes), nine projects
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were initiated dealing with hardcore. juvenile gang offenders. The

program was started with $1 million of federal JJDP grant funds.

The nine projects include six local District Attorney operations

and three private agencies.

The six District Attorneys' operations include the counties of Los

Angeles, San Diego, Santa Clara, San Joaquin, San Bernardino, and

Sacramento. These operations concentrate on enhanced prosecution
- -

efforts and resources to identify, apprehend, and prosecute gang

members involved in serious and violent offenses. The three

private agencies include: Sey Yes, Inc. (Los Angeles), City of

Chino (San Bernardino County), and Cleland House of Neighborly

Services (East Los Angeles). These projects provide support and

consultation to law enforcement; exchange information with gang

programs; and maintain an outreach program designed to inform local

law enforcement.

Due to the early indication of success, for FY 1983-84 the State

General funding shares in the cost of continuing all nine projects

with JJDP funding at a ratio of seventy-five percent (75%) (State)

and twenty-five percent (25%) (federal).

Additionally. during FY 1983-84 three other District Attorneys'

operations have been initiated in the counties of Orange, Santa

Barbara, and San Francisco. These projects contain the same

emphasis as listed above for the original six District Attorneys'

programs.

1 0 1
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. The focus of these programs is to identify, apprehend, and

prosecute gang members who are leaders of violent offenses allowing

other juvenile programs to better deal with gang members who are

followers and less prone to violent activities. This concept which

is beOnning to show early success needs continued support so that

gang members may be guided and redirected into positive activities.

2. Delinquency Prevention

Since initial participation in the JJDP program, California has set

aside on an annual basis approximately thirty percent (30%) of its

allocation to the delinquency prevention program area. The State

maintains that delinquency prevention activities make sense and are

essential for early identification of youth at risk to provide

intervention services.. Both of these activities are effective

prevention techniques.

Delinquency prevention programs include: projects which identify

and/or directly serve the troubled but pre-delinquent youth and

family; projects which offer wholesome alternatives to destructive

behavior and provide guidance by responsible adults for youth at

risk; programs which educate youth, their parents, teachers, and

others toward Deter understanding of and cooperation with the law

and its representatives, or improve learning, parenting skills, and

develop employment related skills to promote economic stability;

and projects which promote the coodination of community resources

to improve services to youth.

1 0 2
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. Projects funded in California with JAP resources include:

o Juvenile Diversion and Delinquency Prevention Program - City of

Galt Police Department

o .Place; /Sacramento Family Intervention - Sierra Family Services

o Work Apprenticeship Project - City of Rohnert Park,

Department of Public Safety

o Positive Youth Development Initiative - San Diego Youth and

Community Services, Inc.

o Youth Services Resource Team - City of Ridgecrest Police

Department

B. Program Coordination

Through the efforts of the Office of Criminal Justice Planning (State

Planning Agency) with JJDP funds, local public and private agencies are

working together in a spirit of cooperation to address the issue of

youth crime control and delinquency prevention. The State

Request-For-Proposals (RFP) fo? both FY 1982 and 1983 required letters

and/or memoranda of understanding between private organizations and

local public agencies which clearly indicated support by the public

agency primarily responible for juvenile offenders as well as a

commitment to refer cases to the private agency project.

This requirement allowed an opportunity for public agencies to work

with and assign appropriate cases to private agencies resulting in

better overall treatment and services for juveniles.

1j j
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IV. AREAS REQUIRING FURTHER ASSISTANCE

Although California has made good progress under the JJDP program, there

remain issues which still need attention. These issues are:

A. Alcohol and Prug Abuse in the Schools

California has initiated a program to begin addressing this problem.

State Legislation, AB 1983 (Chapter 952, 1983 Statutes), establishes

the Suppression of Drug Abuse in Schools Program; An appropriation of

51.9 million is available for projects to be operated jointly by local

school districts and law enforcement.

The interest in the program has prompted California to allocate FY 1983

JJDP funds identified for the Research and Evaluation program category.

With this meager beginning, any success emanating from this program can

be shared and should be supplemented with JJDP funding.

B. School Violence

..Violence and vandalism in the schools have become an increasing concern

for educators and the public. Acts of violence and vandalism are

occurring with more frequency and intensity than in the past. In some

schools, problems have escalated to such a degree their effectiveness

.
as learning institutions has been destroyed. The primary function of a

school system is educate its students. To accomplish this, the

safety and security of students and teachers must be guaranteed.

The general public in California exercised its concern by passing

Proposition 8 in June 1983. One part of that Proposition is entitled,

"Right to Safe Schools". It states:

104
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"All students and staff of public primary elementary,

junior high and senior high schools have the inalien-

able right to attend campuses which are safe, secure

and peaceful."

C. Victim Assistance

Victim assistance services is an important issue nationwide. In

California, with the passage of Proposition 8,."The.Victims Bill of
- -

Rights", the general public has expressed its desire. The concern for

victims and their rights within the criminal justice system have been

overlooked and'a'recognition of their need for services it overdue.

California has been the leader in establishing a program to compensate

victims of crime. Its program was started in 1965. Therefore, it is

an established program which is appropriate to supplement with JJDP

funding as it applies to victims of juvenile offenses.

D. Development of Alternatives for Juvenile Offenders

The State needs assistance in the development of good alternatives to

incarceration for appropriate.juvenile offenders. The best alternative

is one that is least restrictive, yet instills a sense of

responsibility in the juveniles for their errant act. A restitution or

public service program has that positive impact and is of value in

reinforcing ;,ccountability and responsibility.

Although this is not a new idea, the extent of its use is rare.

However, the passage of Proposition 8 in California necesitates the

development of juvenile offender restitution programs. Section 28(b)

of Proposition 8 states:

105



100

"It is the unequivocal intenttpn of the People of the

State of California that all persons who suffer losses

as a result of criminal activity shall have the right

to restitution from the persons convicted of the crimes

for losses they suffer.

"Restitution shall be ordered from the convicted persons

in every case regardless of the sentence. or disposition

-imposed in which a crime victim suffers a loss, unless

compelling and extraordinary reasons exist to the

contrary. The Legislature shall adopt provisions to

implement this section during the calendar year follow-.

ing adoption of this sectionTM.

E. Program for Status Offenders

Juvenile Justice personnel statewide seem to be in accord that there is

a lack of programs for status offenders, specifically runaways. Secure

detention of status offenders is prohibited by both the JJDP Act and

the State Welfare and Institutions Code.

Runaways cause concern for law enforcement, parents, the public and a

concern for their own safety. They are often preyed upon by illegal

profiteers in prostitution and pornography.

Services need to be developed which deal with juveniles who are

offenders only because of their age. Continued lack of services will

contribute to a potential group of adult offenders.

0
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V. RECOMMENDED REVISIONS TO THE JJDP ACT

California recommends the reauthorization of the JJDP Act. The State also

recommends the following revisions:

A. The Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention be an

integral part of the U. S. Department of Justice and the Administrator

be appointed by the Attorney General.

B. Although the federal governMent has detifllte responsibility in the

Juvenile justice area, it should refrain from mandating requirements on

the States. This comment refers to the requirements of

deinstitutionalization, separation and removal.

C. The JJDP Act be reauthorized for a period of five (5) years and the

funding level be not less than $100 million.

Respectfully,

61/44144
DR. MICHAEL W. AGDP

Chairman, California Advisory Groupon *'
Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention

1 0 7
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STATEMENT OF DR. MICHAEL W. AGOPIAN, DIRECTOR, CHILD
STEALING RESEARCH CENTER, LOS ANGELES, CA

Dr. AGOPIAN. Thank you, Congressman Williams, Congressman
Simon, and Congressman Hayes.

On behalf of Gov. George Deukmejian, and the citizens of Califor-
nia, I thank you for the invitation to speak to you today regarding
missing children, and the reauthorization of the Juvenile Justice
and Delinquency Prevention Act.

You're all to be commended for conducting this hearing. Your
leadership and vigor in meeting our national responsibility to our
children is deeply appreciated.

I'm the director of the Child Stealing Research Center in Los An-
geles. Some of the committee members are aware of the most sig-
nificant work from this program; my book, "Parental Child Steal-
ing."

I was also involved back ill 1976 as one of the principal draftees
of the California legislative reforms regarding antiparental child
abduction legislation.

I was also invoh-ed in the drafting with Senators Wallop and
Cranston in drafti , the Parental Kidnaping Prevention Act.

In addition, I was appointed by Gov. George Deukmejian as
chairman of the California State Advisory Group on Juvenile Jus-
tice and Delinquency Prevention. This State advisory group admin-
isters the Juvenile Justice Act in our State. Therefore, I am in-
tensely concerned with your subcommittee and its efforts to impact
missing children and juvenile justice.

Eight years ago this hearing would not have been held. I suspect
that the media would not have been so interested, nor would the
large numbers of people have attended.

We are all aware of the Adam Walsh case, but please recognize
that there are tens of thousands of additional Adams that are not
so prominently reported by the media. Today the problem with
missing children is a serious and pervasive national tragedy. The
sorrow that parents endure when a child is missing poses an unfair
test of courage. This is a unique pain. It inflicts a deep and open
wound that drains a parent's love, stamina, hope, and also fi-
nances. The danger and abuse that our children experience today
is a national disgrace.

California has become an enticing environment for missing chil-
dren. In northern California we have San Francisco and Berkeley,
with the Haight-Ashbury district, which still attracts many juve-
niles.

In southern California we have the appeal of the famous Holly-
wood area. These two regions are strong magnets for not only Cali-
fornia juveniles, but also youths from other States. Yet whatever
the lure that brings children to California, our primary concern is
what happens to these children.

The problems faced by children who are missing are shocking.
Young, naive, unable to support themselves, are afraid to ask for
help, will easily fall into the clutches of kiddy hawks to be used for
pornography. They're used by pimps, and others, for prostitution
and sexual exploitation. These children also fall along the way into
drug use, and are victims of regular physical assaults.
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And as we've seen here with videotapes, and heard testimony
previously by parents of missing children, the ultimate horror of
never finding a missing child, or sadly, when those children are
found, they're dead.

The children who are fortunate enough to be recovered or res-
cued are often scarred and damaged, both physically a7 K1 emotion-
ally. The volume of missing children is a clear signal t'aat we have
the seeds for a true epidemic.

Although there are some statistical problems with determining
the exact number of missing children, there is general agreement
among professionals regarding the following profile.

There are almost 2 million children reported missing each year
in the United States. Approximately 75,000 children are abducted
each year by a noncustodial parent. As of November 1983 the FBI's
National Crime Information Center [NCIC] missing children's file
contained a total of 26,887 reports of which over 19,000 are juve-
niles, an astonishing 72 percent.

It's also important to know that only 10 percent of all missing
persons are entered into this record.

In California, the Department of Justice, Bureau of Criminal
Identification and Information, our State's criminal justice data
center, completed a survey during 1983 that discovered 70,000 miss-
ing children in California reported to law enforcement agencies.

Also, between 1979 and 1983 we have 553 unidentified persons,
John or Jane Does, of which 40 percent are juveniles. Of these 40
percent juveniles, 65 percent are males. Of the 70,000 missing juve-
niles, 20,000 are still missing after 30 days. And I think this under-
scores the important consideration when we talk of the total
amount of missing children being in large part runaways.

This final point. That of the 70,000 missing children, 20,000 are
still missing after 30 days. This gives us a little tighter picture of
the true number of missing children.

In 1983 a Los Angeles sheriff's office recorded a total of 4,202
missing children. In 20 percent of these cases the missing child is
never located or recovered. Runaways accounted for 8 percent of
these cases, while 10 percent were noncustodial abductions. And
the remainder were stranger-to-stranger abductions.

In 1982 the Los Angeles Police Department responded to 3,863
missing juvenile reports. Of these, 1,553 were boys, and 2,310 were
girls. This figure, 3,863 reported by the Los Angeles City Police De-
partment, does not include noncustodial abductions, or traditional
kidnappings.

In 1983 the San Francisco Police Department logged 2,938 miss-
ing persons reports, of which just over 1,700, or 60 percent, are ju-
veniles.

The San Diego Sheriff's Department reported 1,211 children
missing in 1983, with 224 of these children never recovered.

In 1982 they recorded 870 children missing, with 110 of this
number never recovered.

And, finally, the Alameda County Sheriff's Department, which
encompasses the area surrounding Oakland, reports 1,040 missing
children during 1980.

We need to keep in mind that these statistics for California are
based upon crimes reported to law enforcement agencies, and,
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therefore, suffer from underreporting. These figures are, therefore,
conservative.

Your leadership in the form of H.R. 4971 is an excellent attempt
to deal with the tragedy of missing children. This legislation is the
next sensible, and necessary step, following the implementation of
the Missing Children's Act of 1982, and the Parental Kidnapping
Prevention Act in 1980.

H.R. 4971 will provide the first comprehensive Federal effort to
assist missing children. It will go a long way in reducing the road-
blocks for locating missing children.

This legislation, I feel, will play an important role in assisting
State or local services which are now fragmented, episodic, or non-
existent. State and local agencies need Federal leadership and di-
rection.

This Federal role must induce States to take action. It should set
general guidelines, and suggest model programs, coordinate assist-
ance in interstate cases, provide training, technical assistance, pro-
vide support for essential research, but most importantl, of all, it
must provide clear leadership in needed practical efforts to reduce
the incidents of missing children, and to recover long-term missing
children.

I would recommend that you consider the following additions to
H.R. 4971. First, that the administration of the act should be
placed within the Department of Justice. Most likely, the Office of
Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, as H.R. 4300 speci-
fied.

Missing children is primarily a law enforcement problem, ex-
panded interstate searches, interagency coordination and communi-
cation, training and the expertise to assist state and local agencies,
can best be accomplished with federal leadership from the Depart-
ment of Justice.

Second, instead of a competitive grant program I would suggest a
categorical grant program that is based upon demonstrated need,
or the at risk population.

Third, I feel that we need to provide as much funding as possible
under this act to States for direct services and programs to missing
children.

And fourth, and finally, I'd like you to consider that we specify
within the legislation to provide training and informational pro-
grams for law enforcement, lawyers, judges, medical and school
personnel, and also parents and children.

California is very enthusiastic about your efforts on behalf of
missing children, and strongly supports the implementation of H.R.
4971. The major issue here is our commitment to our children, chil-
dren safety, and support of families.

What we're asking you at the Federal level to provide is the op-
portunity for parents to raise their children in a safe environment.

And now I'd like to make some brief remarks about another
aspect of H.R. 4971, title II, section 201, the Juvenile Justice and
Delinquency Prevention Act.

I will try to summarize Rnd make this short, recognizing the
limits on time, and also the principal thrust of the hearings today.

The Juvenile Justice Act is one of the finest examples of coopera-
tive federalism to be found. This program has provided a clear and
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comprehensive national policy for the reduction of youth crime.
Since its creation in 1974 the act has provided needed leadership
and motivation for important improvement and changes in juvenile
justice.

I know first hand in California, and in many other States that I
visited, that improvements in the juvenile justice system are due
largely to this Federal Juvenile Justice Act. The program expecta-
tions have been generally met by those participating States.

Yes, this Act has inspired the removal of status offenders, ne-
glected or dependent children from secure detention facilities, and
placed them into more appropriate alternative programs. In fact,
we have reduced the number of such children nationally by 82 per-
cent.

Yes, this act has inspired the removal of status offenders, ne-
juveniles from adults in jails and, yes, because of this act, States
have vigorously pursued more. effective and creative delinquency
prevention programs.

But keep in mind the needs of our children that remain unac-
complished. Fifty thousand status offenders, dependent, or neglect-
ed children, continue to remain held in secure detention facilities.
Each year about 500,000 juveniles continue to be locked up in adult
jails. The average age of these children is 15 years.

And this reminds me of Christopher Peterman, the 17-year old
who was locked in a Boise, ID jail for failing to pay $73 in traffic
fines. Over a 14-hour period he was beaten, tortured, and killed by
other inmates in his cell.

I think of the fact that the suicide rate for juveniles held in adult
jails is eight times greater than the rate for those held in juvenile
detention facilities.

The act provides specific and important national standards for
States. To provide juvenile justice programs we must not be so
short sighted nor uncaring to throw away our past gains. The juve-
nile justice system requires national leadership with a Federal
office in the Department of Justice to be a voice both for young
persons in trouble and also for our citizens and victims who are
fearful of juvenile criminals.

The problems we face in the juvenile justice system are not
static. The demands placed on the juvenile justice system are evolv-
ing and dynamic. It is naive to believe that the success of yesterday
will be sufficient to provide our Nation with a safe and prosperous
future.

Although the juvenile justice system is largely reactive, the Fed-
eral Juvenile Justice Act is a rare program that is creating a
proactive system for juveniles that is clearly a success.

I must admit that I am enormously impressed with title II of
H.R. 4971. It is evident that you distinguished Congressmen under-
stand the needs of youthful offenders, and the problems that States
grapple with, in attempting to provide effective juvenile justice.

H.R. 4971 is an exquisitely fine-tuned legislation, adding impor-
tant new qualities that will make for a very successful program.

The overall scope of title II, whether it be the program's goals
and emphasis, formula, or support for States, the functioning struc-
ture of the Federal administration, training, or competitive re-

11I



106

search program, provides the ingredients for a truly outstanding
program.

I recommend, however, that a first year funding level of approxi-
mately $125 million be established. This would insure the success-
ful implementation of the legislation.

And, finally, California Gov. George Deukmejian has long been
aware of the important role that the Juvenile Justice Act has
played in improving safety in California.

You should recently have received a letter, a personal letter, I
might add, from our Governor indicating his vigorous support to
reauthorize the Juvenile Justice Act.

We encourage your strong support of H.R. 4971. If there's any-
thing that we can do in California to assist its authorization, please
let me know. And, again, let me emphasize that both components
of H.R. 4971, the Missing Children's Act, and also the Juvenile Jus-
tice Act, are very impressive legislative proposals. We are strongly
supportive of that legislation. Very enthusiastic to assist you Con-
gressmen in the approval of that legislation, and we'd be happy to
work with you to meet that end.

Thank you very much.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you, Doctor.
Mr. Simon.
Mr. SIMON. Thank you very much, Dr. Agopian. And it's a sub-

stantial statement. It's specific, and I appreciate it.
Just one brief question. How is your Child Stealing Research

Center funded?
Dr. AGOPIAN. The Child Stealing Research Center essentially has

been raising private funds, and also fortunately, because I have
been linked as a university professor, we do recruit a good many
graduate students to basically get a lot of work done, and hold
down costs essentially.

Mr. SIMON. But you're basically a wholly independent entity that
you or others have created?

Dr. AGOPIAN. It's an independent research program that looks
into primarily child custody abduction problems, and parental
child abductions. And, also missing children.

We receive funding from private donations, through small grant
programs, and as I have mentioned, we are fortunate enough to es-
sentially hook in with a graduate student component.

Mr. WILLIAMS. I thank you.
Mr. Hayes.
Mr. HAYES. You know, Doctor, one of the conceptions that the

public has about missing or abducted children, they usually think
that strangers are the ones who do most of the abducting.

Could you tell us just briefly, based on your own experiences in
California, what experience do children encounter from parental
abductions?

Dr. AGOPIAN. Well, I have just completed a study for the Interna-
tional Law and Psychiatry Association, looking at the impact on
victims of parental abduction. And what we've discovered is that
there arewe spoke with children who have been abducted and re-
covered. What we found basically is there are two very distinct
types of trauma that children endure.
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The children that we spoke with, at length I might add, for the
study, were 11 years of age or younger. And that's interesting to
note because 83 percent of the children who are abducted by par-
ents are between 2 years of age, and 11 years of age.

I might also add that we find only 50 percent of the children
from custodial abductions. And that is a very, very optimistic re-
covery rate.

As you heard here previously, Congressman Hayes, the hits that
we've had that have emanated from the Adam movie, have been
custodial abductions. The cold trail that we follow is the stranger-
to-stranger abductions.

The problems that these children in custodial abductions face, as
I mentioned, are two distinct traumas.

First of all, we discovered that there's what we call short term
there's a traumaa profile of trauma these children endure that is
distinct to what we call short-term abductions; 6 months or less.
The trauma that these short term abduction children experience
has to do with sleeping disorders. They have to do with fearfulness.
They have to do with longing for their parents. They have to do
with nervous conditions that tend to develop in these children.

But the important thing that gives us hope and optimism with
short-term abductions, Congressman Hayes, is that we found they
tend to be transitory. The short-term abduction traumas tend to
dissipate in 3 to 4 months after the recovery of the children.

What I want you to be carefully aware of is the fact that in the
long-term abductions, 6 months or longer, we see really serious
damage to children. We see children who suffer from nightmares.
Children who are distrustful, who lie. Children who have been
turned around what some people call, what some professionals call,
the Stockholm syndrome. Who have been turned around and iden-
tify with the offending parent, and have a loyalty to the offending
parent.

We have children with these long-term abductions who have
been kept out of school, and have learning disorders.

And finally, and unfortunately, the problem that we have with
these long-term abductions is that it's more difficult to turn around
the trauma, the impact, th,i negative repercussions these children
endure. One of the difficulties is these children are stolen at such
young years that they don't have a stable lifestyle, and they don't
know their rightful parents. All they know is life on the run as a
sidekick to a fugitive parent.

Mr. HAYES. Thank you very much, Doctor. We appreciate your
testimony, and particularly your suggestions for additions and
changes in the legislation before us. Some of your suggestions have
already been incorporated into the legislation, and well give every
consideration to your other suggestions.

We also appreciate your kind words toward those who drafted
the bill. Thank you very much.

Dr. AGOPIAN. Again, thank you very much. And one last note. I
would like to thank all of you for your commitment, your hard
work, the sacrifices you've made, and also your staff director who
has really done a terrific job in assisting all of the people at the
local levels who are so far away from the hub of the action in
Washington.
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And I really know that we're going to make a better life for the
children. We're going to make a safer place for parents to raise
their children because of your hard work. Thank you very much
for that.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Our thanks.
Our next witness is Lenora Cartright, commissioner of the depart-

ment of human resources here in the city of Chicago.
Ms. Cartright, we appreciate your attendance here today, and

please proceed.
[Prepared statement of Lenora T. Cartright follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT BY LENORA T. CARTRIGHT, COMMISSIONER, CITY OF CHICAGO,
DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES

Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee, I am Lenora T. Cartright, a
member of Mayor Harold Washington's cabinet and I am pleased to be representing
him here today.

We appreciate the opportunity to testify about a problem which concerns us
deeply. Perhaps the only thing more tragic than violence against children is a socie-
ty which allows this violence to occur. Our children are our most valuable resource,
they represent our futureour plans, our hopes and our dreams. If we cannot pro-
tect them and Rive them a safe, healthful environment in which to grow, then little
else that we accomplish is important.

The passage of the Missing Children's Act in 1982 was an important first step in
addressing this growing problem. However, serious deficiencies are still present in
our system to locate missing children. We support this new legislation as it is aimed
at remedying two basic problems which seriously hinder child searches. Searches
are not successful because too little information is provided and they are initiated
too late.

As commissioner of the city's Human Service Agency for the past five years I can
attest to the severity and complexity of this problems. While others have empha-
sized the law enforcement aspects to this problem, from my perspective as a social
service administrator, I view this problem in a larger context, one which analyzes
the family and the current economic and social conditions which have impacted the
family. Families in large urban centers such as Chicago have been severely affected
by the economic recession and massive reductions in Federal aid and support. The
traditional family as we used to know it no longer exists. The new "urban" family
which has taken its place is more and more likely to be headed by a single woman
who most often is out of the home a significant portion of the day to support her
children.

This fact has implications for two basic reasons. The single mother is often the
center of a domestic dispute which may lead to the kidnapping of the child. Second-
ly the single mother is often without the necessary supports within the community
that can provide the protective services necessary to keep her. child safe. Lack of
sufficient child care and after school programs are serious problems. We cannot seri-
ously address the problem of missing children unless we are willing to take a hard
look at what the underlying causes of this problem may be. Violence against chil-
dren is reprehensible, but ignoring the needs and concerns of the child and his
family only contributes to the problem.

There is no question that better coordination of activities and information will
contribute significantly to solving this problem. However, there must be a commit-
ment by the Federal Government that human suffering and family problems are
within their preview and that the necessary supports and resources are allocated to
sustain and strengthen our most basic institution, the family.

Let me provide a brief overview of what is happening in the city of Chicago. In
1983, of the 16,667 reported missing cases, 11,329 or 68 percent were on missing ju-
veniles. Significant efforts to address the problem of missing children by the city of
Chicago include:

I. A computerized storage and information retrievable system on all reported
missing children locally, which is maintained by the police department;

2. All juveniles are systematically reported missing to the National Crime Infor-
mation Center [N.C.I.C.]:

3. Prevention programs such as the Volunteer Youth Finger Printing Program de-
signed to assist parents in maintaining their own personal records of their children
that may aid the police in cases of lost or missing children. Since September 1983, a
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total of 6,500 children have been fingerprinted at 805 area schools. Also through the
Chicago Police Department, community services school visitation unit are the officer
friendly program and preventive programs which emphasize rules of safety and in-
creased awareness of danger.

The Chicago Department of Human Services operates the largest early child de-
velopment program in the Nation. Each day this program serves nearly 20,000 chil-
dren, coming from more than 16,000 families, in more than 350 head start and title
XX centers iodated throughout Chicago. These centers are directed to preschool chil-
dren, early elementary school age children and even infants and toddlers.

In responding to the problems of the missing child, the department will sponsor'a
child safety month. One of the goals of this effort will be to re-emphasize the policy
that only those individuals, who have been specifically identified and listed by par-
ents at the time of enrollment, will be allowed or permitted to collect the child at
the end of the program day, or for that matter at any other time during the oper-
ation of the center.

Additionally, the department will encourage the operating centers to foster within
parents a growing consciousness of the problems of the missing child and engage
their participation in locally administered voluntary fingerprinting efforts, and
parent and child educational awareness programs and workshops.

Thank you for giving me the opportunity to make these remarks. The "missing
child" is an urgent concern which requires immediate congressional action. You are
to be commended for your continuing support to these children.

STATEMENT OF LENORA T. CARTRIGHT, COMMISSIONER, CITY
OF CHICAGO, DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES

Ms. CARTRIGHT. Good morning. Mr. Chairman, and members of
the committee, I am Lenora Cartright, commissioner of the depart-
ment of human services. And I am pleased to be representing
Mayor Harold Washington here this morning.

As an advocate for children's rights, I appreciate the opportunity
to testify about a problem which concerns all of us deeply. Perhaps
the only thing more tragic than violence against children is a socie-
ty which allows this violence to occur.

Our children are a valuable resource. They represent our future,
our plans, our hopes, and our dreams. If we cannot protect them,
and give them a safe, healthful environment in which to grow,
then little else that we accomplish is important.

As commissioner of the city's human services agency for the past
5 years, I can attest to the severity and complexity of this problem.
While others have emphasized the law enforcement aspects to this
problem, from my perspective as a social service administrator, I
view this problem in a larger context. One which analyzes the
family, and the current economic and social conditions which have
impacted the family.

Families in large urban centers such as Chicago have been se-
verely affected by the economic recession, and massive reductions
in Federal aid and support. The traditional family as we used to
know it no longer exists. The new urban family which has taken its
place is more and more likely to be headed by a single woman who
most often is out of the home a significant portion of the day to
support her children.

This fact has implications for two basic reasons. The single
mother is often the center of a domestic dispute which may lead to
the kidnapping of the child.

Second, the single mother is often without the necessary sup-
ports within the community that can provide the protective serv-
ices necessary to keep her child safe.

39-879 0 - 85 - 8
r

I 115



110

Lack of sufficient child care and after school programs are seri-
ous problems. We cannot seriously address the problem of missing
4hildren unless we are willing to take a hard look at what the un-
derlying c 'uses of this problem may be.

Violence against children is reprehensible, true, but ignoring the
needs and concerns of the child and his family can only contribute
to the problem.

There is no question that better coordination of activities and in-
formation will contribute significantly to solving this problem.
However, there must be a commitment by the Federal Government
that human suffering and family problems are within its purvue,
and that the necessary support and resources are allocated to sus-
tain and strengthen our most basic institution, the family.

Let me provide a brief overview of what is happening in the city
of Chicago, and these statistics come from the police department.

In 1983, of the 16,667 reported missing person cases, 11,329, or 68
percent were on missing juveniles. Significant efforts to address the
problem of missing children by the city of Chicago include:

First, a computerized storage and information retrieval system
on all reported missing children locally, which is maintained by
the police department;

Second, all juveniles are systematically reported missing to the
National Crime Information Center;

Third, prevention programs such as the Volunteer Youth Finger-
printing Program designed to assist parents in maintaining their
own personal records of their children that may aid the police in
cases of lost or missing children.

Since September 1983 a total of 6,500 children have been finger-
printed at 805 area schools. Also through the Chicago Police De-
partment Community Services School Visitation Unit are the offi-
cer friendly program, and preventive programs which emphasize
rules of safety, and increase awareness of danger.

The Chicago Department of Human Services operates the largest
early child development program in the Nation. Each day this pro-
gram serves nearly 20,000 children coming from more than 16,000
families in more than 350 Headstart and title 20 centers located
throughout Chicago.

These centers are directed to preschool children, and early ele-
mentary school-age children, and even infants and toddlers. And
we have had attempts from those other than family members, or
designated persons, to remove these children from the centers.

In responding to the problems of a missing child, the department
will sponsor child safety month. One of the goals of this effort
would be to reemphasize the policy that only those individuals who
have been specifically identified and listed by parents at the time
of enrollment will be allowed or permitted to collect the child at
the end of the program day. Or for that matter, at any other time
during the operation of the center.

We also are very careful about finding out the marital status,
whether separation, divorce, child custody, placement, or whatever.

Additionally, the department will encourage the operating cen-
ters to foster within parents a growing consciousness of the prob-
lem of the missing child, this entire issue, and engage their partici-
pation in locally administered voluntary fingerprinting efforts, and
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parent and child educational awareness programs, and workshops.
We're involved with the local media in these activities.

Thank you for giving me, a social service provider, the opportuni-
ty to make these remarks. The missing child is an urgent concern
which requires immediate congressional action. All of you are to be
commended for your continuing support to our children.

Thank you.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you very much, Ms. Cartright. We appreci-

ate you being here, your kind words, and good advice, and particu-
larly your concern and work on this issue.

Before I turn to my colleagues for questions I'm going toI'm
sorry to announce I'm going to have to take a leave for the rest of
the hearing in order that I might be home for my daughter's 13th
birthday party tonight. My daughter will be home tonight. I say
that with some certainty, but not without some anxiety because of
the testimony we've heard today.

But with continued hard work such as has been exemplified by
all of the witnesses here today, with the continued leadership of
Congressman Simon, and with an even greater commitment from
the other Members of Congress, all the 13-year-old daughters will
join all of their brothers and sisters in their own homes for their
own birthday parties this year, and in the years ahead.

And it's a vital and good effort. And it's one that requires a Fed-
eral response. We all know that the Federal Government, as has
been said so many times, cannot do everything. There are some
things that the Federal Government can do, and has not yet begun
to do. And developing a response to this serious dilemma is one of
the tasks which the Federal Government has not yet set out upon.

Because, Paul, of your good leadership, because of the excellent
response that you have made to the parents who have appealed to
you, and to others throughout the country, we are about to embark
the Federal Government on developing a national response to this
serious issue.

I'm delighted to follow Paul's leadership in doing what I can to
assist in that effort.

And now I turn the chair over to my colleague, Paul Simon.
Mr. SIMON. I thank you very much. I am grateful to my col-

league from Montana who took time out to come here. It was not
on his schedule. And I appreciate his interest. Thank you very,
very much.

And let me just commend you, Commissioner. It's the kind of a
program that makes a world of difference. Who knows how much
abuse you've prevented, how many kids have been helped. I just
think it's great.

And I'm going to be talking to Mayor Washington again today on
another matter, and I'm going to tell him he was well represented
here today. We appreciate your good work.

Ms. CARTRIGHT. Thank you.
Mr. SIMON. Mr. Hayes.
Mr. HAYES. Since you're going to see him there you might tell

him ditto, too, what you've said about Ms. Cartright's testimony.
Just one question. I noticed in your--
Mr. SIMON. I thought you wanted me to tell him you were doing

a good job?
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Mr. HAYES. No.
I noticed in your testimony you have statistics that you said you

got from the police department where some 11,329 cases, or 60 per-
cent of the total, were missing juveniles.

I just wondered if there are any statistics available statistics
available that would give us some picture as to what the recovery
rate is of either police department of missing juveniles?

Ms. CARTRIGHT. I was interested in getting that, Congressman,
and also seeing those missing juveniles, where they're located, and
the relationship with a lot of the other agencies and organizations
here in the city. I'd be very glad to go back to our research depart-
ment and continue that communication, and get you some addition-
al information.

Mr. HAYES. I would be interested in that.
Ms. CARTRIGHT. I live in the First Congressional District. Thank

you.
Mr. SIMON. We thank you very much, Commissioner.
And I'm going to call our last two witnesses, both to join us here;

Robert Ward, deputy chief of police for criminal investigations, In-
dianapolis Police Department, and James Zagel, director, Illinois
Department of Law Enforcement.

And I understand Mr. Ward has someone accompanying him.
You're welcome to pull up a chair there if you care to, otherwise,
you will- -

And let me apologize to the two of these witnesses. The witnesses
have been so good that we're running over our original time. And
I, unfortunately, also am running late for another meeting right
now. I'm going to stay for part of your testimony, and I'm going to
walk out. It will not be because I disagree with anything anyone of
the three of you might say.

Mr. Ward.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT WARD, DEPUTY CHIEF OF POLICE FOR
CRIMINAL INVESTIGATIONS, INDIANAPOLIS POLICE DEPART-
MENT, INDIANAPOLIS, IN, ACCOMPANIED BY JAMES ZAGEL, DI-
RECTOR, ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT, CHI-
CAGO, IL; JOE ST. JOHN, SUPERVISOR, MISSING PERSONS UNIT

Mr. WARD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the commit-
tee.

I appreciate the opportunity to speak to you today on a topic of
great importance, that being missing children.

Our missing persons unit is comprised of one supervisor, Sgt. Joe
St. John, who is with me today, and four police investigators, plus
a civilian investigative aide.

I would like to give you a brief example of what happens when a
civilian calls our department to report a missing child. The investi-
gative aide determines if the child is under or over 11 years of age.
If the child is under 11 years of age she assigns the case as a miss-
ing person. She takes the information over the phone, obtains all
pertinent information of the incident. She'll make a teletype inci-
dent report, prepare an interdepartment report to the Communica-
tions Center supervisor instructing him to broadcast physical de-
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scriptions, clothing description, date and time last seen, and any
suspect or vehicle information, if possible.

A uniformed district e:ticer is also sent to the complainant's ad-
dress. The case is assigned to a detective for immediate investiga-
tion. As a matter of fact, our missing person detectives usually re-
spond to the scene as well.

If a child is over 11 years of age she assigns the case usually
and I'd like to emphasize usuallyas a runaway. At least one
parent or guardian is required to come into the missing person
office, sign the report, and bring with them a recent photograph of
the child. That case is assigned to a detective right away similar to
that as our missing cases.

If any doubt exists whether a report should be taken or not
taken, the general rule is to take it. The missing person supervisor,
I might add, is on call 24 hours a day, who will determine if the
complaint is valid.

All cases remain active until the individual is located.
When a runaway child is located the investigator counsels with

the individual and parent before determination is made to send the
child either to court, released to parent, or referred to an alternate
social program. Counseling is a method of screening for child abuse
or neglect as a cause of leaving home in the first place.

As a result of this policy, a sex for hire ring was broken recently
with the indictment of 30 individuals involving young male prosti-
tutes.

I think we've heard testimony just about all day from every wit-
ness we've had today about children who run away and get on the
city streets no matter what city in America it is, and end up in
some type of illegal activity. Usually it's sexually related, homosex-
ual, or heterosexual. It doesn't make much difference.

We are starting in Indianapolis to ask our children we pick up
for runaways "why are you running away?" And they are telling
us some pretty gruesome stories.

We have continuous investigations going on now involving child
abuse, sexual exploitation, incestual relationships at home. So it is
a monumental problem.

In September 1982 a Marion County agency program was formed
to deal with the expanding problems of runaway and missing chil-
dren. The problem is coordinated with the Indianapolis Police De-
partment, and four participating police agencies that border
Indianapolis.

The Indianapolis Police Department publishes a monthly bulletin
composed of 10 photographs of runaway or missing children sub-
mitted by the participating agencies. These bulletins are given to
district uniformed officers and detectives who display them in
schools, business locations, shopping centers, et cetera, where chil-
dren we feel may be hanging out or seen.

These agencies meet each month, or send a representative each
month, to share juvenile related problems that they have.

In 1983 an Indianapolis Police Department investigated 149 re-
ports of missing children under the age of 11 years old. All 149
children have been located and returned. home.

There were 1,627 reported runaways under the age of 18; 1,584
have been recovered, leaving 43 that are still missing.
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We would like to attribute our success to several factors. One
would be that I feel Indianapolis is a conservative and stable com-
munity, with many neighborhood crime watch programs which are
really the eyes and ears of the police.

Also, rapid police response. We've heard time and time again
today rapid police response is really the first step if we're going to
find these children. It's like any police investigation, the sooner
you get to the scene of the crime the quicker and more likely you
are to solve that crime.

We recently had a missing 9-year-old child in the vicinity of an
Army post in Indianapolis, on the northeast side. Well over 100
people gathered together to look for this child. This mass of orga-
nized people, along with the police, and I might add the news
media, which added greatly to the success of finding the child,
searched the entire night. The child was finally found the next
morning unharmed. He had just drifted away from home.

We are supportive of Congressman Simons bill. It is our opinion
that the national pooling of information regarding missing children
is long overdue. We view this bill as hope to parents, of missing
children. After all, hope is the most sustaining weapon parents
have when it comes to missing children.

We'd like to feel the people of Indianapolis realize that missing
children in any criminal act is just not a police problem, but it's a
community problem.

That's the end of my statement. Sgt. St. John and myself are
more than willing to answer any questions you might have.

Mr. SIMON. Mr. Zagel.

STATEMENT OF JAMES ZAGEL, DIRECTOR, ILLINOIS
DEPARTMENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT, CHICAGO, IL

Mr. ZAGEL. I would like to have a report, several copies of which
have been given to the subcommittee, stand as my statement. This
is a report to the Illinois General Assembly on missing young
adults. This is a joint report issued by my department, and by the
Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority, which is a council
which includes chiefs of police. In this case, the chief of police of
Peoria, and Fred Rice, the Chicago Police Superintendent, judges of
circuit courts, the attorney general of Illinois, various State's attor-
neys, and private citizens.

Mr. SIMON. We do have a copy of your report- -
Mr. ZAGEL. Yes.
Mr. SIMON [continuing]. And will be made a part of the record of

this hearing.
[Report referred to appears in the appendix.]
Mr. ZAGEL. I do, however, wish to add a few brief observations of

my own. And I do so from the perspective of a fairly exhaustive
study of the problem as a whole.

In Illinois we do have comprehensive statewide information net-
works. In 1982 there were 20,000 missing persons registered on our
network; 10,000 of them were juveniles, and 9,000 were adults. And
there are some rounding, of course.
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Through 1983, with the exception of the last month of figures,
19,000, almost 20, were juveniles this year, significantly outnum-
bering adults. There are 12,213 juveniles; 7,672 adults.

The figures just about parallel the Chicago Police Department
figures for the city of Chicago. The city of Chicago averages about
11,300 missing juveniles a year, and about 5,200 missing adults.

The Chicago Police Department does not participate fully in the
leads program, so you might in order to get a scope of the problem
take a cumulative figure between the State leads system, and the
Chicago system, and perhaps deduct 5 or 6 percent for common en-
tries, and get an idea of its scope.

We are, as a result of this report, working closely with the Chica-
go Police Department to increase their use of the lead system.

What we found in our hearings, and we had hearings all over
this State, and did a great deal of research, is that the problem di-
vides itself into two categories. But however the problem is ad-
dressed, we have made clear in the report that more information is
required. We don't know the scope.

I notice the graphics you have here. I have numbers on them.
One particularly, abduction by strangers, which is a principal con-
cern, correctly, in my opinion, has a question mark for a number
we don't know.

As far as investigation of police practices in this State, we found
that with respect to children of tender age, that is to say, the age
of 13 or below, and in some cases 14 or below, we heard very few
complaints. In fact, we heard none about police response.

We also learned, of course, of the existence of a comprehensive
data system within the State. Our hearings led us to focus not so
much on police practices, but on various programs with the design
to educate parents. Child information packets with the photos of
the children are included. Child fingerprinting programs.

Some of the witnesses before us said that these programs were
bad programs because they will add a false sense of security. And
while I think that is a possibility in some cases, it was the opinion
of the authority as a whole that the programs were valuably be-
cause they alerted parents to the fact that the first line of defense
against the missing child is the parent.

With respect to children above 13 or 14, we discovered some in-
teresting attitudes. First of all, the statutory definition of children,
which is contained in the Illinois lair, and which is mirrored in the
proposal before this committee, is one in whichwith which many
parents do not concur.

The fact of the matter is if you live at home it does not matter
what your age is, your parents consider you their child.

And, in fact, we heard testimony of witnesses who testified about
essentially adults who were missing, and the police efforts, in some
cases nonefforts, to find them.

We also spoke at great length about runaways. We had many
parents advocate full FBI searches for any runaway, something
which is not advocated in the bill.

We also found that a significant problem are runaways who are
not missing. That is to say, the parents know where the children
are, and what they want is they want a police officer to bring the
child home.
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In many cases, they did not understand that this, in a large
number of situations, may result in violence against the police offi-
cer, against the child.

We also found witnesses who regarded children who had gone
over to religious cults as missing.

And then lastly we dealt with the problem of throwaways, which
is somethingprobably the grimmest phenomenon we discovered,
and those are children who are not really runaways; they're chil-
dren who are cast off, or discarded by their parents.

All of this thing, all of these issues, really go beyond the scope of
missing children, the issue that this subcommittee is trying to ad-
dress. Butand certainly beyond the scope of the issues that we
were trying to address at the authority.

But the fact of the matter is is that there's no denying the an-
guish, and the real pain felt by parents in these cases, as well as in
the more traditional missing children cases.

We had some concerns about police procedure. There seem to be
in the case of many witnesses a faith bordering on the religious
about the computer. We had many witnesses who would come for-
ward and say "if my child's name had been in the computer then
my child would have been found." Computers do not find people.
Police officers, and other people, find the individuals. What the
computer will do is will tell you what you found.

The same practice is followed with stolen cars. If you found the
car you can check, but the computer will not find the car for you,
and it won't find a child.

The fact is is that the computerized data bases will not meet the
expectations that I feel exist in the public, but the fact of the
matter is, the systems that we have both in this State, and nation-
ally, are underused, even in the present configurations, and more
use should be made of them.

We are, in my own department, making revisions to improve the
handling of missing children.

The concern that we have is that we do not want to have happen
with missing children what has happened with stolen vehicles. And
that is that we automatically issue so many reports that people
begin to ignore them.

One of the problems of the media programs, which now have tre-
mendous impact, of flashing pictures of missing children on the
screen, is that they are new, and people pay attention to them.
When they cease to be new, when they adversely affect the ratings,
and they go off, the value of the program will disappear.

And even if the networks are perfectly willing to take the loss in
ratit. gs to flash these pictures on the screen, the truth is that after
a while the senses of the public are dulled.

Flyers for wanted persons are always very helpful, but their
value is, in terms of results, relatively minor.

Another factor we found were that initial investigations made a
great deal of difference in how the police perceived the cases, and
how they were handled.

The major issue we were trying to address is how you distinguish
between a runaway and an abductee. We found out that we were
statistically unable to construct a profile to do so.
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But we did notice at some police departmentswhich of course,
some police departments, I have to say, don't need to make a dis-
tinction between runaway and abductees because they have the
same form of investigation for both.

But in any case, whether you investigate on the grounds of an
individual as an abductee, or whether you investigate simply be-
cause a person is missing, we found that the principal distinction
between departments that did a great deal of work, and those de-
partments that did a more perfunctory job, had to do with what
you did after the initial interview with the person who is reporting
the individual missing.

Many police departments get a report from a parent; they inter-
view the parent, and that is the end of their investigation.

We have found in many cases that it is necessary to go beyond
the parent. In some cases the parents are ignorant of their chil-
dren s interests, ideas, and plans. In some cases parents abuse chil-
dren, and will not tell you the truth. And in some cases the parents
are in such a state of shock, and dismay, that although they re per-
fectly willing to tell you the truth, they're simply emotionally
unable to do so.

It is important, therefore, to interview not merely parents, but
friends, to go to schools, and to see where problems might exist to
get some kind of hint where a runaway might have gone.

Incidentally, from a policy planning point of view, this is where
estimates such as those that are on the board become crucial.

We have taken an estimate that to go beyond the initial inter-
view, say, with a parent in a typical missing child case, it will take
an investigator about 3 hours. Some more; some less.

If you take the maximum estimates that are bandied about in
this country about which there is general disagreement that
they're at least a little too high, you are talking about the equiva-
lent throughout this country of 6,600,000 hours of investigative
work. To translate that into officers, you're talking about 3,300 ad-
ditional officers, which at an average cost, I would say, in this
country about $66 million.

The fact of the matter is that a great deal of this work, I think,
is being done now. I think the costsas additional costs, are gross-
ly overestimated. I think the problem is smaller, and I think its
cost is not unmanageable. I think, frankly, much of the work is al-
ready being done.

But information about the scope of the problem, and the means
to meet it, are crucial, particularly in a country which has thou-
sands of independent police departments. And this, I think, is the
value of the proposals before the committee today.

I add two small caveats. The first is that I think it is important
that people in government do not promise too much by legislation.
Although I share with Mr. Williams the desire that all 13 year old
children return home tonight, no matter what this Congress does,
and no matter what I do, I do not think we will be able to achieve
that goal.

Nothing we do after the child is missing will be as good as not
having a child missing at all. Do not send a message to parents
which says, "don't worry about the children because the police, or
the FBI, or the computer will find them."
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Even with unlimited resources, we won't be able to do so. It is a
problem for everyone, not just for legislators and the police.

Second, we really have to do much more as a society to quell the
dangers that children face. When I was growing up in this city if I
had run away from home ,30 years ago about the worst that would
have happened to me is I would have gotten cold if it was the
winter; I would have gotten hungry; and I might have gotten anx-
ious. And certainly my parents would have been distraught.

Today, we have serial murders, child pornography, widespread
drug use. We have been too tolerant of the decline in morality, and
the horror that befalls many children is one part of the price we
pay for our tolerance.

Also, as a technical matter, we have found that certain laws, par-
ticularly those in the State of Illinois, have made it in some cases
extremely difficult to conduct searches for missing children. Stat-
utes have passed in the name of children's rights, and although the
statutes contain many meritorious provisions, they have in some
cases made it difficult for the police to properly handle missing
children cases.

Confidentiality rules which cover the patients in mental institu-
tions make it sometimes very difficult to find out if a child is incar-
cerated, or held in a mental institution.

In addition to that, there are some cases in which police have
reasonable grounds, if not probable cause, to believe that a childa
particular child is being held in aagainst that child's will because
we do not have probable cause; the fourth amendment restricts our
efforts in search and seizure.

What also must be considered, I think, by the Congress is the
possibility, if not of modifying the fourth amendment exclusionary
rule of at least modifying fourth amendment restrictions in cases
when what are being searched for are missing children.

Thank you very much.
Mr. HAYES. Thank you v2ry much.
Could you advise as to whether or not in your department, or

any other department in the State of Illinois, that there is any data
in the statistics to give some indication as to the ratio of recovery
of missing people, particularly juveniles?

Mr. ZAGEL. Well, generally speaking, the rule we found, and I'm
rounding off, is about 85 percent of missing persons voluntarily
return. The vast majority of other missing persons are found.

There were, I think, in one instance we cite in the city of Chica-
go thein the case of 17 to 21 year olds of the thousands of cases
reported in the city of Chicago from January 1, 1981 through the
end of November 1983, there were only 13 that remained missing.
As I say, the majority, about 85 percent return home within 10
days of their disappearance.

And one of the things thatand I might add this; I suppose goes
a little beyond your questionbut one of the things that bothers
me about organizations that cite inflated figures about the number
of children that are missing is that from my prospective it seems to
me unnecessary.

To me, if instead of 5,000 children missing there are 200 children
missing that still is not an acceptable number that we ought to go
through. And the fact the police do a good job, and we find all but
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a very small percentage of the children were missing, does not
mean that we ought to be satisfied with that result if it can be im-
proved.

Mr. HAYES. Let me say as a member of the subcommittee, and a
pinch hitter's rule on human resources, we've benefited by excel-
lent testimony here today. All, to my knowledge, who have testi-
fied, have expressed support for H.R. 4971 dealing with missing
children.

I'm sure Congressman Anderson, and Congressman Savage both,
and I know I do as a member of the committee, appreciate your
support. But I think we must underscore the fact that passage of
legislation social in nature is extremely difficult this year.

The deficit spending set for the military, as has been expressed
here, is not viewed with favor on the part of my colleagues in Con-
gress. I know that, as you all have expressed, this is a problem that
is growing; needs not just local or State attention, but needs the
attention of our Federal Government.

Those of us who are supportive of H.R. 4971 will be pushing, but
your help, particularly with your people in Congress, may be the
kind of push that might help this proposed legislation come into
fruition.

I want to close out this hearing by expressing my sincere thanks
on the part of the committee for the excellence of the testimony
that you've given here; for sharing your time with us; and your
participation. It's all been helpful.

[Whereupon, at 12:30 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
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Washington, D. C. 20515

Dear Ike:

This week many of us watched the re-airing of the T.V. movie
"Adam. based on the abduction and murder of a six-year-old child.

The story was tragic in and of itself, but when viewed as
representative if thousands of similar cases that occur in this
country every INer, the situation is horrifying.

The original airing of Adam" last fall has brought greater
attention to the problem of missing children. The story
demonstrates both the terrible fate that awaits many of our
children and the agony of parents and family who either suffer
such an experience or simply do not know what has become of a
missing child.

The National Fingerprint Center For Missing Children offers one
helpful approach to this problem. The non-profit organisation
provides a centralised record of fingerprints to help law
enforcement officials identify missing children. I am enclosing a
brochure describing the center, which you may wish to bring to the
attention of your constituents who are concerned with this
problem.

With best wishes, I am

HLV/td
Enclosure
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Sincerely,

oielow7tHarold L. Vol mer
Member of Congress
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Let us know when your community Is finger.
printing. We'll be alad to work with you to set up
a collection table for cards end fees to be sent to r
the center. Bulk maMng will be paid tot by the
niter, If they have been approved by the National
Fingerprint Center For Missing Children in ad-

We need your help to make this a national
success. 100,000 missing children each year is
100,000 to many! The more cards we have on file,
the more successful we can be In identifying
missing children each yea! Our brochures are
only $5.00 per 100. Your gifts are appreciated and
tan deductible.

PARENT'S WRITTEN SIGNATURE MUST 11
EITHER ON THE FINGERPRINT CARO OR
THE ATTACHED "PARENTAL PERMISSION"
CARD.

KEEP THIS BROCHURE WITH YOUR IM
PORTANT PAPERS.

Make Checks or money orders payable to:

NATIONAL FINGERPRINT CENTER FOR
MISSING CHILDREN .

P.O. Box US
MI: sour) 63501

simmart

Endorsed by the Missouri Dept. of Public Safety
Endorsed by the Missouri Police ant(' Assoc.,
Endorsed by the Missouri Sheriffs' Assoc.
Endorsed by Ft. Worth. TX, Police Department
Endorsed by The Auxiliary to the American

Osteopathic Auociation

Member of Missouri Crime Prevention
Auociation

Member of Kirksville Chamber of Commerce
Associate Member International Assoc. of

Chiefs of Police
Member National Sheriffs' Assoc.

This brochure may not be reproduced with.
out the written consent of the National Finger-
print Center For Missing Children

1 "Ire F

National Fingerprint Center
For Missing Children
A NotForProfit Corp.

TAKE TIME TO CARE!
NATIONAL FINGERPRINT CENTER

FOR MISSING CHILDREN
P.O. BOX 116

KIRKSVILLE. MISSOURI 63001
$1442711T7



REGISTER YOUR CHILD TODAY! TOMORROW MAY BE TOO LATE!

WHAT 18 THE NATIONAL FINGERPRINT
CENTER FOR MOUSING CHILDREN?

We are a non-profit corporation formed for
the purpose of classifying and filing children's
fingerprints in order to assist both patents and law
et.torcement in the identification of missing
children throughout the United States.

We are independent and not associated with
any law enforcement agency.

Our goal is to have every child registered with
the center until age IS.

WHAT DOES IT MEAN TO CLASSIFY
FINGERPRINTS?

Classification means to analyse each finger-
print and to assign a letter or numerical value to
each pattern. There are 640,000 possible
classifications of a set of fingerprints. A formula
is calculated to represent the prints from both
hands.

This claudication, or formula is called the
"Henry System of Cluslfteation", and is the
same used by law enforcement agenda across the
country.

In addition to the Henry System, the 20 digit
classification is entered into our COM-

fluter along with the child's full name, ses, race,
mood type, hair and ateolor, and blrthdate.

WHY SHOULD I WANT MY CHILD'S
FINGERPRINT CARD REGISTERED AT THE
NATIONAL FINGERPRINT CENTER FOR
MISSING CHILDREN?

I. Some communities are fingerprinting on one
card and sending the card home with the
parents. This does not provide the parents with
the maximum benefit and security that they are

2. These cards may get lost, dammed, and may
not be classifiable. It takes training, practice
and patience to obtain good, classifiable
fingerprints from children.

3. If a set of fingerprints cannot be classified,

they cannot be searched by the Henry System
through our files for a positive identification.
Only when professional classifier begins to
classify a set of prints, do you know if you
have prints that will positively identify your
child In time of need.

4. We feel that parents should know before any-
thing happens to the child, that they have
classified prints on file at the center that will
not be lost or damaged.

S. A separate file is provided for palm prints for
children under the age of S. Patents can sub-
mit actual fingerprints on these children later
at no additional charge.

6. By providing a centrally located, non-profit
center toe this t information, we can
compete fin nts and assist law enforce-
ment agencies from across the country In the
identification of misting children.

7. When a child Is reported missing by a parent,
a notation is made on out computer to reduce
our search when Information coma In. All
information can then W Immediately placed
into the N.C,I.C. network that alerts law
enforcement agencies throughout the country
by local law enforcement agenda.

S. No time is *alai All etas ate classified
promptly upon their Nelda, or returned and
Wed to be resubmitted at no charge.

9, Security measures have been implemented to
protect all cards and computer information.

WHO HAS ACCESS TO THE INFORMATION?

This non-profit corporation was formed for
sole pumase of identifying missing children. Only
carefully hawed employees at the center have
access. This files are not kept for any type of
criminal itivutiettion or identification.

WE WORK WITH PARENTAL PERMISSION

I. A sweet or parents sign tie fingerprint card
Whet sending It to the National Fingerprint
Center ForMiuing Children,
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2. A parent notifies the center If his or her child is
misting.

3. When we match a child on file with finger.
prints that have been sent by law enforcement,
the center confirms that it has been previously
notified by the parent, or we confirm wish the
parent that his or her child is actually miaing
before giving out the identification of that
child.

4. If patents wish to use oily our destination
service, and do not want the center to maintain
any information on tile, they may mail the
11x S signed card, along with a *dna request
for the fingerprint card to be returned to them
as soon as It is classified. The S3.50 fee must
accompany the card and written request.

WHAT THE FINGERPRINT CARD MUST
CONTAIN SPORE SONG SENT TO THE
CENTER,

1. We accept only the standard g x g cud and we
have our own cards available which are blank
on the back side for palm prints, written
comments, etc.

2. Bah card should be penned clearly or typed
and contains

I. Child's complete name
2. Child's sea and race
3. Child's halt and eat:010f
4. Child's blood type
S. Child's binhate
6. Parent's name printed
7. Pent'. address mated
S. Parent's phone number
9. PARIIN1"S SIONATUER

10. S3.50 fee per child

DO NOT abbreviate on card.

A one-time S3.50 fee is Charged to cover all of
our services until the child retches the age of IS.
This must accompany all cards. Mall all g x g cards
flat and write "Do Not Fold" on the mailing en
aloe.



124

american
society for
adolescent
psychiatry

APR 26 1984

,htcrtillstrative Offite: 14 OA LEN VALI CV 5010
WALLINGFORD, PA. 19064

MmenTlyto: above

Pmident
...CHM". MONN MD

44, Mt.. 011140040 Lt
4..111,00 IL ssss

PreddentElert April 18, 1984
somN L SCIO1416 IA el

do v [ NON..
Mt* vON /q 01414

Viceftesideni
74C Y 001044.011 LI 0

411101,n. vtigult
NIL./ .1 IL

mem Is sOONOM MI 0
411 N GMOilm 111v

m.11 e ssss

84.CitqWy
MM.. L00111 IA 0

"mots: 104.051.1.L
vo 60.11144

0L.:. I 111 Cn behalf of the American Society for Adolescent
Psychiatry, a national organisation of psychiatrists

hrommr conoerned about the physical and mental health of

I.ioL1vILLt MD
lemOttmmv 6100 children and youth, I wish to acknowledge your leading

role in the creation of the Missing Children's Assistance
Act of 1983, 8.2014 (H.R.4300). We wish you to know thatAntAwadenft
we have written to numerous members of Congress urging

Honorable Ike Andrews, Chairmen
Human Resources subcommittee
Committee on Education and Labor
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Congressman Andrewss

ILI 114 150051114.0 4. 0 1.41.11M.... 1III04.rt104 M 0 I. their co-sponsorship and support of this measure.r1 .1,, IA el I./ 1111
14111111N 0 111/01L ICS V 0 is,. /2

04.111. Offita M 4,3 PI
Icta 1100M 140 .s,/ We believe that this legislation begins a trend of

Miniv M .
II1P
4,4

,1
Ps greater sensitivity on the part of government to the

..... L01 .4 el I.r4 // pressing emotional needs of many children and adolescentsMt A; YO .4 /IM.LNtt L00114.1 M .411 PO as well as to the more obvious physical ones. As theNt1111110 YO 147441
..... LI 0 MOO 41 leading national group of mental health professionals0141ttINII 0 00 ..... Y D mil .1

101111 1Y10ute1 M D ...1.1 concerned primarily with adolescents, we wish you to feel

Memberthip free to call upon us should you wish our views on issues
MOSIN 11.0. MO coming before you that are critical to adolescents.

Constinmn,Socledm Please accept our congratulations for the fine work that
you are doing in this area.0610LIN4

rove' .30
COI r 100

.01,10

POWS
1,....utotv

rip
rmOmm 1vN*111104111011

M0411401
m1*IN4L041:1kr.

01* 5001o. q S
1.01,11.11I.11

Por,LreLlImr
...I 44.0.00

414151100
40U sssss tL It 00 PM%........

to644ro
v01010.

Erersuive &emery.... 0
44 0Mattl 00loLL1.010010 M .

111144 1011

sincerely yours,

Richard C. Marohn, M.D.
President

RCM /rods

110111111 I I P111 eg ,hr 1116 ruhl,mom rq 4119 03. Spvirl hr UMW.. PivrIMIlm

.12 to



w

.3

Official motion blank

co

7-41" -4.744-/-4#"e 47>';'14VAd'1 cx'

2eAar-24XZ) M 1920--Ate-
__-44,,qt, Y.-XL Coeyire,24; et.1-A".0

eke, eLded 6,vo-1,--Wecoee

,,eLteL72ti-41.-) &a 0...71e,
4eL-c.,24604-kX10 czAne:/%--

4.J2 /Ynct,-1-1/Ld

CaZi .1/4

licuacla Parent Cruller Association INE,A1

MOTION NUMBER

GATE jZ 41 1 3, 191Y

130



126

MISSING CHILDREN

Whereas, the Nevada State PTA is a member of Western State Youth Services,

Nationally thousands of youngsters, mostly under the age of 12 are reportedmissing each year,

whereas, nationally approximately 100,000 children a year are abducted
by parente in custody fights,

Whereas, another 20,000 to 50, 000 are snatched by strangers.

Whereas, approximately 5,000 have been found dead, while others are
exposed to sexual exploitation schemes'

Whereas, the Nevada State PTA is sensitive to the needs of families of
missing children and supports the efforts of Community, Runaway and YouthServices in Nevada and the National Network of Runaway and Youth Services,therefore, be it,

Resolved, that Nevada having identified families with missing children,
the NeVada PTA strongly urges. support and funding of $10 million orabove for the Missing Children's Assistance Act on a national level.

Resolved, that the Missing Children Act be a categorically funded program.

13j
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Am( A lit ;i ir Association

PROPOSED MEIN CHILDREN
AMENDMENTS TO 42 U.S.C. Section 5701 et Seq,

(P.L. 93 -415)

1. Amend title of Act to:
"Runaway. Homeless and Missing Youth.

2. Section 5701 - Add language on missing and abducted
children to Congressional findings section.

3. Section 5711 - Add new subsection (4) which provides
for demonstration grants for:

1) Educational activities geared towards preventing
child abduction.

2) Local programs assisting parents whose children
disappear.

3) Special provision for funding a national toll
free phone line for use by parents, children.
and "spotters* (modeled on the HHS-funded runa-
way switchboard in Chicago). This will require
amending the next to last sentence of Section
5711.

4) Operation of a national technical information
clearinghouse on missing children programs and
services.

5) Law enforcement, public school, and civic
organization programs which help parents to
collect useful identifying material on their
children (photos, prints, etc.).

- Also add new subsection (e) which provides for
research grants for:

1) Collection of special detailed data from
certain states and localities on the frequency
of missing children reports, the use of
N.C.I.C., the le .,gtn : time before children
are found the investigatz:e resources
utilized. ere.
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2) Conducting a national incidence study in which
uniform annual aggregate reporting is made and
national data scientifically analysed to deter-
mine: the actual number of U.S. children who are
reported as missing from home each year, how many
are likely runaways, how many are abducted by
strangers, how many are victims of parental
kidnapping, how many children are recovered. etc.

3) Studying the psychological consequences on
both parents and children of a child's dis-
appearance from home, both during the dis-
appearance and after the child is recovered.

4. Section 5712 - Amend applicant
provide for funding any public
organization. Give preference
organizations in which parents

eligibility section to
agency or non-profit
in grants to programs and
play a substantial role.

5. Section 5713 - Amend last sentence on grant priorities by
also giving priority to those with demonstrated experience
in providing services to parents of missing children.

6. Section 5715 - Amend the provision concerning the required
Annual Report to Congress by HRS to also cover both those
steps taken by the federal government to prevent missing
children as well as to help parents locate them.

7. Section 5716 - Amend language on the permissible use of
federal funding so that missing children procKams as well as
runaway youth "facilities" can be funded.

S. Section 5731 - This section on restrictions on disclosure of
information on individual children will need amendment,
since the revised Act will have to fund some Child Find-like
Proffams, in which information on missing children is
transferred (this would be in violation of the existing
statutory language).

9. Section 5741 - I don't understand what significance the
"Reorganization Plan" would have to the amendments proposed
herein.
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10. Section 5751 - Add to (a) a special annual authorisation
for missing children's programs of $3 -S million. Amend (b)
to also require coordination with the Federal Bureau of
Investigation.

11. Consider adding new provisions for:

1) Creating a National Advisory Board on Missing Children.

2) Permitting Special grants to law enforcement agencies
for innovative investigative projects related to missing
children.

3) Allowing for contracts as well as grants.

4) Requiring advance publication in federal Becister of
proposed annual research and demonstration priorities
in order to solicit public comment.

5) Assuring that the HHS Secretary provides to the Youth
Development Bureau (YDB) adequate staff and resources to
properly carry out its new functions relatid,to missing
children.

134
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Fall
1983

McCONNELL RELEASES 18 POINT
FINAL TASK FORCE REPORT ON
EXPLOITED AND MISSING CHILDREN

McConnell announces final report

The release of the Kentucky Task Force on
Exploited and Miming Children's final report In late
September has been Warted with overwhelming
support from the members of the press and general
Pubic. The Courier Journal, whose response pant
leled most other commonwealth newspapers, said
that the "legislative . . package should be quickly
considered and passed next year. Let Kentucky
lead the nation."

With the report's release, most of the Task Force's
objectives have been realized. The work of the
Task Force will now be carried on by the newly
formed Kentucky Alliance for Exploded and Miss-
ing Children.

When he released the report, Jefferson County
Judge/Executive Mitch McConnell noted that Jef
Person County has been the national leader in this
field since he formed the Exploited and Missing
Child Unit in 198P, and that the Kentucky Task
Force has taken these accomplishments statewide
under his chairmanship

"We have seen people horn all parts of the corn
monwealth work together to eliminate this threat to
our children," McConnell stated. "There has been a
dramatic increase in public awareness and outrage
toward them crimes, which previously resulted in
little more than a slap on the wrist for child moles.
ters We have witnessed a dramatic movement
toward harsh punishment for child molesting
offenses."

The final report on the work of the Kentucky
Task Force makes 18 recommendations for the
further fight against child exploitation. including
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eight legklative proposals for the 1984 General
Assembly. "When the Task Force's Initiatives are
adopted by the General Assembly, Kentucky,
which is already the national trader In this field, will
be light years ahead in its efforts to protect our
children," McConnell said.

"Them is no more reprehensible crime, no crime
more deserving of Winne punishment, than that of
child expbita3 r sexual abuse," McConnell
stated. "l urge . n.ecned Kentuckians to join the
new Kentucky Alliance for Exploited and Missing
Children and commit themselves to better protect
our children."

With the implementation of these recommend&
tions, Kentucky will continue to be first in the nation
on attacking the issue of the exploitation of
children.

Task Force proposals include:
1. ADOPTION OF A "KENTUCKY MISSING
CHILDREN'S ACT"
This act sets up a computerized Missing Child
Information Center and requires all law enforce.
ment agencies to accept and investigate all reports
of missing children Immediately.
2. ADOPTION OF A "CHILD SEXUAL
ABUSE AND EXPLOITATION ACT"
Legislation to allow taxpayers to donate $2 of their
tax return to a "Child Victim's Trust Fund." which
will 1* used to educate chiklrew to the dangers of
sexual abuse and exploitation.
3. MANDATORY SENTENCING FOR
CHILD MOLESTERS
Legislation to make certain sexual offenses against
children wombat able, guaranteeing incarcera-
tion for molesters commensurate with the harm
they have inflicted by their crimes.
4. YOUTH SERVING AGENCIES LEGIS.
LATION
Passage of laws to allow all Youth Serving Agencies
to request criminal record checks on persons ap-
plying for positions of authceity over chicken.
S. UNLAWFUL TRANSACTION WITH A
MINOR MADE A FELONY
Upgrade the offense of mating in sexual activity
with a minor to felony status.

Other recommendations include initiating "call.
back" programs to notify parents when a child fails
to appear at school, providing "bock/4100y" pro-
grams toeducate children about sexual abuse, and
continuing the child fingerprinting programs which
McConnell has initiated in all 120 Kentucky
counties.

The Mal reconenendaticet of the Task Force is to
establish the Kentucky Alliance f r Exploited and
Miming Children, an organization of concerned
citizens who veil implement the reconumndations
of the report.



131

GET FINGEEPRINTFJ)
GET A CONE

Since the Kentucky Task Force on Exploited and
Missing Children was started last year, there has
been an overwhelming response to the grotip's
efforts to establish fingerprinting programs around
the state.

Program sponsors have ranged from large
corporations such as the Winn -Dixie limey chain
to small service groups consisting of only a handful
of WWII. In Madisonville, the fingerprinting wro
gram same to have developed a floor (flavors?) all
its own under the leadership of local Solid
Robbins Ice Cream Parlor owner, Jim Callahan.

According to Callahan, the marriage of hIs ice
cream parlor and the local fingetirinting Mann
were sutural. "The key to a successful program is
to have a location with access to the diktat. What
could be better than an ice creamstore during. hot
summer?' he asked.

Callahan said that once he &Med to get
involved in the prow= heft:Kurd it easy to get help
from other community groups. "People's Bank and
Trust watt wilting to underwrite thecae, of giving an
ice cream cone to every fingerprinted child, the
Madisonville Business and Prolosional Women's
Club donated their time and assisted in the record
keeping, and the local police deportment ageed to
do the actual fingerprinting."

The first two fingerprinting 101140116 managed to
fingerprint a total of 690 children. Callahan said that
he intended to have a third session in the fag to add
to that number. He said, "The only change that will
be made is they would continue an experimental
program offering polaroid pictures of a child for a
dollar."

Callahan said the derision to take pictures was
made because of the comments heard from parents
during their first session. "A lot of parents mewl.
oned that they didn't have current pictures of their
children to give to police if their child turned up
missing. It Just seemed that if we were going to the
trouble of fingerprinting that we should make sure a
current picture of the child was also available."

Callahan added that the program is beginning to
have a ripple effect, "rye been contacted by
another Baskin-Robbins owner in Indiana about my

lint Callahan of
Madisonville and
Mitch McConnell
cameral/wafter
the July Task
Force hearing
in Paducah,

program and how she could start one. Maybe rim
started something."

T.V. SPOT OFFERS INFORMATION
The Chairman of the Kentucky Task Force on

Exploited and Missing Children, Jefferson County
Judge /Executive Mitch McConnell, will be featured
in a televised public service announcement (P5A)
to be aired across the Commonwealth this fa.

The PSA will open with McConnell and his two
daughters, Claire and Porter, approaching the fam-
ily car at a Jefferson County park. After the chit-
dren enter the car, McConnell will tell the audience,
'like you, my children mean the work) to me."

After that statement, the camera will close dt and
the Judge we briefly describe to viewers the magni-
tude of the exploited and missing children problem.
The 30second spot will close with McConnell ask-
ing the audience to write to him in care of the
Jefferson County Courthouse for more
information.

According to McConnell, "Up to now, with the
exception of our involvement with the Angerprint
ing programs, the Teak Force has been primarily
holding hearings and gathering information. With
this PSA, we wit be able to sere parents information
that they can use and reach people who we might
normally not be able to reach."

The chairman added that the fall release date
would be a big help to the PSA's effort-Wm*. "Pao-
pie are ready to get back to business with the
opening of school and are a bit more inclined to
react to appeals they her on television in the fall.
Another advantage is that there are more viewers
in the fall than in the summer," McConnell said

The video tapes have been sent to twenty-eight
stations inductile stations in Evansville, Cincinnati
and Huntington.

GRANT COUNTY TEACHERS
LEARN ABOUT TASK FORCE

Kentucky Task Force on Exploited and Missing
Children Chairman Mitch McConnell addressed
over 130 Grant County Nachos in Dry Ridge dun
ing their in-service day training on August

McConnell was the swat of fel1ow Task Force
member Dr. Otis Reed, Jr., Superintendent of

136



132

Grant County Schools. According to Dr. Reed,
interest in having the Judge speak to the teachers
was generated from an inschool fingerprinting pro.
gram initiated last sprint "At the time my only
thought was to have our students fingsrpdnted, but
the response from the faculty was so strong that I
thought it might be good for them to hear from
someone of Mitch's stature and level of involve
meta," Reed saki.

McConnel's presentation consisted of a screen.
Ins of a film describing the exploited and missing
children problem and a discussion of how teachers
can get Involved in protecting their students.

Afterwards, McConnell said that the involve
ment of educators veil be a key to making real
progress in both the prevention of exploitation and
the apprehension of chid exploiters. "A child
spends as much or more of his or her active hours
with a teacher than he or she does with a parent. As
a result, a teacher is often in a better position to
notice the warning migns that signal that a child is in
danger or has eke* been victhrieed," he
explained.

McConnell added that, bums, an exploiter
might be a family member. a teacher could be the
only person that a victimised child could tum to for
help.

DRUTHER'S DONATION AIDS CAUSE

Druther's Inc, a Kentucky based fast food chain,
bourne the second major regional corporation to
commit its resources to the efforts of the Kentucky
Task Force on Exploited and Missing Children
when it donated fi7,50:1 to the group in late August.

During. briefcerentony at theJeflerson County
Courthouse, Druther's President Thomas Haulm
presented the check to Task Force Chairman
Mitch McConnell and announced the corporation's
involvement. *This check symbolise' the Druther's
belief that balms has a stake In the communities
in which it exists. We believe that a corporation is a
chi:mend that we should be an active citizen in the
communities we live in," Haulm stated.

McConnell said that the money would be used
fora variety of purposes. "It will help pay fora radio
Public Service Announcement, printing of a news
letter, and for the printing of 2P0,000 brochures
which wdl be distributed in Druther's 100plus Kee
tucky stores."

McCormall noted that earlier this year the Winn.
Dixie goofy chain had begun a fingerprinting pro-
gram in its Kentucky stores in conjunction with the
Task Force.

Members of the Trak
Force at the hearing
held in Lexington in
June. From right to
left: Helen Kendall,
'nn Ross, Mitch

McConnelL

PUBLIC, PRIVATE SCHOOLS
EXPANDING FINGERPRINTING

Jefferson County School Superintendent Dr.
Donald Ingwerson, Jefferson County Judge/Exec.
utrve Mitch McConnell and Superintendent of
Catholic Schools Father Thortes bush, an
nounced in late August that al county students
through the eighth grade would he fingerprinted
during the school year.

McConnell, who is chairman of the Kentucky
Task Force on Exploited and Missing Children,
said last year's program fingerpnnted approxi-
mately 24,000 children, but this year's goal would he
80,000 students. "Last year because the program
was run by my staff, we only attempted to do two
gades in the system. This year, with involvement of
the 15th District PTA, the League of Catholic PTAs
and community volunteers, we have higher aspire
tions," McConnell stated.

According to Sharon Soloman, the Kentucky
State PTA's Juvenile Protection Chairman, last
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July the Kentucky Congress of Parent Teacher
Associations endorsed school fingerprinting PM.
grams. It seems like there are more missing chit
cken and acutely exploited children now than ever
before. For that reason, I would recommend that
parents get their chicken fingerprinted," Soloman
uicL

Infusion added that one pert of the program
won't change this year. "A letter again will be tent
home to parents to Inform them of the date the
fingerprinting MI be done in that school and that
they can have their child withheld from the pro.
gram. Mom* will make it clear to the parents that
they wil begetting the only copy rude of the prints.

According to McConnell, the method of having
his staff train PTA members and other volunteers
to administer the fingerprinting program has aposi-
five side effect. "A big extra is the involvement of
parents and cinema In the education of our young
Pewit Hopefully, their involvement will not end
with OM program, but will symbolise a beginning for
some of these parents."
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A GUIDE TO PREVENT ABDUCTION

0

This booklet O sponsored by Kid Wise, a national educational effort by
on

Purina Company's
Breakfast Foods Division and the National Coalition to Children 't Justice.
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ken Wooden researched and wrote this guide as an
outgrowth of his work as an investigative reporter for
All(' News 211/21) and as the founder of the National
Coalition for Children's Justice and the National ( 'hild
Victim Computerind Network. the information is Nisei
on interviews with eons icted child molesters and
murderers- the esperk.

Ken Wooden has authored three hooks Miter
on I he MIrreled by children. liiepine
Playtime at Othtn, a hest seller, served as the basis to(
three "Sisty Minutes" segments. Me Children id
Jonestown is the C111111111111011 of his las esi igans wink
for Newt and the ( itieuga Sun Ones; it gat tiered
a Pulit/er Pii/c nounnalion. I h. third hook, soon to he
published, Pny-Alksittg and Alurdenil Children. is the
result of rise yeal. of iuse.ligatise work.

Wooden's articles and hooks have prompted
(*(mgressional inquiries and legislation dealing with
interstate commove of children, the child pornography
industry, 1'0%1(4 care reform and, most currently, the
problem ()I' missing and murdered children.

I11. .1.1.1011.1 111Mo OA. Ilbi .11111.0 I. 'I 1.1,0.k .11 .16.11 41 ell. I. pi
kfIllh
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January 8, 1984

Kenneth Wooden

ltreoutive
Director

National
Coalition forChildren's

Justioe

2998Shelburne
Road

Shelburne,
Vermont08462

Lwow Mt
'1176 N tirrwayy

. kwdas

74n tcadordanr
Raab 33422

305/4734647

*tondo Oka
727 $ OkadaAar

Wino Polk
!kV* 32189

3031620,40

Dear Ken:

Among the
thousands of

cards and
letters Reve

and Ireceived
after the movie

on oureon, Adam,
was airedon NBC,

your cardannouncing
your appointment

se anationalinvestigative
reporter kirM BNB, 20/20, wasveryspecial news.

You were
the firstvoice to ring theWant on the rising

violent death
of our

children. Yourresearch,
writings, and

training of
police °Blurs

and anyone

else who
would listen,

was atBret, the voice inthewilderness, thepioneer

who would
not give up. A persistent

forte which
treated thecomputer

software

to trace
mixing andmurdered

children-
software that

should have
been in

operation inthe late meow

I look
forward toendorsing

ROMsRATIOKM,
CHILD VXOPIM NBTWORK

during

my 8L Louis pe01111
oanfainoe, M

well as during aprivatemeeting withRalston

Purina- the Antoorporation
in America

which Ind the courage
and vision to

finanoielly
supportNOOkre network.

Keep thestory before
the public,

Kin, and
together, with

an wiryof concerned

parents,
let's get theNATIONAL

CHILDVICTIM
am= inoperation

during

1964. /my
child in America

deserves thatbasic protection.

Mein,
thanks tothe precursor

who doesn't
get tiredordiscouraged.

Shitioret4 4.a/
John Walsh
President,

Board ofDirectors

MAO; tomask; °toed
ond negkedid

children
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A LETTER FROM
KEN WOODEN TO PARENTS
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This prevention guide describes the different methods
actually used by child molesters/murderers for the
purpose of luring and deceiving children into leaving their
safe environment for the uncertain and frightening one
of the abductor

Knowing these lures is helpful, but equally important
is the need to teach our children to think critically and
act according to their own basic intuition.

It was this combination of thought and Intuition that
saved my own daughter from a very dangerous situation.
Her car broke down and she was walking down a major
highway in broad daylight. A car with two men stopped.
They flashed a badge, claimed to be detectives, and
offered to help. She told them of the car trouble, and
they said, "Climb in!' When she opened the back door
she saw clothes hanging from the back seat and dirty
clothes on the floor. She knew something was wrong, and
immediately slammed the car door. The men sped off.
Late; they were arrested for posing as policemen and
raping young women.

My daughter saved herself with quick action, based
on her instincts and common sense. Unfortunately not
everyone would have reacted similarly without the
benefit of the type of information in this booklet.

By fostering this type of critical thinking, based on
knowledge of the following lures, manymore young lives
can be saved.

We owe that to our children.

7r4, 571.4i
Ken Wooden

14.1
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CHILD LURES

Following are nine lures often used by abductors and
molesters:

AFFECTION /LOVE The vast majority of child
molestation and murders are committed by a person
who is known by the child or a member of the family.
While most children have been told to be wary of
strangers, they are caught off guard when a relative,
neighbor or family acquaintance makes advances.

Question the motives of adults who
seem h 1 terested in your kids and want to spend a
lot of time alone with them. Monitor the child's activities
in youth groups, summer camps, etc. Participate in these
activities as much as possible.

Children from unhappy homes are especially easy
targets for the affection/love lure. Molesters admit these
children are so "starved for affection" that they are easy
to seduce and abuse.

ASSISTANCE Perpetrators will often approach a child
and ask for some kind of help. These requests can include
directions to a popular landmark, nearby restaurant or
school; help in finding a lost puppy; or assistance in
carrying an armload of packages to the car. The types of
requests are unlimited and the perpetrators are often very
creative and convincing in stating their needs. They may
be disguised as a disabled person or a sweet old woman
who needs a helping hand.

MOM= your child that adults should ask
other adults or dira*ns or help. If anyone stops to
ask directions, your child should move out of reach, take
two steps backward, and be ready to run.
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AUTHORITY 'Taking advantage of most children's
respmt for authorit , ors will dress like police
officers, clergy, ters, truant officers, etc. They
often go as far as to wear uniforms, carry badges, and
even affix flashing lights to their cars. Some have posed
as store detectives, accusing children of stealing and
instructing them to "come with me"

Instruct your child to ask an
avallinnIMo require the apparent authority to
produce a pertinent ID credential. No legitimate officer
will be offended by this request. Impersonation lures
can be the most difficult to detect. Exerciseextreme
caution.

BRIBERY The age-old lure, bribery, still works.
Younger kids may be offered candy, toys and other
rewards. Older children may receive km drugs or money
in exchange for sexual favors.

IMINIOMME Re alert to new toys, gifts or money
that haven't been given through normal family channels.
Ask your kids where these items havecome from. Tisch
your children that no one repeatedly gives presents
without wanting something in return.

E.10/FAME Sometimes children are promised a
modeling job, the chance to compete in a beauty contest
or the opportunity to star in a commercial. They are
offered a private audition and told to keep it a secret
from Mom and Dad. Photography and filming sessions
often begin harmlessly, then escalate Into pornography
and seduction.

Chaperone your child's talent pursuits.
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EMERGENCY The emergency lure is designed to
disarm, confuse and worry the child. Here are some
acampks:

"Your mommy is sick and was taken to the hospital
come with me'
"Your father had a heart attack, and your mommy
sent me to take you straight to the hospital!'
"Your house is on fire and your mother is locked out.

Do you have a house key? Hurry and come with mel"

\ I \ I I \ Select a code word that only you and
your . Mil your child that they should never

with anyone unless the code word has been used.
an action plan with your child in case of a

real emergency.

GAMES AND FUN With this lure, seemingly innocent
play often leads to intimate bodily contact. Games might
Whide tickling, wrestling, make - believe role playing,
hide the e4 or hide under the coves

Peop dressed as clowns, Santa Clauses, cowboys
and other fanciful characters can capture a child's natural
sense of fun. The "Oed piper" types fascinate children
with tricks or emmkks.

Mach your children the differences
touch" and a "bad toudit'

Common sense should tell parents something is wrong
when an adult consistently singles out a child for a
playmate. Explain that certain areas of their bodies are
very private and encourage them to moon unusual
behavior that makes them fed imwmfortable or "bad!'

1'141 I \ I \

Akio
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JOBS Adamants can be attracted by the promise of a
high paying or interesting Job. Interviews for these jobs
are often held in secluded bad= and are advertised
with only a post office box.

Stress to adolescents that you would
to know where and by whom they're being

interviewed. Share your reasons for wanting to know.

1'1(111 \ I li)\
11

THREATS/FEAR Some perpetrators use violent verbal
threats, and even flash guns or knives. Or they may
pretend to blackmail the victim with a statement like,
"I'm going to tell what I saw you do"

Mach your children to counter threats
screaming. Mast moletters/murskrers sqv

will if their intended victim runs or screams.
A child who follows a perpetrator into a car, bui Hai or
other isolated area due to fear and the hope that
cooperating may save him/her has lost control of the
situation. Children who have not been paralyzed by fear
have been excellent witnesses, resulting in the arrest and
conviction of multi-murderers.
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TEACHING CHILDREN 10
PROTECT THEMSELVES

39-879 0 - 85 - 10

141

Our children are marvelous beings with a greater
memory and learning capacity than most sophisticated
computers. By plugging into that "computer:' we can
teach our children to save themselves and we can help bring
perpetrators to justice.

We suggest this approach in discussing the lures with
your children:

Avoid scaring them. Explain that most people
genuinely care about children and are dedicated to
their protection and welfare.

Explain that missing/murdered children are an
exceptionlike a house fire, and, like fire drills,
prevention saves lives.

Explain that each child has a basic right to body
privacy. Aside from medical examinations, where
you or a doctor's assistant is present, no one has
the right to "play with',' expose or fondle a child's
private parts.

Encourage your child to communicate serious abuses
to you.

Stress that authority figures (parents, teachers, clergy,
police, military, relatives, youth leaders, etc.) will
not, if they are concerned about the welfare of a
child, fondle his/her private parts or compel him/her
to do the same.

Stress "safety-in-numbers"; ask them to travel with
friends or classmates to school areas or around the
neighborhood.

Urge your children to think escape/survival if
abducted. Promote critical thinking skills.

Urge special caution toward drivers of vans; they
have been used in some vicious crimes.

Caution! This Is merely a guide for parents to educat, their chil-
dren In a one-on-one environment. It Is not designed as a mass
communication tool for use by unskilled personnel. Group
materials are now being developed for the Kid Wise education
Program.
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FINAL NOTFS 70 PARENTS/ Extensive research and interviews with convicted
TEACHERS molesters/murderers reveal the following trends:

1. Children are "targeteCThey are selected before
a molester/murderer moves in.

2. Location is important to the molester/murder=
Favorite hunting spots are the isolated short cuts
that children take walking or bicycle riding to and
from school. Avoid these routes.

3. 'typical characteristics of children who hi. been
victims of molesters/murderers include children who:

personal habits/appearance

appear "unkempt" or neglected
are slight of build

travel alone, are "loners" or are habitually out late
at night alone

remove themselves from the main activity area, thus
separating themselves from easy visual or audible
contacts with a group
frequent video game arcades

are very young children (ages 8.10) who smoke
cigarettes

family /environment

have parents in the middle of bitter divorce
proceedings

have families with no religious affiliations/values

have a single female parent who has given total trust
of them to adult male friends
have parents with sexually promiscuous lifestyles

4. While most young children are uninformed about
sex, their bodies are going through stages of
awakening sexuality which greatly enhance the
opportunity for seduction. Responsible sex
education is an effective tool to combat abuse.

BE CONCERNED if your child suddenly becomes
withdrawn, has trouble in school, or balks at attending
certain classes, church meetings or out-of-school activities.
Keep the lines of communication open. Silence could
mean that some form of molestation or attempted
abduction has already occurred.
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Dear Concerned Citizen:

This letter brings extremely good news.

Rouse Speaker Bobby Richardson has introduced
Rouse Bill 486 along with 49 co-sponsors in
the Sousa of Representatives. H.B. 486
contains all of the legislative recommendations
of the Kentucky Task Force on Exploited and
Missing Children.

We are asking you to do three things to help
get this legislation passed.

1. Write House Speaker Richardson thanking
him for his sponsorship, for without
his cooperation this would not have
happened.

2. Write your state representative asking
support for H.B. 486.

3. Write your state senator and urge
support for H.B. 486.

With the eight pieces of legislation packagid
and introduced as one bill we have scored a
great victory but this is not the end of the
struggle. It is the first step. Now we must
secure passage and we need your help.

We will continua to keep you posted on events
relating to H.B. 486.

Thank you for your continued interest in and
support of Kentucky's children.

Sincerely,

t McConnell, Chairman
Ken ucky Task Force on Exploited and Missing Children

MKIEFP.Udko

Enclosure

P.S. Write your letters today!
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RummaX7 of House Bill 486 Detailing
Programs and Statutory Changes

- - A new "Child Victims' Trust Fund" to finance local
prevention programs which educate children about
the dangers of sexual abuse and about the lures
of exploitation and which encourage parents and
school administrators to teach children about
"body safety" rules and techniques to be funded
through a state income tax return check-off of
$2, $4 in the case of joint returns;

- - Clear authority that youth serving agencies have
the right to request criminal record checks on all
persons who apply for employment or volunteer for
positions in which they have supervisory or disci-
plinary authority over children;

- - A new state clearinghouse, called the "Kentucky
Missing Child Information Center", which will
receive reports on missing children from local
police agencies who will be required to accept,
investigate and relay to the new state clearing-
house all reports of missing children;

- - A statutory clarification that innocent child
victims of criminal acts may now claim compensa-
tion from the Kentucky Crime Victims' Compensa-
tion Board for psychological as well as physical
bodily injuries;

- - Statutory authority to permit out-of-court or
pretrial videotaped testimony of children under
12 years of age to be used as evidence in sexual
abuse cases;

- - Upgrading the offense of parentil interference
with custody to Class D felony status from
misdemeanor status, thus bringing Kentucky into
line with the majority of other states;

- - Upgrading the offense of unlawful transaction
with a minor (where a person knowingly induces,
assists or causes a child to engage in a legal
sexual activity) to Class D felony status from
misdemeanor status; and

- - Establishment of certain sexual offenses against
children as offenses where probation cannot be
suspended.

Mailing -Addresses:

State Senator Representative
Kentucky General Assembly Kentucky General Assembly
Frankfort, Kentucky 40601 Frankfort, Kentucky 40601

150



146

HOW TO
PROTECT CHILDREN
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TAKE A BITE OUT OF
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IUDS!

They bring us such joy But oaring for children also brings big responsi-
bilities, and big worries. I know --I ve got a few pups of my own.

Teachers, law enforcement officers, and others who have some respon-
sibility for the well-being of young children share parents' concerns.

Most kids pass through childhood without ever experiencing physical
harm. But too many of our kids are frightened or hurt by orime every
year Their property may be stolen or their lunch money taken.
All children are vulnerable.

But all children can be taught how to avoid trouble, how to spot trouble,
and what to do if trouble happens to them. Not enough kids know
these things.

Safety and crime prevention should be a family effort. It's your job to
teach kids how to be safe. It's myjob to show you how. My book will get
you started. And you'll be helping me to...

TAKE A BITE OUT OF
11111111M MI mall

For vale lq NO iamiaairum of Iluruonit& U.N. Oaterilleal Ptlll Gate
Stulaitua, De. 10102
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TEACHING 01111111131 SAFETY 11111Z11

Talking to children about certain dangers to their personal safety makes many
adults uneasy. It's difficult and painful to acknowledge that there are people around
who want to harm children. And some safety rules you'll teach your children may
seem to oontrediat other values, like being polite and obeying adults.

Children have a right to know about potential threats to their safety, and what to
do if they find themselves in trouble. Some basin knowledge will increase their °on
fidenoe and aelf-relianoe. And you'll feel better knowing that they know how to oope

when you're not around. And more
and more kids today spend time at
home and at play alone while their
parents are at work.

Mule Ituraber One for any adult
canny for very young children:
Never Wite them alone at home,
in a car, or in any public area.
Not even dor a minute!"
It is very important, when teaching
children personal meaty and caution,
that they don't become overly fright-
ened So, never present too much
information at once; young children
can't absorb a lot at one time. Children
should know; of course, that the reason
for learning and following safety rules
is because they're loved. Rules should
not be seen as arbitrary and adults
should take care to be oonaistent with
the rules they teach, and practice what
they preach.

01111411* atmeury CoueU. las

a



150

TER:111810 CMOO131 HOW TO OPOTIFOOOMIT4
BE ALERT FOR STIUIROMOI

Friendly strangers can be dangerous dreams. Strangerswho or treats to ohil-
dren may be offering threats instead.

'each young children what a stranger is: anyone they do not know well.
even if children know how to avoid trouble, sometimes troublein the form of
dangerous strangersmay find them. Children will encounter stranger, when
you're not around. Most strangers are well-meaning and not to be feared. But
because ohildren are trusting and vulnerable, they can fall fbr offers by adults who
seem kind, but are nott. Bo, make sure your children learn and follow thesebasio
rules when you're not around

Never accept rides, candy, gifts,
money, or medicine from a stranger.
Never get close to a oar if a stranger calla out
to you for directions or anything else. It is
easy for a stranger to pull you into a can
Never give your name or address to a stranger.
Never open the door to anyone you don't know.
Never tell callers that you're
home alone. Say mom or dad can't come
to the phone, and will call back.
Never volunteer family vacation plans
or other information about your home.
Always avoid strangers who are
hanging around restrooms or the
playground and want to play with
you or your friends.

155
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What about the persistent stranger? Here's what the experts say you should teach
your kids:

If a stranger in a oar bothers you,
turn and run in the opposite direc-
tion. It's not easy fora oar to change
direction suddenly.

When frightened, run to the nearest
person you can finda police officer,

person working in a yard, or a
neighborhood house or store. While
you should always stay away from
strangers who approach you, it's O.K.
for you to ask an adult you do not
know for help.

If a stranger tries to follow you on
foot or tries to grab you, run away,
scream and make lots of noise. The
last thing a dangerous stranger
wants is a lot of attention.

Kids spend a good part of their lives at school in the classroom and on the play-
ground. Strangers who want to hurt children know this too. Find out what the

school's policy is for children leaving
school with adults other than the par-
ent or guardian. Also find out what
school security measures exist to
insure students' W. Get together
with other parents if you find these
measures lacking or weak, and work
together with school officials and local
law enforcement to beef up school
security. You won't be sorry!

..1101111111111Sel-
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"PUYITUF
OSLO= HOW TO MOM TROUBLE

It Is normal and natural that ohildren
will spend time playing or traveling
out of the eight of trusted and oaring
adults. The best way to keep trouble
away from kids is to teach them to
avoid areas and situations where trou-
ble might lurk. Here are some basic
"play it safe" rules for children:

Never play in deserted areas such as
the woods, a parking lot, an alley,
deserted buildings, or new
construction.

Always stick to the same safe route
in traveling to and from school or a
friend's house.

Always try to play op walk with
friends. It's safer, and more flinl

Never play or loiter in such public
areas as washrooms or elevators.

oft to wait with a friend for public
transportation. Try to sit or stand
near the driver on the bus.
Always keep doors and windows
looked when home alone.
Never display money in public. Carry
money only if necessary and keep It
in a pocket until needed.
Never hitchhike. Neverl

Never walk or play alone outside at
night.
Always tell a family member or other
adult in charge where you'll be at all
times, and what, time you'll be home.
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CHILD MOL ESTATION AID ABUSE

0 t1114111Awrimied esamil. las

8

Let's faoe it. Almost all the rules and
tips in this book about Increasing Wail-
dren's person al safety have to do with
your two big foam for ohildren: sexual
molestation aid physical harm.
Each year an estimated 100,000 US.
children suffer some form of sexual
abuse. The average age of the child vio-
tam is 10 years old.

mashing 'stranger rules" is smart, but
not enough. In the najoritz, of oases,
the child sexual molester is known to
the child and the child's family. That's
why only a minority of abuse oases is
reported to the police. The abuser is
often a parent, relailve, bitorsitter, or
close family friend. Children may give
in to adults' sexual advanoes because
they fear losing their love, or fear their
punishment. Therepre, they are espy

1 6' 0
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Wally vulnerable to sexual abuse by
someone they know, like people who
care for them regularly, Children are
trusting and defenseless. Make sure
you check carefully the referenoes of
babrsittere, day-care centers, and
recreation leaders.
A child may not recognize sexual
abuse when it happens, or even know
it's wrong, especially lithe abuser Is
someone the child knows. Children
must learn what appropriate *touch-
ing' it Discuss it with your child.
Many children instinctively know
what "proper distant).* should be kept
between them and other persons.
Sometimes a child may be uncertain
about the intentions of another per-
son. In this situation, children should
know it's OX. to respond in a way that
makes them feel safe and more corn-

161

fortable. Children usually know that
genuine and gentle affection is differ-
ent from someone who tries to touch
their genitals or fondle them in any
way that makes them feel unsafe.
They should pull away immediately if
someone suggest& such actions, even if
there offered a present as a bribe.

liairTo Respond
Children often make up stories, but
they rarely lie about being victims of
1102U111 assault If a child tells you
about being touched or assaulted, take
it seriously. Your response is very
Important and will influenoe how the
child will react. and recover from the
abuse.

Stay calm. In a reassuring tone, find
out as much as you can about the Mai-
dent lixplain to your child that you



are oonoerned about what happened.
Don't be angry Manny children feel
guilty, as if they had provoked the
assault. Children need to be reassured
that they are not to blame, and that
they are right to tell you what
happened.

A Mild may need to be taken immedi-
ately to a doctor or an emergency
room. Sometimes the child may need
to be 'loved for VD. and checked for
pregtumoy.

Law enforcement, special hothnes, or
a Mild welfare agency should be con-
tacted right awn
Sometimes, a child may be too fright-
ened or confused to talk directly about
the abuse. Be alert for any change in
behavior that might hint that the
child has suffered a disturbing
experience:

Is the Mild suddenly more with-
drawn than usual, refusing to go to
school or afraid to be alone?

Is the child having trouble sleeping,
waking up with nightmares, or
wetting the bed?

Is the child oomplaining of irritation
of the genital areas?

10

39-879 0 - 85
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Are there signs of increased anxiety
or immature behavior?

Does the Mild show a marked
change in behavior toward a relative,
neighbor, or babysitter?

Othae Child/Were
Including sexual abuse, an estimated
one million child abuse incidents are
reported every year. Other forms of
child abuse include physical violence,
emotional cruelty and deprivation, and
physical neglect. Each year, an esti-
mated 9,000 to 6,003 children die from
oh '1 abuse.

Child abusers are persons usually
known to the child. This means most
cases aren't reported to authorities,
and children continue to suffer
because abusers are repeat offenders.

Mild abuse is dangerous and against
the law. Many abused children will
grow up and victimize their families,
and others, later in life. It Is your duty
as a °Mien to report suspected oases
of child abuse by contacting a special
hothne, the polio, or child welfare
agency immediately. The children need
help and treatment as soon as
possible.

162
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TEACIIINO CRUM= NOW TO 111111/0110
How children respond to trouble will
depend upon their age and the particu-
lar circumstances they encounter.

More important., however, is whether
a child knows what to do and where to
go when feeling threatened.
While it is important fora child to
know how to avoid and spot danger, it
is also critical that a child knows how
to respond quickly and wisely when
confronted with trouble. Children
should understand that there are
many people they can depend on and
should turn to when they feel unsafe.

'Mach children that the police are
friends whose job is to protect them. If
a police officer can't be located easily, a
child should also know to run to or
seek out a trusted teacher, a neighbor,
or a friend's parent when frightened
or feeling endangered. Children should
know ahould report gage
melt away.

12

Mach children how to operate the tele-
phone to call for emergency
assistance.
*They should know how to dial 4:4'

"9117 or other emergency numbers
used in your area
They should memorize their area
code and phone number, and maybe a
friend's number as well.

They should memorize your work
number.

Keep a list of emergency phone num-
berslike the fire department and a
close relative's or friend'sposted
near all the phones in your house
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'The polies and the Rhyne company have
teamed up in ikaidim New Jersey. They're
t000ltioo elementary school children haw
to use the telephone in an emergency sit-
=Nom Parents and teachers gave this
project their ringing endorsententr
Walk the neighborhood and the route traveled to
and from Khoo, Stith your child. Point out places
to go when in troublelike homes or certain
storesand unsafe areas to avoid.
Children on be prepared to respond to trouble
through role-playing. Make up situations and
rehearse responses to increase the ohild's ability
to act rationally and calmly

No one likes to think about all the possible
threats to a child's personal safety and
well-being. But a safe child is one who
knows what to do when trouble happens.

"A child% beet response to trouble is
using common sense. Like knowing
idien to stick up tor his or her
rights, and when not to. Small chil-
dren should not fight back when
outnumbered by bigger youths who
want to take their bike, radio, or
other possession. In this situation,
a child should jive in and than run
to an adult, or older brother or sis-
ter, and report the incident rightwar01=411.114011110/01WOLL tot

165

13



161

WE COMMINITIEth SAFE COLO=
'lb increase the safety of your children,
increase the safety of your neighbor-
hood. Keeping your neighborhood safe
is the responsibility of concerned
adults working together to prevent
orime.

Start with your local law enforcement
agencies. They can Gill you what ape-
Wel crime problems your oommunity
may have and what you can do about
them. They can also tell you about
other crime prevention child safety
programs already operating that you
can join, like:

14

IlesRoam
The *Helping Hand: 'Block Parent; or
"McGruff Safe Home* program Is a
good idea. If you don't have one already,
start one. Here's what it's about.

Neighborhood parents, grandparents,
or other adults are recruited to volun
teer their homes to serve as tempo-
rary shelters for frightened or lost
ohildren. Volunteers can be trained to
aid and comfort children. A special
sign posted in the window of their
homes tells children this is a place to
go when they are oonfronted with a
serious problem. Local law enforce-
ment can help in setting up a sound
and effective program.
Mier Mad Programs
Millions of children are home alone
after school while parents work.
Think about starting an after school
programat school, in church or in
one of your community °enters.

61're. helping MU across Oregon
with their SleekMOW program.
Thirty go over 10,000 homes
participating, and many kidnap-
pings have been pisysstsoL*

166



Crime prevention Ostrisolum
More and more schools are adding
personal safety instruction and crime
prevention to their school agenda.
Teaching children how to pi*, it safe
and what to do when they're
threatened can and should be taught
in all grades. The more often they hear
that they can keep from being hurt,
the less fearful they'll be. Children
benefit from such instruction in the
school and can learn a lot from
exchanging ideas and experiences
with their classmates. Kids oan also
learn ways to protect their property,
elcills to help them cope at home alone,
and rules of good oitizenship. Many of
these classes are taught by the local

162

police or sheriffs who bring along ape.
(Hal puppets, coloring books, posters,
and other teaching aids to reinforce
their invaluable lessons. This way kids
get to know personally the authorities
who are there to protect them. Schools
can help teachers get training in
crime prevention techniques for ohil
dren. Older kids are good teachers tool
Discuss these ideas with the MA.,
school board, and local law enforce-
ment authorities. Crime prevention
can also be a part of your child's orga-
nized extracurricular activities. Crime
prevention clubs are a good way for
kids to be a part of their community's
crime prevention program.

sikthools and law enforce- . .
mad agencies all across
the *Gantry enjoining
forms to bring crime pre-
vention sad personal Alw
safety billr111111011 to young
children. Often, they cell
upon me to help. I've met
and talked to hundreds of
thousands of young people
and given them tips and
materials to help them
learn their crime fighting
lemons?

Safety Rules

16'7
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Meek Mani
Organised patrols are another way of
inoreasing child safety in the neigh-
borhood. Parente, grandparents, and
other concerned adults volunteer to
be observers and reporters as they
patrol the neighborhood during the
hours With. n, travel to and from

AL

school. Patrollers keep an eye out for
trouble, record descriptions of
strangers and their oars, observe
potential traffic and other hazards,
and report all suspicious activity to
the police or sheriff, and their
neighbors. Being a block patroller
doesn't require special skills or a lot
of timeespecially if you recruit a lot
of volunteers to alternate duty,
Patrollers prevent many tragedies
from occurring. They inorease the
security of their neighborhood and
their children, and display their
Investment in both. Law enforcement
files are full of unsolved cues of
missing children where there are no
clues about the child's dliappearanee.
Observant block patrollers could pro-
vide many such vital dues. Contact
your local law enforcement agencies
to see lithely have this program in
your area.

1653
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Parent Alerts
Sometimes a kid who hasn't arrived at
school isn't home sick or playing
hooky. If something happens to a child
on the way to school, parents often
don't know until later in the day. Pre-
cious hours are lost to law enforce-
ment inveitigators when crimes are
reported to them several hours after
they occur. Many schools have organ
nized volunteer parents and senior oft,
teens who call the parents of absent
students to check that the children are
somewhere safe.

$ ,

Lou of concerned parents are getting
their ohildren fingerprinted. Remem-
ber, fingerprints must always be
retained by the parents or guardians,
never by third parties. Fingerprinting
will not prevent the tragedy of child
abduction or disappearance. It may
help law enforcement authorities
identiV ohildren unable to identiiy
themselves.

*A safe home and a safe neighborhood income childrent--and every.
one's safety. Kids imitate the actions of the adults around them
So get going an wine prenntionmake your home seem, mark
your valuables with an LD. number, get the schools involved in crime
prevention, and week together with others In programs like Neigh-
borhood Watch. Sand always report crime or suspicious activity to law
enforcement right away"

18

TAKE A BITE OUT OF
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FOR HOU INFORIUMON
Your local law enforcement agency is a good place to start for more information.
Law enforcement agencies can tell you what programs are already in place in your
area, and help you get started in crime prevention. They can tell you which local
civic) organizations, scouting groups, human service agencies, and schools are
involved in crime prevention and child protection.
Find out if your state has a crime prevention organisation. If so, write and ask for
information and assistance on crime prevention activities. Also contact national
Coalition members or their local chapters, listed on the back page.

The organizations listed here can provide you with specific information on child
protection, child abuse and missing children:

20

National Center on Child Abuse
and Nylon

antldren's Bureauindmintetrstion
for Children, Youth and angllee

178. Depertment of Health and
Human earns.

1?0, Paz 1182
Washineon.D.O. 20013

Parente Anonymous
Toll hue number 800/4214383
in California: 800/383-0380
National Committee for the Prevention

of Child Abum
Doe 2888
ahloell0.1311.nale cow

tmild Plnd, Inc.
PO. Box WM
NM MU, New York Me 1
isoomaioce
The American Dar Aamatation
National Legal Amouroe Center for

Child &lemony and Protection
100) 11 attend, N.W.

D.O. 20036

National Center on Miming
and Intoned Clhildren

PO. Bee 801110
Ittaehhigion, D. 20004

This borate Ms been prepared by the Office of Julia:* *mattock Research. and Stettin Inc the Crime NNW
bon Coalition It u part of In overall public totvice campaign conducted In Me public Interest by the advertising
Council, Inc in cooperation with the Otace of Justice Aseratance, Research. end Stelleticsi the blatlenal Crime
Prevented Council. Arlo th CM' Prevention Coalition. Consultant support was provided by Ellen Goldstein. NA
Monet Crime Prevention Council (113-0001-J-0JARS) Special epprecietion u teknowledged to the voluntary services
contributed to the campaign by the Dancer Fitzgerald Sample. inc.. advertising agency, end by Robed A. Marchese,
Director of Advertising Corporate COMMUMCNOM, Agra UM end Camay. campaign comoineor.
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411WHAT CAN YOU DO TO PROTECT Y 11OUR CR2 REM?

Teach Thom...

1. Their full name, address and phone number.
2. How to mike a long distance call (dialing NO° for

operator).
3. That a stranger is someone they and you don't know

very well.
4. To never go near a car witt someone in it: neves get

into a car without your permission.
S. To never admit to anyone over the phone they ass.heme

alone.
6. To never answer the door when home alone. Call a ne

polio. if someone tries to get into the house.
7. To never go into anyone's home without your permission.
8. That no one has the right to touch them or make thee feel

They have the right to say "no.°
9. To toll you when an adult asks them to keep a "secret. ..1,tp

10. To tell you if 501600041 offers them gifts or money, or vote
take th40.picture.

As A Parent, You Shoulde.

1. Mow your childgefriends%
2. Never leave your child'unattended: never le , your child

in the car.
3. Se involved in your child's activities..
4. Listen when your child tells you he does not want to be with

someone; there may be a reason why.
S. Make clear to your child whose home or oar he say enter.
6. Notice when someone shows your child a great deal of attention,

and find out why.
7. Se lensitive to any changes in your child's behavior or attitudes.

Stu:ounce open communication. Never belittle any fear or 000044%
your child say express to you.

8. Nave your child's fingerprints taken. know where to.locate dentei
records.

9. Take a photograph of your child each year (four times per year
for children under age two).

10. Rave a set plan with your child in case of an emergency.

(4.
"4:gt,d

Ciellfornla 11511 W. Olympia Blvd., Los An4 o II4, 06 90064 (116) 47544998
Now fink Ott km P.O. boa 465, 50454 &kW IT 40111PG MO 7644046
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AMERICA'S MISSING CHILDREN

Each 73ar in this country 1.8 million children are reported missing.

Approximately 1 million of these children are runaways
or "throwaways."

At least one hundred thousand children are the victims
of parental kidnappings.

Twenty to fifty thousand children disappear each year
and their cases remain unsolved for at least a year.
Included in this group are the victims of stranger
abductions, murder and abuse victims, children taken
to be raised by unknown individuals and some runaways.

In the month of July, 1983 in the State of Florida alone,
more than three hundred children were reported as missing.
At least twelve of these children were under the age of ten.

Each year in this country at least three thousand individuals
are buried unidentified in John or Jane Doe graves. Hundreds
of these unfortunates are children.

The Missing Children Act established two national clearinghouses
of information. One computer bank stores the names,
characteristics, dates of birth, and circumstances of disappearance
for cases of missing children. The Act allows parents to enter
the data concerning their child's disappearance into the computer
through the offices of the FBI if the local police fail to cooperate
with the parents. The second clearinghouse collects and diseminates
data concerning the remains of unidentified deceased individuals.

This information is from the Subcommittee on Investigation and
General Oversight, United States Senate; Senator Paula Hawkins, Chairman
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Find
The
Children

A NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATION
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Before this hour is out 205 children
will be reported missing.

4,932 each Ay.

1.8 million each year.*

Ls a national diagram, a moral and social crisis.
For the children who survive the experienceand
many do notit is often an unforgettable nightmare.

Children are vanishing every day and their parents
are searching for them with virtually no assistance.
There is no government agency set up to help missing
children. Law enforcement agencies, social welfare
agencies and juvenile authorities by necessity must
place the problem at the bottom of their priority lists.
There are isolated organizations trying to help in the
search, but their efforts are frustrated by the
magnitude of the problem and by the lack of money
and of public awareness.

These missing children are the concern of Find The
Children, a non-profit foundation whose purpose is to
raise funds to be distributed to those regional and
national organisations moat directly engaged in the
search for the L$ million children reported missing
each year.

We have to be the voice for the childrenchildren
who are the lowest priority of any national issue. They
do not vote. They do not pay taxes. They have no rights.

17'7
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The objectives of Find The Children an es diverse
as the problem itself. They include:

en

1. Distributing funds raised
by the foundation to other non-
profit organizations. The board ,

of directors of Find The Children
will carefully review each group
prior to any monies being distributed.
2. Promotion of greater Federal involvement and
State cooperation in recovering missing children.
3. Coordinating the production of public service
announcements for local, regional and national
non-profit search organizations.
4. Lobbying of national and local media to
broadcast and publish as a regular format pictures
and descriptions of missing children.
B. Establish a monetary reward system for
information leading to the arrest and conviction in
strangerabducted cases.

Batted on statlatios from the
U.S. Department of Health and Human Servioes.

173
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Rules Of Protection
Mach your child your phone number,

1. including the area code.

2. Have a set of your child's fingerprinta taken
by the police or other professionals and keep
them at home.

3. Keep upto-date photographs of your child on
hand.

Make a mental note of what your ohild is4. wearing every day.

mach your child hie or her full address,5. including state.

6. Be sure your child knows what to do should
you become separated from him or her.

7 Teach your child a password and to run away
. calling for help from any stranger who

approaches them without giving the secret
code word.

Teach your child that not all adults are good8. people.

9. Get dental records of your child as early as
possible, and keep them up-to-data. If you
move, be sure to take a copy with you.

10. Make sure your school phones you if your
child is absent.

182
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Find
The
Children

HOARD OF DIREDIONS
°MOM:
Linda Otto President
Alan Landaburg

Chief Financial Officer
Carol L. Fleisher Secretary
Joan Barnett.
Sari Steinberg

A NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATION

California Office:
11811 W. Olympic Blvd.,

Loc Angeles, CA 90084

New York Office:
P.O. Box 463,

Pound Ridge, NY 19678

FIND THN CHILDREN
ADVISORY ROOD:

Mayor Tom Bradley
William Clagge.
Marvin Davis
Barry Diller
Louis Gossett, Jr.
Bud Grant
Senator Orrin Hatch
Senator Paula Hawkins
Alan Hirschfield
Jky Howell
Leo Kelmenson
Marvin Koslow
Gary Nardino
Mickey Rooney
Sid Sheinberg
Fran Tarkenton
Brandon Tarttkoff
Senator Strom Thurmond
Daniel J. Travantl
Ernest M. Vanderwegtie, M.D.
John and Reve Walsh
Henry Winkler

The work of Find The Children has Duet begun. We
urgently need your fit instal support. More importantly,
the hundreds of thousands of children still missing
and an even greater number of grieving parents and
relatives are in desperate need of your assistance.

Please help us Find The Children.
Yea, I will help Find The Children. Enclosed
is my tax deductible check for 11

NAME

ADDRESS

CITY

STATE ZIP

Mail to: Mud The MANG.
11811 W. Olympia Blvd., Los Angeles, CA 90064
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Viewer's Guide

ADAM
611011.11111111111111111111.011111111111.11.110

April 30, 1984, 9 - 11 pm ET on the NBC Television Network

A.

.184'



Bakke this twohour television movie
Is over, more than 500 children will be
reported missing In the Untied Stales
* They will be among the more than
two million American children who are
reported missing each year
* Of this number 1,850,000 are listed
as runaways While many eventually
return home, others are never heard
from again by thee parents
* 100.000 are kidnapped by divorced
or tePlarl'hfa parent.
* 50,( rare abducted by strangers or

simply wands off by themselves.

Sinearnid Mam Walsh was one of
the last group. After his disappearance
and murder in 1981, his parents, John
and Rove Walsh of Hollywood, Florida,
committed themselves to increasing
public awareness of the mining children
problem They lobbied for the Mining
Children Act and worked to inform
others about what can be done to help
children and their parents Anarn:'
madefor-television movie, is dun story

On Apra 30,1984. this true Ne drama
will be rebroadcast by the NBC Eden.
lion Network. Originally presented in
October 1983, 'Adam has alntedy
received several miaowl honors, in
chiding a 1984 Christopher Amid. a
Ninth In Film Award. a Golden Halo
Award from the Southern California
Motion Picture Council and a Film
Advisory Board tribt.te. The film it
Widely credited with miming nations; con-
sciousness' about mining children.

Daniel J Ewalt errs ae John Wain,
and JoBeth WiWrre M Rave Walsh.

180

Micheal TUtnriff dines from a Screen
play by Allan Lock Linda Otto is the
producer for Alan Landsburg Produc-
tions. Inc.

THE STOW
Si-year -old Adam Walsh is the pride

and lay of his parents John and Rave of
Hollywood, Florida. While shopping In
a department store at a local mat Rev.
Ids Adam welt In the toy department
while she looks at lamps three akin
away. When she returns minutes hick,
he in gone. After having Adam paged
Insure the scree and outside on the mall,
Rave Methanol:a. John rushes to her
from hk Mike.

Both parent insist that Adam would
not wander off or go home alone. They
supply a recent photograph and a
description of their son to the authorities
and the media. Posters are printed and
widely distributed. John kW staffs of
volunnek searching the vicinity. Both
patents appear on television to appeal
for communky help.

Al the police station, the Welshes
learn the difilculies d rnountkg a tench
for a missing child. Police in another
jurisdiction reply that they cannot look
for Mam because of their heavy can
loads. IN FS.!. will not get officially in.
inked in the ease unless they lung wool
of a kidnapping in the form of a rens=
demand ce evidence that the child has
been token out of stale

The Welshes fly toffee Nknis 'blame
national television plea. Just before

tell appentaMe. they learn that the

remains al a young buy have been found
In is Florida cartel. Dental records con-
flan that the murdered child in Mam.
John and Rave an overwhelmed with
Flat

Foloveng Adam's funnel, the Welshes
take a ivarweek retreat to upstate New
Ntbrk John cannot contain his need for
revenge and his hang that he felled his
helpless son. Fat Rave, her husbands
distance is as difficuk as the lose of
Adam. She reminds John that they mutt
support each other or they will have
nothing left.

Relumkg home, the Welshes find
this garage filled with 20,000 taken
from empathetic people and wink
seeking advice. Rea bitterest* rnuet
help others by sharing what they have
learned, She in soon busy answering
calla at The Adam Walks Outreach
Center.

John goes to Wshington to in*
before Conwen in support of a miming
children act He urges de estoblehment

national untreated reporting and
search system. On national Ildlniikin

, he urges viewers to support
the , generating 40,000 Men
and Clik Sco Continua

When a miming children be panes
the US. Senate, end wealw bS peens
the Howe of Representatives, John air
pun below the warms commitne.
In an impassioned speech, he reminds
Congressional leaden that the nation's
genie resource k ilk children. Even-
tually a Wong bill is sent to President

k 'signed inb law on October
141;2.
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Than children appeared on the roll all at the conclusion of the television movie

ADAM
ffimmorgammgmarags

April 30, 1904, 9 -11 pm ET on the NISC1ilevision Network is
If you think you haws cry Information on Ms whsmsbouls of ow al Num children or my Oho missing children. of N you am
a child nno has Osen sbduMul, plow cal CHILDPIND, Winos 000)4311006 In New Varli (914)25544A Al calls will

leglcalldsrain. It you would was mom intemstIon snout 1lis pobism c4 missing onikken, oil (914)2164941
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hou think you hove any Infounotlon on IM whenlabouls of wry
of lbws, children of any abet moire children, or If you we a
clod who Am boon abducted, Peso call CHILD FIND, loll Ate
m3)4314036 in Now lb& (l14)12864841 Al weevil be lord
confelendel. I lyciu would &own Infornieon About therm:teem
of missing children, NM (114) 166.1441
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ORGANIZATIONS
Meaty individuals and agencies cell/

information about the mssing children
problem. The following groups provide
practical prevention strategies, referrals
to local groups, and ideas on how
American become involved In support
of missing children and their families

Adorn VA Ern Child Resource Center,
1876 N. University Drive, Fort Lauder.
dale, Florida 33322

Child Find, Inc , Boa 277, New Pals,
New York 12561

Child Search 6 Beacon Street, Suite
600, Bmion Messachuseris 02108.

Dee &afield Mamma Program,
Inc , 4416 Ray Court Avenue. Tampa,
Honda 33611.

Find the Children. Inc . 11811 W.
Olympic Boulevard. Los Angeles.
California 90064.

FindMe. Inc. P.O. Box 1612,
LaGrange. Georgia 30241

RESOURCES root
FURTHER 8111 LORATION

Statistks on cis os of missing children
include ninaweys, children kidnapped
by divorced or separated parent, and
children who are abducted by varrgers
or wander off by themselves. Viewers

184

who want in learn more about this
subject are directed to the following re.
sources which cover dilate aspects 01
the miming children problem.

%amp' Alwirelies
animas, John D KyWI Story:

Friday Never Come: The Search for
Miming People. New *M. Vantage.
1981.

Guichoon. Beth. Sal Mating New
lb& Del, 1982 (fiction).

Resairege
Ambrosino. Lillian. Runaways.

Boston. Beacon Press 1973
Brennan, Tim. The Social Psychobay

of Runaways. Lexingron, Massochti
setts: Lexington Books, 1978.

Harris, Marilyn. The Runaway's
Diary New York: PiXkitt Books. 1983
(fiction)

Kosof. Anna. Runaways New York:
Franklin Watts, 1977.

Miller, Debbie Runaway? New `doh:
Vantage, 1980.

Sorel, Julia. Dawn: Portrait of a
Teenage Runaway. New York: Ballan
tine, 1971.

Panstel Itilnapglas
Abrahms, Sally. Childwn in the

Croasfiro The Purdy of Parental Kid.
naping. New York: Atheneum. 1983.

Agopian, Michael W. Parental Child.
Stealing. Lexington, Massachusetts:
Lexington Books, 1981.

GE, John Edward. Stolen Children.
New lb*: Seaview Books, 1981.

Katr, Sanford N. Child Snatching:
The WM Rellmna. to the Abduction of
Children. Chicago: American Bar
Awocistron Prow, 1981.

Maser, Norma Fox. 'Rainy Test
Mueller. New WA: Avon, 1981.

Oben. Jack. Have 11:w Seen My
Son? New York: Atheneum, 1982
Melon).

Strickland, Margaret. Child.
Snatched Home Haven, New Jersey:
Rainbow Books, 1979.

This Owe* QM* w m wed by Camel
Inionnamin Semite (Caton.. IrC ), a nogg,*
.96niankm and piglet" ol TV Visontn. Odd..
and otter nnotamo la Wimp Marron The
develoMnent and dterAnann at PM garde INTO
made acne* by ;net.:

Coppigo n 1984by Colunt"nlormmion14.
out ICISiente. Inc I The saw maybe mom.
Wood hr educational was Reprint' should in.
crude the above copyright nom' and Mo Psis
man Seamordwaeroman asuaseinsas
dery %awe. Crale . dim simphin he, may be
obtamod loom Cohnal InlormMlon Simms (17 0
Bo. 786. Median %urn Sown. New York.
New Yoh 10166) or Porn your keel NBC Mon

IN THIS VIEWER'S GUIDE BY CULTURAL INFORMATION SERVICE WAS MADE POSSIBLE BY NBC.
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These children appeared on the roll call at
the conclusion of the television movie

' sw. imigmi

ADAM
11111111M11111111111111.1111.1mummemm

Broadcast on NIC,.0ctobor 10, 19113 9-11 p.m. N.Y.T.
If you think you have arri Information on the whereabouts of any of these children, or
nny other missing children, please coil CHILD FIND, toll free (800) 4314005 in New
York (914) 2531848. All calls will be kept confidential.
*dal then& to MC and Alan londiburg ?Werke' fa mold,* publication of this poster posolala

Ei 0
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runt '

1. David Coldren, Execu-
tive Director
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Report to the

Illinois General Assembly

On Missing Young Adults

1'

March 30, 1954

Prepared by:

ILLINOIS
CRIMINAL JUSTICE
INFORMATION AUTHORITY

and

ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT
OF

LAW ENFORCEMENT
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ILLINOIS
CRIMINAL JUSTICE
INFORMATION AUTHORITY

I20 South Riverside Plaza Chicago, Illinois 60608 131 1) 703-580

March 15, 1904

The Honorable Michael Madigan
Speaker of the House of Representatives
House of Representatives
SI6 Statehouse
Springfield, Illinois 62706

near Mr, Speakers

Last June, the Illinois House of Representatives approved Resolution 348,
requesting the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority and
Department of Law Enforcement to prepare the attached Joint Report to
the Illinois General Assembly_ on Missing Young Adults.

This report is the culmination of months of truly joint effort and collabora-
tion by many Federal, State, local and private organizations and agencies
and concerned citizens in Illinois and throughout the country. Obviously, it
rould Omit have been prepared or completed without their conviction to iden-
tify and propose workable solutions for dealing with the sudden disappear-
ance of a young adult.

While there are too many people involved in this project for us to thank in.
,11,,tijally, we want to express our appreciation to all those people who tes-
tified at the hearings, who assisted in our local and national search for
data, and who provided additional information and spent a great deal of
tune expressing their concerns to us.

We especially want to thank those parents who had the special courage to
share their personal pain with us in the hope of helping other families who
may he faced with similar experiences.

As always. it has been an honor for the Authority and the Department of
Law Enforcement to serve the General Assembly and the People of the
State of Illinois.

Respectfully submitted,

Chairman a lWilliam Gould ames R. a

irector of Law
Illinois Criminal Justice

Information Authority

Attachment

cci The Honorable James R. Thompson, Governor
John F. O'Brien, Clerk of the House

193
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ILLINOIS
CRIMINAL JUSTICE
INFORMATION AUTHORITY

Med RESOLUTION ",
#1(1984)

Report on Missing Young Adults

WHEREAS House Resolution 348 calls for the Illinois
Criminal Justice Information Authority (Authority) and
Department of Law Enforcement to report to the General
Assembly before April 1, 1984, on the problem of young
adults who fall victim to foul play; and

WHEREAS the Legislation and Regulations Committee (on be-
half of the Authority and Department of Law Enforoement)
has held three public hearings on the matter:

BE IT RESOLVED that the Illinois Criminal Justioe
Information Authority adopts the Report on Missing Young
Adults attached hereto.

Be it FURTHER RESOLVED that the Executive Director is

authorized to perfect the language of the Report adopted
herein for punctuation, form, style, Clarity, and consis-
tency of language without altering the substance or intent
adopted by the Authority.

Be it FURTHER RESOLVED that the Chairman is authorized to
release the Report on Missing Young Adults, after confer-
ring with the Director of Law Enforcement.

ADOPTED by the Illinois Criminal Justice Information
Authority this 15th day of March, 1984, by a vote of 9-0.

Chairman

(Introduced by Director James B. Zagel. Seconded
Director Allen H. Andrews, Jr. Passed by unanimous, roll
call vote, 9-0.)

19,1
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INTRODUCTION

Nationwide inter-
est in missing
persons of all ages
is increasing.

In Illinois, the
House of
Representatives
called for
research into
problems of miss-
ing young adults.

Recently, several tragic, highly-publicized abductions and murders of young
people have raised nationwide interest in the plight of missing persons of all
ages. Ilere in Illinois, the disappearances and deaths of several teenagers in
separate incidents have sparked public concern- -and calls to help prevent
such tragedies from happening in the future.

The parents of some of these Illinois victims and the Illinois General Assem-
bly have questioned the overall effectiveness of police response to reports of
missing young adults. Are Illinois law enforcement agencies responding to
reported disappearances with as much expertise and efficiency as possible?
Are new technologies available, or can existing communications systems be
improved, to aid law enforcement agencies in their investigations of missing
persons? Is it possible to differentiate between a young person (often an adult
in the eyes of the law) whO has left home voluntarily and one who is in im-
minent danger and requires immediate police action?

In June 1983, the Illinois House of Representatives passed Resolution 348 (see
Appendix A), calling on the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority
and the Department of Law Enforcement (DLE) to research these and other
questions as they apply to unemancipated young adults between the ages of
17 and 21. Specifically, the J agencies were instructed to study:

I. The efficacy of deferring official law elopement action on reports of miss-
ing young adults for a 24-hour period;

2. The "establishment of a profile of a young adult whose disappearance Is a
significant deviation from the established behavior patterns:" and

3. The feasibility and benefit of utilizing the Law Enforcement Agencies Data
System (LEADS) to facilitate the exchange of information about missing
young adults.

This report to the General Assembly summarizes the results of s six-month
investigation into a wide range of topics concerning missing young adults.
The Authority, in conjunction with DLE, conducted three public hearings
(one each in Schaumburg, Carbondale and Springfield) to gather information
from a variety of experts Witnesses from Illinois and Federal law enforce-
ment agencies, parents of missing children, social service profeetionala,
government officials, criminal justice practitioners and private citizens were
invited to testify. In all, nearly 00 witnesses provided more than 11 hours of
testimony. (See Appendix B for a complete list of witnesses and Appendix C
for a summary of their testimony.) Authority and DIE staff also conducted
statewide and nationwide searches for data sources, information systems and
experts that could provide more information about the unique problems of
missing 11 to 21 year-olds.

195
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How this report is This report is organized generally around the issues identified in Rouse
oreanind. Resolution 348. The r sport contains:

An examination of the scope of the problem.

Detailed examinations of the three topic areas outlined in the resolution
and of other significant issues uncovered during our research. Each section
also contains findings and specific policy recommendations.

A set of appendices providing background and statistical information in
support of the findings and recommendations.

It must be kept in mind that this report represents a comprehensive, but
preliminary, examination of issues related to mining young adults and of
police response in such cases. Because of in narrow focus on 17 to 21 year-
olds, this report does not address the special concerns of mining young
children (although some recommendations apply to missing persons of all
ages). Rather, the Authority and DLE hope this report will serve to inform
the People of Illinois about the scope of the missing young adult problem and
current knowledge about prevention and investigation of such cues.
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SCOPE OF THE PROBLEM

To understand the
problem's scope,
some fundamental
questions must be
answered.

The disappearance of young adults is an all too painful reality, as testimonyfrom parents, law enforcement officials and social service professionalsrevealed. But to understand fully the scope of this problem in Illinois, somefundamental questions must be answered. For example, how many people arereported missing each year, and how many of these are ages 17 to 21? Howmany missing young adults become victims of violent crime? How manynever return alive due to accidents or foul play? Is the number of missingyoung adults growing, or has attention focused on a few cases merely in-creased public awareness and created the illusion of an increase?

Seeking answers to these and other questions is complicated by the fact thatthere are actually many types of disappearances. Public attention usually isfocused on the most tragic cases where the missing person becomes a victimof foul play. Other
circumstances, however, account for most disappearances,particularly among 17 to 21 year-olds. Five categories of missing personshave been identified:

Runaways
'Throwaways" (those neglected or abandons by parents)
Accident victims
Parental abductions
Abductions by strangers

How Many Missing Young Adults Are There?

Most missing per-
son statistics are
just calculated
guesses.

Experts readily admit that most statistic: on mining persons are just calcu-lated guesses, and some may be little more than the "gut hunches" ofinvestigators. I

Figures commonly quoted include: between 1 million and 2 million childrenrun away annually; parental kidnappings account for about 100,000 to150,000 disappearances a year; 50,000 children are abducted by strangerseach year; and about 2,500 to 5,000 unidentified juveniles are found slaineach year, often without apparent motive.a

Ken Lsoisoe. director of Fronds of Mission Children; sod Mitch McConnell, Find Report of the Kentoely rod Forte ongeplolred and Merino Children, Sept. Id, 1553.
2 Thew (Immo ate Aar 014 moot Mies in news reports. they beet neat seed so often Mal the Menai sources, If everkanns, ore difficult to taco
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MOST MISSING PERSONS ON NATIONAL
DATA BASE ARE JUVENILES

NCIC Active Cases as of November 23, 1983
N Et 26,887

JUVENILE, NONE OF
THE OTHER CRITERIA

71.11S

DISABILITY A person of any age oho Is
missing and under proven physical and/or
mental disability or Is senile, thereby
subjecting himself or others to personal
and immediate danger.

ENDANGERED A person of any age who is
missing and is In the company of another
under circumstances indicating that his
physical safety is In danger.

11.1M.Mii.11.6.1. -

ENDANGERED, ALL AGES
7.2$

INVOLUNTARY, ALL AGES
5.2 II

DISABILITY. ALL AGES
11.7 it

INVOLUNTARY A person of any age whO is
missing under circumstances Indicating
that the disappearance was not voluntary.
I.e., abduction or kidnapping.

JUVENILE A person wha is missing and
declared unemancipoted as defined by the
lows of his state of residence and whO
and does net meet the entry criteria of the
other three categories.

SOURCE: FBI LAW ENFORCEMENT 121JUVIN (JANUARY, 1984)
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The number of
mining person
reports entered
into police com-
puters does not
approach most es-
timates of how
many missing
persons there are.

Examining the
different types of
missing persons
provides a better
picture of the
problem's scope.

Runaways: The
largest group of
missing persons.
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However, the number of missing person reports entered into various law en-
forcement computer systems does not begin to approach these estimates. For
example, the FBI's National Crime Information Center (NCIC) missing person
data base contained 26,887 active uses throughout the United States, as of
November 23, 1983.30f these cases, 7,342 (28 percent) were missing persons
of all ages who could be categorized as either mentally or physically disabled,
missing involuntarily (Ct. abducted) or suspected to be in the company of
another person under circumstances indicating danger.4 The remaining
19,345 (72 percent) cases fell in the fourth NCIC category: missing juveniles
who did not fit any of the other three criteria.

In Illinois, 5,563 records for mining 17 to 21 year-olds were entered into the
Law Enforcement Agencies Data System (I FAIbt, operated by the Depart-
ment of Law Enforcement (DLE), between 3 . 'try I, 1981 and November
29, 1983. This is an average of approximately 854 cans per year. Of the
5,563 total casts, 236 (4.2 percent) persons are still unaccounted for and
presumed misting.3

At the local level, Chicago Police Department records show 35,386 children
under age 17 were reported missing between January 1, 1981 sad December
7, 1983. In addition, 15,806 persons 17 and older were reported missing
during the same period. These figures correspond to an average of ap-
proximately 11,795 juvenile cases and 5,269 adult cases per year. Of the 17
to 21 year-olds reported missing since January I, 1981, only 13 remain min-
ing. A brief study by Chicago police's Missing Persons Unit demonstrated
that, on the average, 86 percent of missing 17 to 20 year-olds in Chicago
returned home within 10 days of their disappearances.

These statistics provide a realistic, if limited, starting point for determining
the actual number of mining young adults. They have been included here to
illustrate the categories and number of cases maintained on various law en-
forcement mining person data bases. It is not appropriate, however, to com-
pare these national, State and local figures, since they are not based on the
same age groups or time spans.

In addition, these data are not maintained in such a way as to determine the
number of 17 to 21 year-olds who fall into the five mining person categories
listed above (runaways, *throwaways,* Oa Examining each of these
categories provides a better picture of the scope of the missing young adult
problem.

Runaways are generally agreed to account for the largest number of missing
persons. A study conducted on a national sample of persons ages 14 to 21
found that more than I million I S to 17 year-olds reported running away at

$ Sallft!' *TS. Malan Chilarso Act,' FR! Law laforesern drNatM, hanary i 084.
a II should Si semi that not all adult (IS year -.Id tad older) analog woo eon reported to the police can be entered into

NCIC. To be eIMIIN tat *airy, the adult miming woos moat tall tats ow of firm NCIC :miry categorlae--alleabled, iseoloatuy or
eedassmol

/ See Appellate a for a mote complete analysis of litiaola LIMOSWales per". statistics.
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least once in 1979.60f these runaways, 53 .nrcent were female, and 47 per-
cent were male.

Using these same data, it is estimated that approximately 57,000 15 to 17
year-olds in Illinois ran away at least once in 1979; this figure constitutes 9
percent of the State's population for the age group. In addition, many
juveniles reported running away more than once in a year, some as many as
50 times. These figures would correspond to an estimated 123,658 runaway
incidents per year involviig IS to 17 year-olds in Illinois alone, or more
than 2 million for the entire country. More than half (55 percent) of these
runaway incidents involved males. Thus, while females are more likely ever
to have run away, males who run away are more likely to run more than
once in a year.

It is dear, however, that not all runaway incidents are reported to the police.
For example, based on the previous figures, 31,051 runaway incidents involv-
ing IS to 17 year-olds would have been expected in Chicago in one year.
However, Chicago Po'ice Department records show only 13,291 persons under
age 17 were reported missing in 1980, 8,000 of which (60 percent) were class-
ified as runaways.

There are several reasons for the underreporting of runaway cases to the
police. The child may return home before the parents are aware that he or
she had run away; parents may be reluctant to call the police until they have
exhausted all leads as to the child's whereabouts; parents also may be under
the mistaken Impression that they must wait 24 hours before reporting the
case to the police; and parents of chronic runaways may stop notifying
authorities altogether.?

Ninety percent of runaways of all ages return home, usually within 72 hours.8
Few in this group go more than a few miles from home, and most are shel-
tered by a friend or relative, The remaining 10 percent (potentially 100,000
runaways) who do not return usually are running away from severe personal
or family problems. Those fleeing from parental abuse often become victims
of child exploitation. While any child alone on the streets can become the
victim of violent crime, these 10 percent are especially vulnerable.I0

Throwaways:" A "Throwaways" are children neglected or abandoned by their parents because
growing percent- of interpersonal conflicts or economic crises. According to the Kentucky
.age of missing Task Force on Exploited and Missing Children (1983), these "throwaways" or
%hildren. "pushouts" make up a growing percentage of all inining children. However,

because they are unlikely to be reported to the police as mining (except rtr-
haps by a concerned friend or relative), it is difficult to count the number of

a This figure ad the following itallotito are bokti on 40 sasiysis the Authority of a data ut collected tot the LLS DeNrl-
ments of Labor and Defense. See Section 2 and Appendix 111 for mote detailed descriptions of this data set.

7 See Section 1. POI/CO Response In Mistime Person Casts. for a detailed discussion of the so-called 24-hour rule, m19011114
polite and summit mteconceptions reseeding it.

a Source "Minds Children," publided by SEARCH, 19113.

Vlets,11, "How runways tarn find their way back home," Sr I nuts Dispatch, November 30, 1910.

I° From. Final Report of the Renate*, Task Force on Ssploited and Missing Children, Sept. 26, 1913.
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Accident victims:
An important
missing person
category.

Parental abduc-
tions: Their num-
ber is not known.

Abductions by
strangers: The
fewest eases, but
the most
publicized.
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cases that fit this category. Nevertheless, officials estimate there are now
20,000 homeless under age 21 in New York City alone."

It is likely that the proportion of 17 to 21 year-olds in this group is larger
than their proportion in the group of "typical" runaways described above.
Parents in economic or emotional difficulties may feel no obligation to sup-
port c child past the age of legal emancipation (age 18), even if the child has
no independent means of support.

Dl.E. recognizes that accident victims comprise an important category of
missing persons, and the department includes them in the LEADS missing
person data base. According to the National Safety Council, approximately
22,000 accidental deaths of all types involving person under age 20 were
reported in the United States in 1980.

There is no way to determine the number of children abducted by parents
each year during custody battles, although estimates range from 100,000 to
626,000 nationally. This latter estimate is a projection from results of a Har-
ris Poll on parental child snatching' In that poll, SS of the 3,745 respondents
(1.5 percent) reported they were personally involved in a child snatching
incident." If this rate were applied to the nation's total population (83.5 mil-
lion households), it is possible there are anywhere from 230,000 to 626,000
incidents of parental abduction occurring each year. However, these es-
timates must be used cautiously because of methodological problems in data
collection.) )

In many states, parental abduction is not a chargeable offense, and police
generally will not get involved in these cases." Thus, there are few, if any,
law enforcement sources of information on the size of this category. It is
likely, however, that because parental custody is usually at issue in these
cases, most of the children involved are younger than 17.

Abductions are the particular focus of House Resolution 348. These cases
usually capture the most public attention, although they represent the fewest
incidents. The most commonly reported number of abductions by strangers is
50,000 per year, although this number has never been substantiated. If this
estimate were true, six abductions by strangers per hour would be occurring
across the United States Fortunately, even the largest metropolitan police
jurisdictions report handling only a handful of such cases each year. For ex-
ample, the Chicago Police Department estimated it handled no more than
four abductions by strangers in 1982.

I I Alms, J, *t sl., Helieleal is America,' Newsweek, lasuary 2, 1544.
12 The remits of this server are monwlat limited Weave remossie of chase proressiosoffy limeleed (e4., lawyers, Wigworkers, ate.) eatild ma W giatiogrislied from these 'mow*

Involved (4., weds who had moony matebed their oweme). Lasts Harris sad Asseelatm, 'Parietal Child Matthias,' 1911S.
II Loofa Harris sod *swami, 'Panda! Child Matthias,' 154).
"I The US. D. Isest of lank* reemlly baps eMes tie Positive Film Aet te pecomum lend, wbo abduct Melt ehildrea, ifthe home state cal chum the pared witb a foliar violable &id there Is dogma of ieteretate fusses. Smite Me MIaMU ChildrmAct," Fit 2,sw geforesoorm Duffels, heeds 1984. is Muhl, it le & Clam 4 Mem for a welt to &Meet a ding eager ibe am of14 UM tea. Stet. Ch. 14 la 10-S).
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Abduction by strangers are especially feared because the motivation behind
the abduction is likely criminal victimization of the abductee, possibly mur-
der. Police departments throughout the country reported an average of 2,581
murders of persons under age 20 each year from 1980 through 1982.13 In Il-
linois, an average of 171 people 19 and younger were reported murdered
during each year of the same period.14

Relatives and other people known to the victim were the suspected offenders
in 60 percent of the murders of persons under age 20 in Illinois. Only 20
percent were believed by police to have been killed by strangers, although in
the remaining 20 percent no offender was identified. It is likely that many
of these remaining murders were committed by people the victim did not
know.

Thus, at least 20 percent, and perhaps as much as 40 percent, of Illinois mur-
der victims under age 20 were killed by strangers. Doubtless, some of these
murders occurred in situations other than stranger abductions, such as deaths
resulting from an arson fire or deaths of innocent bystanders killed by youth
gangs.

If only half of the approximate 2,500 people under age 20 murdered annual-
ly throughout the United States in the last few years were killed by strangers,
that would mean approximately 1,250 juveniles nationally would be mur-
dered by strangers each year. This number is far less than the 2,500 to 5,000
unidentified juveniles frequently estimated to be found slain each year.

As the above discussion indicates, of all the reasons for a person to be missing,
abduction by a stranger is the least likely cause. Instead, 17 to 21 year-olds
who disappear most likely will be either voluntarily misting (runaways) or ac-
cident victims. It is also evident that estimates of the number of miring per-
sons in some categories are more accurate than in others. Unfortunately,
there is currently no comprehensive State or national data base on the num-
ber and categories of missing persons. Without such information, it is impos-
sible to obtain a completely accurate picture of the mining young adult
problem.

This lack of basic information has been recognized, and federal legislation is
currently under consideration to help remedy the situation,17 In addition,
Section 3 of this report, LEADS as an Investigatory Tool, recommends steps
that can be taken here in Illinois to collect the necessary information to
produce a more useful statewide data base,

15 Source Crime In the LI S. 1980-1 Federal Bureau of Investigation
16 Source iii1110111 V101111 .vol Hurler Ftle
I / The Miesing Chilfreo't froodstaneo Art of 1943, S. 2014, H ft 4300
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"Unemanclpated" Young Adults

There is concern
young adults can
tall through
cracks in the so-
cial service and
police support
system.

Some findings and
recommendations
in this report ad-
dress missing per-
sons of all ages.

Before discussing the specific recommendations of this report, one more issue
involving 17 to 21 year-olds must be addressed. House Resolution 348
focused on "unemancipated missing young adults between the ages of 17 and
21." A major reason for choosing this particular group was the concern that,
because of their unique status of being consistently treated as neither
juveniles nor adults, 17 to 21 year-olds can easily fall through cracks in the
system of social services and police investigations.

The term "unemancipated young adults," as used in the resolution, apparently
was Intended to include persons who have reached age 18 (and thus are con-
sidered adults in the eyes of the law) but who still live at home and are
dependent on their parents for support (and thus are still considered children
by their parents). Parents are concerned that, should one of these children
disappear, he or she will not receive the same police attention given to miss-
ing juveniles (those under age 18). As one social service professional testified
at the Schaumburg hearing, 17 to 21 year-olds "are no longer considered
juveniles, and they do not merit the special attention of police department
youth divisions. They are afforded little credibility, and are often perceived
as unreliable and unpredictable."

The focus on "unemancipated" young adults poses some problems for a study
of this kind. In Illinois, "emancipation" occurs at age 18.1$ Thus, the phrase
"young adults between the ages of 17 and 21, who are unemancipated" ap-
pears to be inconsistent with the law. Additional definitional and legal
problems exist when 17 year-olds are included. In Illinois, 17 year-olds are
considered juveniles under civil law (1.4., they cannot enter into contracts on
their own), but are adults under criminal law and must be prosecuted as
adults. Thus, by formulating the resolution to include 17 to 21 year-olds, the
Illinois House has chosen a non-homogeneous and difficult group to study.

For the above reasons, and because many of the issues dealing with police in-
formation systems and missing persons are not exclusively relevant to 17 to
21 year-olds, some of the discussions, analyses, findings and recommendations
in this report address other age groups as well.

flimflam to this law are wards of the Dhows Department of Children and Family &etyma.
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1: POLICE RESPONSE
IN MISSING PERSON CASES

Police response in
missing person
cases is a three-
stage process.

A police investigation of a missing person report can be described generally as
a three-stage process:

Stage 1. Receipt of the initial missing person. report from the
parent/complainant . This initial report usually is made over he telephone.
The police officer who receives the call obtains basic information about the
disappearance, such as who is missing, how old the person is, whether there is
evidence of foul play, how long the person has been gone, etc. At this stage,
the officer attempts to establish whether or not the report is legitimate (ie.,
that the person is indeed missing). An example of an illegitimate report
would be a parent who reports a child as missing, but under questioning
reveals that the child actually is at a party from which the parent wants the
police to bring the child home.

If the officer who receives the initial report determines that the person is
missing, an Investigating officer is assigned to get more information (Stage 2).

Stage 2. Gathering more comprehensive information about the disappear-
ance. This information usually is obtained through in-person interviews with
the parent/complainant. At this stage, the investigator tries to establish
whether there are indications of criminal foul play, whether the person could
have been in an accident or whether the person could have left home volun-
tarily because of personal or family problems. The officer must gather
enough information to decide whether this disappearance deviates enough
from the missing person's normal routine that the person may be in danger
and should be searched for immediately (Stage 3).

Stage 3. Physical search for the missing person. Once the police officer
determines the person is probably missing involuntarily, several steps may be
taken in an attempt tr locate the person. These steps may, but do not neces-
sarily, inc.ude searching the area where the person was last seen or headed,
notifying other law enforcement agencies to be on the lookout for the person
and publicizing the disappearance through flyers or media broadcasts. At this
stage, police also continue to gather information from witnesses or other per-
sons familiar with the disappearance.

How quickly the The amount of time that passes between receipt of the initial missing person
stages follow report and any physical search generally depends on two factors: whether the
depends on two responding police agency has a "24-hour rule" policy for missing person cases,
factors. and the degree of urgency the responding officer perceives in the case.
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The "24-Hour Rule"

Some Illinois
police agencies
wait 24 hours
before starting
most missing per-
son investigations.

In some cases, departmental constraints determine whether, and how quickly,
a missing person investigation will proceed. Some police agencies in Illinois
adhere to a policy of waiting 24 hours before embarking on any or all stages
of a missing person investigation. House Resolution 348 calls for an ":,urina-
tion of the efficacy of the 24-hour deferment policy.

One reason police delay action is that most persons reported missing return
home within 24 hours. Another reason is that due to limited police resources,
most agencies assign a lower priority to missing person cases because the
overwhelming majority of them require little or no police action in com-
parison to other types of calls (such as crime or accident reports).

A survey of Illinois police departments found that about one-third of the
surveyed agencies that responded use a 24-hour waiting period in most miss-
ing person cases. Another third said they never delay missing person inves-
tigations. The remainder said the circumstances each case determine
whether or not the investigation will be delayed. However, none of the agen-
cies said it waits 24 hours in cases where there is clear indication the missing
person is in danger. Agencies also generally do not delay investigations for
certain age groups, such as young children and senior citizens, who can be
presumed to be in danger if missing.

The survey also found some police departments watt 24 hours before entering
missing person information into computerized data bases of missing persona
This practice is discussed in Section 3: LEADS as an Investigatory Tool.

Police Perception of Urgency

The quality of In-
formation police
gather will in-
fluence the inves-
tigating officer's
perception of
urgency.

The second factor that generally determines the amount of time that passes
between stages of a missing person investigation is the responding officer's
perception of urgency in the case. For example, if there is physical or
eyewitness evidence that the missing person was abducted, the three stages in
the investigative process will follow rapidly. On the other hand, if there is
reason to believe the person is missing voluntarily (e.g., the person has a his-
tory of running away for short periods of time), the process will follow more
slowly in anticipation of the person's return.

The quality of information collected during the second stage of the investiga-
tion will influence greatly the officer's perception of urgency in the case.
Law enforcement officers and social service professionals testified at the
hearings that sometimes parents who report a missing child either give in-
adequate or false information to the police or are simply trying to involve
police in family disputes. Especially in cases involving runaways, police ex-
perience is that some parents do not inform them of problems in the home
that could have prompted the child to leave.



Police must con-
tact other sources
besides parents
for information
about missing
persons.
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On the other hand, several parents of missing children testified that they felt
police sometimes disregard the parents' intuition of danger when they report-
ed their children as missing. Parents also expres..ed concern that without any
concrete evidence of finil play, police automatically consider most missing
persons as runaways and do not actively pursue a timely investigation.

In light of these concerns, it is imperative that police quickly contact other
sources for information about any missing person. In cases where foul play is
not immediately evident, friends, neighbors, co-workers or school officials
should be interviewed during the second stage of information gathering,
before deciding whether or not the person is likely in danger. Testimony at
the Schaumburg hearing indicated the amount of time needed to complete
Stage I of the process--from receipt of a missing person report to completion
of the initial report--is probably no more than about 30 minutes. The
ainbunt of time necessary to gather enough additional information (i.e., Stage
2) depends on the availability of witnesses, and may take several hours.

Related Issues

Jurisdictional
matters: Who
should handle
cases involving
more than one
town?

Missing wards of
the State: DCFS
usually initiates
Investigations.

Mental health
records: Police
have limited ac-
cess.

A parent who testified at the Schaumburg hearing recounted an incident in
which his child disappeared in a neighboring town. In this can, neither the
home town police department nor the neighborinb police department would
take the missing person report from the parents. Both departments claimed
the other agency had jurisdiction in the case.

The hearings did not establish that this type of confusion occurs frequently,
especially in missing person cases. However, there currently is no statewide
policy clarifying which agency should respond to a missing person report and
be responsible for computer entry in cases where the disappearance occurred
outside the missing person's home town.

The Illinois Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS) has legal
custody of wards of the State. When such a child or young adult disappears,
DCFS is contacted by, for example, the foster parent, and a DCFS case worker
may investigate the disappearance.

At the public hearings, DCFS representatives testified that police generally
ask DCFS to wait 24 hours before making a missing person report to them.
DCFS apparently follows this request in nonemergency cases because there is
an authority (in this case, a DCFS case worker) aware that the person is miss-
ing, and the case worker may be conducting an investigation.

Under the Mental Health and Developmental Disabilities Confidentiality Act
(Ch. 91 1/2 par 812.2), mental health facilities in Illinois can notify police
that a facility resident has disappeared, and they can give police identifying
information to help in their search for the person. It is the policy of the
Department of Mental Health and Developmental Disabilities, however, that
mental health facilities are prohibited from disclosing information not ex-
plicitly authorized by law, such as previous runaway experiences the resident
may have had, the names and addresses of favorite relatives and other

207
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information that may aid police in locating the person.

In addition, if during the course of a missing person investigation, police have
reason to suspect the person is residing in a mental health facility, it is illegal
under the same law for the facility to confirm or deny that the person is in
the facility. Such confirmation of residence usually requires the permission
of the patient.

At the Springfield hearing, it was recommended that the Mental Health and
Developmental Disabilities Confidentiality Act be modified to allow mental
health facilities to confirm or deny to law enforcement agencies conducting a
missing person investigation that the person is raiding in the facility. In such
cases, it was suggested, only Identifying Information should be made available
to the police.

Findings

The "24-hour The so-called "24-hour rule" that some Illinois law enforcement agencies
rule:" Neither employ is neither State law nor regulation. Rather, it is a voluntary policy
State law nor these agencies have adopted for most missing person cases. There is reason to
regulation. speculate the source of the "24-hour rule" is the Federal Kidnapping Statute

(18 USC 1201), which gives the FBI jurisdiction in kidnapping cases 24 hours
after an abduction. The reasoning behind this waiting period is that after 24
hours the victim may have been taken across state lines, which then justifies
federal intervention. Apparently, many Illinois law enforcement agencies
and officers, as well as the public, are under the mistaken impression that a
24-1v....r waiting period applies in all missing persons cases.19

Private citizens, social service professionals and many law enforcement of-
ficers said the unofficial 24-hour waiting period for miming person inves-
tigations should be officially eliminated in all cases, including for worth of
the State and adults.

Professional The Illinois Association of Chiefs of Police (IACP) offered to sponsor a project
standards. to develop professional standards and policies for handling missing person

reports

Tension often Based on public testimony, it was found that mutual tension and distrust of -
exists between ten exist between parents reporting a disappearance and law enforcement of-
parents and hurl investigating the report. Some parents feel police are insensitive and
polies. not thorough enough in their investigations, the experience of some police.

and social service professionals is that parents do not always disclose all
relevant information, especially involving physical or sexual abuse in the
home.

I 9 Tel limey revealed that lose paresis believed they could am reel call pollee natll their child bad ben *Main foe 24 Mort
Several lanai* lodicaled limy spat lb. eaeulbs liar coo/wills their ewes march by tells. Meade, ben11114 no.
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Jurisdictional
responsibilities.

Mental health
records.

To prevent future uncertainty about which police department has jurisdic-
tion in a missing person case, it is necessary to create a statewide policy
clarifying who is responsible for taking a missing person report when the per-
son disappears outside his or her home town.

. 'Under current law, police cannot gain access to information useful for inves-
tigating and finding persons reported missing from a mental health facility.
Also under the same law, police investigating a missing person case cannot be
given even identifying information from mental health facilities that would
confirm or deny that the person is a facility resident.

Recommendations

Pollee should not
delay action in
missing person
CUM

All 2.4-hour delay
policies should be
eliminated.

Professional stan-
dards should be
developed.

Home town police
should initiate all
investigations.

Report missing
wards quickly.

Police should have
greater access to
some mental
health records.

I. There should be no waiting period between the time a parent or guardian
decides a child is genuinely missing and the time the disappearance is report-
ed to the police. There also should be no waiting period between the time the
police receive the missing person report and the time they act on the report
by attempting to gather additional information about the case. This response
should be in the form of in-person interviews with the parent or com-
plainant, the missing person's friends and other relevant witnesses.

2. The Department of Law Enforcement (OLE) should notify all law en-
forcement agencies in Illinois that there is no statewide 24-hour waiting
period policy in missing person cues, and all future training sessions conduc-
ted by DLE and other police training academies should expressly note this
fact. Similarly, the Authority and organizations such as the Illinois Anocia-
tion of Chiefs of Police (1ACP) and the Illinois Sheriff? AsSociation (ISA)
should notify their members of this finding.

3. Instead of statewide legislation, the IACP and ISA should draft professional
standards for handling missing person reports and gathering information in
these cases. The Authority should coordinate these efforts.

4. In missing person cases involving multiple police jurisdictions, the police
agency where the complainant lives should be responsible for initiating the
missing person investigation and for notifying other agencies of the dis-
appearance. The 1ACP and ISA should adopt this recommendation and
publicize it to their members.

S. When a ward of the State is reported missing, DCF'S employees should not
wait 24 hours before contacting the police.

6. The General Assembly should change the law regarding privacy of mental
health records to allow for police access to: a) information useful in locating a
person reported missing from a mental health facility; and b) Identification
only information that would confirm or deny whether a person reported miss-
ing is residing in a mental health facility, and to allow for notification of
police if the person is admitted at a later time.
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2: IDENTIFYING ENDANGERED
MISSING PERSONS

Timely and ac-
curate classifica-
tion of a missing
person is essential.

The key to effective police action in any missing person case is the timely and
accurate classification of the person as either voluntarily missing or a
probable victim of accident or foul play. Police are confronted with missing
person caseloads in which runaways constitute an overwhelming majority.
They cannot be faulted for assuming, in the absence of cogent evidence to the
contrary, that most missing teens or young adults are runaways. Police
generally make this assumption not out of slackness or unwillingness to fol-
low through, but because experience has taught them that the vast majority
of missing juveniles and young adults are runaways.

No alternatives to the basic three-stage process of police decision making in
missing person cases were suggested during the public hearings. Instead, wit-
ness suggestions focused on improving the ability of police to make informed
decisions at each juncture of the process. It was generally recognized that,
short of substantially increasing police funding, little could be done to in-
crease the number of actual searches for missing persons. The Illinois House
expressed in its resolution that a "profile" of involuntarily missing young
adults, developed and made available to police, could improve and as deci-
sion making in missing person cases.

Investigation Profiles

Profiles are used The use of profiles as investigative tools in criminal cases has become increas-
mainly to identify ingly popular. In particular, the FBI together with private psychologists and
offenders, not other researchers are spending considerable time and effort studying serial
victims. criminals, such as multiple murderers and sex offenders. The goal of this ef-

fort is to develop a profile that can be used to help identify and apprehend an
offender who commits a series of similar crimes.

Still, the art of criminal profiling is in its infancy. Because there are no com-
prehensive data sets containing information about, for instance, repeat of-
fenders, such a profile can be developed only through laborious and time-
consuming data collection on a case-by-case basis.

Profiling involun- Thus, profiles represent a relatively new law enforcement technique and then
tartly missing only for identifying criminals. Establishing a "profile of a young adult whose
young adults poses disappearance is a significant deviation from the established behavior pat-
problems. terns" poses different problems. For example, there are several reasons why a

person can disappear. He or she can run away, be the victim of a fatal acci-
dent or be abducted by a relative, other familiar person or a stranger.

210
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Second, there are no comprehensive national or local data sets that contain
characteristic!, of young adults known to have disappeared involuntarily. Be-
cause there is a certain randomness to accidental and criminal victimisation,
it is unlikely that a comprehensive data set of accident and abduction victims
would reveal common characteristics of the victims.20 For these reasons, it is
impossible to profile involuntarily missing young adults at this time.

Some characters- While there are no data sets of involuntarily missing young people, a data set
tics are more containing information about runaways nationwide was located. This data
common in set, a survey of a representative national sample of 14 to 21 year-olds in
runaways. 1979, was examined for statistically significant differences in characteristics

of runaways and non-runawaya"

An analysis of these data found several characteristics more common in
runaways than in non-runaways:

I. Suspension from school. Persons who reported having been suspended from
school were 10 percent more likely to have run away at least once than those
who were never suspended.

2. Prior arrests. Persons who reported having been arrested and booked by
the police were 14 percent more likely to have run away than those who
were never arrested and charged.

3. Self esteem. Persons with low scores on a self esteem index were more like-
ly to run away than those with high scores on the index.

4. Family structure. Persons from broken homes were more likely to run
away than persons whose families were intact.

Although these findings generally corroborate those of other researchers,
none of the findings is strong enough to be predictive of runaway behavior.
Thus, while these factors are certainly important indicators that should be
considered in a missing person investigation, taken together they fall far short
of providing a definitive profile of runaways or non-runaways.

Testimony In addition to the above traits, testimony of and research by social service
revealed other professionals, parents and others familiar with runaways uncovered the fol-
chew 'tr1stics of lowing list of characteristics that may apply to missing young adults who
runaways and have run away:
non-runaways.

20 A comfy ma 'Matto' of the characteristics of vk thm of known "serial" murderer. shows that each murderer may chow a
different type of victim than other serial murd For *sample, Ted Doody killed white co-eds; lobs Wayne thicy kIlkd
prodomismitly yoas white am some of whom were hostommeal, Wayne Williams killed Mack youthiq the 'Orme River' mindarer
earnestly la Seattle hilisteetale promitsto and at least one hitchhiker.

31 SNP Appendix 0 for technical details of the analysis of this data Mt.
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These character-
istics are largely
common sense and
are not reliably
predictive.
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Prepared for leaving (took clothes and/or money)
Comes from a broken home
Has friends who have run away
Is below average in reading ability
Has problems or failure in school
Had previous trouble with the law
Has been abused by parent(s)
Has problems with alcohol or drugs
Is in generally poor health
Is of low socioeconomic status
Comes from a larger than average family
Has a history of running away
Has low self esteem
Has a history of truancy.

Testimony also revealed some characteristics of young adults not likely to
have run away:

Did not prepare for leaving (took no money or clothes)
Friends, co-workers and school associates do not know where the missing

person is
Needs, but did not take along, sustaining medication (such as insulin)
Has stated goals in life and feelings of optimism in achieving them
Has no previous history of being missing
Participates in group activities such as sports, scouting or clubs
Has exhibited no previous "acting out behavior
Absence of a highly stressful precipitating incident
Has a stable, functioning family
Has close friends
Does not usually forget to call when going to be late
Parents, in general, approve of the child's friends
Had previously made no serious threats to leave
Has a satisfactory work history
Has no history of emotional problems.

It must be understood that these lists of characteristics are in large part based
on experience, speculation and common sense. They are not statistically valid
or reliably predictive in any sense because none of the criteria applies ex-
clusively to either runaways or non-runaways. For example, while some
runaways prepare for leaving by taking clothing and money, many leave im-
pulsively, taking nothing with them. Likewise, an abducted young adult, who
happens to come from a broken home, could be erroneously classified as a
runaway. Finally, because of the inherent randomness in accident victimiza-
tions, young adults with characteristics fitting both lists can disappear and be
incorrectly classified as runaways.

It also is problematic to determine relative strength or significance of each of
these characteristics. If the first two characteristics in each list fit a missing
person, but none of the other characteristics applies, would this indicate that
the person was missing voluntarily or involuntarily?
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For these reasons, neither of these hats can be standardized--each missing
person case must be evaluated on its own merits. The most important con-
sideration is that police quickly gather as much information as possible about
the missing person and the circumstances of the disappearance before decid-
ing whether or not to conduct a search.

National Research Efforts

Many states and
the Federal
government are
researching miss-
ing person issues.

Federal legislation
is pending.

In addition to attempts by Illinois and other states to identify and address
problems related to missing children and young adults, there currently is a
major research program organized on the national level. In July 1983, the
Federal Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention and the Na-
tional Institute of Justice funded the establishment of the National Missing/
Abducted Children and Serial Murder Tracking Program. Coordinated by the
Criminal Justice Center at Sam Houston State University in Huntsville, Texas,
the program is designed to "plan and coordinate research and action programs
for the prevention and suppression of these crimes against children and
ad ults."

Of particular interest is research on:

The unidentified dead handled by medical examiners and coroners in the
United States;

Private and public child locator activities and networks across the nation
dealing with missing and abducted children;

The extent and definition of the problem of missing/abducted children in
tt United States.

The program also will coordinate development of profiles of child molesters
and rapists to assist in prevention, intervention and detection strategies.

Finally, missing children legislation has been introduced in both the US.
Senate and House of Representatives.22 If passed, the bills would provide
funds for increased data collection and research of missing children problems,
and would provide for more public education and services.

22 the Mining Children's Assistance Act of 19113, a 2014 sod H.R 4300.
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Findings

Indicators are not
sufficient to con-.
stitute reliable
profiles.

Improved public
education and
police information
gathering better
address the
problem.

While It is possible to identify a few characteristics of persons who are likely
to have disappeared voluntarily and a few characteristics of those who may
have disappeared involuntarily, such criteria are not sufficient to constitute
profiles upon which law enforcement agencies could rely.

Given that there are no comprehensive data sets containing information
about young adults who have disappeared involuntarily, and because there is
an element of randomness in disappearances, establishing a profile of such
people is impossible at this time. However, even if such a profile were com-
piled, it would represent only a narrow approach to a broad problem- -
involuntary disappearances of young adults. Because a profile would have no
preventative capabilities, public education and improved police Information
gathering would better address the problem.

Recommendations

Profile efforts
should be
redirected.

Authority should
monitor national
research.

I The goal of establishing a profile of involuntarily missing young adults
should be redirected in favor of more thorough and timely information
gathering by police in missing person cases. Also, the public should be edu-
cated in measures to help preveui abductions.

2 The Authority should continue to monitor national research into the
problems of missing children and young adults and should publicize impor-
tant developments and relevant information throughout Illinois.
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3: LEADS AS AN
INVESTIGATORY TOOL

The public is call-
ing for increased
use of computers
as law enforce-
ment tools.

Accompanying current public outcry about the victimization of children and
young adults is a call for increased use of computers as law enforcement tools.
In this vein, House Resolution 348 asked for an examination of the feasibility
and benefit of using the Illinois Law Enforcement Agencies Data System
(LEADS) as a means for sharing information about missing persons.

LEADS and NCIC Missing Person Components

LEADS is linked
to the FBI's miss-
ing person
computer.

LEADS is an on-line computer system maintained by the Illinois Department
of Law Enforcement (DLE). The system is linked to the FBI's law enforce-
ment computer system, the National Crime Information Center (NCIC). Es-
tablished in 1967, NCIC originally was designed to aid police agencies
throughout the United States in identifying wanted persons and stolen
property. Since then, the system has been expanded to include several com-
ponents, including a missing person data base added in 1975. However, this
data base is by no means the largest or most important component of the
overall system.

Participation in NCIC is voluntary. In Illinois, police agencies participate in
NCIC when they join the LEADS network, because much of the information
entered into LEADS is automatically entered into NCIC for use by law en-
forcement agencies nationwide. The majority of law enforcement agencies in
Illinois enter data into LEADS via computer terminals located in their of-
fices. Departments without LEADS terminals usually have agreements with
neighboring agencies having terminals to enter data into the system. Thus,
theoretically, most Illinois police jurisdictions have access to the system.
When an Illinois police agency enters a missing person record into LEADS, it
is automatically forwarded to the national data base only if it fits one of the
four NCIC entry criteria (disabled, involuntary, endangered or juvenile).

In addition to interfacing with NCIC's missing person data base, LEADS also
has separate processing capabilities. For example, to count the number of Il-
linois missing person entries made into NCIC over a certain time period, the
necessary information can be obtained directly from LEADS without having
to scan the huge national data base.
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State and national
missing person
computers have
data limitations
which make
analysis difficult.

How these com-
puter systems are
used to identify
persons or bodies.
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The LEADS and NCIC missing person data bases have some data limitations.
Although the four NCIC missing person ategories are distinct from each
other, currently it is impossible to differentiate among more specific types of
missing persons within a category. For example, entries of "involuntary" miss-
ing persons cannot be differentiated between children kidnapped by strangers
and those kidnapped by their parents during custody disputes.

In addition, only a limited amount of information can be entered into the
LEADS and NCIC missing person data bases. Generally, this information in-
cludes only physical descriptorsthe person's name, age, race, sex, height,
weight, eye and hair colors and the location of the law enforcement agency
that made the missing person entry. Recently, several enhancements were
made to NCIC and LEADS that increased the amount of physical descriptor
information that can be entered for missing persons. Entry capabilities for
elements such as scars, marks and dental information are now available on
NCIC and are currently available or are being added to LEADS. NCIC also
has established a related data base, the Unidentified Dead File.

When a person or unidentified body is located by any participating law en-
forcement agency in the United States, that agency can search the NCIC
missing person data base (using the name or physical descriptors of the found
person or body) in an attempt to match an entry already on the system.

If a match or "hit" occurs on a juvenile, for example, the locating agency
changes the status of the record from "active" to "located," and the system au-
tomatically notifies the original entering agency that the missing person has
been found. The original agency then contacts the locating agency, confirms
that the located missing person has been correctly identified and located, and
notifies the citizen who originally reported the person missing that he or she
has been located. Finally, the agency changes the status of the computer
record to "cancelled," and the missing person is no longer listed as missing on
the data base.23 A record also may be "cancelled" from the active data base
when a dead body is identified through a record match. However, there cur-
rently is no way to distinguish between cancelled records of persons who
returned home safely and records of persons who were found dead.

In addition, the record of a person entered as a juvenile is purged automati-
cally from the active data base when that person reaches age 18, even if the
person is still reported missing. These records are purged because any missing
person who was not originally entered on the data base as disabled, involun-
tary or endangered, but as a juvenile, no longer qualifies under any of the
four NCIC entry criteria for missing persons when he or she reaches 18.
Formerly, DLE contacted the entering agency when one of its missing person
records was purged in.this manner, and reminded the agency that if the per-
son were still missing and believed to be endangered (although the record was
originally entered as "juvenile"), the agency should reenter the record in one
of the other three NCIC entry categories. However, DLE discontinued this
practice when program modifications were made.

2 3 There ere exceptiontl casts in which a preen is 'located," out for some reason dose not return Iowa In Mete cams, the "as*

We' record it chained to read 'located; but it Is not cancelled from lb. data bate.
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A major reason that records of missing adults are not entered into NCIC un-
less there is evidence of disability or foul play is that adults are "allowed" to
be missing. Unlike juveniles, whose parents are responsible for their
whereabouts, adults are free to come andgo as they please.

MORE THAN 94% OF YOUNG ADULTS REPORTED
MISSING IN ILLINOIS RETURN OR ARE LOCATED

Statue of records of 17-21 year aide entered into
LEADS between Januaryti 1.1:19818gend November 29, 1983.

LOCATEDNOT RETURNED
2.6%

ACTIVE
STILL MISSING

4.2%

CANCELLEDRETURNED
9 1 .73

bra 111 LOIS Ids Peon AN

PURGED
UNKNOWN

1.5%

LEADS and NCIC Information on the LEADS and NCIC missing person data bases provides laware of limited in- enforcement agencies with only limited tools to aid them in searching for avest igatory and missing person. These data bases also provide only limited capabilities forstatistical use. , answering specific questions about the number and types of persons who dis-
appear each year. Instead, the data are more useful for identifying individual
persons or bodies. Of course, these data bases are most useful when all eligible
agencies participate, when timely, accurate and complete information is en-
tered and when NCIC's search capabilities are used.

It should be clear from this examination of LEADS and NCIC that just be-
cause information about a missing person is entered into the data bases, law
enforcement personnel are not necessarily conducting a concurrent investiga-
tion or physical search for the person. By the tame token, a police agency can
stage a thorough search for a missing person, perhaps enlisting the help of the
public and media, without entering the missing person information into thecomputer,
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Chicago Police Department's Missing Person Systems

Chicago police use
three computers
for handling
missing person
reports.

Chicago's internal
computers cannot
share data with
LEADS.

The Chicago Police Department uses three independent computer systems to
handle missing person reports: the "Hot Desk," the Storage and Information
Retrieval System (STAIRS) and LEADS Each system is used to record dif-
ferent information about a missing person, and at different stages of an
investigation.

The Hot Desk system is used to enter immediately all missing person reports
within the City of Chicago, regardless of the person's age. Only basic iden-
tifiers, Such as name, age, race, sex, etc, are entered in this system.

STAIRS immediately receives the same information entered in the Hot Desk
if the missing person is 16 or younger, if foul play is suspected or if the miss-
ing person has a mental or physical handicap. This entry is considered tem-
porary, and is purged if the person returns home before the first supplemen-
tal (in-depth) report is filed or if no supplemental report is received within
seven days of the initial entry.

The complete contents of all supplemental reports are entered into STAIRS.
The system allows entry of not only missing person descriptors, but also up to
five pages of narrative. This narrative may include all information about the
case, such as time and place the missing person was last seen and the person's
associates and habits (such as runaway history). Thus, STAIRS has potentially
more investigative capabilities than LEADS or NCIC.

The Chicago Police Department enters missing person reports into LEADS
and NCIC only if the person is a juvenile and has been missing seven days.
Exceptional cases, such as believed abductions, often are entered immediately.
However, Chicago police's Missing Persons Unit does not have its own LEADS
terminal. When missing person records are to be entered into LEADS, the
paper report must be forwarded to another department that has a terminal
on another floor in police headquarters. This situation obviously accounts for
some of the delay in LEADS missing person entries in Chicago.

All three computer systems used by the Chicago Police Department are in-
dependent of each other, and none can share information with another sys-
tem or with other law enforcement agencies (except through LEADS). Thus,
many missing person cases in Chicago are entered into separate computers at
least twice, sometimes three times, and information in two of the systems
cannot be accessed by other police departments in the State or country.

As with LEADS and NCIC, the Ilot Desk and STAIRS systems provide only
limited data for studying the number and types of young adults who disap-
pear and the circumstances surrounding the disappearances. Generally, the
data bases can provide aggregate totals of the number of people reported
missing in Chicago, but little other aggregate statistical information.
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Other LEADS Concerns

The "24-hour
rule" in relation
to LEADS entry.

DLE policy does not mandate the precise time during missing person inves-
tigations when agencies should enter information into LEADS. As a result,
there are several logical junctures during the course of an investigation when
police can enter mining person data into LEADS and NCIC. For example, if
the person is a juvenile, an entry may be made as soon as police receive the
missing person report, especially if they believe another agency may quickly
find, and not be able to identify, the juvenile.24 If not enough information
for a complete entry is obtained from the initial report, the entry may be
delayed until the investigation has produced more data. Finally, because most
juveniles return home before a physical search has begun, LEADS entry often
is delayed until it is clear the juvenile is not mining voluntarily.

For many of the same reasons that some Illinois police agencies wait 24 hours
before taking any action on a missing person report (see Section 1, Police
Response in Missing Person Cases), some agencies also delay LEADS entry
for 24 hours. One reason for this policy is that most people return home
within 24 hours, thus making entry unnecessary and reducing the need for
subsequent time-consuming cancellation. Again, waiting 24 hours before en-
tering a missing person record into LEADS is neither State law nor DLE
policy, but rather is the voluntary practice of individual agencies.

There was concensus at the hearings among private citizens, social. service
profenionals and many law enforcement officers that all missing young adult
reports should be entered immediately into LEADS and NCIC as soon as the
report is received, regardless of whether a more in-depth investigation will
follow. There was some question as to whether this policy should apply up to
age 18 (the legal age of emancipation in Illinois) or to age 21 (the oldest age
defined as "young adult" in the resolution).

Administrative Apart from LEADS and NCI r data base entries, law enforcement agencies in
messages in miss- Illinois also have the capability to share information about mining persons
ins person cases. with other agencies through teletyped administrative messages. These mes-

sages can be sent to other Illinois police departments through LEADS, or
through LEADS to the NCIC network for agencies outside the State. Ad-
ministrative menages are not entered into the mining person data bases, but
rather are printed, via teletype, on paper at selected law enforcement agen-
cies. They serve to alert other agencies that a ;articular missing person is
being sought.

24 It tIs minim person Is as adult, the complaisant must alga s rests, matins Mu Mt or she liallavm the parson Is truly miming

and la auto, Wore polka wilt saki a record Into LEADS and NCIC. Sloes November 1,113, a lessee statement to se lessor
melted ref a Amelia eland te be *stored.
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LEADS messages.
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Administrative messages can contain information helpful in an actual search,
such as what the person was wearing when he cr she disappeared, where and
with whom the person was last seen and in which direction he or she was
thought to be headed. While the information in a regular LEADS or NCIC
data base entry often can be used only for identification purposes after a per-
son or body is found, administrative menages can be used to alert other agen-
cies that a person is mining and to share timely information with them.
When an administrative message appears on the teletype machine, a police
dispatcher can read the message over the police radio to notify street officers
to be on the lookout for the missing person.

Current DLE policy encourages Illinois police agencies not to ad-
ministrative messages statewide, except for limited circumstances which
generally do not include missing person cases. Administrative menages tie up
teletype machines, which carry a great deal of other important law enforce-
ment information. Statewide missing person messages are particularly dis-
couraged because most missing persons return home quickly." Consequently,
DI.E feels there is usually no need to notify law enforcement agencies of a
disappearance.

Whether sending printed administrative messages helps police in missing per-
son cases was debated at the public hearings. Some witnesses advocated send-
ing messages automatically in every mining person case, either to specific
police districts or statewide; others favored sending only voluntary messages
based on the particular circumstances of each case. Although DLE policy
generally discourages sending of administrative menages person
cases, some agencies do send such messages, either locally or statewide.

Unlike administrative messages, messages about stolen vehicles and wanted
persons are sent to other agencies automatically via teletype whenever such
records are entered into LEADS. While administrative messages can be of
any form and length and can contain any information the rending agency
wants to include, automatic messages have a set format and contain a limited
amount of printed data.

Some witnesses suggested LEADS be modified to transmit all mining penon
records automatically when they are entered into the system, similar to the
way LEADS sends messages when a stolen vehicle report is entered. Again,
there was some question as to whether these messages should be lent regional-
ly or statewide."

Confirmation of At the hearings, some parents asked about their rights to confirm that infor-
LEADS and NCIC melon about their missing children had been entered into LEADS. Also, a
entry. suggestion was made that the addresses and telephone numbers where parents

can call for such confirmation be publicized.

"How Runaways Can Find Their Way Beck Home," St. Louis Post-Dispatch, November 10, 1U0.
26 The State of Florida recently passed legislation reauirla; police to disseminate informatioo oa adults cbildrea to all lam ta

forcemeat agencies In the Immediate area (county).
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The 1982 Federal Missing'Children's Act (see Appendix F) requires the FBI to
confirm whether a mining person record has been entered into NCIC, if the
request comes from a parent, guardian or next of kin. If the FBI finds that a
record was not entered into the system, it instructs the complainant first to
contact the agency which originally handled the missing person report and to
ask for a specific reason why the record was not entered. If the complainant
feels the answer is unsatisfactory and the agency still refuses to enter the
record, the FBI will try to determine the reason for the refuel. Finally, if
the record fits one of the four NCIC entry criteria for mining persons, the
FBI will enter the record. At one of the public hearings, an FBI representa-
tive testified that parents in Northern Illinois should call the FBI field office
in Chicago at (312) 431-1333 for NCIC entry confirmation. For Southern
Illinois, the field office number in Springfield is (217) 522-9675. The 20 dis-
trict offices of the Illinois State Police also can provide LEADS entry confir-
mation for parents (see Appendix 0 for a list of the 20 district offices).

Sharing LEADS There was lengthy discussion at the hearings about procedures followed when
information with a child or young adult under the jurisdiction of the Illinois Department of
other State Children and Family Services (DCFS) is reported mining. According to DCFS,
agencies. when a client is reported missing (for example, by a foster parent), a DCFS

case worker is notified and begins a preliminary investigation. Unless there is
clear evidence of foul play or danger to the mining person, police usually are
not contacted immediately by DCFS. Rather, the case worker tries to locate
the child without police intervention. Because the case worker has access to
the child's DCFS files, there is often enough information on hand to help find
the child. This information may include such facts as whether the child was
ever missing before, where he or she was found, who the child associates with,
etc. However, if the case worker cannot soon locate the mining child, police
will be contacted and a LEADS entry may be made.

LEADS entry of
runaways.

Given this investigatory procedure for missing DCFS clients, the question was
raised whether to allow DCFS personnel access to LEADS, so they could im-
mediately enter a mining person record when a DCFS client is missing.
However, current DLE regulations forbid non-law enforcement agencies or
individuals access to LEADS.

In addition, it was suggested that because DCFS has computerized much of
the data about its clients, it might be useful to interface LEADS with the
DCFS computer to permit a timely sharing of informatior when a DCFS
client disappears. It was pointed out, however, that by the time police are
notified that a DCFS ward is mining, a DCFS case worker already will have
accessed the child's DCFS file and will be able to give police any pertinent in-
formation. Thus, given current procedures, LEADS access or interfacing sys-
tems would provide little, if any, assistance in helping to locate the mining
child.

Testimony at the Schaumburg hearing revealed a case where parents told
police their mining child was definitely a runaway. "lying that information,
police declined to search for the juvenile or to alert other agencies. Most
likely, the police decision not to act on the case was based in part on caseload
and manpower considerations and experience that runaways usually return
home voluntarily. In such situations, even if no physical search is being con-
ducted, a LEADS entry could be beneficial If the juvenile is eventually
located by another agency.
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Findings

Missing person
computers are
most effective
when all cases are
entered and can-
celled promptly.

There is no
"24-hour rule"
regulating
LEADS entry.

LEADS teletype
messages gener-
ally are not used
in missing person
cases.

LEADS and NCIC
do not provide
researchable
missing person
statistics.

Records are
purged when
missing juveniles
reach ago la

DCES access to
LEADS is un-
necessary.

Currently in Illinois, LEADS functions as a statewide missing person com-
puter file and provides a communications link to the national NCIC missing
person data base. These data bases are used mostly for identifying found per-
sons or bodies. They are most effective, both in Illinois and nationwide, if all
police agencies enter all eligible missing person cases promptly and cancel all
records when persons are located. Because it operates internal computerized
missing person systems and because of the volume of cases it handles annual-
ly, the Chicago Police Department does not always enter missing person cases
into LEADS and NCIC.

Police departments can enter missing person reports at any juncture of the
three-stage investigation process. Currently, there is no DLE policy instruct-
ing law enforcement agencies when to enter missing person reports into the
computer. There is no "24-hour rule" requiring Illinois law enforcement of-
ficers to delay LEADS entry of missing persons.

LEADS has the capahility, through use of administrative messages, to notify
surrounding or distant police departments to look out for a missing person.
At present, DU: discourages sending such administrative messages in most
missing person cases. Other types of law enforcement information, such as
notices of stolen vehicles and wanted persons, are automatically sent via
LEADS teletype to other agencies when the records are entered. Such auto-
matic notices are not sent for missing persons.

Currently, neither the LEADS nor NCIC data bases provides researchable
statistics on the number of persons in any age group (including young adults)
wt ) are missing each year, the circumstances of their disappearances and the
disp. Awns of their cases. There are no mechanical or legal sestrictions to
prevent reprogramming LEADS to collect such statistics.

When a missing person entered into the LEADS and NCIC data bases as a
juvenile turns 18, his or her record is automatically purged from both data
bases, even if the person is still missing. In the past, DLE notified the enter-
ing law enforcement agency when one of its records was so purged, but it has
discontinued this practice.

The necessity and legality of giving DCFS personnel access to LEADS or of
interfacing LEADS with the DCES computerized data base were examined.
In light of current DCES procedures followed when a client is reported miss-
ing. it appears that LEADS access would be unnecessary, as long as police give
full cooperation to DCES when they receive a DCFS missing person report.
Because DCES does not nerd LEADS access, there is no reason to change the
legal access restrictions to LEADS. Also, due to privacy considerations of
client files, and because the DCFS case worker investigating a missing child
case can provide police with information needed to help search for the child,
there is no reason to attempt a potentially costly interface between LEADS
and the DCFS computer system. This conclusion also applies to computerized
records maintained by the Department of Mental Health and Developmental
Disabilities.
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LEADS entries
for runaways
should be made.
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When police receive a missing juvenile report and decide not to conduct an
intensive search because the juvenile is likely a runaway, a LEADS missing
person entry still should be made.

Recommendations

(The LEADS missing person component can be used for two main purposes: as a law enforcement tool
for identifying persons or bodies, and as a data base for compiling comprehensive statistics on the
number and type of missing persons in Illinois and the United States (through its link to the NCIC sys-
tem). Therefore, there are two sets . J recommendations pertaining to LEADS.)

RISILMIL01..8.91RIIIRIABILIA2111

LEADS entries I. Illinois law enforcement agencies should enter all eligible missing person
should be made reports, including runaways, into LEADS as soon as the minimum informs-
promptly. tion required for entry is collected. In no cases should there be a 24-hour

delay for entering a missing person report into LEADS. DLE should conduct
training for LEADS users stressing this recommendation. In addition, the
LEADS manual should be updated to emphasize this point.

Chicago police
should participate
more in LEADS.

2. 1n light of Recommendation I, the Chicago Police Department should more
fully participate in the State and national mining person data bases by enter-
ing misting person records into LEADS in a more timely fashion. Because of
problems of interfacing the Chicago Police Department's internal missing per-
son computers and LEADS, and because of the sheer volume of its misting
person cases, the Chicago Police Department's participation in LEADS will
necessarily differ slightly from that of other Illinois law enforcement agen-
cies.

LEADS message 3. DLE should: a) evaluate its policy of discouraging use of administrative
policy should be messages in missing person cases; b) develop criteria for when such messages
reviewed. should be sent and to which law enforcement agencieg and c) evaluate the

pros and cons associated with reprogramming LEADS to automatically
transmit all missing person record entries, both regionally and statewide.
These evaluations should determine what impact on the system increasing the
volume of messages will have. If the system can feasibly be changed to ac-
comm. 'tte an increase in messages, then this reprogramming should be done.

Publicize LEADS 4. DI.E should publicize the procedures for parents, guardians or neat of kin
confirmation to confirm LEADS and NCIC missing person entries.
met hods.
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Four LEADS
entry criteria
should be ex-
panded.

DLE should notify
agencies of purged
records.

Modify categories
for clearing
records.
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I. The currentfour criteria for entering a missing person record into LEADS
should be changed to two separate fields:

a. Disabilities/impairments (none/detail)

b. Suspected circumstances:

Juvenile: runaway
Juvenile: parental abduction
Juvenile: foul play
Juvenile: unknown circumstances
Adult: foul play
Adult: unknown circumstances

These fields would provide more detailed information about the circum-
stances of disappearances in Illinois. The system should be programmed to
enable Illinois records entered in these categories to be converted automati-
cally to the four NCIC categories for entry in the national data bait.

2. DLE should resume notifying agencies when a missing person record they
entered is purged from the active data base at the time the person reaches age
I S.

3. DIE should modify categories for clearing or cancelling records, such that
the system will distinguish among persons returning home voluntarily, abduc-
tees returned safely and dead bodies recovered and identified.
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4: ADDITIONAL ISSUES
RAISED AT THE HEARINGS

Several issues be-
sides those in
Resolution 348
were raised at the
hearings.

Fingerprinting of
children: Many
pros and cons
exist.

Photo and other
data are more
useful to police.

At each of the three public hearings, topics were addressed that did not
specifically relate to the main issues contained in House Resolution 348. But
because these additional issues reflect public and expert opinion on the broad
scope of missing person problems, they are discussed here briefly.

There was considerable discussion about measures the public can take to help
prevent victimization of young adults. Suggestions included programs for
fingerprinting children, runaway prevention services and counselling, missing
person and runaway hotlines and increased emphasis on public education.

Several witnesses advocated continued and increased use of programs for fin-
gerprinting children." In most programs already underway, the prints are
kept at home (for privacy reasons) for future use should the child disappear.
Another objective of fingerprinting is to make parents and children more
aware of the potential for being abducted so they can take other precautions.
In addition, one assistant state's attorney testified that fingerprints can be
useful in prosecutions.

Other witnesses, however, charged that fingerprinting children is merely a
politically-motivated program that has little or no value, either for protect-
ing children from abduction or for aiding in the investigation of a disappear-
ance. Some witnesses, including law enforcement personnel, warned that
rather than alerting parents and children to the dangers of abduction, fin-
gerprinting gives them a false sense of security and that large-scale programs
are probably not worth the cost.

Other witnesses testified that fingerprints could be damaged or rendered use-
less by improper handling and storage at home. Some suggested that prints be
stored either in school files or in a central repository. Most parents who tes-
tified are opposed to a central repository for privacy reasons Also, a repre-
sentative from the State Board of Education testified that schools should not
keep noneducational materials such as fingerprints in school files. However,
schools could be made available for hosting voluntary fingerprint programs
conducted by police or parents.

There was, however, general concensus that if a child disappears, it is vital
parents be able to quickly supply police with a current photograph of the
child and accurate physical descriptors. Such information benefits police
more than a copy of the person's fingerprints when they are conducting a
search for a missing person.

27 More than 121,000 chil4ten were fingerprinted in police one community-eposeored programs throughout Illinois In MT.
Throe aame agencies 'raged an additional 57,000 children will be printed In lead Them figures do not WW2* data from the Chicago
Folks Nutriment, which Instituted a child fi inting program is October Mt
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One Illinois law enforcement agency has attempted to combine privacy con-
cernsof information about children with useful and timely data for inves-
tigating child disappearances. The agency developed a Chili; Information
Packet (ChIP), which contains a current photograph and descriptive informa-
tion about the child (es., birthdate, height, weight, etc.). This packet, which is
kept by parents, is readily available to assist police should the child disappear.
Fingerprints can be included in the packet if the parents want, but the pac-
ket contains other information that is usually more useful to police in mining
person investigations. This police department found that while many parents
did not want their children fingerprinted, there was virtually 100 percent
participation with the ChIPs. Although use of these packets typically has
been geared toward school-aged children (less than 17 years old), parents of
17 to 21 year-olds could keep such an information packet u well., (See Ap-
pendix 1 for an example of a ChIP.)

Also raised several times at the hearings was a concern that more attention
should be focused on runaway prevention. Several witnesses argued that if
troubled children and their families were more aware of programs and ser-
vices available to them, there might be fewer runaways and less demand on
police services for mining person calls. Specifically advocated were follow-
up programs and services for runaways after they return home. These ser-
vices could include referrals for counselling, drug or alcohol treatment
programs and shelters for abused young people.

Other witnesses urged increased publicity of toll-free runaway hotline num-
bers in Illinois. These hotlines provide services, such as referrals to shelters, to
runaways already on the street and act as liaisons between runaways and
parents by relaying messages from runaways to their homes without disclos-
ing their location. These hotlines also counsel those who are contemplating
running away, but are still at home. (S e Appendix H for a list of national
runaway hotlines and support agencies.) One witness voiced frustration about
laws concerning "found" mining persons. Another parent of juvenile com-
plained about the section in the Juvenile Code that permits polio to hold a
found runaway for only six hours.as A case was revealed where a child had
been released while the parents were en route to pick him up, with the
parents learning of the release after they arrived.

Prior to 1983, State law treated running away as a status offense for
juveniles, and police had jurisdiction to detain and charge runaways. This
system was inherently coercive, because police often had to physically
restrain the runaway if he or she attempted to evade apprehension. The
potential for injury to both juvenile and police officer was great. In addition,
police could find themselves assisting worried parents who wanted their
children returned, only to be criticized by the same parents for using force to
restrain the juvenile. The Juvenile Court Act was changed in 1983 to
provide procedures for law enforcement officials, crisis intervention agencies
and the Juvenile Court to intervene in juvenile runaway situations. As a
result, much of the coerciveness of police intervention in such cases has been
eliminated.

2$ Ira Ibe 'avoids Cowl Mt, Ch. $7, par 701-1.1 ass 1.1.
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Several law enforcement officials testified that current Illinois law severely
restricts the use of eavesdropping in kidnapping cases. In Illinois, electronic
monitoring (eavesdropping) can be undertaken only with the consent of one
of the parties being monitored. This law poses a problem for law enforce-
ment officials investigating kidnappings. For example, if police suspect a
kidnapper is holding the victim in the kidnapper's home, even with a warrant
they cannot "bug" the home to determine whether the victim is still alive, be-
cause neither party (the kidnapper nor the victim) has consented.

It is unclear under current law whether parents of kidnapped minors may
legally give consent to allow police to eavesdrop in the course of an investiga-
tion. At the hearings, it was suggested that Illinois law be modified to permit,
in certain circumstances and with a warrant, eavesdropping in kidnapping
at uat ions.

A parent at the Springfield hearing testified about the problems facing
parents when their adult children leave home to join a "cult." The parent ex-
pressed frustration over the lack of legal or other recourse a parent has in
such situations, even if the parent believes the child is the victim of mind
cont rod.

While concern about cults is certainly an important issue in Illinois and
nationwide, it is beyond the scope of the present report to recommend policy
for dealing with the issue.

Recommendations

Standardized in-
formation packets
may be more
useful than
fingerprints.

Increase public
education about
missing persons.

Chronic runaways
need help.

Permit eaves-
dropping in
suspected kidnap-
ping cases.

I, Many of the arguments for and against fingerprinting programs have
merit. Alternative programs, such as standardized information packets, my
be a good balance between warning parents and children of the risks of hb-
duction and providing useful investigative information to police in the rient
of a disappearance. Such programs could be administered by local servite or
school organizations, and should be available to persons of all ages, not just
school-aged children.

2. There should be increased public education, through cooperative effor 3 of
the schools, media and law enforcement agencies, about the issues of missing
young people and available services, including those for runaways.

3. Communities should provide services and programs specifically geared to
help repeat runaways and their families, in order to relieve law enforcement
agencies from the burden of conducting numerous investigations and searches
for repeat runaways.

4. The General Assembly should modify Illinois law to establish a procedure
for permitting non-consensual electronic monitoring in kidnapping cases.
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Develop educe- S. The State Board of Education should collaborate with social service agen-
tiona I material, cies, including the Department of Children and Family Services and State and
on preventing ab- local law enforcement agencies, to develop educational materials on how to
ductions, prevent children and young adults from being abducted or molested. In addi-

tion to using the media and police programs to increase public awarenese and
education, parent/teacher groups (PTA's and PTO's) should be encouraged to
have special programs on these issues.
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CONCLUSION

Common theme:
Pollee must col-
lect adequate in-
formation before
classifying any
missing person.

Missing person
computer systems
are most effective
when all agencies
participate fully.

If a common theme emerged from the hours of testimony and months of
research supporting this report, it was this: police should gather complete and
accurate information before classifying any person as mining either volun-
tarily or involuntarily. Parents, law enforcement officials, social service
professionals and other experts echoed this sentiment. Without sufficient in-
formation, proper handling of missing (lemon cases is extremely difficult and
is too often left to chance.

This report addresses several information issues. First and foremost, it
recommends immediate and official elimination of the so-called "24-hour
rule" for delaying action in missing person reports. (This "rule," which is
neither State law nor Department of Law Enforcement policy, currently is
used by as many as one-third of the police departments in Illinois, according
to a DI.P. survey.) Agreement on ending this delay policy was nearly unani-
mous among witnesses testifying at the Schaumburg, Carbondale and
Springfield public hearings. This recommendation is especially important for
17 to 21 year-olds, the age group we were asked to study, because when these
people disappear, police often assume they have left voluntarily.

The report, however, does not recommend that police conduct searches for
every reported missing person, nor does it recommend that police practices in
these cases be strictly legislated. It is recognized that police officers are
generally best trained and most equipped to handle missing person cases, and
they must be allowed the flexibility to tailor their law enforcement methods
based on resources and other circumstances. Rather, we recommend that
professional standards for how police should handle missing person reports be
developed by professional law enforcement associations.

Another common sentiment expressed by witnesses and other experts was a
call for increased use of computer resources in missing person cases. Parents
especially voiced great confidence in the computer's ability to assist in these
cases. However, our research found that the missing person components of
law enforcement systems currently used in Illinois and nationwide provide
only limited investigative capabilities for missing person cases. Currently, the
missing person components of Illinois' Law Enforcement Agencies Data Sys-
tem (LEADS) and the FBI's National Crime Information Center (NCIC) com-
puters are used mainly for identifying persons or bodies already found and
not for tracking down missing persons.

Still, existing computer systems, if enhanced, can be useful in two ways

1. Por immediate recording of missing person reports and for alerting nearby
law enforcement agencies

2. For providing a researchable data base for statistical information about
missing persons.

22j



Computers must
be enhanced to
provide more
complete and use-
ful data about
missing persona

225

To be effective law enforcement tools, these systems must be used by all
eligible police agencies, and these agencies must enter timely and accurate
data.

This report recommends that not only should police not delay investigation of
missing person cases for 24 hours, they also should not wait, 24 hours or
otherwise, to enter a missing person report into State and national missing
person data bases. The report recommends that computer entry be made as
soon as all information needed to make the entry has been collected.

The report also urges DLE to evaluate its current policies regarding use of
administrative and automatic messages sent via teletype over LEADS. DLE
currently discourages use of administrative messages (free-form bulletins that
individual police departments can send to other agencies statewide or
regionally) in missing person cases. Also, LEADS does not automatically
generate teletype messages for missing person reports, as it does for reports of
wanted persons and stolen vehicles.

An equally important component for improving these systems is enhancing
their ability to store complete and useful statistics about missing persons.
During six months of research, we were unable to locate a comprehensive
State or national data set containing information on the number and types of
missing persons. Enough bits and pieces of information were uncovered to
question some of the statistics commonly reported by the media and private
support organizations on the number of persons abducted by strangers. Still,
our attempt to pin down quantitatively the scope of the problem was for the
most part unsuccessful, simply because no systems contain the necessary

, Information.

Enhancing current law enforcement systems so they will have more precise
and more useful statistics about missing persons should be the immediate top
priority for policy makers confronting mining person problems. Without ac-
curate data detailing how many persons are missing, under what circumstan-
ces they disappeared and what happened to them, effective policy making on
this issue will be extremely difficult.

This report recommends several ways to improve the researchability of the
LEADS mining person component. To enhance researchability on the na-
tional level, some of these recommendation could conceivably be incorporated
into NCIC's mining person component as well. The report recommends that
LEADS be reprogrammed to include additional and more specific categories
for missing persons beyond the four entry criteria currently used. One im-
portant change involves including a category for disappearances from "un-
known circumstances" for both juveniles and adults; currently, the system
does not allow such an entry for persons 18 and older.

The report also recommends changes for how records, once they have been
entered, are cleared from the system. LEADS should be modified to distin-
guish among persons returning home voluntarily, abductees returned safely
and dead bodies recovered and identified. This change should help provide
future researchers and policy makers with quantitative documentation of the
different types of missing persons in Illinois and what happened to them.
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Another issue identit led in House Resolution 348 was the development of a
profile of a missing young adult not likely to have run away and therefore
more likely to be a victim of foul play should he or she disappear. In a sense,
the profile suggestion fell victim to the lack of reliable data about missing
persons. We were unable to locate any comprehensive data set that spelled
out the characteristics of runaways versus non-runaways. An analysis of one
survey containing questions about runaway behavior revealed some charac-
teristics that might distinguish IS to 17 year-old runaways. In addition,
several social service profemonals related at the hearings some common in-
du..itors of both runaways and non-runaways. Nevertheless, instead of
providing us with a sharp profile whose edge is clearly defined, these be-
havioral indicators present a rather amorphous shadow whose shape is sugges-
tive but ill-defined. While they are certainly important factors that police
should consider in any missing person case, these indicators fall far short of
providing the type of reliable discrimination between runaways and non-
runaways that we seek.

Aside from being unable to construct a definitive profile at this time, some
witnesses questioned how worthwhile such a profile would be were it avail-
able. Because there is a certain randomness to criminal victimization, some
law enforcement officials said that asi-ig a profile could cause some victims
to be improperly classified as runaw..,s, and some runaways u victims.

Coven these considerations, the report recommends that efforts to develop a
profile be redirected toward improved and faster information gathering by
police. While the report leaves open the possibility for developing such a
profile in the future, for now it sees impro "ed information collection u a
better tool to help police distinguish betw.t.0 runaways and potential crime
victims

In addition to these three main issues, the report briefly addresses several
other concerns raised during the hearings but not mentioned specifically in
the Ifollses resolution. These issues include child fingerprinting programs,
services to help repetitive runaways and their families, Illinois' eavesdropping
law as it relates to kidnappings, jurisdictional questions and public education
about the problem of missing young adults.

One last "issue" that cropped up during the hearings is an apparent tension
that exists between litany parents of missing children and the police. Some
parents complained that police were insensitive to their intuition about their
missing children and were too quick to classify many of them as runaways.
Police, on the other hand, complained that parents do not always provide
complete and pertinent information during a police investigation and often
try to involve police in family matters.

Phis report otters no single recommendation to help solve this problem, al-
though our recommendations for improved information collection by police
should help. Still, police must be sensitive to the anguish and pain parents of-
ten feel when their children disappear, even if they have run away. Parents,
on the other hand, must realize that most police departments operate ir a
world of limited resources and excessive demands.
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Probably the best way 0 diffuse this tension is through increased com-
munication between the community and police. Representatives of several
organizations, including the Illinois Association of Chiefs of Police and the
State Board of Education, offered their groups' services for providing a forum
for public education about the issues of missing persona It is hoped that the
public hearings we held and this subsequent report also have helped lay the
foundation for better cooperation between police and parents.
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SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

This section summarizes all of the recommendations contained in this report. Detailed infor-
mation supporting these recommendations can be found in the individual sections in which the
recommendations are presented.

1: Police Response in Missing Person Cases (pages 11-15)

I. There should be no waiting period between the time a parent or guardian decides a child is
genuinely missing and the time the disappearance is reported to the police. There also should be no
waiting period between the time the police receive the missing person report and the time they act on
the report by attempting to gather additional information about the case. This response should be in
the form of in-person interviews with the parent or complainant, the missing person's friends and
other relevant witnesses.

2. The Department of Law Enforcement (DLE) should notify all law enforcement agencies in Il-
linois that there is no statewide 24-hour waiting period policy in missing person cases, and all future
training sessions conducted by DLE and other police training academies should expressly note this fact.
Similarly, the Authority and organizations such as the Illinois Association of Chiefs of Police (IACP)
and the Illinois Sheriffs' Association (ISA) should notify their members of this finding.

3. Instead of statewide legislation, the IACP and ISA should draft professional standards for han-
dling missing person reports and gathering information in these cam. The Authority should coor-
dinate these efforts.

4. In missing person cases involving multiple police jurisdictions, the police agency where the com-
plainant lives should be responsible for initiating the missing person investigation and for notifying
other agencies of the disappearance. The IACP and ISA should adopt this recommendation and
publicize it to their members.

S. When a ward of the State is reported missing, DCFS employees should not wait 24 hours before
contacting the police.

6. The General Assembly should change the law regarding privacy of mental health records to al-
low for police access to: a) information useful in locating a person reported missing from a mental
health facility; and b) identslicution only information that would confirm or deny whether a person
reported missing is residing in a mental health facility, and to allow for notification of police if the
person is admitted at a later time.
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2: identifying Endangered Missing Persons (pages 17-21)

I The goal of establishing a profile of involuntarily missing young adults should be redirected in
favor of more thorough and timely information gathering by police in missing person cases. Also, the
public should be educated in measures to help prevent abductions.

2. The Authority should continue to monitor national research into the problems of missing
children and young adults and should publicize Important developments and relevant information
throughout Illinois.

3: LEADS as an Investigatory Tool (pages 23-32)

klialdqrsimmilimommendatjang

I. Illinois law enforcement agencies should enter all eligible missing person reports, including
runaways, into LEADS as soon as the minimum information required for entry is collected. In no
cases should there be a 24-hour delay for entering a missing person report into LEADS. DLE should
conduct training for LEADS users stressing this recommendation. In addition, the LEADS manual
should be updated to emphasize this point.

2. In light of Recommendation 1, the Chicago Police Department should more fully participate in
the State and national missing person data bases by entering missing person records into LEADS in a
more timely fashion. Because of problems of interfacing the Chicago Police Department's internal
mining person computers and LEADS, and because of the sheer volume of its missing person cases, the
Chicago Police Department's participation in LEADS will necessarily differ slightly from that of other
Illinois law enforcement agencies.

3. DLE should: a) evaluate its policy of discouraging use of administrative messages in misting per-
son cases; b) develop criteria for when such messages should be sent and to which law enforcement
agencies; and c) evaluate the pros and cons associated with reprogramming LEADS to automatically
transmit all missing person record entries, both regionally and statewide. These evaluations should
determine what impact on the system increasing the volume of messages will have. If the system can
feasibly be changed to accommodate an increase in messages, then this reprogramming should be done.

4. DLE should publicize the procedures for parents, guardians or next of kin to confirm LEADS
and NCIC missing person entries.
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1..The current four criteria for entering a missing person record into LEADS should be changed to
two separate fields;

a. Disabilities/impairments (none/detail)

b. Suspected circumstances:
Juvenile: runaway
Juvenile: parental abduction
Juvenile: foul play
Juvenile: unknown circumstances
Adult: foul play
Adult: unknown circumstances

These fields would provide more detailed Information about the circumstances of disappearances in Il-
linois. The system should be programmed to enable Illinois records entered in these categories to be
converted automatically to the four NCIC categories for entry in the national data ban.

2. DLE should resume notifying agencies when a missing person record they entered is purged from
the active data base at the time the person reaches age IS.

3. DLE should modify categories for clearing or cancelling records, such that the system will dis-
tinguish among persons returning home voluntarily, abducteet returned safely and dead bodies
recovered and identified.

4: Other issues Raised at the Hearings (pages 33-36)

I. Many of the arguments for and against fingerprinting programs have merit. Alternative
programs, such as standardized information packets, may be a good balance between warning parents
and children of the risks of abduction and providing useful investigative information to police in the
event of a disappearance. Such programs could be administered by local service or school organiza-
tions, and should be available to persons of all ages, not just school -aged children.

2. There should be increased public education, through cooperative efforts of the school; media
and law enforcement agencies, about the issues of missing young people and available services, include
ins those for runaways.

3. Communities should provide services and programs specifically geared to help repeat runaways
and their families, in order to relieve law enforcement agencies from the burden of conducting
numerous investigations and searches for repeat runaways.

4. The General Assembly should modify Illinois law to establish a procedure for permitting non-
consensual electronic monitoring in kidnapping cases.

S. The State Board of Education should collaborate with social service agencies, including the
Department of Children and Family Services and State and local law enforcement agencies, to develop
educational materials on how to prevent children and young adults from being abducted or molested.
In addition to using the media and police programs to increase public awareness and education,
parent /teacher groups (P'TA's and PTO's) should be encouraged to have special programs on these
issues.
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APPENDICES

A: HOUSE RESOLUTION 348

WHEREAS, The number of young adults between the ages of 17 and 21, who are unemancipated,

reported as ndssing each year is steadily increasing and it is with disturbing frequency that the dis-

appearance of a young adult results in a tragic death; and

WHEREAS, A significant proportion of these missing persons are young adults who have es-

tablished a pattern of behavior narked by consistency and predictability which provides no apparent

explanation for their dilinpriearaide; and

WHEREAS, It Is a common f1011CC practice to defer action on missing persons reports for a 24 hour

waiting period; and

WHEREAS, The lives of these young adults may be saved by reducing the time between the

receipt of a iniming person report and the taking of a response action; therefore, be it

RESOLVED, BY THE 11011SE OE RE musENTATIvEs OF THE EIGHTY -THIRD GENERAL

ASSEMBLY OF TID; STATE OF ILLINOIS, that we request the Criminal Justice Information

Authority and the Department of Law Enforcement to study and report to this General Assembly, on

Of before April 1, 1984, with regard to the efficacy of the policy of deferring action on reports of

missing young adults for a 24 hour period; anti, be it further

RESOLVED, That the Criminal Justice Information Authority in conjunction with the Depart-

ment of Law Enforcement hold public hearings to obtain testimony dealing with the establishment of

a profile of a young adult whose disappearance is a significant deviation from the established behavior

patterns, and be it further
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RESOLVED, That these public hearings lead to the establishment of a uniform statewide policy

with which law enforcement agencies can evaluate the disappearance of a young adult with the goal

of taking the most effective response action; and be it further

RESOLVED, That the Criminal Justice Information Authority and the Department of Law En-

forcement study the feasibility and benefit of utilizing the Law Enforcement Agencies Data System

(LEADS) computer operation to facilitate the exchange of information with regard to these mining

young adults, and, be it further

RESOLVED, That suitable copies of this preamble and resolution be delivered to the Chairman of

the Criminal Justice Information Authority and to the Director of the Department of Law

Enforcement.
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B: LIST OF WITNESSES

&lista LAs.eackf

Federal Bureau of Investigation, Chicago 1)ivision
Mdt Ahicrii h

Federal Bureau of Investigation, Springfield Division
fumes Bourke

U.S . Attorney's Office, Central District of Illinois
Viten Schamle-llaskois

U.S. Attorney's Office, Soul hero District of Illinois
Clifford Proud

aliaulxliatejtjarg_Leijallve%

The Honorable Doris Karpiel, Roselle
The Honorable Judith Koehler, Henry

Department of Children and Family Services
Chary Ilartalameolli
Delonda Chapman
Phyllis Robinson
Bruce Rubenstein
Dennis Stuckey
Jim Winters

Department of l.aw Enforcement
that-ill Part t

t ash
James Polley
Roll 1 South
t ;or y Traylor
Richard While

tin of Mental Health and 1/evelopmenial
Sirphyti elndersen

Guardianship & Advocacy Commeenon
Sandra tiliihei k. director

State Board of Education
hfr Sully Pattn:410
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Muidielgsvoit.fintiklymilLtliatinallyfilissAunsin

Chicago Police Department
Commander Patrick M. Clark

Cook County Sheriff's Office
Greg Bedoe
Joseph Hein

Cook County State's Attorney's Office
William J. Kunkle

Des Plaines Police Department
Michael Clark
Joseph Kozenczak
Larry Zumbrock

Fairview Heights Police Department
Chief Roger Richards

Forest Park Police Department
Charles Whelp ly

Franklin County Sheriff's Office
Sam Fleming
William Wilson

Greenville Police Department
Chief John King

Illinois State University, Normal
Keith Gehrand

Jackson County Probation Office
Mark Berkowitz

Jackson County Sheriff's Office
Sheriff William J. Kilquist

Southern Illinois University, Carbondale
Carl Kirk

Streamwood Police Department
Chief Howard A Cornell

12ciaLUrlittlinalguntir2limi4nalcsamatann

Associates in Adolescent Psychology, Skokie
Marvin J. Schwarz, M.D, J.D.

Aunt Martha's Youth Service Agency, Park Forest
Ethel Mull
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Department of I aw Furor Leinent, Psychological Services
Pr James ('handler
Pr. Noble Harrison

IIluuns AMILIation of Ch win of MIL':
('hirl John flu Miro. West Chicago loiner president)
Chal Wilbert Reichterl, Coral SIrrani

Mary Itartelme !Ionics, Chicago
Marianne West

Metro I klp, 'Imago
Cynthia Myrrs

National Juvenile I aw ('cuter, SI. Louis
Harry Swonor, rxeculive director

Psychosomatic and l'syhiatri i. lust itute,
Michael Reese I hospital, Chums°

Eric Ostrov, J.D., Ph.D.

Concerned Citizen I
Concerned Citizen II
James (Yawner, profewor,S1)uthern Illinois University, Carbondale
Marion Doran, Naperville
Joyce M. Griffith, East Moline
Stanley Plataus, I loffman hstates
Agnes Stan, Woodridge
Delphine Wright, Streamwood
Donald Wright, Streamwood
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C: SUMMARY OF PUBLIC HEARINGS

"Ulm appendix contains detailed soinimarirs of the major points raised during the three public
hearings on missing young adults held last full.

Schaumburg: I. Identifying the profile of a person who is missing involuntarily will be ex-
October ZS, 19L Mindy difficult.

2. Police policies and procedures in missing person cases should not be legis-
lated by the General Assembly.

3. There is general concernms in favor of eliminating any "24-hour rule" for
all missing persons in danger. All missing persons reports should be entered
immediately into LEADS/NCIC as as soon as they are accepted, regardless of
whether the report will he investigated. (There is still a question whether this
policy change should apply through age 21.)

4. The "14-hour rule" might have come about from the Federal Kidnapping
Statute (111(ISC 1201). which raises a presumption of transportation in inter -
stale or foreign commerce after 24 hours have elapsed.

5. The address and telephone numbers where parents can confirm that a miss-
ing person report has been entered into LEADS/NCIC should be made public.

6. A voluntary child fingerprinting program in which parents retain the
prints was uniformly supported.

7 The idea of having LEADS automatically broadcast to all agencies in a
State Police district that a person is suspected to have disappeared u a result
of foul play should be considered.

it Interfacing LEADS with other State computer systems (such as the
Department of Children and Family Services' and the Department of Mental
Health and Developmental Disabilities' systems) should be considered to make
information available to law enforcement when a missing person might be in
danger.

9. Seventeen to 21 year -olds can fall through the cracks in:the police and so-
cial service system.

10 Voluntary runaways are very likely to become victimized, especially if
they run away frequently.

I I Illinois law should be modified to permit eavesdropping in kidnapping
situations and use of the evidence obtained.

The Authority should consider a statute absolving police of liability when
dealing with IS to 21 year-olds in good faith.

13 Parents are concerned that police often disregard the parents' intuition of
danger and that police often act as though they know the children better
than the parents do.
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I As a practical matter, the FBI has abandoned the "24-hour rule," and it
enters information into NCIC immediately.

2. Identifying the profile of a person who is missing involuntarily will be very
difficult, and the FBI profile unit should be consulted for assistance,

3. Tisch state's definition of "adulthood" will govern entry of missing juvenile
information into NCIC.

4. There may be some legal or constitutional problems with: a) initiating a
search for an adult when there is no indication of foul play, and b) keeping
parents apprised of the results of the search.

S. The General Assembly generally should not legislate policies and
procedures on criminal justice agencies.

6. Contrary to support expressed in Schaumburg, a voluntary child fin-
gerprinting program was not uniformly supported and was not viewed as a
top priority. It was described as a quick-fix situation that does not prevent a
person from disappearing and often provides parents and the community with
a false sense of security. Instead, there was support for preventative tech-
niques such as parental education and the creation of up-to-date informa-
tion packets containing photographs, medical records and other descriptive
information. While there was some benefit recognized with fingerprinting
programs, preventative techniques were felt to be generally preferable.

7. There was a considerable split in opinion on whether a national central
repository of fingerprints should be created and whether fingerprints should
be kept in some local or regional repositories, such as schools, once a person
has been reported missing.

8. Establishing a special LEADS category for 17 to 21 year-olds also was
thought neither to be useful nor wise. The same procedures should be fol-
lowed when searching for anyone thought to be a victim of foul play.

9. There was strong support for making public the addresses and telephone
numbers where parents can confirm that a missing person report has been en-
tered into LEADS/NCIC. It also was suggested that LEADS and NCIC be
reprogrammed to capture information about where parents can be contacted
(Le, parental phone number).

10. One suggestion for relieving law enforcement agencies from the burden
of conducting numerous searches for repetitive runaways was to provide
more services and programs to help runaways deal with their problems.

II. An apparent inconsistency was noted about how juvenile runaways are
handled. Illinois juvenile runaways can be held by a law enforcement agency
for up to six hours only; an out-of-state juvenile runaway can be held by Il-
linois agencies for longer periods of time under interstate compact
agreements.

12. There was concern on the part of police agencies that parents are not the
most reliable source of information when a child has run away and that any
investigation must Include contacting friends and school officials.
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13. Illinois law should be modified to permit eavesdropping in kidnapping
situations. Such a law should be structured around criteria similar to obtain-
ing a search warrant.

14. It was generally agreed that missing person reports should be entered into
LEADS/NCIC as soon as possible (normally within an hour), regardless of
whether the report will be investigated. The only exception noted to this
general principle was with respect to persons who are known to run away
repeatedly.

I. Some members of the public are under the erroneous impression that 24
hours must elapse before local law enforcement officials will begin to look
for missing children.

2. Parents often feel helpless when their children run away, and there is a
lack of support programs to help families deal with problems after the
children return.

3. Some parents appear to be confused as to whether they are responsible for
their children older than age 18 who are still living Pt home.

4. Some parents feel that if they are still legally responsible for the actions
of their children who are under age 18, these juveniles should not have the
right to stay at another location without parental consent. Laws perWilli
this situation should be changed, they said, and police should be perm.cted to
forcibly remove children under the legal age and return them to their
parents, once a parent has been apprised of the risks and has authorized the
police to do so.

S. There was disagreement as to whether current laws should be changed to
require police to detain runaway children for extended periods until parents
can pick them up.

6. It was pointed out that current police practices and laws send mixed mes-
sages to teenagers. They are told that 16 year-olds who commit crimes will be
treated as juveniles, while 16 year-olds who disappear are often presumed to
have left voluntarily and are not pursued by police (in essence, they are
treated as adults).

7. State agencies should cooperate and pool their resources to share useful in-
formation in runaway or missing person cases.

8. The FBI does not wait 24 hours to initiate a missing person investigation if
there is information indicating that an abduction has occurred.

9. Recently, the FBI began using the Fugitive Felon Act, under certain cir-
cumstances, to intervene in parental kidnapping cases.

10. The Illinois eavesdropping law should be modified to permit monitoring
in kidnapping and missing person situations.
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11 Current Illinois law prohibits law enforcement access to Department of
Children and Family Services child abuse and neglect records, and even
prohibits police from learning if a child has previously been reported abused
or neglected. DCFS should be able to confirm or deny for law enforcement
officials whether a child has been reported abused or neglected. While
modification of the law should be considered, the benefits in sharing informa-
tion eventually will have to be measured against guaranteed privacy rights of
child abuse victims.

11. Fight percent of DCFS wards between the ages of 17 and 21 are current-
ly listed as runaways.

I 3 Depending on the circumstances of the case, DCFS usually waits 24 hours
to see if a child has definitely run away before reporting the disappearance to
the police.

14 There are relatively sound data on the number of children enrolled in the
Illinois public schools, but there arc relatively little data on the number of
children enrolled in nonpublic schools. The State Board of Education es-
timates that approximately 3,000 children between the ages of S and 17 are
unaccounted for. Clearly, some unknown percentage of that number could be
missing. The proble!r lies in not having an accurate, ongoing statewide census
of Illinois children up to age 21.

15. Schools share a custodial role with families and should collaborate with
social agencies (including DCFS and law enforcement) to develop information
on how to reduce the probability that children and youths will be abducted,
molested or harmed. Parent education programs through local
parent/teacher groups should transmit this information.

16. If desired by the community, schools can be used for parental education
and voluntary fingerprinting programs. However, schools should not assume
responsibility for maintaining fingerprints. Fingerprints are not an ap-
propriate information Item to be maintained in school student records.

17. Principals and teachers should be advised on how to :mist families and
law enforcement officials during the critical early hours when a child is ini-
tially reported missing.

18 Under current law, it is reasonable to interpret that law enforcement of-
ficials have legal access to student records in caws where there is serious
threat to the student's safety,

19. About 13 percent of unauthorized absences from Department of Mental
Health facilities involve 13 to 17 year-olds. However, the predominant
number of unauthorized absences are for adults.

20 The capability for automatically broadcasting that a person is missing ex-
ists within I EADS, although it is not currently done. However, it would be
difficult to define what the automatic broadcast area should be.
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21. Records of missing persons entered as juveniles are automatically purged
from LEADS at the date of emancipation. Since the agency that entered the
record originally is not notified of this purge, the agency cannot know to
reenter the information if the person is still missing.

22. The Guardianship & Advocacy Commission would support a limited
amendment to the Illinois Mental Health and Developmental Disabilities
Confidentiality Act that would enable a public or private facility to confirm
or deny a person's presence in a mental health facility or to have an agree-
ment to contact a law enforcement agency should the missing person be later
admitted to the facility.

23. The Authority should proceed cautiously and avoid recommending new
laws that are not really needed, especially in the area of juvenile rights and
confidentiality.

24. About 8 to 10 percent of children run away at least once.

25. Runaways are not just young adults who have decided to leave voluntari-
ly. The bona fide adolescent runaway is psychologically disturbed with
marked emotional and familial problems. While police response to a suspec-
ted abduction should be swift and intense, routine runaways should not be ig-
nored because they too are likely crime victims.

26 Developing a profile to predict behavior may not be possible. However,
other types of profiles may have practical benefits to police. Profiles could
provide indicia of how serious a disappearance may be and what degree of
resources should come into play in attempting to track down a missing petit .1.

27. There are several indicators of when a person may be missing involuntari-
ly. They include: a) no history of previously running away; b) satisfactory
school adjustment within limits; c) satisfactory work history, if any; d)
reasonable adherence to parental ruler; e) general parental approval of
friends; f) no previous juvenile or adult record; g) no serious previous threats
or plans to leave home; and h) no history of emotional problems.

28. Substantial improvement in handling missing person cases could be made
if various police organizations (such as the Illinois Association of Chiefs of
Police and Illinois Sheriffs' Association) would develop a model statewide
policy and a model training manual or pamphlet to be used in handling
preliminary investigations.

29. Police cannot depend solely on information reported by parents. They of-
ten get better information from school officials and friends.

30. All missing juveniles should be immediately entered into LEADS, especial-
ly if the child is not a frequent runaway. There should be no "24-hour rule"
when there are indications of foul play, or when persona are physically, men-
tally or medically unable to take care for themselves (including senior
citizens).
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31. Because most missing person reports turn out to be runaway cues, most
police agencies place a relatively low priority on them. Officers who deal
with missing persons must be trained so as to recognize various emotional or
behavioral problems that could manifest themselves in runaway behavior.

32. As many as 3 million persons may be members of religious cults. There
needs to be more education and support for family members who must deal
with the loss, and sometimes return, of persons from cult experiences.

33. While runaways tend to come from broken and lower clan families, Ion
of children to cults tends to be associated with well-adjusted middle class
homes.

34. Mind control and cult indoctrinations often are indicated by a sudden and
severe swing in the person's personality.
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D: QUANTITATIVE EXAMINATION OF RUNAWAY BEHAVIOR

One goal of this project was to establish a profile of a young adult "whose disappearance is a sig-
nificant deviation from the established behavior patterns!' The ability to discriminate between people
who are voluntarily missing (1.e, runaways) and those who are involuntarily missing is crucial to police
decision making in any missing person case. Were it possible to discriminate accurately between
runaways and those missing for other reasons, this information would provide police with a useful tool
for allocating their resources in missing person cases.

In attempting to create this profile, two types of information were gathered. First, the experiences
of social service and law enforcement professionals with knowledge of both voluntarily and involun-
tarily missing young adults were collected. This resulted in separate lists of characteristics that may
apply to runaways and non:runaways, respectively (see page 19). However, these characteristics by
themselves were found to be insufficient indicators of whether a person is missing voluntarily or
involuntarily.

Second, an attempt was made to find data showing statistically reliable differences in the charac-
teristics of runaways and non-runaways. It was hoped that statistically proven characteristics, com-
bined with the knowledge and practical experience of social service and law enforcement professionals,
would provide enough information to establish a profile.

While there appear to be no comprehensive data sets containing information about young adults
who disappeared involuntarily (the type of data set most useful tot establishing a profile), a data set
containing characteristics of runaways was located. This data set was analyzed thoroughly with two
goals in mind first, to establish statistically reliable figures on the number of runaways in the United
States (as was shown in Scope of the Problem, the most frequently quoted figures on the annual num-
ber of runaways are estimates with little or no statistical basis); and second, to see if the data set could
provide characteristics for the profile.

This data set, the National Longitudinal Survey of Labor Force Behavior--Youth Cohort, is a sur-
vey of a representative national sample of people who were ages 14 to 21 in 1979. An important at-
tribute of this data set is that it contains both runaways and non-runaways; therefore, it allows for a
comparison of those two groups with some confidence in the applicability of the findings to the
general population of 14 to 21 year-olds.I

I The National Lonzttudinal Survey of Labor Force Behavior- -Youth Cohort is sa annual national survey of 12,686 young
people throughout the United States. The survey is sponsored by the U.S. Department.; of Labor and Defense wider a grant to the Cen-
ter of Human Resource R eeeee eh at Ohio State University. The questionnaire centers on the respondents' situation, job training and
work experiences, with additional questions on a variety of related issues which clasp from year to year A questionon one such
issuerunaway behaviorappeared on the 1910 quemloonsirt, and it is the basis for this analysts. For more informatioa about the
sum', contact the Authority
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One advantage of having a sample that is representative of the US. population of young people is
that it provides an accurate estimate of the number of children who run away from home in a year's
time .2 Based on the number of people in the sample who reported ever having run away, Table I shows
the estimated number of juveniles between ages 15 and 17 who ran away at least once in 1979 in the
United States, Illinois and Chicago.

Table 1

MORE FEMALES TITAN MALES RUN AWAY AT LEAST ONCE:
The estimated number of IS to 17 yearolds who ran away

one or more times during 1979

UNITED STATES

AGE MALE FEMALE TOTAL

15 96,285 98,508 194,793
16 225,660 254,994 480,654
17 174,956 202,210 377.166

TOTAL 496,901 555,712 1,052,613

STATE OP ILLINOIS

AGE MALE FEMALE TOTAL

15 6,330 6,583 12,913
16 11,121 12,915 24,036

17 2,3211 10.628 20,952

TOTAL 27,375 30,126 57,501

CITY OP CHICAGO

AGE MALE FEMALE TOTAL

15 1,573 1,662 3,235
36 2,742 3,289 6,031
17 2,463 2.748 5.211

TOTAL 6,778 7,699 14,477
....=10

2 ti should be noted that the purpose of the survey was not to Min1110 runways Indeed, them wan only oil quootIon out of

moral hundred that dealt with runaway behavior This question was Idea only of thole reggongfrata Ws than II Pare old, Moto
emanglOnllon generally is assumed at that age
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Nationally, more than I million 1 S to 17 year-olds (9.3 percent of the population in that age
group) are estimated to have run away from home in 1979. For each of the three ages, the estimated
number of female runaways exceeds the number of males. Using the age specific population at the na-
tional and State levels, the frequency of runaway oehavier in Illinois can be estimated.1 In Illinois,
57,501 15 to 17 year-olds arc estimated to have run away at least once in 1979. This constitutes 9.1
percent of the State population for that age group Extrapolating data to the city level indicates that
in 1979, an estimated 14,477 15 to 17 year-olds in Chicago ran away at least once, or 9.1 percent of
the population in that age group.

Table 2 views the runaway situation from a slightly different perspective: the number of runaway
incidents in a year, rather than the number of people who ran away at least once in a year. The inci-
dent figure is probably more important than the head count when considering the potential need for
police action. Many juveniles in the sample reported running away more than once. The survey
records the number of runaway incidents reported by each respondent in the following categories: I, 2,
3 to 5, 6 to 10, I I to SO and more than 50 incidents. These figures were used to estimate the number
of runaway incidents for eaLli proup in a year's time.

The estimated number of runaway incidents per year, based on self reported behavior, for IS to 11
year-olds exceeds 2 million nationally. This corresponds to an estimated 123,658 runaway incidents
per year in Illinois, or 331 incidents a day, for 15 to 17 year-olds.

Interpolating to the local level, Chicago would have had an estimated 31,051 runaway incidents
involving 15 to 17 year-olds in 1979. That is 85 runaway incidents per day in the city. In actuality,
the Chicago Police Department reports that it received 13,291 reports of missing juveniles of all ages
in that year, or approximately 36 per day.

Even though the current figures are estimates, clearly many runaway Incidents never come to the
attention of police. There are perhaps several reasons for this underreporting, including:

I. ,4 child can run away and return without his or her parents knowing that a runaway incident has
occurred. What a child experiences as running away may escape parental attention if the child returns
home before the parents notice his or her absence.

2. Parents of children who are chronic runaways may stop reporting such incidents, because ex-
perience indicates that the child will eventually return home.

Another fact about runaway incidents can be obtained by comparing Tables I and 2. Although
females are more likely than males ever to run away, males are more likely to run away multiple
times. In Chicago, for example, although the estimated number of females ever running away always
exceeds the figure for males, the number of runaway incidents involving males always exceeds that for
females. This phenomenon is especially evident among 17 year-olds, where about SO percent more in-
cidents involve males than females.

/ This method swum, the Illinois runaway situation dim not dirrer radically from that at the national level.
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Table 2

MALES ACCOUNT FOR MOST RUNAWAY INCIDENTS:
The estimated number of runaway incidents

involving IS to 17 year-olds in 1979

UNITED STATES

AGE puug FEMALE TOTAL

15 181,329 173,717 355,046
16 531,142 500,753 1,031,895
17 545.121 336.182 881.303

TOTAL 1,257,592 1,010,652 2,268,244

STATE OP ILLINOIS

AGE MALE FEMALE TOTAL

15 11,921 11,610 23,531
16 26,175 25,363 51,538
17 30,919 17.670 48.589

TOTAL 69,015 54,643 123,658

CITY OP CHICAGO

AGE MALE FEMALE TOTAL

15 2,963 2,931 5,894
16 6,453 6,460 12,9,13

17 7.675 4,569 12.244

TOTAL 17,091 13,960 31,051

faglain_kmagd es.g4igi tigLIttwit kyikkyylos

This portion of the analysis seeks to determine if there are demographic, social psychological or
behavioral characteristics that distinguish runaways from other members of the population. The first
step in this analysis was to examine bivariate associations between the variables in the survey.4 Some
of the variables examined included:5

4 The term astOCIatio* Is used bore rather than Corntiallon because correlatios mutes causality, %Ma is Not kin matted
here

5 The operational del Wilms of the variables used In this analysis (t.d, verbatim Massie appearias os tM neve, inanimate),

complete with interviewer instructions, are available from the Authority
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itespondent's age
Respondent's race
Respondent's sex
Respondent's family income
Respondent's mother's education
Respondent's father's education
Mother working or at home
Father working or at home
Number of siblings
Family structure (with whom the respondent lived at age 14)

Social-Psychological Variables

Ease of making friends at school
Boredom with regard to school
Feeling of personal safety in school
General attitude toward school
Respondent's beliefs concerning control over his/her life:

a. I don't have enough control over the direction of my life,
b. When I make plans I am almost certain I con make them work.
c. Getting what I want has little or nothing to do with luck
d I feel I hove little influence over what happens to me.

Respondent's feelings of self esteem:
a. I am a parson of worth.
b. I have a number of good qualities.
c. I am inclined to feel I'm a failure.
d. I am able to do things as well as most people.
e. I do not have much to be proud of.
f. I take a positive attitude toward myself.
g. On the whole, I'm satisfied with myself.
h. I wish 1 could have more respect for myself.

Self-Reported Behavior Variables

Suspension from school
Expulsion from school
Arrests for crimes (other than traffic violations)
Skipping school without an excuse
Selling hard drugs
Drinking alcohol or liquor without permission
Damaging another's property
Getting into fights at school or work
Shoplifting
Stealing something valued at less than $50
Stealing something valued at more than S50
Hitting someone
Attacking someone with intent to kill or injure
Smoking marijuana
Using drugs (not marijuana)
Selling marijuana
Trying to con someone
Taking a vehicle without owner's permission
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Committing a burglary
Fencing stolen goods
Contributing to a gambling operation
Deriving income from illegal activity

This analysis determined that the following variables are related to runaway behavior in IS to 17
year-olds:

I. Suspension from school. Respondents who reported having been suspended from school were
13 8 percent more likely to have run away at least once than those who were never suspended. This
corroborates findings in studies done by Miller (1980), Horner (1973) and Adams and Munro (1979).

2. Prior arrests. Respondents who reported having bees "nsted and booked were 16.4 percent
more likely to have run away than those who were never arresteu id charged. Many variables deal-
ing with illegal activities (eg, selling drugs, stealing money, participating in gambling operations)
showed a high association with runaway behavior. These variables were not examined in the final
multivariate model because there was no way to determine whether these activities occurred before of
after the runaway behavior. That is, it could not be determined whether involvement in illegal ac-
tivity led to running away or whether running away hastened or necessitated involvement in illegal
activity. Miller (1980) found that two-thirds of all runaways had trouble with the law prior to run-
ning away.

3. Self esteem. Respondents with low scores on a self esteem index were 8.3 percent more likely to
run away than those with high scores on the index. This corroborates findings by Brennan, Huizinga
and Elliot (1978).

4 Family structure. Respondents from broken homes (I.e., homes in which either the biological
mother, biological father or both were missing) were 6.6 percent more likely to run away than respon-
dents whose families were intact. Miller (1980) made a similar finding in her study.

S. Race and sex. White females and Hispanic females were more likely to run away than other
race and sex groups.

consiothg

Although these findings corroborate the findings of other researchers, none of the models explained
enough of the variance in the dependent variable (runaway behavior) to justify confidence in their
predictive power. This means that although the variables studied probably do affect runaway be-
havior, there are other unmeasured or unmeasurable factors that contribute to the likelihood of a
child running away.

While the factors noted above are certainly important characteristics which police should consider,
they fall far short of providing a profile that police can use to determine if a person has run away or
is missing involuntarily.

Se* Adams tad Munro t 111/9)
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METHODOLOGY

Following is a technical description of the statistical analysis performed on the national data set.
Readers who are unfamiliar with statistical language and techniques may want to skip this section.

ithguiLd ztrs onim_besosjatto

The association of each of the independent variables with the runaway variable was examined by
crosstabulation. This method was chosen over other correlational techniques because it allowed a more
detailed examination of the relationships.' In Table 3, each variable has a base category, and the dif-
ferences in proportion are reported relative to that category. For example, black female is the base
category for the race-sex variable.' Approximately 6.6 percent of the black females in the sample
reported running away at least once during the previous year. The percentage of white females that
reported running away is 8.9. This figure is obtained by adding the "D" (difference in the proportions)
for white females (.023) to the base category and converting that sum to a percent by multiplying it
by 100, as shown:

(.066 0231 * 100. 8.9%

The size of "D" is an indication of how different that group is from the base group. The reliability
of "D" is indicated by the standard error of "D" (SEIM The smaller the standard error, the more reli-
able "D" is. The reliability of "D" is expressed by the significance level (SIG). If the significance level
is .05 or smaller, then "D" is significant at at least the .05 level, a commonly accepted level of sig-
nificance among statisticians. Significance at this level is an indication that the difference was not
due to sampling error and that other surveys drawn from the same population would arrive at similar
results. In other words, a significance level of .05 or lower indicates that the result is not a chance
occurrence.'

Notice that the only race-sex groups that differ significantly from the base category are white
females and Hispanic females. Respondents from families in which one or more of the biological
parents are absent are 6.6 percent more likely to run away from home than those from unbroken
homes. Respondents whose mothers have more than college educations are 5 percent les likely to run
from home than those with mothers having less than high school education's.

Respondents who reported being bored with school were 6.1 percent more likely to run away than
those who were not bored. Respondents with high self esteem scores were 8.3 percent less likely to be
runaways than those with low scores on the self esteem index.t0

Those respondents who reported being suspended from school were 13.8 percent more likely to run
away than those who had never been suspended. Virtually all of the illegal activity questions showed
significant differences with regard to running away. The ones with the largest differences are shown
in Table 3.

Techniques such ay tetrechorit correlation and lemma measures are suitable when discrote variables are used, but much in-

formation Is loll when the relationship Is reduced to a stogie number for variable. that have more than two categories.

/ Race and we were combined leto in Index Weaver an interaction effect wag discovered between these two variables and
runaway behavior. That Is, when examined sap ly, race and sex showed differeacee with regard to running away Not channel

sig-
nificantly whoa combined or coaditiooal relstIonships were studied. Combining the two rateable Into a single index wait the tatted
way to account for this letereclion effect.

Signifleasee levels Wow .05 are indicated by as aeterlsk in Table J.
I° The self totem Wen was a liken (additive) scale of swam to eight of 10 question concernlos pelf esteem. Two of the

items were not tired In the Wee because they did not correlate Wetly with the other eight Items.
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Table 3
ZERO ORDER DIFFERENCES IN PROPORTIONS (D's)

BETWEEN RUNNING AWAY AND INDEPENDENT VARIABLES

VARIABLE & CATEGORIES 2 SE(D) SIG

Race and Sex
Slack ferule (Base.066)

0>.05)

White male .023 .018.
White female .037 .018 .05
Black male .013 .020
Hispanic male .005 .022
Hispanic female .072 .027 .01

Family Structure
Both biological parents (Base-.069)
One or more bio. parents missing .066 .013 .001

Mother's Education
Less than high soh, 1 (Base.069)
High School -.017 .014 a

More than high school -.050 .015 .001

Find School Boring
Yes (Base -.135)

No -.061 .019 .01

Self Esteem Index
Low (Base -.148)
Moderate -.048 .022 .05
High -.083 .021 .001

Ever Suspended from School
No (Base -.085)

Yes .138 .048 .01

Ever Skip School
No (Base -.040)
Yes .146 .011 .001

Steal Something Worth > $50
No (Base -.080)
Yes .186 .037 .001

Sell Hard Drugs
No (Base -.086)
Yes .281 .069 .001

Ever Stopped By Police
No (Base.078)
Yes .078 .019 .001

Ever Charged by Police
No (Base.079)
Yes .164 ,033 .001
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The variables found to have significant zero order associations with running way were examined
using dummy variable regression models. Table 4 shows the results of this analysis.

Three models were used. Model A shows the results of the regression using nine variables. The
three variables that are the most powerful predictors of running away in this model are skipping
school, charged by police and selling hard drugs. The interpretation of the "B" -oefficients in this type
of analysis is quite literal. For example, the "B" coefficient for selling hard drugs is .19 (.1889 rounded
off). This means that respondents who reported having sold hard drugs one or more times during the
previous year were 18 percent more likely to be runaways than those who reported they had not sold
hard drugs. The base category for race and sex is white males. The score of .05 for white females in-
dicates that white females are 5 percent more likely to be runaways than white males with identical
attributes on the other variables. With this information, the relative likelihood of a person of given
characteristics running away can be determined. To do this, the applicable "B" coefficients are added
to the constant. For instance, a white male (no score) who skipped school (.072) and who had been
suspended from school (.067) and had low self esteem (.054) would be 17.7 percent more likely to run
away than a white male who never skipped school, was never suspended and had high self esteem.11

There are at least two problems with Model A. First, while Model A allows the probability that an
individual will run away to be predicted, the accuracy of this prediction is questionable. The R2 as-
sociated with the model indicates that only 10 percent of the variance in the dependent variable (run-
ning away) can be explained. Most of the variance in the variable is due to factors that are not in the
model. Factors that have not or cannot be measured play a large role in whether or not a child runs
away. The variables included here have some explanatory power, but not enough to instill a great deal
of confidence in any prediction.

Second, this phase of the analysis is concerned with causality. It is important to be able to assert
that variables said to predict runaway behavior occur prior to the predicted behavior itself. With
regard to the illegal activities variables, there is enough question as to whether they occurred before or
after the run that they should not be entered in the mode1.12

Model B shows the results with the crime and arrest variables removed. In their place is a single
variable which measures whether or not the respondent was arrested and charged more than a year
before the interview (1.e, prior to any runaway behavior reported in the survey). In this model, suspen-
sion from school and prior arrest are the most powerful predictors of running away. Self esteem also is
a factor in this model, as is family structure and race and sex.

In Model C, the self esteem variable was removed because the self esteem of a misting child would
be very difficult for police to estimate accurately, even from reports of parents and friends. Realisti-
cally, then, variables whose values can be determined by simple questions or by looking through avail-
able records remain in the model.

11 To arrive at this figure, the constant (- 016) was added to the "13* scores for the appropriate variables: (-.016) (.072)
COO/ ( 0t4) 177 This sum then was multiplied by 100 to convert it to a percent.

12 The reasonanore illegal activities variables were nut added was that they were highly istercorrelated. Using many of them In
one model introduced multicolinvarity, which meant the model was unstable The Mesal activities variables used bets were not hltblY
intercorreisted and thereone avoided this problem.
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Table 4
RESULTS OF DICHOTOMOUS REGRESSIONS:

Ths* models with "Running Away" as the dependent var:abk

MODEL A

VARIABLE

Skip school .0723 .0122 .0000
Arrested by police .1027 .0244 .0000
Sell hard drugs .1889 .0422 .0000
Ever suspended from school .0667 .0150 .0000
Low self esteem .0544 .0173 .0016
Steal something worth , $50 .0884 .0274 .0016
White female .0527 .0135 .0001
Hispanic female .0715 .0205 .0005
Family structure .0386 .0126 .0022
Constant -.0161 .0104 .1206

R2 .098

MODEL B

Ever suspended from school .0965 .0146 .0000
Prior charges (non-vehicular offenses) .1397 .0248 .0000
Low self esteem .0759 .0165 .0000
Family structure .0455 .0126 .0003
White female .0549 .0136 .0001
Hispanic female .0772 .0206 .0002
Moderate self esteem .0275 .0126 .0285
Constant -.0018 .0115 .8753

R2 .085

MODEL C

Ever suspended from school .1015 .0145 .0000
Prior charges (non-vehicular offenses) .1367 .0248 .0000
Family structure .0468 .0126 .0002
White female .0586 .0136 .0000
Hispanic female .0813 .0834 .0001
Constant .0174 .0094 .0666

R2 .057
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E: LEADS MISSING YOUNG ADULTS DATA

In attempting to identify the number of missing young adults in Illinois, the records of every 17 to
21 year-old entered into the Law Enforcement Agencies Data System (LEADS) data base as missing
between January I, 1981 and November 29, 1983 were analyzed. These records do not represent
every missing young adult reported to the police in Illinois, but rather the number entered Into the
statev ide data base (because many people are located before a computer entry is made, not all missing
persons reported to local police are entered Into LEADS).

As described in the body of this report, 'sere is a limited amount of information collected on
LF ADS about missing persons. Using available lata, the following analyses examine the age and sex of
missing young adults entered into LEADS by the outcome, or status, of their cases. LEADS allows for
four categories of case outcome:

1. Active. People who are still missing.

2. Cancelled/Voided. A "catch-all" category that Includes everyone who returned home (either
voluntarily or by the authorities), everyone who was found dead and whose body was identified and all
records voided from the system (eg , duplicate entries, entries with mistakes). Unfortunately, the sys-
tem does not differentiate between a missing person who was found alive and one who was found
dead. This problem also occurs with the FBI's National Crime Information Center (NCIC) data base.

3. Located. Missing persons who are found, usually by the police, but for some reason do not go
back home. this category is used most often for wanted persona

4. Purged. Juveniles entered as missing who reach the age of emancipation while still missing.
These records are purged from the system's active files because they no longer meet any of the four
NCIC criteria for missing person entries. Presumably, the parents of the missing person can attempt to
have their local law enforcement agency reenter the record under one of the missing person criteria
other than juvenile.

hriallski_eLLE ADS to

Following is an analysis of missing young adult data from the LEADS data base for the period
January I, 1981 through November 29, 1983. In every case, the age of the missing person is the age
at disappearance. The data begin in 1981 because prior to that year, missing person records were
purged from the system after a year, even if the person was still missing. Since 1981, records of adults
(age 18 and older) remain on the system until the person is found. Records of missing juveniles are
still purged when the person reaches age 18, even if he or she is still missing.

Included in the data, where noted, are records of 81 juveniles who disappeared when they were 17,
but who were taken off the data ba se when they turned 18. Whether these people are still missing is
not known.

In the tables below, generally three age groups are analyzed: 18 to 21 year-olds; 17 to 21 year-
olds, where the 17 year-olds have not reached their 18th birthdays; and 17 to 21 year-olds, including
the 81 records of 17 year-olds who turned 18 and were purged from the system.

There are several reasons for analyzing these groups separately. First, there is a legal distinction
between 17 year-olds and 18 to 21 year-olds,' which accounts for the different way that adult and
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juvenile records are handled on LEADS. Second, there is likely some bias, by parents, police or both,
toward porting missing juveniles more often than missing adults l'or example, there are more than
3,61)0 iecords of 17 year-olds in this data set, versus fewer than 600 each for persons ages 18 through
21 'I'hii 1, because the status of the 81 purged records of 17 year-olds it not known, these records
should be analyzed separately

Tobin 1,4 and Ill show the record status of every iuissing young adult entered into LEADS since
1981, by sex The number of 18 to 21 year-olds is split almost equally between males and females.
Fewer thin than 6 percent of these 1,885 people are still missing. Table 18 shows this same analysis,
with the addition of 3,602 17 year-olds who were reported missing within the last year and have not
yet reached their 18th birthdays. About 58 percent of these 17 year-olds are female. Also, a slightly
smaller proportion of these Additional records are still active when compared with records of the 18 to
21 year-olds.

Table 2 shows the record status of male and female missing young adults, by the three age group
categories In every group analy/cit, more female records remain active than male records.

Table I shows the sex and race of missing young adults for each of the age group categories.
Whites make up the vast majority of missing young adults for both sexes, and for every combination
of ages This finding probably Is biased for at least two reasons: most of these records are probably
from Downstate communities because Chicago police have their own computer systems for reporting
missing persons and do not use 11.ADS as their primary system; also, there is probably differential
reporting of missing young black ae.ults by both parents and police.

Table 1A

Missing Young Adults, Aged 18-21 at Disappearance,
Entered on LEADS between Jan. 1, 1981 and Nov. 29, 1983

Record Status Male Female Total

Active (still missing) 31 73 1011 (5.5%)

Cancelled/Voided (returned
or body found) 882 8115 1,727 (91.6%)

Located (found alive,
but not returned home 41 il ill

Total 954 931 1,885
(50.6%) (49,4%)
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Table 1B

Missing Young Adults. Aged 17-21 at Disappearance,
Entered on LEADS between Jan. 1,1981 and Nov. 29. 198.1

Record Status Kale Female Total

Active 76 160 236 (4.3%)

Cancelled/Voided 2,299 2,805 5,104 (93.0%)

Located 46 51. 143 (2.7%)

Total 2,471 3,016 5,487
(45.0%) (55.0%)

a Does not inr lode I3 year -olds who reached their 15th birthdays whole still missing, and whoa, roc ords were purged from the
dela base (28 males, 51 females). The current status of these CAM a not known.

Table 2

Missing Young Adults, by Sex and Age,
Entered on LEADS between Jan. 1, 1981 and Nov. 29, 1983

AVOWS

Becord Status 18-21 17-21 1/: Iriteds

Active

Cancelled

Located

73 (7.8%)

845 (90.8%)

13 (1.4%)

160 (5.3%)

2,805 (93.0%)

51 (1.7%)

2i3 (6.9%)

2,805 (91.4%)

51 (1.7%)

Total 931 3,016 3,069

MALES

Record Status 18-21 17-21 1/-21+Purgedi

Active 31 (3.2%) 76 (3.1%) 104 (4.2%)

Cancelled 882 (92.5%) 2,299 (93.0%) 2,299 (92.0%)

Located 41 (4.3%) 96 (3.9%) 96 (3.8%)

Total 954 2,471 2,499

* Includes I / year -olds pursed from the data hose on their 15th birthdays, but whowere still -lasing; these records are Included
under "Active' Of mates, 53 females/
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Table 3

Missing Young Adults, By Sex and Race,
Entered un LEADS between Jan. 1, 1981 and Nov. 29, 1983

Age 18-21

White Black Other Total

Male 783 163 8 954 (50.6%)

Female 802 11* / 211 (49.4%1

Total 1,592 278 15 1,A85
(84.5%) (14.7%) (0.8%)

Age 17-21
(not including 81.purged 17 year-olds' records)

White Black Other Total

Male 2,164 293 14 2,471 (45.0%)

Female 21621 310 11 3.04 (55.0%)

Total 4,857 603 27 5,487
(88.5%) (11.0%) (0.5%)

Age 17-21
(including 82 purged 27 year -olds' records)

White Black Other Total

Male 2,189 296 14 2,499 (44.9%)

Female 2,740 316 3,069 (55.1%)

Total 4,929 612 27 5,568
(88.5%) (11.0%) (0.5%)
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The chart below shows the number of male and female missing young adults by individual ages
from 17 to 11. Again, there are many more 17 year-olds reported to LEADS than any other age
studied. Interestingly, there are almost equal numbers of records for 18 to 21 year-olds. In this chart,
only 43 of the 17 year-olds' records were entered by the Chicago Police Department. Between
January 1, 1981 and November 29, 1983, Chicago police reported to LEADS only one 18 year-old
and two 19 year-olds as missing.

17 YEAR -OLDS MAKE UP THE MAJORITY OF
MISSING YOUNG ADULTS IN ILLINOIS

Missing 17-21 year olds reported to LEADS
between January 1, 1981 and November 29, 1983.

Imka N 5,568 man

IWO VOID MK

AGE 17

FA
AGE 18
(9.8%)

AGE 19
(8.8%)

Q UM Mg Pair III

AGE 20 AGE 21
(7.3%) (8.011)

.4
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F: FEDERAL MISSING CHILDREN'S ACT

28 USC 534(a)

Section S 34. Acquisition, preservation, and exchange of identification records and information; ap-
pointment of officials

(a) The Attorney General shall--

(1) acquire, collect, classify, and preserve identification, criminal identification, crime, and other
records;

(2) acquire, collect, classify, and preserve any information which would assist in the identification
of any deceased individual who has not been identified after the discovery of such deceased
individual;

(3) acquire, collect, classify, and preserve any information which would assist in the location of
any missing person (including an unemancipated person as defined by the laws of the place of
residence of such person) and provide confirmation as to any entry for such a person to the parent,
legal guardian, or next of kin of that person (and the Attorney General may acquire, collect, class-
ify, and preserve such information from such parent, guardian, or next of kin),,

(4) exchange such records and information with, and for the official use of, authorized officials of
the Federal Government, the States, cities, and penal and other institutions.

(b) The exchange of records and Information authorized by subsection (aX4) of this section is rubject
to cancellation if dissemination is made outside the receiving departments or related agencies.

(c) The Attorney General may appoint officials to perform the functions authorized by this section.

As amended Pub L. 97-292 sec. 2, 3(a), Oct. 12, 1982,96 Stat. 1259.
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G: ILLINOIS STATE POLICE DISTRICT OFFICES

Parents, guardians or next of kin can call the following Illinois State Police district offices to
confirm that an entry has been made into the LEADS and NCIC missing person data bases for a child
or other relative who has disappeared. Parents also may call the FBI's Chicago field office
(312/431-1333) or Springfield field office (217/522-9675) to confirm NCIC entry for a missing
person.

District 1 (Sterling) (815) 625-0151

District 2 (Elgin) (312) 742-3553

District 3 (Chicago) (312) 283-2400

District 4 (Crestwood.. (312) 385-2121

District 5 (Joliet).- (312) 726-6291

District 6 (Pontiac) (312) 844-3131

District 6A (Ashkum) ......... ....... .......... . (815) 698-2315

District 7 (Rock Island) (309) 755-0428

District 8 (Metamora) (309) 676-2116

District 9 (Springfield) (217) 782-2377

District 10 (Pesotum) (217) 876-2211

District II (Collinsville) (618) 345-1212

District 12 (Effingham) (217) 536-6161

District 13 (DuQuoin).. (618) 542-2171

District I 3A (Cairo). (618) 734-0270

District 14 (Macomb) (309) 833-2141

District 15 (Oak Brook) (312) 654-2200

District 16 (Pecatonica) (815) 963-7686

District 17 (LaSalle) (815) 224-1150

District 18 (Litchfield) (21 71 314-2151

District 19 (Cam) (618) 382-4606

District 20 (Pittsfield) ..(217) 285-4431

2 6
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H: MISSING PERSON AND RUNAWAY SERVICE ORGANIZATIONS

The following is a selected list of national missing person and runaway service organizations.
The list was compiled from the Informational Resources Directory of the Missing Children Informa-
tion Clearinghouse, Florida Department of Law Enforcement.

ADAM WALSH CHILD RESOURCE CENTER, INC.
Mercede Executive Park
Parkview Building, Suite 306
1876 North University Drive
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33322
(305) 475-4847
CONTACT: Executive Director Denny Abbott

The Adam Walsh Center is a private non-law enforcement agency designed to ensure that fun-
damental rights of children are protected. Among other functions related to children, the center is dedi-
cated to protecting missing children through a computerized system that enables police agencies to have
24-hour access to all records stored on missing and runaway children in Broward County.

CHILD FIND, INC,
Post Office Box 277
New Peltz, New York 12561
(914) 255-1848
(800) 431- 15 (Reserved for use by children)
CONTACT information Director Kristin Vermilye

Child Find is an organization whose cbjective is to help parelits and victims of child snatching by es-
tablishing a central registration point for matching separated children and their searching parents.
Chilli Find publishes a directory of missing persons which contains photographs and descriptions of
missing children.

MISSING PERSONS NATIONWIDE, INC,
Post Office Box 5331
Hudson, Florida 33568
CONTACT; Alfie Brisben

Missing Persons Nationwide, Inc, is a nonprofit organization that was recently established in Florida
to help locate missing persons. This organization is not related to any public law enforcement agency.
It records information on missing persons reported by relatives and publishes these records in the form
of hot sheets which are distributed to law enforcement agencies in the area where the person missing is
believed to be headed. The organization maintains missing persons records in its files until the in-
dividual is located.
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NATIONAL RUNAWAY SWITCHBOARD
2210 North I lalsted
(Imago, Illinois 6116 14
(80(1) 621 -4000(111inois only (801)(971-6004)

I he' NO 11011(11 1410MW,Iy :;WIll 011111 IN a 24-hour a day service which provides runaways with a toll-
free hotline for counseling. referral services and message relays The Switchboard can conference calls
between runaways and parents/guurdians Information gathered through the Switchboard is kept strict-
ly confidential

OPE 12 ATIoN PEACE OF MINI)
Posi Oft 'Le Box 52896
Houston, Texas 77052
(811(1) 211-6946 (Texas only (80(11 392-3352)
CON FACT Tina Alu

Operation Peace of Mind is a 24-hour a day servu.e which provides runaways with a tol.-free hot-
line for counseling. message relays and referrals fur shelter, legal aid and food. The name of the
luvenile is confidential and as often nut obtained when the call is made

REWARD NEWS LETTER
Post Office Box 505
Huntington Station, New York I 1746

Reward News Letter is an information and news gathering publication dedicated to the prevention of
child abduction Its goal is to ultra( t the interest of the general public and to inform the greatest num-
ber of people about the problem of missing persons

COST $85 00 per entry
(No charge to those who cannot afford publiLationlee)

SEARCH
560 Sylvan Avenue
Englewood liffs, New Jersey 07b32
(800) 526 -460.3

is is central registry of missing persons circulated to law enforcement agencies, hospitals.
emergency facilities, clinics, youth shelters and runaway homes

COST $9500 for initial entry
$45 00 per issue for further publication
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I: EXAMPLE OF A CHILD INFORMATION PACKET

CHILD INFORMATION PACKET

Child's Name

Dale of Birth

Place of Birth

. .

Father's Name

Mother's Name (Maiden)

.. _

Family Physician

IREENVIt LE POLICE DEPARTMENT
JPIEENVILLE, ILLINOIS

2G

Contents Checklist Date

Cl Recent Photograph

11 Fingerprints

I I Information Sheet

I Consent Form

I 1 Dental Charts

X-Rays

11 Vaccination Records

H Birth Certificate

Ul

f-1

6154642131
JOHN K. KING

CHIEF OF POLICE



GREENVILLE
POLICE DEPARTMENT

404 60vn.74146 a,

GREENVILLE ILLINOIS 62246
161616642131
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Child Information Packet
(Chip)

JOHN K KING C414404 40koCt

The Greenville Police Department has developed a program that will
assist parents and law enforcement agencies in locating and identifying
missing children. Through seminars presented throughout the community
we will attempt to obtain 100X participation in this program from
parents and their children. The objectives of the program include:

I. Establish a Child Information Packet for each child who
attends school, pre-school or day care facilities within
Greenville. This packet will contain:

a. Current picture of each child.
b. Fingerprints.
c. Personal information.
d. Dental charts.
e. X-rays.

f. Vaccination records.
g. Birth certificate.
h. Other pertinent documents.

2. Build and strengthen rapport between children and law
enforcement officers.

3. Provide an opportunity for parents to obtain fingerprints
of their children for inclusion in the packet.

Children Information Packet

The target areas include kindergarten through high school with special
emphasis on K-6th grade. It is hoped that the program can be continued
on an annual basis to include new members of our community. The program
is designed to provide a large envelope for each participant. The
envelope is designed not only to hold information inside, but outside
as well, with pertinant data about each child printed on the packet.

For inclusion in the ChIP (Child Information Packet) the fingerprint
cards will be provided and the fingerprints will be taken of each child
whose parents and/or guardian has signed the "Release To Take Finger-
prints". The fingerprints will be taken by Greenville police officers,
and the completed cards will be given to the parents, inside the ChIP.
The police will not take any fingerprints without first having the
"Release To Take Fingerprints" signed. The program is also designed to
protect the parents and the child in that the police will not have any
record of the fingerprints or any list indicating that the child has
been fingerprinted.
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Page 2 Cont:

The ChIP can be used by the parents in any way they deem necessary;
however, information that has been compiled in the ChIP can be useful
to law enforcement officers when they are trying to locate missing,
'-Jst or kidnapped children. Many times the obvious pertinent in-
formation about one's child cannot be readily recalled during
emergencies. It is during these stressful emergency times that the
ChIP will be very useful for all concerned.

With the implementation of this program the Greenville Police Depart-
ment will have the capability of providing necessary information in
a timely matter which is compatible with various crime prevention
programs nationwide.

If the ChIP is kept by each family on an on-going basis, it can be
presented to the police when the problem arises, making positive
identification possible anywhere in this country.

26._'
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PERSONAL INFORMATION

NAME
(Last)

Date of Birth

(First) (Middle)

Nickname

Place of Birth

Race

Address

Sex Haight Weight Hair Eyes

(Street) (City) (State) (Zip)

Phone No. Blood Type RH Factor

FATHER'S NAME

Address (If different)

Business Name

Address

MOTHER'S NAME

Phone No.

Phone No.

(Street) (City) (State) (Zip)

Address (If different)

Business Name

Address

Phone No.

Phone No.

(Street) (City)

NEAREST RELATIVE'S NAME

Address

Family Physician

Address

(State) (Zip)

Phone No.

Dentist

Address

Phonr Na. Phone No.

Scare

Birthmarks

Broken Bones

Physical Abnormalities

Required Medication

Other

USE ADDITIONAL SHEETS IN CASE OF NOTICABLE PHYSICAL CHANCE OR CHANGE OF ADDRESS
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RELEASE TO TAKE FINGERPRINTS

TO: Greenville Police Department
City of Greenville
404 S. Third Street
Greenville, IL. 62246

['Please fingerprint my child for

my use in compiling a "Child Information Packet." (ChIP)

*Parent's Signatures

Parent's Signature:

*Legal Guardian's Signature:

Legal Guardian's Signature:

(*Signature of both parents/guardians are required unless status

is that of a single parent/guardian)

0 I do not wish to have my child

fingerprinted.
(Print child's full name)

Parent's Signature:

Legal Guardian's Signature:
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(V"
Kentucky Task Force on
Exploited and Missing Children
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September 26, 1983

Gordon Raley, Staff Director
Subcommittee on Human Resources
Committee on Education i Labor
House of Representatives
Congress of the United States
Room 2178, Rayburn House Office
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Gordon:

Office of the County Jtedie/Eskutisse
County Counhouse

Louisville, Kentucky 40202
150215414101

Bldg.

I thought you would be interested in the enclosed
final report of the Kentucky Task Force on Exploited
and Missing Children.

This report contains the findings and recommenda-
tions of the Kentucky Task Force and is the end
product of one year of public hearings and meetings
held by the task force in cities across Kentucky.
This final report is also the culmination of four
years of intense commitment in Jefferson County to
remedying the problems associated with exploited and
missing children.

In the coming weeks I hope you find some time to
peruse this final report. I think you will find it
comprehensive and many of the recommendations to be
models for other communities and other states to
follow.

Please feel free to contact me if I can be of any
advice or assistance.

Sincerely,

Mitd6r McConnell, Chairman
Kentucky Task Force on

Exploited and Missing Children

MM/BB:ck
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FINAL REPORT OF THE KENTUCKY TASK FORCE

ON EXPLOITED AND ROBING CHILDREN

MITCH MeCONNELL, CHAIRMAN

CHILD SEXUAL ABUSE AND EXPLOITATION AND

THE PARTICULAR VULNERABILITY OF RUNAWAY

AND ABDUCTED CHILDREN -

KENTUCKY'S RESPONSE TO A GROWING

NATIONAL TRAGEDY

Each year, hundreds of thousands of imocent
children leave their homes because they feel threatened
and unloved. Most return home within 4$ hours. But
many do not. They are forced to survive on the streets
often through drugs, prostitution or pornography
almost always at the encouragement and for the profit
of an adult criminally misusing the runaway child.

Abducted children are even more vulnerable.
Frightened and helpless, they can offer little resistance
to sexual abuse and may even end up murdered.

Sexual abuse and exploitation of children are
crimes that hit both sides of the Ntrada" equally. It is
as big a danger in a seemingly calm suburb or small
rural town asst Is in the inner city. The reason is that
the perpetrators like the clergyman who recruited
young boys right out of their parents' own homes for his
own sex purposes are usually someone the child
victim knows and trusts.

The Kentucky Task Force was organized to help
children and their ',fronts, and it has held public
hearings around Kentucky to raise public awareness and
design solutions to the problem. In this final repot, the
Task Force summarizes the problem, discusses what Is
being done in Kentucky to combat the problem, and
makes II legislative or program recommendations.

The time has come to bring the problems of
runaways, child abductions and other adult criminal
misuse of children out of the shadows and Into the open.

2 7 3

September 26, 1983
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FINAL REPORT OF THE KENTUCKY TASK FORCE

ON EXPLOITED AND HISSING CHILDREN

MITCH McCONNEIL, CHAIRMAN
Jefferson County Judge/Executive
Louisville

MAIMS AN3M.TINRIES
WILLIAM J. PIMLICO
Devises County Judge/Exeoutive
Owensboro
ABM N. IONS

Lexington-Fayette Vice Mayor
Lexington
RAIMBID C. SCRUM
MoCracken County Judge/Executive
Paduoah
PATTI licquisn)

KY Congress of Parents A Teachers
Owensboro
ERNEST E. ALLEN
Crime Commission
Louisville
ELIZABIU C. BOWDEN
KY Congress of Parents A Teaohera
Mayfield
CAPT. BOBBIE J. BREMEN
Shelbyville Polioe Department
Shelbyville

RINBROOKS
Brighton Center
Newport
SUE POOLE CARDWELL

Reclamation Servioes Unlimited, Inc.
Madisonville
BILLIE CLAYTON
Rowan County School System
Morehead
CLAUDIA CRANFORD
Family Therapist
Shelbyville
JOYCI BOIL"

Grant County Board of Eduoation
Williamstown

NSW R. SEMMES, M.D.
KY Chapter, Amerioan Aoademy of Pediatrics
Florenoe
MIA B. SEINDON
Murray State University
Murray
HIM P. KENDALL
Child Advocate
Lexington
PROF. AIR R. KLEINE-KRA=
KY Nurses Assooiation
Louisville
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RICHARD LUIS
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September 26. 1983

Dear Fellow Citizens,

Offic 01100 C01010 / J.40/1/1X,CU
County COInthoutil

Koitucky 40202
150211514161

This final report contains the findings and recommendations of the Kentucky
Task Force on Exploited and Missing Children which was organized in November
of last year.

We do not represent this report to be an exhaustive examination of all facets of
this sad and complicated "exploited and missing child problem". First of all,
many articles and books have already been written on the subject (many of
which are listed in the Appendix to this report), thus, we saw little reason to
product .nother document which served only to rehash existing knowledge.
Secondly, the task force has operated without abundant staff or financial
resources. Task force members or their employers have paid for their travel to
meetings and related .xpenaes, while Jefferson County-Government has picked
up the expenses of task force mailings, photocopying and the like. Jefferson
County Goverm.ient has also lent the County's Intergovernmental Affairs
Director, an attorney, to serve as task force staff counsel.

In contrast to our limited budget, the University of Washington recently
completed, at a cost of 5422,000 to the federal government, a study of males
and females entering into juvenile prostitution "and its relationship to early
sexual experience, exposure to prostitution, and associated criminal activity".
Similarly, Urban and Rural Systems Associates of San Francisco received a
$241,000 federal grant "to develop a demographic and descriptive knowledge
base of adolescent male prostitutes and to determine how adolescent male
prostitution relates to pornographic exploitation and to runaway behavior".
Also, Tufts University received a $933,000 federal grant "to develop and
analyze descriptive information on sexually exploited children from an
individual, family and community perspective".

These comparisons are made only to Illustrate the relatively modest cost to
conduct our meetings and public hearings, raise somewhat the level of public
awareness of the problem, and produce our findings and r, commendations. We
are grateful to Jefferson Fiscal Court for providing us the "shoestring" on which
we operated this task force. We also profoundly appreciate the grants from
IBM and Druthers Restaurants to print task force brochures and are indebted to
the City of Covington, Daviess, Kenton, Pulaski, and Warren County Fiscal
Courts, Lexington-Fayette Urban County Government, The Grant County
School Board and the United Steelworkers in Ashland for providing the facilities
and services to host public hearings.

This report summarizes the problem nationally and In Kentucky as we have read
about it and have listened to parents, police officers, prosecutors, judges, social
workers, community volunteers, corrections officials, and even two convicted
sex offenders tell us about it through many hours of individual conversations
and meetings and at seven public hearings held around Kentucky. Again, we
pretend neither to present all sides nor all aspects of the issues involved.
However,' this report we do offer an overview of the problem so that people
considerlrs our recommendations will better understand how we arrived at
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them. In this report we also capsulize some of the most important efforts nationally and in
Kentucky to combat child exploitation and to help exploited and missing children and their families.
Undoubtedly, we have failed to commend some important programs and individual efforts, and for
that we apologize. However, no slight to anyone was intended.

The heart of our report, and without which we would never have undertaken this exercise, is our
recommendations, of which there are IS. Most of out recommendations are followed in the
Appendix to this report with careful drafts of proposed legislation (where legislation is
recommended) and with 'Fact Sheets" further explaining our recommendations, which should make
the Job of implementing our report much easier. Otr recommendations do not deal with deficiencies
in federal legislation. Also, they do not include everything that should be done in this area of
concern. For one, if we never heard about some aspect of the problem, we obviously never devised a
solution. Secondly, because of recurring state revenue shortfalls, our recommendations do not
Include "big ticket" items. With one notable exception, the price tag of these recommendations is
minimal or nonexistent. And even the one recommendation that carries with it a cost can probably
be implemented through better use of existing resources.

Kentuckians have a! ?eady shown that they rank first among citizens of the 30 states in their efforts
to help exploited and missing children. Complete implementation of these recommendations will
keep Kentucky in the forefront of a growing national movement to help children who are missing and
protect all children from sexual abuse and exploitation.

With Issuance of this report, the Kentucky Task Force has finished Its work. Hereafter, a coalition
of concerned people and groups, through the Kentucky Alliance for Exploited and Missing Children,
will carry on the critical chore of educating legislators, public officials, school administrators, the
law enforcement community and parents about their responsibilities to children and about the proper
responses which are now available.

In conclusion, we leave you, our fellow citizens, an enormous and difficult problem, yet one which,
with dedicated community action and a positive legislative approach, we expect Kentuckians can
soon take delight in having solved.

Sincerely,

Mitch McConnell, Chairman

Judge William 3. Froehlich
Vice Mayor Am E. Ross
Judge Raymond C. Schultz
Patti A cqdsto
Ernest E. Allen
Elizabeth C. Bowden
Capt. Bobbie 3. Brenner
Kim Brooks
Sue Poole Cardwell
Billie Clayton
Claudia Crawford
Joyce Doyle
Robert E. Hemmer, M.D.
Donna R. Herndon
Helen P. Kendall
Am E. Kleine-Kracht

Richard Lewis
Anthony Mattaro
Phoebe McCoy
George R. Nichols, II, M.D.
Rosie Norris
Carol.i C. (Moyle
Martha -es Parker
Ronald 3. Pregilasco
Nancy Rawlings
Dr. Otis Reed, Jr.
Barbara F. Reynolds
Delta Rothstein Schiller
Delta Schroth
Col. Thomas 3. Schwartz, 3r.
Barbera Wailer
Merle Watson
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on-going investigative efforts, Ann has not been located. Our hearts and
prayers go out to Ann and to other children like her. Who can ever understand
the fear and suffering these missing and exploited children must face?

By widely publicizing the findings and implementing the
recommendations of this report, together we can make Kentucky a safer place
for children to play, to grow and to one day raise children of their own who,
hopefully, can !ook back on our findings of child sexual abuse and exploitation
as problems we faced squarely and had the conviction to conquer.

Mitch McConnell
Chairman, Kentucky Task Force on
Exploited and Missing Children

Louisville, Kentucky
September 26, 1983
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INTRODUCTION

Formation of the Kentucky Task Force on Exploited and Missing Children was announced
by Jefferson County Judge/Executive Mitch McConnell on November 18, 1982, in Lexington,
Kentucky at the Annual Conference of the Kentucky Association of Counties.

In explaining his reasons for forming the Kentucky Task Force, Judge McConnell pointed
out that over 50,000 children disappear from their homes each year in this country, not counting
habitual runaways (which now number at least 1.8 million) and parental abductions (which are
estimated at over 100,000 annually). Judge McConnell also emphasized that many of these
children are enticed Into prostitution and pornography and that nationally it is estimated that
several thousand annually turn up murdered.

The problem of child sexual exploitation (principally child prostitution and pornography)
was brought to the attention of Judge McConnell in late 1979 when a reference was made in a
midsvestem newspaper about Louisville as a recruiting point for child prostitutes to work in
Chicago. (A microcosm of the problem was already being documented by the old Field Services
Unit of the County Department of Human Services.) As a result of this, Judge McConnell sent
representatives to Chicago to Investigate these allegaticns. They met with Chicago police
officials, and with the information they brought back to Louisville Judge McConnell ordered an
undercover investigation by the Jefferson County Police Department, in cooperation with the
FBI, to determ.ne the extent, if any, of child prostitution and pornography in Louisville and
Jefferson County. After a several month investigation, it was reported to him that male and
female children were indeed being prostituted in the Louisville and Jefferson County
community.

Judge McConnell moved quickly then to establish a local intergovernmental, interagency
task force on child prostitution and pornography which included representatives of the FBI, the
Louisville Divisico of Police, the Jefferson County Police Department, the Jefferson County
Department of Human Services, the Kentucky State Police, the U.S. Postal Inspection Service,
various southern Indiana police departments, and both local prosecutors the County and
Commonwealth's Attorneys. Soon thereafter, Judge McConnell also committed scarce local
government resources to fund a new "Exploited Child Unit" (later renamed the Exploited and
Missing Child Unit) headed by an investigative st.cial worker with extensive background
dealing with street kids to work on a daily basis, using teams of police and social workors,
across political and jurisdictional boundaries to solve a problem that was viewed, prior to that
time, as essentially a police problem. Both the child prostitution and pornography task force
and the Exploited Child Unit were given broad authority to go where they needed to go and to
look where they needed to look in order to help find child victims and identify child predators
and their methods before they could strike again. Judge McConnell also asked the University of
Louisville to examine the problem thoroughly from sociological, economic and psychological
perspectives as well as assist the local task force with research.

At the time he created the local task force and local Exploited Child Unit, there was
little public understanding of, and infrequent media at'ention to, the problems of children who
run away or are abducted from their homes and who become the victims of adult sexual abuse
or exploitation. What public attention there was was generally focused on the large "body
counts" of the John Gacy, Dean Coryll and Wayne Williams murders in Chicago, Houston and
Atlanta, although several Individual tragedies like those of the Etan Patz family In New York,
the Adam Walsh family In Florida, and the Kathy Kohm family in Santa Claus, Indiana
generated some public sympathy and brief outcry. A few good books had been written on the
subject such as Robert Geiser's Hidden Victims, and a few good articles had been written in
such publications as Police Magazine. Noted author Ken Wooden had recently begun several
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investigative journalism pieces, and CHILD FIND was in its infancy.

However, within a year, task force representatives had testified before several
committees of Congress and had advised the police in Atlanta on the child tragedies there. And
it wasn't long before the Exploited Child Unit began finding children in Jefferson County who
were missing from their homes all across Kentucky. Also, adult exploiters were being arrested
in the Louisville urban area who had contacts with children in communities around Kentucky
and in other states. The Unit and Judge McConnell's office also began receiving requests for
help and information from families, private organizations and law enforcement groups across
Kentucky.

The problem of exploited and missing children to Judge McConnell and others, therefore,
was clearly a statewide problem, and so solutions, he determined, needed to be developed
statewide as well. Thus, the Kentucky statewide Task Force on Exploited and Missing Children
was conceived and born.

Its initial members were mostly recommended by statewide organizations such as the
Kentucky Association of School Administrators, the Kentucky Association of Chiefs of Police,
the Kentucky Medical Association, the Kentucky Association of County Judge/Executives, the
Kentucky Sheriffs Association, the Kentucky Chapter of the American Academy of Pediatrics,
the Kentucky Nurses Association, and the Kentucky Congress of Parents and Teachers. The
statewide task force also found early members at the Brighton Center in northern Kentucky
which had been working with missing children for years, at Northern Kentucky University, with
other local governments and government agencies concerned about the problem, and in private
industry. Several concerned citizens also volunteered for membership, and the task force
continued for several months to develop better geographic representation and to involve people
already working in the problem area and statewide organizations such as the Kentucky
Federation of Women's Clubs.

The first meeting of the task force was held in Lexington on December 13, 1982.
Although not officially a public hearing, that task force meeting featured several in-depth
presentations by three recognized experts on the subjects of child exploitation, runaways, and
child abductions.

On February 8, 1983, the task force held a public hearing in the Kenton rwnty Municipal
Building in Covington where it heard the disturbing stories of missing and abducted children
from several parents. It also received testimony from the Cooperative Extension Service
Homemakers about its program to fingerprint school children, the Women's Crisis Center about
a program to assist child victims of sexual abuse, and a reporter with WLWT-TV in Cincinnati
which featured the "My Child Is Missing" program on Monday night television.

On March 7-8, task fog e members attended the Kentucky Conference on Exploited and
Missing Children in Covington which was sponsored by the Brighton Center In Newport with the
assistance of the Kentucky Department of Justice, the Office of the Jefferson County
Judge/Executive, and the Louisville-Jefferson County Criminal Justice Commission. Task
Force Chairman Mitch McConnell addressed the conference, as did parent John Walsh of the
Adam Walsh Outreach Center in Hollywood, rloridas Jay Howell, Investigations Counsel with
the U.S. Senate Committee on Labor and Human Resources; Kristen Cole-Brown, with CHILD
FIND, Inc. in New Peitz, New York; Charlotte Hu !linger, co-founder of Parents of Murdered
Children from Cincinnati, Ohio; Robbie Calloway with the National Youth Work Alliance in
Washington, D.C.; Mark Wyatt, an Investigative reporter with WHAS-TV in Louisville; Det. Sgt.
Dick Ruffino with the Bergen County Sheriffs Department in Hackensack, New Jersey; and Lt.
Bill Spaulding with the Louisville Police Department's Criminal Intelligence Unit.

On March 29, task force members traveled to Owensboro and met at the Daviess County
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Courthouse where they heard from the Owensboro Area Spouse Abuse Center about its program
to counsel child rape victims and from the Owensboro 3ayceettes about its program to
fingerprint school children in the Owensboro /Davless County area. Task force members also
heard from a physician, a representative of the Davless County Sheriff's Department, and a
child protective services worker.

On May 11, task force members met at the Warren County Courthouse in Bowling Green
to hear testimony from representatives of the Warren County Health Department, the Barren
River Area Safe Space, the Girl Scout Council, Child Protection, Inc., the Comp Care Center,
the County Attorney's Office, the state Bureau for Social Services, the Bowling Green Police
Department, and an organization of professional social workers. One of the parents who
testified suggested that jails are not filled with people who are loved too much as children.

On Tune 8, task force members met at the Pulaski County Courthouse in Somerset where
they received testimony from parents and from the director of a local program for the mentally
retarded, a representative of the Somerset Business and Professional Women's Club who
explained her organization's fingerprinting program, a juvenile court worker, a district court
iudge, the Somerset Police Department, WLPQ Radio about its promotion and co-sponsorship of
a fingerprint program, and the Kentucky State Police.

On July 6, task force members met at the Lexington-Fayette Government Center in
Lexington and received testimony from representatives of the Lexington-Fayette Police
Department, Coleman House in Lexington, the Temple Adath Israel Sisterhood about that
organization's fingerprinting program, the Lexington Rape Crisis Center, the Fayette County
school system, the Early Child Care Center, the Kentucky State Police, and the Kentucky
Department of Justice. Task force members also heard from a child protective services worker
and from several concerned parents and citizens.

On August 4, task force members met at the Executive Inn in Paducah and, following a
meeting earlier with the Kentucky Association of Chiefs of Police, heard from representatives
of the Graves County Health Department, the state Department for Social Services, Lowes
School in Lowes, Kentucky, the Women's Area Spouse Abuse Center, the Paducah Optimists
Club, a Madisonville Baskin-Robbins Ice Cream Store which was conducting fingerprinting, the
Greater Paducah Chapter of Parents Without Partners, and the Mayfield Police Department.
Task force members also heard from parents and from a community volunteer who observed
that one reason so few young children are available for adoption is that abused and neglected
children, temporarily removed from home, are constantly sent back to abusive and neglectful
parents.

On September 6, the task force held its final public hearing at the United Steelworkers
Union Hall in Ashland. Task force members heard from the, Chief of Casework Services at the
Kentucky State Reformatory at LaGrange, two convicted sex offenders serving time at the
Kentucky State Reformatory at LaGrange, the Chief of Police of Morehead, the Chief of Police
of Flatwood, two district court judges, and a representative of the Ashland YWCA.

Public hearings were held in each of the above-mentioned Kentucky cities and were
attended each time by task force Chairman Mitch McConnell and members Ron Pregllasco and
Merle Watson. Other task force members attended as many public hearings as their schedules
permitted them to attend. However, typed minutes of each public hearing were distributed to
all task force members shortly after each of the public hearings. Full task force meetings were
held in conjunction with both Lexington meetings, and In Covington, Owensboro, and Somerset.
Additionaliy, committees of the task force met on various occasions in different Kentucky
cities and over the telephone. On several occasions task force members were mailed
voluminous packets of articles and other prepared materials to study.

This final report, therefore, represr-ts findings aid recommendations of the task force
developed through considerable personal sivrty and reading, hours of individual conversations
and meetings, and seven public hearings held In seven representative areas of the state. Prior
to each of those meetings. individual notice.. were mailed to all public officials. social service
providers, school superintendents, police chiefs, sheriffs, and most school officials, church
leaders, and community organizations in the swounding counties. Every attempt was made to
elicit testimony from all professionals and concerned citizens who might have something to say
on Ca subject of exploited and missing children.
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WHAT IS THE PROBLEM?

The initial focus of the task force was on child prostitution and pornography, but as we
stualed the problem more and looked for solutions we realized that we could not ignore the
problems of sexual abuse at home (e. g., incest), runaways, parental abductions (snatchings),
stranger abductions, and the particular vulnerablitity to sexual abuse and exploitation of
runaway and abducted children and those who have been called "latchkey" and "throwaway"
children. We have grouped these many separate problems and many facets of separate problems
int< ahat we now call the "exploited and missing child problem", because the individual stories
of tnese children and their families are as many and different as they are also the same.

In Bowling Green, for example, a tearful father told the task force about his runaway
daughter who for months alluded her desperately searching parents while catching one ride
after another from passersby seemingly oblivious to the fact that a young girl traveling the
interstate' highways might be missing from a family and a home.

In Covington, a grieving mother told the task force In a trembling voice how her
intoxicated teenage son was taken into custody by local police, dropped off about a mile from
home and never seen again his whereabouts to this day, 3 years later, unknown. Mother
mother tried to explain her worry and anger over her estranged husband's snatching their
youngest daughter who he had sexually abused at age 10.

In Somerset, a relieved parent told the task force how her 12-year old son was approached
at a shopping center and offered money and liquor In a rebuked effort to lure the boy Into
returning the "favors" with sex. A Somerset police officer told of the sexual abuse case he
worked of a 22-month old girl.

In Lexington, a Rape Crisis Center worker said that the youngest victim of sex abuse she
knew was 2 years old and the youngest rape victim T. The mother of a raped and murdered
retarded child told how her daughter wasn't running from home, but rather to home, having
escaped from an institution that neglected her. Like others who testified,she critized police
whose efforts to find her missing daughter, if riot aggressive, at least were not fully
appreciative of a mother's fears and grief.

In Paducah, a social worker said that of 630 children found abused and neglected in her
community, at least 10 percent were sexually abused. Another social worker told of two
prostitution rings he detected in central Kentucky.

Finally in Ashland, a police chief explained how an eagle-eyed service station attendant
and vigilant police department reacted quickly to apprehend a man, with 17 prior convictions of
child sexual abuse, who tried to yank a child through a window of a parked car while the child's
mother, a few yards away inside the service station, was paying the station attendant for the
gas she Just purchased. And a convicted sex offender explained how he was sodomized at an
early age by his father, two brothers and grandfather. When he grew to adulthood, he
committed 23 separate sex crimes of his own against children all of whom he knew well.

The children's stories could be told by thousands of other children in America and by
hundreds in Kentucky today. Some are children with at least one loving, caring parent. Others
have two parents but who live apart and fight for possession of the child, of course in the child's
"best interest". Still others have two parents who either care little for them or live busy lives
and have no time for them. And then there are children who have no home lives at all. The
children tell of parents who show no love or pay little attention to them and of adults who,
although feigning affection for them, are really selfishly driven by their own sick sexual desires.
Children also tell of frightening home environments with brutal or incestual parents, and they
tell how they run away from the pain and abuse only to find that their travail has continued in
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an even more grotesque life as victims of child sexual exploitation.

Runaways

The problem of exploited and missing children is difficult to explain, but since runaways
comprise such a large percentage of those children they seem the place to start. The U. S.
Department of Health and Human Services estimates that over 1.8 million children run away
from home every year in this country, a number that is growing. Most are faced with the
dilemma of an unbearable home life on the one hand and an unsympathetic community on the
other. The choice between returning home, or remaining on the streets to survive often by
theft, drug peddling, prostitution or pornography -- which is almost always at the
encouragement or for the benefit of an adult criminally misusing the runaway child is a
difficult choice to make. Ultimately, 90 percent of those return home, leaving over 100,000
children to make the decision that life on the streets is better than a life with abusive,
incestual, or alcoholic parents.

Many factors seem to have contributed to this rise in the numbers of runaways. The
decade of the sixties ushered in a new attitude of personal freedoms and independence. A "do
your own thing" attitude formed, personal independence at a very early age grew quite common,
and children became highly mobile in many of the nation's and Kentucky's communities. Large
cities, of course, provide more opportunities for shelter and employment than rural areas, and
the age-old attraction of an "exciting" urban life brought many youths in search of a new life
and anonymity to Amer in's big cities. The runaway population grew to over 1.8 million
nationally and about 4000 in the Louisville metropolitan area.

Also, the growing problem of alcohol and drug abuse has created problems within the
family structure. Alcohol or drug addicted parents who become abusive when intoxicated and
who are unable to maintain Jobs have been found to be relatively common In the runaway's
familial history. The director of one runaway shelter has remarked that "these kids are running
from something, not to something".

The growing divorce rate has iractionalized the traditional family structure in America
even more. Single parents with children struggle to make ends meet, and often the unattended
child runs afoul of the law or is victimized by another adult because his parent or parents are
nowhere near to protect him. Some are called "latchkey" kids; others are called "throwaway" or
"pushout" children 1980's terms for youngsters who are neglected or abandoned by parents
strapped with mounting bills, caught up in a struggle for survival, and who ignore their
responsibility to their children and to society. "Throwaways" or "pushouts", in particular, make
up a growing percentage of runaway children.

Strains put on traditional family roles have been combined with many structural changes
and malfunctions in governmental and social systems and have resulted in a runaway problem
that has reached epidemic proportions.

The period of the sixties, and its focus on human rights and the protection of individual
civil liberties, resulted in changed attitudes about the handling of criminals and Juvenile
delinquents. This attitude was reflected in the juvenile Justice and Dellquency Prevention Act
of 1974 which required the deinstitutionalization of status offenders (i.e., children whose acts
would not be considered offenses except for their status as children) and the removal of other
juveniles, where federal funds were Involved, from adult lockups. Congress also passed the
Runaway and Homeless Youth Act of 1976 which established a number of youth shelter homes in
communities to deal with runaways and other homeless youths. Whereas previously runaways
were arrested by juvenile authorities and placed in Juvenile detention facilities, pending
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resettlement in foster homes, these new shelter homes treated children individually and
provided staff counselors, specifically trained to help the runaways deal with their problems.
But the shelter houses and treatment facilities were all less secure and more exposed to the
community at large than the institutions they succeeded, and no subsystems were created by
the justice system to accompany these new social service programs to help support and protect
the deinstitutIonalized children now placed "at risk" in the community. The creators of these
new social service programs failed to provide for the fact that certain subsystems would be
necessary for these children to "survive on the streets". Even worse, the children using these
shelter facilities, according to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, comprise
less than 5 percent of the runaway population nationally. The remaining 95 percent must rely
on their own wits to survive. Indeed a Florida study found that of all runaways who remain
away from home for more than two weeks, three-quarters resort to theft, drug peddling,
prostitution or pornography to survive and play a part in the rising crime rate nationally.

As one 14-year old named Carol who had been a runaway in Jefferson County for about
five months said: "I didn't intend to stay gone but a few days. I met some girlfriends and they
took me to a pad to stay. The guy who had the pad told me I'd have to pay to stay there and
within a week he had me out hooking to pay the rent, car payment, food and clothes. I had to
bring in over $100 per night or he'd hit me with a clothes hanger. It's hard to stay in the group
home and go to school when you know that you can make better than $100 a night out there on
the streets as a kid!"

Child Prostitution

According to the U.S. General Accounting Office, estimates of the number of teenage
male and female prostitutes In America range from tens of thousands to 2.4 million. The author
of the book For Love or Money: Boy Prostitution in America, published in 1976, used a working
figure of 300,000 boy prostitutes, a figure he described as a "gut hunch". Using this 300,000
figure, the president of Odyssey Institute (a child advocacy organization),according to the GAO,
has reasoned that the number of teenage female prostitutes at least equals the number of male
prostitutes. And since only half the true number of prostitutes is known, the total is probably
at least 1.2 million child prostitutes, not including 16-and 17-year-olds which should bring the
total to 2.4 million.

How many runaways end up in prostitution is difficult to estimate, however most
prostitutes are runaways and missing from home. And at least one police department, the New
York City Police Department, has estimated that 90 percent of the runaways apprehended by
that department's Runaway Unit may have been involved at one time in prostitution.

As the GAO aptly points out, prostitution traditionally was believed to be the result of
severe personality disorders and a form of compensating behavior In response to homosexuality,
virginity or antagonism toward men. More recently, research has attributed entry into
prostitution to a combination of psychological, social, environmental and economic factors
which could be characterized as negative childhood experience. Although not condoning
prostitution, it is important to explain that teenage prostitutes often enter prostitution as the
products of a poor home environment characterized by violence, lack of parental love and
affection, and drug and alcohol abuse. Many have been the victims of sexual abuse, including
incest and rape, and have experienced physical abuse and neglect at home. Often they see
prostitution as a life of adventure, glamour, and excitement and as an easy way to earn money.
Many are even dependent upon their income from prostitulon for their own survival. Studies
show that boy prostitutes, In some less than obvious aspects, may be different from girl
prostitutes, but the basic factors are usually cited as the same.

Studies show that particularly young female prostitutes have poor self-images, which are
reinforced by the labeling they have received as "promiscuous" or "delinquents". Unfortunately,
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there is of ten found a law enforcement attitude that "problem kids" are just promiscuous,
flighty and of little informational value. Accordingly, social service and law enforcement
agencies have generally performed their respective duties often unaware of adult pimp-juvenile
prostitute networks that prey on teenage victims through sexual abuse and exploitation. There
is also a customary community attitude that child prostitution is a "victimless crime".
Accordingly, it is often rated a low priority compared to other offenses this despite the fact
that a growing pattern of victimization has been found in which juveniles become first the
victims of child abuse (both physically and sexually), then run away from home, are recruited
into prostitution and pornography by boyfriend/father-surrogate/business manager-styled pimps,
and from there enter into violent crimes, perhaps even their own murder.

This pattern has been defined as "progressive victimization" and can be particularly seen
with young boy prostitutes. Unfortunately, an increasing societal openness regarding
homosexual activities has created in our communities a market for young male "street hustlers"
who serve the need of "cruising" homosexuals purely for economic reasons. Sadly, this "chicken
hawk" phenomenon as it has been teamed (involving mostly middle-age, white, middle class
males), occurring across America has lent itself dramatically to John Gacy types. Gacy was
convicted of killing 33 boys in Chicago, many of them runaways, and burying 29 of them in the
crawl space below his house under a thin layer of dirt and lime. A member of the Cook County
team of prosecutors in that case noted that most of those boys "went from victim to criminal
back to victim again". This pattern has been confirmed by such national experts as Los Angeles
Police Department Detective Lloyd Martin, who has observed that "the sexually exploited child
of today has a good possibility of becoming the hard core criminal of tomorrow". Indeed,
research and our interviews with sex offenders seems to demonstrate that the vast majority of
violent sex offenders and child molesters have themselves been the victims as children of child
physical abuse and/or child sexual abuse.

Child Molestation

Although runaways are dearly the most commonly and easily preyed upon victims for
exploiters of children, additional threats are posed to all children by child molesters.
Newsweek magazine has reported that, by conservative estimates, one out of ten children is
sexually abused each year, often by a trusted authority figure -- a teacher, a doctor, a camp
counselor or by the child's parents themselves. Sexual child abuse cuts across all social,
economic and racial strata. Indeed Irving Prager, a California attorney and former deputy
district attorney in California in charge of the sex crimes and career criminal sections, has
stated that child molestation "is probably the most common serious crime against a person in
the United States". Unlike the chicken hawk or the "John" who purchases a girl prostitute, the
child molester usually uses seduction as well as bribery in order to obtain sexual favors from
children.

,Society, however, has misconceived the source of threat to children as being the
legendary character in the big car and raincoat, offering candy to unsuspecting school children.
Therefore, many parents believe their children will be safe if they simply do not talk to
strangers. In truth, though, according to research and from our study of child molestation
cases, child molester . are almost always someone the victim knows. Probably one-third of the
time the molester is a relative, and at least another one-third of the time the molester is an
acquaintance of the child's parents, like the clergyman who, using deception, recruited young
buys right out of their parents' homes for his own personal sexual purposes.

The clinical diagnosis of the c..ild molester or "pedophile" is an adult whose conscious
sexual interests and overt sexual behavior are directed either partially or exclusively toward
children.
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The child molester falls into two psychological classifications. The "fixated" pedophile is
usally a white male with an attraction to young boys. This pedophile's interest in boys does not
extend toward adult men, therefore the fixated pedophile is not homosexual; he is a "pedophile".
Frequently he has affection for his victim and often can identify with his victim because,
according to a least one study, over 80 percent of child molesters were themselves sexually .

abused as children. According to A. Nicholas Groth, director of the sex-offender program at
the Connecticut Correctional Institution, the pedophile is "reenacting his own victimization, but
he wants to change it into a warm and loving experience where he is in control, to purge the
original fear". The victimized child, on the other hand, views the encounter with fright and
confusion. And despite his warm feelings, the pedophile Is not above threatening the child to
prevent him from telling his parents of the relationship, which could involve anything from
fondling and mutual masturbation to anal or oral intercourse.

The other class of pedophile is the "regressed" offender. Unlike the fixated pedophile, the
regressed offender is a man with a normal heterosexual orientation who turns tc young girls at a
crisis point, such as a divorce or a professional setback. Regressed of fenders are often
incestuai, and they commit incest, not because of family dynamics, bt.: because they are
genuinely aroused by children. They have been described as "child molesters who stay at home".

Bea use the regressed offender's involvement with children Is a c.ear departure from his
otherwise lormal sexual activity, and because his action is the result of adult-life stress
situations, psycho-therapists claim to have some success in treating these pedophiles.
Treatment of fixated pedophiles, on the other hand, has been largely unsuccessful.

A growing body of evidence and an increasing number of medical, sociological and legal
experts are concluding that child molesters with a lifelong history of emotional as well as
sexual involvement with children are not curable. It has been said that pedophilla is nothing
more than a sexual preference, Uke homosexuality. Unfortunately, the sexual activity is never
consensual. Others say that pedophiUa is no more an illness than, say, bank robbery is an illness
and that treatment has been used as an escape from responsibility.

The idea that we could take convicted pedophiles out of society and cure them in
hospitals, or probate them and trust that they will simply secure their own treatment, has long
been fashionable in this country. Sexual offenses against children have never been taken as
seriously as sex crimes against adults, although that is beginning to change. One reason is
because of the citizen outrage and resulting national attention that accompanied several recent
outrageous cases. One of the most infamous was that of Theodore Frank who came to
California from Missouri in 1913, bringing with him a lengthy record of sex crimes against
children, according to attorney Irving Prager prosecutor of the Theodore Frank case, in a 1982
article in the Journal of Juvenile Law.

After about 15 arrests and 7 convictions, Frank was twice hospitalized and twice
Imprisoned. In California he abducted and sexually molested a 6-year old Bakersville girl and
forced her to perform oral sodomy. Frank entered a guilty plea to a reduced charge of child
molestation and was sent to a California state hospital as a mentally disordered sex offender.
According to Prager, Frank candidly discussed with hospital staff his sexual exploits involving
"probably 100 to ISO children ... employing methods such as bondage, physically striking his
victims, and inserting various items into his female victims' vaginas . ..". Despite admitting
that he manipulated hospital staff on both prior hospitalizations In order to gain release,
according to Prager, the hospital staff considered Frank a model patient who responded very
well to various types of treatment, so all pending charges against him were dismissed and he
was released only three years after he was institutionalized. Frank was invited back to the
institution as a guest speaker and as an excellent example of effective therapy.
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Only six weeks after Frank's release from the hospital, the nude body of a 2-year-old girl,
who had been abducted from the yard of her aunt's home, was found along a roadside near
Los Angeles. She had been raped, sodomized, cut with a knife, mutilated by the removal of her
nipples with a pair of vise grips while she was still alive, and had finally died of asphyxiation.
Frank was arrested four months later, after abducting, molesting and brutalizing an 8-year-old
girl, and he was eventually convicted and sentenced to death. Despite this, Newsweek
magazine reported last year that the trial judge in that murder case acknowledged that Frank
would probably be freed in 12 years for good behavior.

Out of that case was born SLAM (Society's League Against Molesters) which was founded
by Patti Linebaugh, whose 2-year old granddaughter, Amy Sue Seitz, was Frank's 2-year-old
victim.

Pornography

Pedophiles are also largely responsible for child pornography produced, distributed and
so id in the United States. When the Supreme Court ruled that the first amendment does not
protect child pornography, there was an immediate police crackdown on large scale commercial
producers and distributors. Pornographers such as Catherine Wilson, known as "Black Cathy",
who, according to Los Angeles Police Department Det. Lloyd Martin was responsible for 80
percent of the child porn industry in the United States, were arrested and put out of business.
However, far from ending the child pornography industry, the law only drove producers and
disributors farther underground. And while the law has effectively inhibited sellers of kiddie-
porn, pornography constitutes only a small fraction of all child pornography produced in the
United States. Det. Sgt. Tom Rogers, with the Indianapolis Police Department specializing in
pornography investigations, has said that most kiddie porn today is simply traded. "Everyone
can afford a polaroid camera. Someone gets Involved with a niece or nephew or a neighbor,
takes some pictures, has them duplicated, and then trades them with other collectors."

Pedophiles' fascination with child porn stems from many different factors. Many
pedophiles take pictures of their victims in order to show other pedophiles. Like a man or
woman who takes pride in displaying a picture of his spouse or lover, pedophiles take great pride
in proving their talents to their peers by presenting pornographic photos of their victims in
particularly seductive or innocent poses. Dealers with fresh faces, ones that have yet to
become the twisted leers, common to children who have been subjected to sexual exploitation
for very long, can charge top dollar for pedophiles shopping for photos of pure, more virginal
children. They also use child porn to lower the inhibitions of prospective victims. By exposing
a child to pornographic photos of children and adults in sexual encounters, the pedophile tries to
demonstrate to the child that behavior of this sort is acceptable. Pedophiles will use
particularly innocent and happy-looking children for this sort of manipulation, as well as
offering the victim some sort of material reward, like money, a new bike, movie or fancy meal.
Once the child has been victimized, the pedophile takes photos of his new "lover" in order to
"capture the moment", particularly the first few ercounters which represent the period when
the child was the most sexually attractive to the pedophile. Child molesters often have
thousands of photographs in elaborate filing systems based on age or any myriad of
classification systems. The collections help to inflate the ego of the pedophile as he relives
sexual encounters with the children he has victimized and recalls each and every relationship.

A case in Louisville involved a local minister who, with permission of parents who thought
their sons were doing yard work for the pastor, employed young boys not only as gardners, but
also as "lovers" and models for pornographic photo and film sessions. When officers and social
workers from the Jefferson County Exploited and Missing Child Unit arrested the Rev. Donald
Glaser, over a thousand photographs as well as several magazines and hundreds of dollars of
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photo-reproduction equipment were confiscated. A Judge in Louisville, having failed to learn
from cases like that of Theordore Frank, probated Glaser to 200 hours of community service.

Victimization

Whether a child's victimization is a result of force or compulsion or not, every victimizer:
child tends to develop symptoms of psychological problems later in life. As previously noted,
victims of child sexual abuse often follow a patter:, of victimization which may eventually end
in violent crimes or even their own murder. However, for child victims who never grow up to
commit other crimes, the "pact of secrecy" that the molester forms with his victim often
produces intense suffering, often far worse than any physical abuse. Ann Burgess, a nursing
specialist in Boston, has said that "these children don't have broken bones, but they have broken
psyches".

Many of the victims of child exploitation are runaways fleeing parental abuse. Those who
are not runaways typically suffer from a lack of parental attention and adult affection, and
many of these victims refer to their exploiter as a "best friend". Pedophiles often tak e
children to ball games, parks or even on vacations, and in turn the child provides sexual favors.
For some lonely children, desperate for adult attention, the prize of adult affection is worth
their own victimization. Unlike runaways who enter into child prostitution as a means of
survival, children providing sex solely for adult attention tend to be the most seriously
psychologically damaged by sexual exploitation. Whereas the runaway sells his body out of
necessity and tells himself that the only reason he is doing it is that there is little choice other
than to starve, the child craving attention uses the sexual relationship as an integral part of his
unique friendship with his new best friend. Victims of this sort often experience pleasure as
well as pain, and when they learn of society's attitudes toward sexual activity between children
and adults, they become disassociated with society and tend to internalize their emotional
despair. Victims suffer from low self-esteem and view hostilely adults who they blame for their
misfortune. Victims of sexual exploitation then often become pedophiles themselves. As
Nicholas Groth with the sex offender program.at the Connecticut Correctional Institution has
stated, these children find adult relationships too frightening and seek validation in
relationships with other children.

Prevention

Parents are not the only people with misconceptions about the Identity ofpedophiles. As
more and more cases like the case of Rev. Donald Glaser, convicted of sex crimes with boys
ages 14-16, come to light, It is obvious that directors of organizations suchas Boy Scouts, Big
Brothers/Big Sisters, church youth groups and the like must take greater care in screening
prospective employees. For the most part, though, organizations continue to do as John Rabun,
manager of the Jefferson County Exploited and Missing Child Unit, told a U.S. Senate
Subcommittee nn Juvenile Justice investigating the runaway problem: "We go about hiring
people and placing them in very sensitive positions because they say they like kids. The whole
definition of pedophilla is an attraction to kids, so that should not be the definition for hiring
people to work in children's programs."

to an article written by Nicholas Groth, Wi llian F. Hobson, and Thomas S. Gary titled,
"The Child Molester: Clinical Observations", copyrighted in 1982 by The Haworth Press, two
options are said to exist with regard to disposing of child molestation cases. First, the offender
may be incarcerated, and second, the offender may be referred to an out-patient program or
agency for treatment. The authors state that the later approach should always be stipulated as
a condition of probation or parole. However, the authors also believe that treatment in an out-
patient setting should not be used, and placement should be In an institutional setting, when:
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"a. A threat of harm or actual physical force or abuse played a role in the offense,
b. The sexual activity involved any bizarre or ritualistic acts (such as enemas or

bondage),
c. The sexual offense Is one aspect of numerous antisocial behaviors or a criminal

lifestyle,
d. The sexual offense is secondary to a condition of serious psychopathology (such as

psychosis, retardation, addiction, or organicity),
e. The offense constitutes a chronic sexual fixation on children rather than a

regression under identifiable stresses,
1. The offender either denies his offense or does not regard such behavior as

inappropriate and there is no dependable agent to supervise or monitor his daily living, or
g. The offender has few psychological areas of conflict-free functioning and few

dependable social and occupational skills to manage most adult demands adequatediy."

From his considerable experience in this area, attorney Irving Prager, in the article
referred to earlier, observed that "so little is now known about pedophilla ;hat It is far from
certain that a demonstrably effective cure will ever by developed." Therefore, "If pedophilla is
a basic sexual orientation, 'curing' pedophilla might be as improbable as 'curing'
heterosexuality." He observed that "methods of treating sex offenders, like the theories on
which they are based, are diverse, often controversial and sometimes seemingly bizarre." He
also said that treatment methods utilized are not analogous to medical prescriptions. "Even
their practitioners shy away froM claiming that their favorite methods are known to effect
cures."

Regarding recidivism Prager commented that "since pedophilla is a self-reinforcing
lifestyle producing satisfaction to the pedophile, repetition increases the probability of
repetition." Pedophilia, he said, "Is probably as potent a compulsive force ds other sexual
orientations. Thus, some pedophiles admit to molesting hundreds, even thousands of children.
And estimates by experts on the subject, concluding that recidivism among child molesters is
at least five times greater than is reflected in other criminal records, may indeed be
conservative."

Prager concluded his article by noting that "some criminals may be motivated to cease
their dangerous behavior by remorse, a desire to change their lifestyle, fear of probable
apprehension and severe punishment or, simply, the effects of aging. Pedophiles, however,
unlike most other criminals," Prager observed, "remain dangerous partly because they are
rarely remorseful or desirous of changing their behavior, knowing that apprehension and severe
punishment are highly improbable, and do not lose their urge to commit their crimes even when
approaching old age." And he said that "while common humanity might Justifiably evoke
concern for the well-being of even the most despised elements of society, common sense should
compel the realization that a society which allows the freedom of men who prey on children is
not only ineffective but also Is morally indefensible".

The results yielded by a study of 41 randomly selected court cases of child molestation in
Jefferson County show some interesting trends in sentencing. Those cases are listed In the
exhibit at the end of this chapter. Cases In which the defendant appeared contrite arid penitent
for his crime usually resulted In probated sentences. At least one local authority has termed
this "foxhole religion", referring to the fact that offenders appear to find the error of their
ways when being shot at from all directions. Letters from friends, and in one case from the
victims themselves, also generally were viewed in a favorable light by the court when
considering motions for probation. And defendants with no prior criminal record and receiving
community backing in the form of letters from friends, relatives, employers, etc. were all given
probated sentences.
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Defendants showing no remorse for their crimes received notably harsh sentences.
Particularly violent criminals, such as the old man who anally sodomized a boy age 10 and a
man who raped a girl age 3, received stiff sentences. Persistent felony offenders (PFO's)
received obviously stiff sentences.

Charges that were dismissed were dismissed for a variety of reasons. Most of the
dismissed cases that we looked at involved victims who knew the defendants and were unwilling
to prosecute. Parents of the victim may have brought a charge against a defender In a moment
of anger and reconsidered as the personal pain, not necessarily the long-term pain and Injury to
the child, subsided. Other charges were dismissed due to a lack of physical evidence. (It is
noteworthy that all arrests by the Jefferson County Exploited and Missing Child Unit, discussed
in the next chapter, led to convictions in part because of the thorough investigative
homework and preparation of witnesses, but also because Unit cases generally involve multiple
victims who can testify.)

Defendants sentenced to prison terms were on the whole either persistent criminals,
violent offenders, or men showing no remorse for the crimes they had committed. Offenders
who had strong community backing, on the other hand, in the form of letters from friends,
relatives, employers, parishioners, etc. were all given probation regardless of their brutality,
depravity or number of victims. It appeared as though the court in thesecases held a more
favorable view of the treatment potential than many other medical and legal experts, and
offenders who appeared contrite or had scores of friends vouching for their good character
seemed best able to convince the court of their sincerity and good intentions.

The problem is that pedophiles often command respect In their communities, and they are
frequently authority figures (e.g., teachers, priests, pastors, scout masters, choir leaders, etc.).
Pedophiles are generally respectable In every respect, except one major area: their sexual
orientations are toward children, but sex with children is never consensual. And according to a
study of 238 sex offenders by Dr. Gene G. Abel, director OFR Sexual behavior Clinic at the
New York State Psychiatric Institute, each child molester was responsible for abusing an
average 68.3 young victims more than three times the number of adult women assaulted by
each convicted rapist and one of the most serious offenses because the molesters are often set
free to commit their acts time and time again.

System Gaps

The "system" bears partial responsibility for the exploited and missing child problem in
other respects as well. In November 1981, Jefferson County representatives told the
Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice of the U.S. Senate committee on the Judiciary that child
tragedies are made possible in part because of holes or gaps In the system. The demands upon
law enforcement and social service agencies are many and increasing, and resource limitations
make It virtually impossible to investigate every missing person and runaway report. Law
enforcement and social service agencies within the same community may not be aware of each
other's existence, let alone share information and work together. Between communities the
information-sharing is even worse, despite the fact that child exploiters often move from one
community to another In virtual anonymity and security. Cases of exploited or missing
children, therefore, may often go unidentified.

Police officers seldom treat child prostitutes and runaways as being of much
informational value. And even those that do are not usually trained to relate to kids In a way
that the kids can be of much help in making a case against a pedophile. Social workers, who are
better trained In this area, are of ten viewed suspiciously by police as wanting to solve all of the
world's problems while putting none of the blame on children and no one behind bars. In fact
many of the "street kids" are not wholly innocent, vulnerable victims, but rather appear to be
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perpetrators, to a certain extent, In their own right. Major overlaps with other criminal
activity have been discovered, and in many cases it is difficult to precisely identify which of
the parties (adult or child) is exploiter and which is exploited. However, the child is almost
always the victim, because without an adult encouraging, profiting from, and criminally
misusing the neglected or runaway child, in most cases the child would not have turned to
criminal activity.

Parental Abductions

Some of the most glaring gaps exist in the system to identify, locate and return missing
children. In order to partly understand the system's failures in this area, it should be understood
that a significant percentage of missing children are missing as a result of parental abductions,
commonly called "snatchings".

There are four common patterns of child matching which occur:

a. Before divorce is final, one parent will snatch the child and leave the state to prevent
the other parent from obtaining custody.

b. After divorce and custody are granted, the non-custodial parent snatches the child to
seek modification of the decree in another state.

c. After divorce, the parent granted custody disappears with the child to prevent
visitation and/or modification of the decree.

d. Conflicting custody awards are made in separate states.

The motivation behind most child snatching is not love, but revenge to get back at the
other parent. And most worrisome about this is the fact that, as studies have shown, 90 percent
of parents who illegally snatch their children are emotionally unstable and have histories of
abuse or violent behavior. However, the numbers are so large over 100,000 children are
abducted by parents each year in this country and custody battles are like ping pong, going
back and forth, that law enforcement authorities have grown Insensitive to these cases or have
simply thrown up their hands In frustration.

Unfortunately, this attitude sometimes extends to law enforcement tools, like the
National Crime Information Center computer (NCIC) which is available for law enforcement
use nationwide to help track and locate, among other things, missing children. In 1982,
Congress passed the Missing Children's Act which essentially accomplished two things. First, it
encouraged local law enforcement agencies to enter missing children Into the NCIC, and If they
failed to do so, it provided parental access to the system. Second, It mandated that coroners
offices around the country report information regarding unidentified deceased to the NCIC,
because of estimates that up to 3,000 unidentified dead people, many of them children, are
burled each year in John and Jane Doe graves around this country. The Missing Children's Act
was never designed as a panacea. The computer Is only effective if consistently and widely
used, however that has not been the case. In a statement released on May 24, 1983, by U.S.
Senator Paula Hawkins, sponsor of the Missing Children's Act, use of the NCIZ: was rer4rted to
be up 11 percent, however many police departments, most notably several m:jor citl
departments, were neglecting to use the NCIC for listing children at all. Many depai .ments
were particularly reluctant to enter children who were missing as a result of parental snatches
because of a feeling that these children were missing as a result of domestic disputes which
should not concern police.

Indeed some of our laws have been based on a similar attitude. For example, the crime of
"Custodial Interference" in Kentiticky is a felony in all cases except where a family member is
the one who interferes with custody, in which case it is a Class A misdemeanor. When the
offense is a misdemeanor, authorites are precluded from extraditing the offending parent from
another state of Jurisdiction, which sometimes causes the parent with custody to enter that
other state and snatch the child back.
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EXHIBIT

RANDOM SAMPLE OF CASES

DEPENDANT ARREHT
DATE

CHARGES SENTENCE

RANGE

AGE OP I

VICTIM
MIA DISPOSITION

1 2-9-82 Sex.Abuse III 90 days --- Guilty to Sex. 60 days,probated for 2 years.
Abuse III Psychiatric treatment required

2 2-18-83 Unlawful Trans.
w/Minor

12 months --- Not Guilty Charge dismissed.

3 11-24-82 Sod.III (4 cts) 1-5 years --- Guilty to Sex. ..12 months, probAted for 2 year
Sex.Abuse I
(2 cts)

1-5 years Abuse II, other
charges dismisse

Sex.Abuse // 12 months
(12 cts) $500 max

Sex.Abuse III 90 days
(4 cts)

4 5-6-81 Unlawful Trans.
w/Minor.

12 months
y500 max

--- Not Guilty All charges dismissed.

Distrib. of
obscene mater-
ial

90 days
0250 max

Sod.III 1 -S years
Sex.Abuse III 90 days

0250 max -

5 U-9-82 Rape III 1-5 years --- Guilty to Sexual 6 months, probated for 2 years
Misconduct

6 2-22-83 Unlawful Trans.
w/Minor

12 months --- Guilty to charge $50. fine.

7 2-10-83 Rape III 5 years --- All charges dismissed.
Unlawful Trans
w/Minor

.2 months
$500 max

Assault IV 12 month'
$S00 max



DEPENDANT ARREST
DATE

ClIANDES SENTENCE

RANGE

ACE OP
VICTIM

PLEA DISPOSITION

a 6 -17 -82 Attempted Se'. 12 months Guilty to charge $25 fine.
Abuse I $500 max

9 3 -9 -83 Distrib. of 3b
scene Material

90 days
$250 max

Charge dismissed.

10 10-31-8C Sod.II (5 cts) 5-10
years on
each count

13 a 14 Guilty to charge 5 years on 4 cts (to run con-
currently) probated for 5 years

11 a 12 10-16-6C Rape I 20-life 14 ill Guilty to 12 months, probated for 2 years
Sex. Abuse II

Sod. I 20 .ife 112 Guilty To
Sod.I a Sex.

10 years, probated,

Abuse I
Sex.Abuse I 1-5 years
Conspiracy to
Sex.Abuse I 12 months

13 12-22-60 Sod.II 5-10 years --- Guilty to Sod.III 4 years, probated for 5 years.
(amended)

Sex.Abuse II 12 months Guilty to Sex.
(2 cts) Abuse II

14 11-4-80 Sod. II 10-20 year --- Guilty to Sex. 5 years, probated for 5 years.
Abuse II and

Sex. Abuse II 12 months Sod. III (Amended

15 12-11-80 Incest 1-5 years 14 Not Guilty 5 years for incest, probated.
Sex.Abuse III 90 days 90 days for sexual abuse serves

in County detention.
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DEPENDANT ARREST
OATH

CHARGES SENTENCR

RANGE

AOR OP
VICTIM

PLEA DISPOSITION

16 11-4-80 Sex. Abuse 1 1-5 years 7 Guilty to charge 1 year.

17 6-4-80 Rape III 1-5 years 15 Guilty to charge 1 year hard labor.

18 12-30-80 Sex.Abuse I 1-5 years 12 Not Guilty to
Sex Abuse I

Custodial interference charge
dismissed.

Custodial 12 months Not guilty of Sex. Abuse I.
Interference

19 3-26-81 Incest 1-5 years 15 Guilty to Sex 5 years, probated for 5 years.
Abuse I Ordered to receive psychiatric

treatment.

20 11-10-80 Rape I 20 years- Guilty to Sex. 2 years, probated for 5 years.
Abuse I Ordered to undergo alcoholic

counseling.

21 11-14-81 Incest 1-5 years 14 & 16 Guilty to Incest 5 years.
Sod. 111(4 cts 1-5 years Other charges

dismissed
Motion for shock probation
overruled.

Sex. Abuse III 90 days

22 3-2-81 Incest 5-10 years 15 Guilty to Incest 5 years. Released on motion
Sex.Abuse III 12 months Guilty to Sex.

abuse III
because victim's mother needed
offender's child support pay-

Sod. II 10-20 years Guilty to Sod.III ment.

23 12-31-80 Rape 1 20-life 17 Not Guilty to
all charges

Life sentence, affirmed on
appeal.

Sod. I 20-lite
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DEPENDANT ASSERT
DATE

CHANGES SENTENCE
RANGE

AOB OF
VICTIM

PLEA DISPOSITION

24 12-8-80 Sod. II
Sex.Abuse IX

10-20 years
12 months

14 6 16 Guilty 10 year sentence imposed, but
charges dismissed after the
the court received letters from
victims and victims' mother.

25 2-25-81 Sod. I 20-life 10 Guilty to
Sod. I

10 years. Kidnapping charge
dismissed.

Kidnapping 10-20 years

26 2-17-81 Sod.I 20-life Guilty to
Sod. I

20 years. (Not eligible for
probation because defendant
was currently on probation).

Al 12-18-81 Rape I 20-life 3 Not Guilty Life sentence affirmed on appea

28 2-23-81 Rape I 20-life 13 Guilty 22 years.
ITO I

29 8-12-80 Att. Rape 5-10 years 16 Guilty 5 years.

,30 1-2-80 Rape III
(3 cts)

1-5 years 14 Guilty to
Sexual Mis-
conduct

6 months in jail and motion for
work release granted (victim's
mother did not want embarassing
trial).

31 1-4-81 Sod.I(2 cts) 20-life 7 Guilty to Sod.II 10 years, shock probation,5
Rape I 20-life Other charges years probated.
Sex. Abuse I 1-5 years

Dismissed

(ICA 4
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32

33

34

35

36

37

AR ItEST
DATS .

3-12-81

5-11-81

1 -1t -81

4-81

4-14-81

6-11-82

CHARGES

Sod. II
(10 cts)

Sex.Abuse II
(10 cts)

Sex.Abuse I
(2 cts.)

Rape I
(4 cts)
Sod. I

(5 cts)

Rape I (2 cts)

Sex. Abuse I
Rape II
(3 cts)

Rape I

Sod.III
(8 cts)

Sex. Abuse II
Sod.II (3 cts)
Unlawful Trans
w/Minor
bistrib. of
Obscene Materi

Rape I

Sex. Abuse I

SENTENCE

RANGB

10-20 years

12 months

,..E OF
VICTIM

14

1-5 years 9,10,11

20-life

20-life

20-life 11 6 12

1-5 year-
10-20 years

20-life 8

1-5 years 14,15,
16

12 months
10-20 veer
12 months

12 months
1

20-life 7

1-5 years

PLEA

Guilty

Guilty

Guilty to
all charges

Not Guilty

Guilty to
all charges

Guilty to
all charges

DISPOSITION

10 years, probated for 5 years.

, .

10 years. Motion for shock
probation overruled.

20 years probated for 5 years
(must receive psychiatric and
alcoholic counseling).

5 years, affirmed on appeal.

10 years,supervised probation
for 5 years.
200 hours of community service

20 yearsperobated for 5 years
(on recommendation of victim's
parent).
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39

40

41

Mints? CHARMS SINTINCS AO* Of PLEA DISPOSITION
PATS WOE

1-27-81

9-2-82

3-22-82

5-14-82

Unlawful Trans
w/Minor
(2 ate)

Rape I
Rape II

Rape I
Sod. I

Rape I.
Sex.Abuse I
(10 cts)

Wanton End.I
(3 cts)

Sex.Abuse II
Indecent Exp.
(5 cts.)

Unlawful Trans
w/Minor

12 months

20-life
10-20 years

20-life
20-life

20-life
1-5 years

1-5 years

12 months
90 days

12 months

VICTIM

14 & 15

12 & 13

3,4 & 5

Guilty

Guilty to
Sex. Abuse
I a II

Not Guilty

Guilty to
all charges
but Rape I
which was
dismissed

12 months.

5 years probated for 5 years.
100 hours community service
(Psychiatric report stated
defendant unlikely to commit
these crimes again).

70 years (on appeal).

5 years probated for 5 years
on condition that this elderly
defendant live with his son
and stay away from the neigh-
borhood.
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W HAT IS BEING DONE?

Various communities and community groups across the country are working to solve the
problem of exploited and missing children, but probably no community has been more
committed in recent years than Jefferson County, Kentucky.

Local Task Force

As explained in the Introduction to this report, after learning of the existence of child
pornography and prostitution In the Jefferson County area, County Judge/Executive Mitch
McConnell moved quickly to establish a local intergovernmental, interagency task force on
child prostitution and pornography which was comprised of local, state and federal police
agencies, the local juvenile authority, the local prosecutors and others. He also committed
scarce local government resources to fund a new Exploited Child Unit to work on a daily basis,
using teams of police and social workers, across political and jurisdictional boundaries to solve a
problem that was viewed, prior to that time, as essentially a police problem. Created in the
wake of an increasing incidence of criminal victimization of children nationally, particularly
through sexual exploitation, and at a time of outrage over the child murders in Atlanta, Chicago
and Houston, Jefferson county's task force concluded after further investigation and research
that a virtual epidemic of child tragedies was occurring in America and was spreading
throughout Kentucky. And it concluded that the well-publicized tragedies of Atlanta, Chicago
and Houston could reoccur in Louisville unless the local task force seriously assumed its role
and mission and aggressively acted to protect the community's children.

Understanding all this, the primary mission of the Exploited Child Unit, working under
general task force direction, was, therefore, to indentify adult exploiters, arrest them, and try
to remove them from society, while aggressively seeking to find child victims early in order to
protect them from further abuse and exploitation. Accordingly, in the first three years of local
task force and Exploited Child Unit existence, over three dozen major arrests were made
freeing literally hundreds of children from sexual abuse and exploitation, and not one case was
lost in court.

Arrests

In one case, after a six-month investigation in 1981, a local clergyman was arrested and
indicted on multiple sex crimes charges involving child prostitution and pornography with
approximately a dozen boys, ages 12 to 16. He pleaded guilty in 1982 in Jefferson Circuit
Court. In another case, young boys, who were recruited out of a local group home to work in a
nearby nightclub, were sexually exploited by an employee of the night club who later pleased
guilty to multiple sex crimes charges. In another large case in 1982, Louisville police and the
Jefferson County Exploited Child Unit arrested a wealthy, white Louisville businessman for
sharing his exclusive lifestyle with dozens of needy black youths from Louisville's West end.
According to newspaper accounts, the man (a British citizen) had bought the young boys fine
clothes, driven them to fashionable restaurants in his Lincoln Continental, taken them on
exciting trips and entertained them In his exclusive high-rise condominum. The Jefferson
County Gram' llury handed down a 34-count indictment, charging that he used teenagers for sex
and tried to bribe a witness. Also in 1982, after a 14-month investigation by the Jefferson
County Exploited Child Unit along with special agents of the Kentucky Attorney General's
Office and Kentucky State Police, a mall-order minister who was running a mission in Louisville
was arrested, indicted and plead guilty in Simpson County Circuit Court on charges of child
pornography and promoting prostitution with minors. For $6,000 in food stamps and $1,000 in
cash, he sold one of twn boys who he brought with him from Murfreesboro, Tennessee to
Franklin, Kentucky for the sale. Early in 1983, Louisville police and the Exploited Child Unit

2



293

arrested a 36 year-old Louisville man and charged him with 91 sex crimes involving 13 boys age.
12 to 16. The children told authorities about a soft-spoken mar, who said he was a decorated
veteran of the Viet Nam War, whose house was filled with comic books, plastic Star Wars
figures and paintings of Jesus, and who routinely beat his dogs. As with many of these cases,
police found numerous photographs of young children.

Almost daily now, the Louisville newspapers contain stories of arrests and convictions of
adults who have sexually exploited or abused young children. The Exploited and Missing Child
Unit has cracked the sexually exploited child cases, while the Louisville and Jefferson County
Police Department Youth Bureaus continue to work the intrafamily sexual child abuse cases.
For example, in early May, 1983, a 32-year old man pleaded guilty in JeffersonCircuit Court to
charges of sexual abuse involving two girls for whom he babysat. During the same week, a 37-
year -old man was sentenced to 20 years in prison in Jefferson Circuit Court for sexually abusing
a 9-year-old girl, and a 45-year-old man was convicted of sexual abuse of a 7-year-old girl for
whom he babysat. Later that month, a 34-year-old man was sentenced to 15 years in prison on
charges of sodomy and assault involving a 12 -year old boy. Soon thereafter, a 32-year-old man
was found guilty in Jefferson Circuit Court of raping a 4-year-old and sodomizing a 3-year-old
boy. That same week, a 33-year-old man pleaded guilty in Jefferson Circuit Court to three
counts of sodomy involving a boy, 9 years old and a girl, 10. Another 32-year-oid man was
sentenced to three years in prison for sexually abusing a 14-year-old girl, and a 48- year -old man
was sentenced to five years for sexually abusing a 7-year-old girl.

In June, 1983, there were more reports in the newspapers. One of those involved a
Fayette County man arrested on charges of sexual abuse and harrassment of young children In
suburban Louisville. Also, a Lexington building contactor pleaded guilty in Fayette Circuit
Court to two counts of sodomy with a young boy after being charged with numerous counts of
sodomy, sexual conduct, inducing sexual performance of a minor, and distributing child
pornography. In July, 1983, a 19-year-old man was sentenced in Jefferson Circuit Court to 20
years in prison for sexually abusing a 9-year-old girl and sodomizing a 7-year-old boy. Also, s
Louisville man pleaded guilty to killing a 14-year-old girl by pouring chloroform on her bed
clothes as she slept. Police said that the man, who apparently administered the drug off and on
for several months, wanted to knock the girl out so he could look at her body.

Task Force and EMCU

The cornerstone of these successful investigative efforts are the police/social worker
teams of Jefferson County's Exploited Child Unit (recently renamed the Exploited and Missin
Child Unit) to which have been cornmAted four full-time social workers and clerical assistance
from the Jefferson County Department of Human Services, one full-time police officer from
the Jefferson County Police Department, two from the Louisville Division of Police (LDP),
police supervision from the commander of the LDP Criminal Intelligence Unit, and routine
assistance from the vice and intelligence units of the two police departments. In addition, the
City and County have committed the staff and resources of the local Crime Commission to
coordinate local task force activities, and the County Judge/Executive, who organized the Unit,
maintains frequent personal contact. The Commonwealth Attorney's, Kentucky Attorney
General's Office, and FBI have likewise committed their resources to these investigations and
case prosecutions.

With this impressive involvement at all levels, law enforcement has gained new skills in
child interrogation, investigation and protection. Exploited and Missing Child Unit team
members have learned that kid cases are different, that children cannot be treated simply as
small statured adults, and they have consistently focused on the child as victim in an effort to
affirmatively and aggressively protect children. These efforts and accomplishments have been
carried through without grants of federal and state monies, but simply through a reallocation of
County and CityliFdrand resources, after a decision that kids deserve the highest funding
priority.
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A secondary, but equally important, mission of the county task force has been to sensitizethe public to these shadowy problems. As an initial effort, the county task force distributed
10,000 posters throughout the comrronity, alerting people to a new 24-hour hot line to call withinformation regarding instances of ;:hlid pornography or prostitution. The county task force hasalso met with and trained school administrators and counselors, church groups and communityorganizations. Because of this public sensitization, but also because of the new intelligencenetworks and LLmmunication channels which have opened through the increased interagency,
Intergovernmental cooperation, referred to earlier, there has been a remarkable flow of
valuable information to the police /social worker teams of investigators. In the first 3 years ofrecordkeeping in Jefferson County, the Exploited Child Unit received over 2,000 informationalleads involving over 1,200 kids. The likelihood of exploitation or abuse existed in 84 percent ofthese cases.

Missing Children

In Jefferson County several additional approaches to prevent child victimization havebeen developed. One initiative was to reconstitute and rename the Exploited Child Unit as theExploited and MIssine Child Unit. The Unit nearly doubled Its staff complement, and detailedprocedures for handling missing child complaints were implemented. A Jefferson County PoliceDepartment beat unit is now dispatched on all missing child compaints that come to the CountyPolice Department. The new Exploited and Missing Child Unit is thereafter contacted forfollow-up investigation. All missing child complaints are entered Into the national NCICcomputer within 24-48 hours of receipt of the complaint and immediately if "unusual
circumstances" are indicated. Most importantly, the new Unit will not close a missing childcase except by locating the missing child. The thrust of this effort is to insure that everyfeasible means of locating missing children on complaints to the County will be explored asquickly and as thoroughly es possible by the police/social worker teams specifically oriented tothe prevention of child tragedies.

Computer Capability

Another initiative was to give the new Explolited and Missing Child Unit its own Internalcomputer capability. The Unit's flies were literally bulging with names of exploited kids andadult exploiters, thus, the computer promised to greatly enhance the Unit's capability to locatepotential child victims early and to track and identify possible adult predators. It was said byCounty Judge McConnell that this is the computer age, and to not use these tools would meanthat Jefferson County was not putting forth the effort rightly expected of its leadership role inhelping exploited and missing children.

A third initiative allowed police agencies throughout Kentucky to begin utliting theJefferson County computer. Since runaways from many Kentucky communities naturallymigrate to Louisville, the big city, and since those who want to exploit children for commercialsexual purposes tend to do so most frequently in the urban environment, It was felt by JudgeMcConnell that Jefferson County would be shirking its responsibility to Kentucky's children if Itdid not make available for statewide use the technology existing in Jefferson County with thespecialized Exploited and Missing Child Unit computer. Judge McConnell wrote to everyKentucky police chief and sheriff to explain the EMCU computer program, noting that It couldcorrelate up to 230 data items on every missing child report, including a variety of physicaldescriptions, the child's most recent locations and known associates. And he said that all theCounty's Expleted and Missing Child Unit would need to accept a missing child report wasreasonable assurance from the reporting police agency that a missing child report also wasentered in the NC1C and evidence or reasonable suspicion that the missing c..41d was
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a. out of the chi' Ps local area; or
b. ten years of age or younger; or
c. metally incapacitated; or
d. drug dependent; or
e. a potential victim of foul play, sexual exploitation, or in a dangerous environment;
f. with adults who may endanger the welfare of the minor; or
g. absent from any child-caring home, facility or institution.

Fingerprinting

A fourth initiative was to organize a comprehensive, but voluntary, program to fingerprint
all school children in Jefferson Coutny. In cooperation with the public, parochial and private
schools, the Jefferson County Neighborhood Response Office in the Spring of 1983 fingerprinted
nearly all 1st and 5th graders (some 23,000 of them). Beginning in the Fall of 1983, local PTA's,
PTO's and other volunteers are continuing the program with help from the Neighborhood
Response Office in an attempt to fingerprint all Jefferson County children.

At the active encouragement of, and through dozens of personal contacts by, Task Force
Chairman McConnell, community leaders and organizations in counties across Kentucky have
initiated child fingerprinting programs. One of the first program: in Kentucky was sponsored by
the Temple Sisterhood, and other organizations (often with help from local police or sheriffs
departments and the Kentucky State police) have independently sponsored fingerprinting
programs of their own. The Winn-Dixie chain of grocery stores statewide has also gotten
involved. A list of local fingerprinting contacts is included in the Appendix to this report.

Across th ountry child fingerprinting projects aee springing up like weeds in a gars!en,
but not without A. me skepticism and even criticism. Some authorities doubt the value of
fingerprints in locating missing children, while other skeptics claim that the practice is a
violation of children's civil rights. Some critics claim that the whole movement is an
overreation to an admittedly serious problem.

Unfortunately, fingerprints are, at best, of secondary value in locating a missing child;
indeed their main use is helping police indentify a dead body. However, fingerprinting projects
are extremely useful in helping raise awareness among parents and children about the potentials
for abduction and exploitation. They are not a violation of children's civil rights, particularly as
long as the police agency, school or other organization taking the fingerprints does not retain a
copy of the child's fingerprints for its own use or files. Finally, fingerprinting is by no means an
"overreaction". Such projects help raise public awareness, and the prints may one day be of
some value to police in helping locate a missing child, just as a recent photograph of the child
and other identifying descriptions may help.

"Body Safety" Programs

Probably even more important than fingerprinting as a device to raise public awareness in
this area of concern are sexual child abuse and "body safety" programs which are being
sponsored in some communities on a limited basis by spouse abuse, rape relief or family
violence centers. In Louisville, the YWCA/Rape Relief Center has produced a sexual child
abuse program using trained volunteers to take the program into several communities' schools.
As a result, in at least one Kentucky county, several school children came forward with
allegations of sexual abuse which, in turn, were given to local police for follow-up investigation.
Several arrests were ultimately made. The Jefferson County Exploited and Missing Child Unit
has also developed a progra,n on the topic of "body safety" for children, which the Unit's
community education specialist has presented to several thousand area school children. In other
areas of Kentucky, additional organizations, like the Women's Crisis Center in northern
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Kentucky, are involved in promoting similar nrograms, howbver all these efforts are severely
limited by the number and availability of trained volunteers and funding. Also, presently there
exists no uniform program or method of educating children about body safety and the potentials
for sexual abuse and exploitation.

Volunteer Groups

Volunteer groups have been increasingly organizing, both in Kentucky and nationally. The
best known organization Is SLAM (Society's League Against Molesters) which was founded in
1980 in California by Patti Linebaugh after the death penalty conviction of Theodore Frank for
the brutal torture-murder of Ms. Linegaugh's 2-year-old granddaughter. Frank had a 20-year
history of child molesting and admitted to victimizing up to 130 boys and girls. Despite this, he
was released from the hospl'al after supposedly being treated and cured. Six weeks later, two
more children were kidnapped and brutally molested and one was murdered.

Initially, SLAM focused on terminating the Ineffective "mentally disordered sex offender"
(MDSO) program in California. But SLAM soon turned Its attention to other legislative
proposals as well, and in January, 1982, several SLAM initiated or supported bills became
California law (e.g., mandatory prison sentencing for many types of child molesters). Additonal
SLAM-promoted legislation is pending in Sacremento. More recently, SLAM has broadened its
scope of activities to include public education about child molestation, victim aid and
counseling, and court monitoring. Chapters are being formed around the country.

In northern Kentucky an organization called ECHO (Exploited Children's Help
Organization) was formed in response to the desperate search of a family for their missing son.
As parents with similar problems and concerns came to the aid of this family, membership in
ECHO grew, and the focus of the organization came to include, not only missing children, but
ail children who are victims or potential victim. of exploitation by adults. ECHO's principal
focus is victim counseling. Chapters of the no. them Kentucky ECHO organization have now
been formed in Louisville and in Fayette County, Kentucky.

Runaway Shelters

A primary instigator of the ECHO concept was an organization in northern Kentucky
called the Brighton Center, which has been in the business of helping exploited and missing
children for years. Recently, the Center received a federal grant through Kentucky state
government to establish a shelter house in northern Kentucky. The oldest recognized runaway
shelter in Kentucky is in Louisville. Called "Shelter House" and located at 1414 South First
Street in Louisville, Louisville's Shelter House was founded in January, 1974. It offers two
programss a short-term, crisis oriented program (Shelter House I) and a long-term, permanent
residential program (Shelter House II). Residential services are provided for over 600 youth
annually, and over 3,000 Individual children have been housed since 1974. The average stay at
the short-term program is less than two weeks. Long-term stays average nine months to one
year. Parental permission is required for all residential services.

The typical resident coming to Shelter House is female, 15 years of age, and from the
Louisville /Jefferson County area. About 20 percent of the children come from outside
Jefferson County. Most Shelter House clients come from broken homes, have been away from
home less than seven days upon entering Shelter House, but eventually leave Shelter House to
enter staff approved placements. In 1982, Shelter House averaged 20 youngsters per night at an
operating cost of about $40 per child per day. Shelter House operations are managed and ,

supported by the YMCA Center for Youth Alternatives and its volunteer Board of Directors.
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Call-Back Programs

Call-back programs are designed to alert parents early if their child did not arrive at
school as scheduled and to allow the parents, and police officials if suspicious circumstances are
involved, to work with time to their advantage in searching for a child where foul play may
have been involved. Generally, school administrators or teachers operate the program on a
school by school basis calling parents at home or work in the early hours of the school day.
However, PTA/PTO or other parent volunteers sometimes operate the call-back programs in
schools where the school administrators or teachers are too occupied with other pressing school
matters.

At least one Kentucky school system, the Jefferson County school system, instituted a
"call-back" program in the fall of 1982 at the encouragement of The Jefferson County Exploited
and Missing Child Unit.

Treatment

Programs sponsored by the YWCA/Rape Relief Center in Louisville, the Lexington Rape
Crisis Center, the Women's Crisis Center in northern Kentucky, the Owensboro Area Spouse
Abuse Center, the Barren River Area Safe Space, and the Women's Ares Spouse Abuse Center in
Paducah were the principal programs identified by the task force desig id to help victims of
sexual child abuse. Although the methods may vary, the essential focus of each program in
counseling child sexual abuse victims, in the words of one center staff m .mber, is to "empower
children with feelings of self-worth and self-esteem" which --e often lost after the sexual
assault. None of the programs seemed rich in financial resources, and all apparently rely to a
great extent on volunteer assistance.

A program to Insure that at least some convicted sex offenders receive needed couseling
before they are released back into society was begun about four years ago at the Kentucky
State Reformatory near LaGrange. It is not the well-funded large-scale program that
apparently exists In states like Florida, New Jersey or Washington. In fact, it appears to rely
largely on one man's personal effort, Chief of Casework Services Claud Turpin, assisted by
psychiatric social worker Mary Ann Eaglin.

Most admissions to the program are completely voluntary, where each man must first
accept total responsibility for the crime he has committed and must come to the realization
that his victims did not like the sexual attack. Some convicted offenders are now also being
committed to the program by court. Of the apparently 300 sex offenders in Kentucky's prisons,
as of September 1983, 30 men were attending the LaGrange program, 20 at the Luther Lucket
Facility, 10 to 13 at the Eddyville penitentiary and 12 to 13 on parole who receive counseling
every Monday night in Louisville.

Although additional sex crimes, according to Turpin, have probably been prevented as a
result of the program, Turpin also admits that "any man who has gone through the program is
capable of repeating the crime." He suspects that some sex offenders participate In the
program, Just as many join service organizations and find religion, in part to receive early
parole. But he believes that at least an equal objective is to receive proper treatment for
problems the offenders have come to recognize they have. Turpin believes in probation of sex
offenders only with mandatory cousellng.

Nationally

Probably the two most famous groups nationally are Father Bruce Ritter's Convenant
House in New York City and Child Find in New Peitz, New York. Father Ritter started
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salvaging young lives In 1968 and today operates a shelter for runaways which, although
constantly on the edge of financial disaster, costs about $6 million 3 year to feed, clothe,
shelter and care for its charges. Father Ritter's world is the sordid world of the Times Square
sex Industry, and his life's work is to free the thousands of runaway youngsters enslaved In it.

Child Find, Inc. was founded after Etan Pat; age 6, disappeared on his way to school
some four years ago. Although police in New York City mounted a massive search for the boy,
the Patz's were stunned to discover how helpless federal law, in particular, was to act quickly.
The FBI would not treat a child as a victim of a kidnapping unless there was proof, in the form
of a ransom note, that a crime took place. And the Federal Parent Locator Service was really
only available to search out parents in default of child-support payments.

Child Find is committed to locating missing children for parents and to locating parents
for children. For children searching for parents, or for someone who knows the location of an
abducted child, Child Find's toll free number is 1-800-431-5003. For a parent searching for a
missing child, the Child Find number is 914-233-1848. Child Find can also be written at P.O.
Box 277, New Peitz, New York, 12361. For $50 (one-fifth of the daily fee for a private
investigator), parents can list their missing children in CHILD FIND magazine.

Another organization that has re ived some national attention is "Parents of Murdered
Children". which was formed in Cincinnati, Ohio late in 1978 when several parents whose
children had been murdered met to help each other through their grieving. Bob and Charlotte
Hullinger found that many people did not want to talk about, or listen to them talk about, their
I9-year-old daughter who was murdered. To them, however, how was it possible for them to
"not talk" about the murder of their own child? In their search for someone who would listen
and understand their need to talk about what had happened, they discovered other people who
had undergone a similar experience and were coping with the saw. problems.

Parents of Murdered Children, therefore, was formed to offer support and friendship to
any parent whose child has been murdered; to provide sharing groups that meet on a regular
basis; to provide information about the grieving process through programs and libraries; and to
share information about the criminal Justice system as it pertains to parents whose children
have been murdered. The address of Parents of Murdered Children is 1739 Bella Vista,
Cincinnati, Ohio, 43237. The telephone number is (313) 242-8023.

Two Washington, D.C. based organizations are dedicated to educating the public about the
scope and tragedy of runaway children. The National Fund for Runaway Children, which is
administered by Act Together, Inc. (a non-profit agency in Washington, D.C. focusing on
problems facing high-risk trouble youth) is located at 1511 K Street, Suite 803, Washington,
D.C. 20005. The National Youth Work Alliance is located at 1346 Connecticut Ave., N.W.,
Washington, D.C. 20036.

In Florida, the Adam Walsh Resource Center, Inc., among other things, operates a Missing
Child Data Bank, provides trained volunteers to speak for abused and neglected children in the
courts and monitors child abuse cases. John and Reve Walsh, whose eon Adam was abducted in
a shopping store and subsequently murdered, were the driving forces behind the passage of the
National Missing Children's Act and behind passage of a similar bill in Florida to set up a
statewide clearinghouse on missing children. The Adam Walsh Outreach Center Is located at
Mercede Executive Park, Park View Bldg., Suite 306, 1876 N. University Drive, Fort
Lauderdale, Fla., 33322. The phone number is (305) 475-4847.

A growing number of cities and states are also establishing task forces or specialized units
to deal with the exploited and missing child problem. Indianapolis, Indiana, largely because of
one officer, Sgt. Tom Rogers, and his nationally recognized work in the child pornography area,
and cities lIke Houston and Atlanta, because of the large-scale child murders there, have
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developed recognized expertise in child tragedies. The best known, however, is the sexually
Exploited Child Unit of the Los Angeles Police Department formerly headed by Det. Lloyd
Martin. Task forces specifically designed to respond to exploited child cases have been created
(at the encouragement of and with technical assistance from the Jefferson County Exploited
and Missing Child Unit) in Lexington, Kentucky; Charleston, West Virginia; Birmingham,
Alabama; and Anchorage, Alaska. Others may exist or are in the process of forming, as
communities and law enforcement agencies learn more about the exploited and missing child
problem through national conferences like the 1st National Symposium on Exploited and Missing
Children (sponsored in Louisville In November '981 by the U.S. Department of Justice, Alpha
Phi Alpha Fraternity, the National Conference of Christians and Jews and the Louisville-
Jefferson County Criminal Justice Commission) and from groups like the national Child
Tragedies Coalition, Inc. which was formed at the Louisville symposium to continue
information-exchange and public awareness-raising nationally
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WHAT SHOULD BE DONE ABOUT THE PROBLEM IN KENTUCKY?

The Introduction and preceding chapters of this final report presented an overview of the
"exploited and missing child problem" and what is being done particularly in Kentucky to
combat the problem. This concluding chapter recommends what, at a minimum, should be done
in Kentucky to better safeguard Kentucky's vulnerable children.

These "Recommendations" are not prioritized, because each is a priority item in the task
force's view. And, as stated at the outset in the Introduction to this report, with one or two
exceptions, these recommendations will not cost the state treasury. Even in those instances
where some cost is involved, better usage or a tepriortization of existing resources should not
be too much to ask of those who have a responsibility to care for, protect and educate
Kentucky's children. Sexual abuse and exploitation of children are crimes that hit all sides of
the "tracks" equally. And the danger is as real in the seemingly cairn suburb or small rural town
as in the inner city.

Robert Geiser wrote in the introduction to his book Hidden Victims that "social problems
have an incamy ability to survive most attempts to remedy them. Their first line of defense is
to hide from public awareness and then later to spring onto the scene as full-blown crises. As a
result, everyone wonders why a problem wasn't recognized until it reached crises proportions."

The Kentucky Task Force on Exploited and Missing Children today calls for statewide
attention to the fact that those most vulnerable to criminal victimization are our children and
to the fact that the child tragedies of Atlanta, Chicago and Houston were not isolated instances
of adult exploitative behavior. Rather there is a growing epidemic of child tragedies in
Kentucky and nationally. Failure to recognize the problems and further delay in responding will
permit the problem to grow further and allow more children to become victims.

RECOUP 4ENDATION I: A "Kentucky Missing Children's Act" should be passed by the next
session of the Kentucky General Assembly setting up a state computerized Missing Child
Information Center and requiring all law enforcement agencies to accept, investigate, and relay
to the state clearinghouse all reports of missing children and requiring the state Department of
Education to establish a program to Identify and locate missing Kentucky school children. (See
Appendix at page 37 for a copy of the proposed legislation and a Fact Sheet explaining it.)

RECOMMENDATION 2: A "Child Sexual Abuse and Exploitation Prevention Act" should be
passed by the next session of the Kentucky General Assembly establishing (througha $2 -- $4 in
the case of joint returns -- donation box on the state tax return for taxpayers owed refunds) a
"Child Victims' Trust Fund" to finance local prevention programs which educate children about
the dangers of-sexual abuse and about the lures of exploitation and which encourage parents and
school administrators to teach children about "body safety" rules and techniques. (See Appendix
at page 42 for a copy of the proposed legislation and a Fact Sheet explaining It.)

RECOMMENDATION 3: Legislation should be passed by the next session of the Kentucky
General Assembly encouraging youth serving agencies, and making clear that youth serving
agencies have the right, to request criminal record checks on all persons who apply for
employment or volunteer for positions in which they would have supervisory or disciplinary
authority over children. (See Appendix at pap. 51 for a copy of the proposed legislation and a
Fact Sheet explaining it.)

RECOMMENDATION 4: Legislation should be passed by the next session of the Kentucky
General Assembly amending KRS 532.040 and creatin! a new section of KRS Chapter 332 to
establish certain sexual offenses as offenses where probation cannot be granted and the
execution or imposition of sentence cannot be suspended. (See Appendix at page 53 for a copy
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of the proposed legislation and a Fact Sheet explaining it.)

RECOMMENDATION 5: Legislation should be passed by the next session of the Kentucky
General Assembly permitting the pretrial videotaped testimony of children age 12 and under to
be used as evidence in sexual abuse cases. (See Appendix at page 57 for a copy of the proposed
legislation and a Fact Sheet explaining it.)

RECOMMENDATION 6: Legislation should be passed by the next session of the Kentucky
General Assembly amending certain provisions of KRS Chapter 346 to make clear that innocent
child victims of criminal acts may claim compensation from the Kentucky Crime Victims
Compensation "oard for psychological as well as physical bodily injuries. (See Appendix at page
61 for a copy of the proposed legislation and a Fact Sheet explaining it.)

RECOMMENDATION 7: Legislation should be passed by the next session of the Kentucky
General Assembly amending KRS 509.070 to make custodial interference a Class D felony in all
cases so that extradition from another state of the person interfering with lawful custody is
always possible. (See Appendix at page 64 for a copy of the proposed legislation and a Fact
Sheet explaining it.)

RECOMMENDATION 8: Legislation should be passed by the next session of the Kentucky
General Assembly creating a new section of KRS chapter 530 and amending another to upgrade
to Class D felony status the offense of unlawful transaction with a minor where a person
knowingly induces, assists or causes a minor to engage in illegal sexual activity. (See Appendix
at page 67 for a copy of the proposed legislation and a Fact Sheet explaining it.)

RECOMMENDATION 9: The Governor, by Executive Order, should charge the state Juvenile
Justice Commission with investigating and recommending possible changes in procedures
associated with termination of parental rights.

RECOMMENDATION 10: Child fingerprinting programs should continue to be organized in
every Kentucky county to insure that every Kentucky child is properly fingerprinted and that
his or her parents are provided with the fingerprints (to be maintained at home in a safe place
along with a recent photograph of the child and other identifying information about the child) in
order to raise the level of public awareness about the problem of exploited and missing children
and to help law enforcement authorities locate the child U ever the child turns up missing. (See
Appendix at page 69 for a Fact Sheet explaining child fingerprinting programs.)

RECOMMENDATION Cali-back programs should be instituted in every Kentucky school
whereby parents are immediately notified, and also the police if suspicious circumstances are
involved, when a child fails to report to school as scheduled. Also, school boards should
institute sign-out and identification procedures governing permission of students to leave school
during the school day with an adult.(See Appendix at page 78 for a Fact Sheet explaining call-
back programs.)

RECOMMENDATION i2: Sexual child abuse or "body safety" education should be provided in
every Kentucky school (or in church schools or through other community programs where the
school will not get involved) by trained volunteers in order that children are properly informed
about sexual abuse, the lures of sexual exploitation, and how to protect themselves from sexual
abuse and exploitation. Teachers, too, should be trained to better recognize the subtle signs of
child sexual abuse and exploitation and should be fully supported by the school administration
and lox Al police when reporting possible abuse or exploitation under a procedure that does not
permit disclosure of the teacher as the person reporting the suspected abuse. (See Appendix at
page 79 for a Fact Sheet explaining child sexual abuse or "body safety" education tips and
techniques.)
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RECOMMENDATION 131 Kentucky Education Television (CET) should develop and produce a

series of television programs appropriate for viewing by children of different age groups,
relying on the technical assistance of state task force members, the Jefferson County Exploited
and Missing Child Unit, or others with expertise on the subjects of runaway prevention and
sexual child abuse or "body safety" education.

RECOMMENDATION 14s The Kentucky Law Enforcement Candi should develop and present

to police officers statewide a 40-hour training program dealing with the subjects of exploited
and missing children. (See Appendix at page 82 for a Fact Sheet outlining a possible "sexual
victimization of children program" for police)

RECOMMENDATION 13i Local task forces should be established in counties or multi-county
areas, combining resources and focusing on the exploited and missing child problem from an
interdisciplinary, cooperative approach, in order to expose the problem, raise public awareness,
and initiate efforts to improve local services for exploited and missing children and better
protect all chlicten. (See Appendix at page 83 for a Fact Sheat explaining the purpose and
design of local task forces.)

RECOMMENDATION 16s Exploited and Missing Child Unit teams of police and social workers
should be established in counties of multi - county areas that can afford them in order to focus
combined law enforcement and juvenile court efforts on the prevention of !tether child
tragedies. (See Appendix at page 84 for a Fact Sheet explaining the purpose and design of local
exploited and missing child units.)

RECOMIRENDATIOR117: Volunteers should organize locally into groups like SLAM (Society's
League Against Molestors) and ECHO (Exploited Children's Help Organization), etc. in order to
provide such services as court watch, child fingerprinting, victim counseling, and "body safety"
education.

RECOMMENDATION ifs A statewide coalition of concerned citizens and organizations already
working in this area of exploited and missing children, should be established to succeed this task
force, help implement this final report, and sponsor an annual statewide conference on the topic
of exploited and missing chidren. (See Appendix at page 86 for a copy of the Articles of
Incorporation and Bylaws of the Kentucky Alliance for Exploited and Missing Children Inc. and
for a membership form.)
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North Carolina Department of

Crime Control Air44,
& Public Safe

512 N. Salisbury Street P. 0. Box 27687 Raleigh 27611.7687 (919) 733.2126

James B. Hunt, Jr., Governor Heman R. Clark, Secretary

CONTACT: L.D. Hyde (919) 733-2126

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

RALEIGH--The Governor's Task Force on Missing Children called today for a

comprehensive program integrating federal, state and local resources to combat

the problem of missing children in North Carolina.

Heman R. Clark, secretary of the N.C. Department of Crime Control and

Public Safety and chairman of the task force, said in presenting the task force

report:

"In May of this year, Governor Hunt charged this task force to study the

problem of missing children in North Carolina and make recommendations on how to

deal with it. The task force held five public hearings across the state and

talked with many sheriffs and chiefs of police seeking views on this issue.

From these hearings and other research, we are recommending a wide range of

initiatives to combat the missing children problem," he said.

Charles Dunn, vice-chairman of the task force, skid, 'From our studies and

hearings into this issue, we found that North Carolinians from the smallest

neighborhoods to the Governor's office are deeply concerned about the problem of

missing children.

'Many North Carolina communities are taking positive steps to protect their

children. We found several areas with safe house programs, fingerprinting

programs and other initiatives.

"We also found, however, reports of estranged parents violating court child

custody orders and taking their children out of state. We do have, also,

runaways and driveaways--children leaving home because of intolerable conditions

in the home or the lure of something that seems better in another place," he

said.

"The task force recommendations address these pressing issues of the

missing children problem in North Carolina," he said.

Among the recommendations of the task force are:

3 ):3
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--A missing child should be reported to the local law enforcement agency

immediately. The task force found there was a widespread misconception that the

authorities required a 24 to 72 hour wait before accepting a missing child

report. No such law or regulation exists in North Carolina.

--That all law enforcement agencies make an immediate reponse to a missing

child report and that they demonstrate positive leadership in the community in

the area of protecting children.

--That the Police Information Network (PIN) be funded tb enhance its

capability to receive reports about missing children and distribute these

reports to law enforcement agencies thoughout the state and nation. The task

force found there is no systematic, statewide reporting of nissing children, ncr

is there a central registry for missing children. Currently, there is no hard

data on how many children are missing in North Carolina.

--That a North Carolina Missing Children's Information Center be

established by executive order within an existing state agency. The center

would act as a resource center on the missing children problem and coordinate

its work with the National Missing Children's Center. The task force also

recommends that the center be enacted into law and be provided support by the

legislature.

--That safety house programs, similar to the Safety Haven program in

Charlotte and the Block Parent program in Wake County, be instituted to include

all 100 counties of the state. The task force found many good initiatives like

this underway throughout the state and urges more be started. Programs such as

these offer school children safe houses at which to seek sanctuary from real or

perceived danger before and after school.

--That the legislature make children who are innocent victims of criminal

acts eligible to claim compensation from the North Carolina Crime Victims

Compensation Commission for psychological as well as physical injuries.

--That child fingerprint programs be organized in every county of the state

to insure that every child in the state has the opportunity to have his

fingerprints on r, :ord. The record should be given to the parents for safe

keeping.

--That schools initiate programs to improve their ability to keep track of

children in their charge. The task force urges every school to call the parents

or guardian of a child missing from school, contact police when school officials

believe suspicious circumstances are present and that the North Carolina

3 0d
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Department of Public Instruction work with the various law enforcement

associations in the state to develop proCedures and programs to identify missing

children as early as possible.

--That the North Carolina Justice Academy work with the various law

enforcement associations in the state to develop and present to law enforcement

officers an appropriate training program on how to deal with the problem of

missing children, using the manual prepared by the law enforcement committee of

this task force.

--That local task forces be established to work on the missing children

problem, concentrating on inter-agency cooperation, raising public awareness

and improving local services for children.

--That law enforcement agencies and social services agencies work together

to form missing children unit teams which will focus of prevention of tragedies

involving children.

The task force also found that a serious problem exists in North Carolina

concerning child abuse and exploitation. It recommends that the General

Assembly create a legislative study commission to consider the following

issues:

--Enactment of a Child Sexual Abuse and Exploitation Act with a child's

victim trust fund to finance local preverdon and education programs about the

techniques and lures child exploiters use.

--Legislation to establish certain sexual offenses where probation cannot

be granted nor the execution or imposition o' sentence be suspended.

--Legislation to permit the pre-trial videotape testimony of children age

12 and under to be used as evidence in sexual abuse cases.

--Legislation to make interference with a court child custody order a

felony punishable by a sentence of up to 20 years in prison, fine, or both.

--Legislation to require that potential employees of licensed day care

centers undergo a criminal records background check.

Clark said, "I want to thank Governor Hunt for creating this task force,

and want to thank the task force members for working so hard to find good ways

to deal with this perplexing and tragic problem. Also, I thank North

Carolinians who are concerned enough about this problem that they shared some of

their problems, and some of their successes, with us.

"This report is a beginning, not an ending," he said.

3i0
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REMARKS BY HEMAN R. CLARK

PRESS CONFERENCE -- GOVERNOR'S TASK FORCE ON MISSING CHILDREN
OCTOBER 23, 1984 -- 1:30 P.M.
RALEIGH, NORTH CAROLINA

GOOD AFTERNOON, WE ASKED YOU HERE TODAY TO UNVEIL THE

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE GOVERNOR'S TASK FORCE ON

MISSING CHILDREN.

BEFORE WE BEGIN, HOWEVER, I WOULD LIKE TO THANK GOVERNCR

JIM HUNT FOR ESTABLISHING THIS TASK FORCE, HE RECOGNIZED

THAT THIS WAS A PROBLEM THAT NEEDED ACTION, HIS LEADERSHIP

HAS BEEN INVALUABLE TO US,

GOVERNOR HUNT APPOINTED A SPLENDID TASK FORCE OF

EXPERIENCED, KNOWLEDGEABLE PEOPLE WITH A LONG STANDING

INTEREST IN THE PROBLEM.

(INTRODUCE THOSE NEMBERS PRESENT)

I ALSO WANT TO THANK THE ABLE MEMBERS OF THE TASK FORCE

FOR THEIR HARD WORK, ALSO, WE APPRECIATE THE HELP OF THE

SHERIFFS AND CHIEFS OF POLICE AND THE MANY CITIZENS WHO

SHARED THEIR TRIALS AND TRIUMPHS IN THEIR EFFORTS TO PROTECT

OUR CHILDREN.

THE TASK FORCE HELD FIVE PUBLIC HEARINGS ACROSS THE

STATE, WE FOUND MANY GOOD, COMMUNITY -BASED INITIATIVES

ALREADY AT WORK TO PROTECT OUR CHILDREN, THE SAFETY HAVEN

PROGRAM IN CHARLOTTE AND THE BLOCK PARENT PROGRAM HERE IN
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WAKE COUNTY ARE TWO EXAMPLES. MANY COMMUNITIES HAVE

FINGERPRINTING PROGRAMS UNDERWAY,

WE ALSO FOUND THAT, LIKE. THE REST OF THE NATION, OUR

BIGGEST PROBLEM WITH MISSING CHILDREN IS THE RUNAWAY, OR

DRIVEN AWAY, CHILD, MANY LEAVE BECAUSE OF INTOLERABLE

CONDITIONS IN THE HOME AND SOMETIMES FAILURE IN SCHOOL,

OTHERS LEAVE BECAUSE OF THE LURE OF SOMETHING THAT SEEMS

BETTER IN ANOTHER PLACE,

OUR SECOND LARGEST PROBLEM IS THE ESTRANGED PARENT WHO

KIDNAPS A CHILD IN VIOLATION OF CHILD CUSTODY ORDERS ISSUED

BY THE COURTS ("CHILD SNATCHING"), THIS IS A PERPLEXING

PROBLEM THAT DEFIES QUICK ANSWERS, OFTEN AN INTERSTATE

PROBLEM - -FBI CAN NOW ACT, AS IN THE DAVENPORT CASE A GREAT

COMFORT TO CUSTODIAL PARENTS,

THE RECOMMENDATIONS WE PRESENT HERE TODAY ARE THE

SUMMATION OF A LENGTHY REPORT ON THE ISSUE PREPARED BY THE

TASK FORCE, THE REPORT CONTAINS DOCUMENTATION, RESOURCE

MATERIAL AND WRITINGS ON THE MISSING CHILDREN PROBLEM AND

WILL BECOME A RESOURCE DOCUMENT ON FILE AT THE NORTH CAROLINA

MISSING CHILDREN'S INFORMATION CENTER.

(1) PARENTS AND CARETAKERS REPORT THE

DISAPPEARANCE OF A CHILD TO LOCAL LAW

ENFORCEMENT AS SOON AS IT IS LEARNED
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THAT THE CHILD IS MISSING.

(2) LAW- ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES MAKE IMMEDIATE

REPCNSES TO REPORTS OF MISSING CHILDREN.

(LAW ENFORCEMENT MANUAL)

(3) THE POLICE INFORMATION NETWORK BE PROVIDED

RESOURCES IMMEDIATELY WHICH ALLOW IT TO EXPAND

THE STANDARD REPORTING FORM TO OBTAIN

NECESSARY INFORMATION ON MISSING CHILDREN.

(4) THE GOVERNOR IMMEDIATELY ESTABLISH THE NORTH

CAROLINA MISSING CHILDREN'S INFORMATION_CENIE

WITHIN AN EXISTING STATE AGENCY, BY EXECUTIVE

ORDER.

(FUNCTION)

(A) ASSIST LAW ENFORCEMENT IN THEIR RESPONSES TO

REPORTS OF MISSING CHILDREN AND TO WORK WITH OTHER STATE

AGENCIES TO MAKE STATE RESOURCES AVAILABLE; TO GATHER

AND DISTRIBUTE INFORMATION AND DATA ON MISSING CHILDREN;

TO CONTINUE RESEARCH AND STUDY; TO SERVE AS A STATWILE

RESOURCE CENTER AND ASSIST LOCAL COMMUNITIES IN PROGRAMS

AND INITIATIVES FOR CHILD PROTECTION AND PREVENTION OF

CHILD MOLESTATION; TO CONTINUE PUBLIC AWARENESS OF THE

PROBLEMS OF THE MISSING CHILDREN AND COORDINATE WITH THE

FUNCTIONS OF THE NATIONAL MISSING CHILDREN'S CENTER.

313
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(B) ASSIST THE POLICE INFORMATION NETWORK TO MAINTAIN

AND PUBLISH A DIRECTORY OF CURRENTLY MISSING CHILDREN,

THE INFORMATION ON. THE MISSING CHILDREN SHOULD BE ISSUED

TO APPROPRIATE LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES THROUGHOUT THE

STATE; THE NORTH CAROLINA MISSING CHILDREN'S INFORMATION

CENTER; AND SHOULD BE ENTERED INTO THE NATIONAL CRIME

INFORMATION CENTER, THE INFORMATION SHOULD INCLUDE

INFORMATION ON THE CHILDREN WHO HAVE BEEN FOUND,

(C) MAINTAIN AND PUBLISH A DIRECTORY OF EXISTING PUBLIC

AND PRIVATE AGENCIES, GROUPS, AND INDIVIDUALS THAT

PROVIDE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE TO FAMILIES IN THE AREAS OF

PREVENTION OF CHILD ABDUCTION, LOCATION OF MISSING

CHILDREN, AND FOLLOW-UP SERVICES TO THE CHILD AND

FAMILY.

(D) THE CENTER SHOULD ANNUALLY COMPILE AND PUBLISH

REPORTS ON THE ACTUAL NUMBERS OF CHILDREN MISSING EACH

YEAR, LISTING THE CATEGORIES AND CAUSES FOR THE

DISAPPEARANCES.

(E) THE CENTER SHOULD PROVIDE FOLLOW-UP REFERRALS FOR

SERVICES TO MISSING CHILDREN AND THEIR FAMILIES.

tit ,
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(F) THE CENTER SHOULD BE PROVIDED WITH A TOLL FREE 800

TELEPHONE SYSTEM WHICH WILL BE IN SERVICE TWENTY-FOUR

HOURS A DAY, SEVEN DAYS A WEEK, 365 DAYS A YEAR.

(5) THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY ESTABLISH BY STATUTE THE

NORTH CAROLINA MISSING CHILDREN'S INFORMATION

CENTER, AND PROVIDE FOR ITS OPERATION THROUGH

THE BUDGET.

(6) SAFETY HOUSE PROGRAMS BE ESTABLISHED IN EVERY

COUNTY.

(INTRODUCE DEPUTY BURRELL)

(7) THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY AMEND GENERAL STATUTE

154 TO MAKE CLEAR THAT CHILDREN WHO ARE

INNOCENT VICTIMS OF CRIMINAL ACTS MAY CLAIM

COMPENSATION FROM THE NORTH CAROLINA CRIME

VICTIMS COMPENSATION COMMISSION.

(8) EVERY NORTH CAROLINA CHILD BE OFFERED THE

OPPORTUNITY TO HAVE FINGERPRINTS MADE FOR

SAFEKEEPING BY THE PARENTS.

(9) CALL-BACK PROGRAMS BE SET-UP IN EVERY NORTH

CAROLINA SCHOOL,

(10) THE NORTH CAROLINA JUSTICE ACADEMY DEVELOP AND

PRESENT APPROPRIATE TRAINING FOR LAW

ENFORCEMENT ON THE PROBLEMS OF MISSING

CHILDREN,

(11) LOCAL TASK FORCES BE ESTABLISHED TO BRING
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COOPERATION AND IMPROVE LOCAL SERVICES FOR

MISSING CHILDREN,

(12) MISSING CHILD TEAMS OF POLICE AND SCCIAL

WORKERS BE ESTABLISHED IN LOCAL AREAS,

(13) RECOMMEND LEGISLATIVE STUDY COMMISSION ON

CHILD ABUSE ISSUES, SAW NEED FOR CAREFUL

STUDY--NOT IN SCOPE OF THE STUDY OF THIS TASK

FORCE, GOVERNOR'S ADVOCACY COUNCIL ON YOUTH

AND CHILDREN (AS REPORTED YESTERDAY) MADE A

COMPREHENSIVE STUDY AND REPORT ON THESE

ISSUES,

(INTRODUCE BOB PENCE - FBI AND TERESA BLOOM TO TELL ABOUT

SUCCESS STORY),

CALL ON CHARLES DUNN FORMER DIRECTOR OF SBI,

r:
..ippg;
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CHILD EXPLOITATION: SONE PIECES OF THE PUZZLE

by Dorothy Rohlader

October 1984
Governor's Advocacy Council on Children and Youth
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PREFACE

This is an important and timely report that begins to put together the

complicated pieces of the child exploitation puzzle. Runaways, missing children,

child sexual abuse, pornography and prostitution all have interlocking components,

making it hard to separate one from the other. For example children may run away

from home because of abuse, only to become lured into prostitution or to be

convinced that posing for pornographic photos ;is acceptable. The ocmbinations of

these "puzzle pieces" are numerous and we are only just beginning to understand how

they fit together.

The Governor's Advocacy Council on Children and Youth (GACCY) began looking
into the issue of child exploitation several months ago, to identify the scope of

the problem in our state and to offer possible solutions to the problem. Recent

charges against two Wilson Cointy men for child pornography have supported our
findings that more research and data need to be collected about this important

problem. Suddenly we have been forced to realize that children can be exploited
right here in North Carolina - that childhood victimization is not limited only to a

few big oities in a few other states. But no matter where it occurs, we are all

affected and we must begin to deal with the different facets of the problem

immediately.

GACCY expresses its appreciation to Dorothy Rohlad( researcher and author

of this report. Mrs. Rohlader volunteered approximately eight months of her time to

study this topio, conduct interviews, write the report and offer reccomendationa.
She has done an outstanding job of condensing a complicated issue into an

understandable and informative report.

Herb Stout
Chairman, GACCY

October 1984
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EXECUTIVE SWUM!

Law enforcement officials estimate that each year as many as one million
youngsters from birth to 16 are sexually molested and then filmed either for profit
or sexual gratification. In the past, emphasis has been placed on those individuals
who deal in child pornography for profit. However, experts now believe that a great
deal of child pornography is produced by individuals, called pedophiles, for their
own sexual gratification.(1) Legislators, law enforcement officials, social service
professionals, parents, children and the general public need to be made aware of
this situation.

This new understanding of child pornography will force us to change old
attitudes and preconceived notions of who might take pornographic pictures of
children and which children might be susceptible to this type of exploitation.
Pedophiles are often the moat respected members of the community, the very
individuals into whose care we entrust our children.

Child prostitution often occurs along with or grows out of child sexual abuse
and pornography. Boys and girls who are sexually abused at home frequently run away
rather than stay and be subjected to further exploitation. Each year, 1.5 million
children are reported as runaways nationally.(2) Although most of these children
return home within 48 hours, those who do not may be lured into further exploitation
in the form of child pornography or prostitution in order to support themselves.

The purpose of this report is to clarify the problem of Child exploitation
with emphasis on child pornography and prostitution. It is imperative that North
Carolinians understand who threatens their children and under what circumstances so
that legislation, education and policies will be bond on the best understanding of
the problem, not groundless fears and false assumptions.

Legislation is recommended to extend North Carolina's Child Protection Act of
1983 so that children are protected from pedophiles who might use them in child
pornography for their own sexual gratification. It is also recommended that the age
of children protected under this law be raised from under 16 to under 18, since age
determination of children used in pornography and prostitution is often very
difficult for law enforcement officials.

Since detection of child exploitation is even more difficult with pedophiles,
strong recommendations are made for educating children about the difference between
good and bad touching and photographing of certain parts of their bodies.

Improved data collection on child victims of exploitation is also reoomeended
ao that the true scope of the problem will be known and corrective policies can be
adopted.' At the present time, no one knows how many children are exploited in North
Carolina, how many are missing or how many have run away.

These recommendations and others, which follow, are intended to increase our
understanding of child exploitation and its associated problems and to encourage
further study and assessment of children's needs in North Carolina.
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REIXIVENDATIONS

STATE LEGISLATION

1. Support legislation which would make pedophiles, who use child pornography for
personal sexual gratification rather than for oommercial gain or for use before an
audienoe, guilty of a felony.

2. Raise the felony level to Class H (imprisonment up to 10 years or a fine or
both) from Class I (imprisonment up to 5 years or fine or both) on Child Protection
Act of 1983 and on any subsequent legislation on the subject of child exploitation.

3. Increase penalties and fines for crimes against children and start collecting
them. Establish a fluid from fines to be used for the care and treatment of viotims
and offenders.

4. Encourage legislation with stiff penalties against johns (clients of
prostitutes) and pimps (those who encourage and support prostitutes and who are
compensated from their earnings) specifically involved in child prostitution.

5. Raise the age of juveniles protected against sexual exploitation from leas than
16 to less than 18.

6. Support the Division of Social Services in the North Carolina Department of
Human Resources in its recommendation to include the conoept of sexual exploitation

in the Juvenile Code.

T. See that data collection is begun on child victims of sexual exploitation,

missing children and runaways. Support funding for statewide incident reporting.

FEDERAL LEGISLATION

Support Missing Children's Bills now before House and Senate.

PREVENTION AND EDUCATION

1. Support and encourage the education of parents, touchers and children about
child sexual exploitation.

a. The illusion Theater of Minneapolis, Minn., often performs and gives
workshops for all three groups.

b. The film "The Sixth Sense" oan be used in the state school system to
educate children.

2. Broaden community awareness of the problem of sexual abuse and exploitation by:

a. arranging for the rebroadcast of the film oonoerning incest "Something

About Amelia."

b. investigating the feasibility of broadcasting Bill Russell's spots on

preventing child sexual abuse.
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3. Support and encourage the growth of family services for:

a. Parent education: to help parents understand the emotional needs of
their children and thereby reduce the number of runaways. To help parents
understand their own emotional development since sexual abuse often occurs in
families where parents are unable to control their own emotions and

imPulliom.(3) For example: Project Enlightenment in Raleigh.

b. Crisis intervention: to help unstable families and rebuild those in
state of disintegration.

4. Support and encourage marriage and family life education in high schools.

nnatruct children on the responsibilities and trials of family life
including the duties of parenthood, emotional needs of parents and emotional
development of children. These programs should educate children on the
dynamics of intrafamily relationships ao that children not only better
understand their present environment but also will better respond to their
own children in the future.n4)

5. Encourage the inclusion of a coun.aor on the staff of every school at every
level. This counselor should move aang the students and be a resource available to
them.

6. Encourage and support groups researching human sexuality, especially those
relating to pedophiles and pederasts. At present there is no real agreement on how
best to treat these offenders. This leads to confusion in the courts, ineffective
policy, frustrated law enforcement agencies and unprotected children.

7. Educate film processors and developers on child sexual exploitation and
encourage'them to report offenders.

FURTHER STUDY NEEDED

1. Whet happens to child victims of sexual exploitation in the court system?

2. %bat type of treatment programs are available statewide for victims and
offenders?

3. How can child prostitution best be uncovered and handled by law
enforcement and social service agencies?

4. How can runaways best be reported, found and assisted?

39-879 0 - 85 - 21 322
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IMITCDUCTION

Child sexual abuse, child pornography and child prostitution are not isolated
phenomena. They frequently occur in combination with one another or lead one to the
other. For instance, we know now that many children are victims of sexual abuse. It
is estimated that one out of every three girls and one out of every four boys will
be sexually victimized as a child. We know that 80 percent to 90 percent of the
children are sexually abused by someone they know and trust, i.e. the baby sitter or
a relative. Forty percent of child molestationa are carried out by parents,
step-parents and foster parents.(5) We are just beginning to understand, however,
that these cases of child molestation may also involve the adult taking pictures of
the child in sexually suggestive poses or taking part in sexual acts with other
adults or children.

We are also just beginning to understand what happens to these abused
children in their adolescent years and adulthood. A3 teenagers, they often run away
from home and end up on the streets where they are exploited again. Sane experts
claim that 75 percent of adolescent prostitutes(6) and 80 percent of all female drug
users have been victims of incest.(7)

If children leave home they have difficulty getting Jobe, need money to live
on and are lonely. Adults interested in using them in child prostitution or Child
pornography or both will seem to meet all of these needs. A pattern of
victimization begun at home is difficult to break, especially When one is under 18,
probably has low self-esteem and no saleable skills.

Another disturbing pattern currently under study is that child victims of
sexual abuse often grow up to become the abusers and molesters of a whole new
generation of children. Nicholas Groth, director of the Sex Offender Program at the
Connecticut Correctional Institution in Somers, Conn., estimates that 80 percent of
child molesters were sexually abused as ohildren.(8)

It seems imperative for the health of present and future generations that
this cycle be broken. The only way that this can be accomplished is through a clear
understanding of child sexual abuse, Child pornography and child prostitution end
dedication to their eradication.

At least part of the reason that these problems remain unresolved todaf is
that our society is still confused about sexual mores, First Amendment rights and
government's role in protecting children and intrafanily relationships. We are only
now beginning to force ourselves to see and to deal with abusive behavior witiin
families and between adults and children. It hats finally become apparent that the
consequences of ignoring the problem can be devastating both for those directly
involved and aociety as a whole.
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CHILD EXPLOITATION IN NORTH CAROLIN

Today there ia acaroely a :study, report or inveatigation into human sexuality
which doea not indicate that child-adult sex is active and prevalent.

Of 5,058 reported aex crimes in New York City in 1975, 27.2 percent of the
victims were under 14. In a atudy of over 1,500 male aex offenders in prison who
canmitted 1,700 offenses, 998 were against children under 15. More than one-half of
all victims of reported rape are under 18, and 25 percent of this number are under
12. (9) The National Committee for the Prevention of Child Abuae states that "there
seems little doubt that the incidence of sexual abuse committed against children ia
vastly higher than anyone would like to believe."(10)

Child sexual abuse, moat often perpetrated by someone known by the child, ia
frequently linked to child pornography and proatitution.

Children in North Carolina are legally protected against sexual exploitation
by the Child Protection Act of 1983 (Appendix A). The act make::: it a Class I felony

(punishable by up to 5 years in prison or fine or both) for a parent, guardian or
person having custody of a child less than 16 years of age to encourage or permit
that child to engage in prostitution or any sexual act. It also makes it a Class I
felony for a peraon to use a child in a :sexual performanoe.

Before 1983 and the passage of the Child Proteoi.ion Act, child sexual
exploitation waa dealt with only in criminal laws addressing rape, sexual offenses,
indecent libertiea with children and incest (see Appendix B for specific laws);
child pornography was proscribed only by the ineffeotive general statutes punishing
those who disseminate obscenity in public places; and child prostitution waa not
legally acknowledged.

In 1980, "the commission of any aexual aot upon a juvenile" waa added to the
Juvenile Code'a definition of an abused Juvenile. In 1981 proatitution was added.
These changea required the county department of social services to investigate and
report these typea of aexual exploitation by a parent or caretaker. Similar
changed:, however, were not made in the Criminal Code at this time.(11)

By July 1983 the North Carolina General Assembly felt the need to pass the
Child Protection Act. Many factors were involved in thia deoision. Two years
earlier David Shouvlin, who had worked with runaway and harmless children, called
for /strong, legislation at the state level and pointed out that North Carolina was
one of few states that had yet to adopt legislation dealing more broadly with child
exploitation.(12)

Shouvlin, a graduate of Wake Forest University, wrote "Preventing the Sexual
Exploitation of Children: A Model Act." In hia article, Shouvlin pointed out the
symbiotic relationship which exists between sexual abuse, child prostitution and
child pornography. He stated that a "cohesive, coordinated atatutory scheme"
dealing with all aspeots of the problem of child exploitation would provide the best
means of retarding the growth of eaoh.(13)

Another important factor in the decision of the N.C. General Assembly to pass
the Child Protection Act waa the 1982 Supreme Court deoision in lbw York v Ferber.
Thia decision "unanimously affirmed the oonatitutionality of state lawa ktich outlaw
dissemination of films and other materials depicting children engaging in sexual
conduct regardleas of whether the material is legally obsoene."(14)
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Also, sane groups in North Carolina, such as the Christian Action League, had
been expressing concern at legislative hearings about the presence of pornography in
our state.

STATISTICAL .=

Neither local nor statewide statistical data on the use of children in
pornography and proatitution in North Carolina is available. The FBI Uniform
Reporting Code, generally used by police, does not cover child abuse or
exploitation.

Statewide, the Police Information Network (PIN) is att.:misting to establish
incident-based reporting which would include data on the victiu and the victim's
relationship to the offender. This syaten deals with initial incidents as reported
and not with the charges eventually brought against defendants after plea bargaining
and would provide a clearer picture of the frequency of victimization of children
and of the offender.(15)

At the present time, only 30 law enforcement agencies out of 400 are
incorporated into the PIN system. That small number does not provide the data base
necessary for scientific analysis and policy decision-making.(16)

Because of budgetary considerations, funding has not been provided for the
continued expansion of the system. The PIN has the necessary computer terminals.
At present $120,000 is needed to staff, process and automate the rest of the
system.(17)

CHIU) FORM:GRAMa NORM COMM

Little information is available concerning the extent of child pornography in
North Carolina. However, after a limited investigation (Appendix C), it 13 clear
that it does exist here. Detection is difficult, however, because pedophiles are
careful. They know state and federal laws and often are not involved in the
ccemercial enterprises which are easier for authorities to infiltrate.

State, local and federal officials contacted for the purpose of this report
mentioned the following cases:

Rob Showers, a U.S. attorney for the Eastern District of North Carolina, .
has prosecuted three individuals in the last two years who were directly
involved with child pornography.

1. One man took photos of his niece and nephews and created a library
of child pornography. He also began offering reproductions to other
pedophiles. During this time he and his wife adopted a young child.

In 1982 he was ounvioted on Federal Nail Statute 1461 and he was
sentenoed to five years of active time plus a fine. According to

Showers, the judge sealed the evidence after the trial which meant the
state was unable to get enough evidence to remove the adopted child from
the home.

2. Another man pleaded guilty to one charge each of conspiracy to mail
obscene material and sexual exploitation. He ma fined and sentenced to
five years of probation because he assisted the FBI by testifying
against the operator of a photography lab in New York through Which he
had film processed.
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3 Another individual was recently indicted on four counts of using the
mail to transport films of children engaged in sexual activity. A
California pornography probe first turned up this person's name. If
cwlvicted, he could be sentenced to 30 years in prison and fined up to
830,000.(18)

Wake County has dealt with two cases in the past two years:

1. A husband and wife took photos of their niece. Someone working in a
film processing lab turned the pictures over to authorities. The two
were charged with taking indecent liberties with a minor.(19)

2. A mother and her boyfriend filmed the woman's three daughters in
sexual ants over a period of seven years. The children finally went to
a social service agency. The mother and boyfriend were charged with
indecent liberties in January of 198U.(20)

Bill Andrews, district attorney, Onslow County, has had one case of a
man taking photos of nude children. A film developer in Seattle, Wash.,
turned the pictures over to authorities. The man pleaded guilty to
indecent liberties with a minor and was sentenced to three years in
prison.

One North Carolina Court of Appeals oase in 1982 involved a man who had
taken photos of a child in sexually suggestive positions. The man was
convicted of taking indecent liberties with a minor and appealed.
However, his appeal was denied because the court felt that the word
"with" in G.S. 14.202.1 is not limited to physioal touohing.(21)

Most individuals and agencies contacted by the writer of this report
(Appendix C) had no recollection of having to handle any cases of child
pornography.

ptid Fnforeoment

Almost all law enforcement personnel questioned about child pornography spoke
of the general difficulty in prosecuting pornographers. Although there is concern
in the ccemunity about pornography, police are stymied by the U.S. Supreme Court
rulings on obscenity laws and the North Carolina laws requiring an adversary hearing
to determine if materiel being sold is in foot obscene.

Their frustration is understandable since adult bookstores are prolific in
North Caroline and appear to operate without too such femr.of censure.

The Charlotte Police Department oompleted on undercover operation recently to
see if it could locate any child pornography in adult bookstores and peep shows. It
found none. It is assumed that the federal Protection of Children Against Sexual
Exploitation Aot, passed in 1977, sent it underground in North Carolina, just as it
did in the rest of the nation.

Experts believe that child pornography exists and the only real change is
that sore individual pedophiles are producing their corn child pornography and fewer
commercial pornographers are involved. Law enforcement officials and others need to
be made @were of this trend and of the connection between sexual abuse and child
pornography.
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Since awareness seems low in North Carolina, opportunities for discovering

cases ofevidence of child pornography are being missed. As the number of rep orted
child sexual abuse is believed to be very much below the notual number, it may
follow that reported incidents of the use of children in pornography are also below
the actual number.

If this is the'case, the first problem for law enforcement is detection or
reporting of incidents of the use of children in pornography. One change which
might assist in this difficult task is to incorporate pornography in the description
of an abused juvenile in the Juvenile Code. This would give the county department
of social services the right to investigate and report to law enforcement agencies
use of a child in pornography by a parent or caretaker. As the code is written now,
departments can investigate and report the use of a Child in pornography only if
there is a sexual act committed against the child.(22)

If the actual level of use of children in pornography in North Carolina is to
be detected, all agencies coming in contact with children have to be aware that many
child pornographers are pedophiles who develop their own film. These people tend
not to be suspect figures involved in general pornography and other illegal
activities. They may, in fact, be well-respected, middle-class community
figures.(23) It is this fact which makes confronting and dealing with Child
pornography difficult.

Because these people are perceived as go..o citizens, they are infrequently
subjects of investigation or enforcement. Therefore, the Child's and society's
first line of defense against this type of exploitation is to teach children at home
and in school that they have a right to their own bodies. Children must be taught
that there is a difference between good and bad touching and photographing of
certain parts of their bodies.

Prosecution

This study revealed that legal proceedings related to ohild pornography have
been sparse. Other than the cases already mentioned, one district attorney recalled
prosecuting a person for taking indecent liberties with a minor, a Class H felony
which has a maximum sentence of 10 years. This law has been broadly interpreted to
include the taking of pictures, with no touching necessary.(24) Since it has a
stiffer penalty than the Child Protection Aot of 1983, prosecutors will probably
continue to use it where applicable.

,impact of The Ch ld Protection Ant of 198 on Prose_c ut1on of Child Pornogranhy

As of February 1984, the new law had not been tested in court. Until this is
done, the full impact of the law cannot be estimated. However, the district
attorneys surveyed were all pleased that the new law was available to them in case
the need arose. They were also pleased that nonfeasance, or the failure of parents
to intervene when they know of wrongdoing, as well as malfeasance, the actual
wrongdoing, were covered.

The general attitude seems to be that this whole subject of ohild pornography
has just begun to be exffored and understood and that more cases will come to light
as more people in the community are educated about its existence and the damage it
inflicts on the children involved.
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2uggeatiuns. for_EUrther_LeAIDIALIN2

There is acme concern among officials that pedophiles could not be prosecuted
under the present Child Protection Act, because of the words "before an audiences
and "sexual performance."(25) Since most experts now believe that personal use plus
trading with other known and trusted pedophiles is the trend in child pornography,
there will be a need for further legislation that will cover this situation.

nuuuicaarunamsaisabula
The extent of child prostitution in North Carolina is even more difficult to

access than child pornography. Of the areas included in this limited study
(Appendix C), only Charlotte reported some male and female minors involved in

prostitution. According to local authorities, most of these youths are runaways or
WV from troubled homes.

It is impossible to know how many minora are involved in prostitution because
police became specifically involved only when a complaint has been filed or When
they have strong reason to believe that prostitution is occurring. Since those
involved in child prostitution generally do not file a complaint, the police must
take it upon themselves to initiate investigations.

Charlotte has one pending case involving six minor males being paid for
:sexual acta.(26)

LawMitomosmant

Authorities in Charlotte claim that most of the young prostitutes they see
are 16 and above. There are, however, some under the age of 16 who have left home
for one reason or another.(27) Acourately detensining the age of theme juveniles is
a problem, since for various reasons they often claim to be older than they actually
are. They do not always view the police as rescuers because being put on probation,
or being sent home, to a shelter or to a training school may not be perceived by
them as being in their beat interest.

Prosecution

Charlotte police, do not usually use the state prostitution laws to deal with
these children. They prefer to deal with them as "undisciplined juveniles." As
defined in the Juvenile Code, these are individuals less than 16 years of age who
are unlawfully absent from school, or are regularly disobedient and beyond control,
or who are regularly found in places where it is teaming for juveniles to be, or
are runaways.

Being an undisciplined juvenile is considered a status offense and the
juvenile can be placed under protective supervision of the court. The police can

divert the case from the courts altogether if they feel that the family will handle
the problem.(21) The in-take counselor at juvenile court also has the discretion to
divert the case from the court. The juvenile may be sent to a temporary shelter
such as Wrenn House in Wake County or The Relatives in Mecklenburg County, if the
home situation is abusive or intolerable.

The basis of the problem of child prostitution exists in these dysfUnotional
family situations.(2B) It is far better to deal with these children and their
families before the child feels the need to run away. Once on the street they are

difficult to help and far too easy to exploit.
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Impact of The_ Child Protection Ant of 1981 on Prosecution of Child Prostitutym

If used, the Child Protection Aot oould help to out down on the sexual
exploitation of children, such as early sexual abuse in the home, including
pornography. These exploited children often end up running away from home only to
be exploited again through prostitution. According to the act, parents or
oaretakers who °malt, permit or encourage ants of prostitution are guilty of child
abuse. In the Charlotte cases, however, parents and caretakers did not appear to be
directly involved in or to have knowledge of the activities of the juveniles,(30) so
the act could not be used.

SuagezitImalsarliztharLegalatian

Legislation aimed specifically at those who exploit children through
prostitution is the only effective way to control child prostitution.

Because no central agency is responsible for keeping track of missing
children in North Carolina, officials can only estimate that 1,500 to 2,500 are
reported missing each year.(31)

These children may be runaways, victims of abduction or murder. Host will be
runaways and, according to Sgt. R. K. Carroll of the Raleigh Police Deportment, most
will be "overnighters." These juveniles are either back home or have contacted
their parents within 24 hours.(32)

There are same, however, who do not return. At present the ability to enlist
the aid of other states and the federal government in tracing these children is
minimal and haphazard.

Governor Jim Hunt recently established a Task Force on Hissing Children to
address, among other issues, data collection on missing children. Their report will
be available in fall 1984.

On the federal level, the U.S. House and Senate have bills in committee which
would aid states in dealing with missing children. (Pending federal legislation is
discussed elsewhere in this report.)
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NATIONAL PERSPECTIVE ON CHILD EXPLOITATION

.011.1LEORNMERE

The following examples demonstrate some of the most common oiromstanoes
surrounding oases of child pornography and some characteristics of both viotime and
offenders.

1. Julie was a 3-year-old attending Isabel's Nursery School in Los Angeles,
Calif. She was a normal, outgoing child whose vocabulary was expanding
daily. However, Julie's use of the word "butt" puzzled her mother since it
was not one that their family used. When she questioned the child more
closely, she was told that James "took pictures of my butt today."

James, the owner of the day -care center, was a middle-aged man with a
doctoral degree. When police finally arrested him, they confiscated more
than 2,000 pictures of boys and girls between the ages of 2 and 5, including
photographic shots of little Julie.(33)

2. Johnny, a troubled 13-year-old, was having difficulty getting along with
both his real father and his stepfather. His mother was concerned about
these problems and so she was pleased when Johnny was hired by a minister to
help him with hire repairs.

Later, his parents became suspicious about gifts and money that Johnny
began bringing home. When they questioned him in depth, he broke down and
told how the clergyman had convinced him to pose in homosexual acts to earn
money.

"When the police arrested the minister, they found a diary and a photo
album chronicling 13 years of encounters with young boys."(34)

Mt Anode=

The offenders, usually pedophiles, are almost always male. According to
Nicholas Drab, pedophiles are divided into two types. The first type is the
"fixated child molester" whose primary sexual interest is in children. According to
Crab, this type usually chooses boys as victims. The second type is the "regressed
molester" whose primary sexual interest is in adults but who turns to children,
usually girls, when adult relations are not working.(35)

Crab claims that it is a myth that child molesters are "insane, retarded,
drug addicted, alcoholic, homosexual or dirty old men."(36) He says that aside frog
their sexual behavior there is usually nothing to differentiate them. In fact, they
are usually respectable, middle-class men with no criminal history.(37) Also, they
may be married or have sexual involvement with adults.(38) In a 1978 study cited by
the National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect in "Adult Sexual Orientation and
Attraction to Underage Persons," it was found that "the adult heterosexual male
constitutes a greater risk to the underage child than does the adult.
howsexual."(39)

3,
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In 1980 the Department of Health and Human Services' Office of Human
Development Services funded the proposal "Research on the Use of Children in
Pornography" under the aegis of Boston University initially and later the
Department of Health and Hospitals, City of Boston. This project was designed azi
first step toward increasing recognition and understanding of the problem of the use
of children in pornography.(40) In this study, it is reported that the average age
of the 69 offenders studied was 42. This report also indicates that of the men
studied all had long histories of fixation to ohildren and that attempts at
rehabilitation from a psychological and/or social standpoint had failed.(41) The

study will hereafter be referred to as the Burgess study after Dr. Ann Burgess, the
principal investigator for the study.

Pederasts, or "chicken hawks" as they are called on the street, are
pedophiles who prefer anal intercourse with young boys. Two infamous pederasts were
murderers Dean Corll of Houston, Tex., and John Wayne Gacy, Jr., of Chicago, Ill.
In the late 1970s these two horrified the nation when it was discovered that they
had sexually assaulted and then murdered at least 67 boys. It is important to
understand that these individuals killed because they were sadists and pederasts,
not because they were homosexuals. " Responsible homosexuals no more condone the
action of sadists or pederasts than responsible heterosexuals approve the
molestation or torture of little girls.^(42)

Pedophiles may kidnap children, molest them and then take photographs for
their own use or to pass on to friends. This is a particularly disturbing aspect of
child exploitation since children cannot be watched 24 hours a day especially as
they get older. The extent of this aspect of the problem is not known but perhaps
with the increased emphasis being placed on missing children since the Adam Walsh
case, new insights and statistic!, will soon be available.

Adam Walsh was a six-year-old who disappeared from a Sears store in
Hollywood, Fla., on July 27, 1981. His severed he was found two weeks later in a
canal 100 miles away. In October 1983, the NBC television network aired a two-hour
dramatization entitled "Adam," based on this tragic case. The pictures of 55
missing children were shown during the broadcast. As a result, 14 of these children

have since been found.

The Victims

According to Carolyn Swift in 2eAua1 Assault of Children and Adolescents,
"Children are the least articulate and most exploited population suffering
from society's failure to confront realistically the phenomena of human
sexuality."(43) They are not born with instinctual morality or the ability to make
discriminative decisions about harmful or non - harmful sexual activities.

The two examples of Julie and Johnny discussed earlier are fairly typical of
some of the victims of child pornography. The child is frequently a :ion - complaining

victim because the pedophile "uses the guise of friendship to romance the
child."(44) He will take the youngster on trips, be a friend and do all of the

things a ohild wants to do. "Then before you know it, he has talked him/her into
sexual activities, told him that it was something okay to do and probably &sown him
pornographic pictures to lower his inhibitions."(45) Blackmail may also be used.

Pornographers start off taking legitimate pictures, gain the confidence of the
child, take sane nude pictures and then threaten to expose the child unless he poses
for more and more revealing pictures.(48)
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Because pedophiles are found in every walk of life and insinuate thanselyes
into groups and organizations dealing with children, "every child is a potential
viotim."(47) Even ohildren from happy homes may be lured into sexual activities
including pornography by someone familiar, someone they are supposed to respect.
Children are taught to be good little girls and boys and to obey the teacher. Yet
"Jacqueline Conner, head of the sexual crimes program in the Los Angeles County
district attorney's office, gets at least one complaint a week that youth leaders,
camp counselors, baby sitters or other people in positions of authority are involved
in some form of child molestation including pornography."($8)

Camnercial pornography operators and cruising pedophiles pink up runaways and
"throwaways," i.e. ohildren kicked out or simply abandoned by parents, who are
particularly vulnerable because they have no way of earning a living and feel alone
and alienated from their families.

Children may even be victimized by their own parents for their sexual
gratification or financial gain. After one investigation in New York, where 8- to
14-year-olds were paid up to $200 per day to pose in the nude and while engaging in
sexual activities with adults, the district attorney stated that the "mothers and
fathers forced their daughters to return and participate in orgies....The parents
knew those children were being molested and yet they did nothing to atop it. They
were more interested in the money than in the welfare of their ohildren."(49)

One generally thinks of home as "the place designed and expected to generate
absolute trust in children and yet this trust may sometimes be violated in the worst
possible manner."(50) The National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect estimated that
60,000 to 100,000 ohildren in this country are sexually maltreated every year by
family members or close friends. There seem to be close ties between many types of
self-destructive and anti-social behavior in young people and incestuous
relationships in the home. In reality, victims of incest may remain victims for the
rest of their lives because "cross- generational incest mutilates self -image and

.feelings of self- worth. "(51) These types of feelings leave young people vulnerable
to all types of exploitation including pornography and prostitution. Also some
ohildren may run away from home in an attempt at self-preservation, then find
themselves with only one means of support - their bodies.

Figures differ as to whioh sex is more likely to be exploited depending on
whether one is speaking of molestation in general or child pornography
specifically. Nioholas Groth writes that "boys and girls are almost equally at risk
when speaking generally of sexual victimization." However, evidence ewes to
indicate that "more boys than girls pose and perform in kiddie porn."(52) This is
substantiated in the Burgess study, which found that of 69 oases reviewed by the
Postal Inspection Service, 52.1 percent involved the use of male children, 11.5
percent involved female children and 24.6 percent involved both male and female
children.(53) This same study goes on to state that oollectors of ohild pornography
prefer male ohildren. The preference is olose to twice as frequent for boys as for
girls."(54)

Commercial Versus Private tJsg

Experts are still trying to resolve the question of how much child
pornography is for personal use and how much is for oommercial distribution.
Commercial child pornography is defined as films, photographs, magazines and books
depicting ohildren in explicit heterosexual and homosexual acts, and it has three
elements. Those elements are produotion, distribution and sales.(55) It is
generally agreed that in the 1970a commeroial child pornography reached a peak. "By
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1978, 260 different magazine titles featured ,juveniles engaged in sexual activities
or otherwise posing lasciviously with other children or adults."(56) Some of the
more popular magazines were &wets, which featured 3- to 8- year -olds,
with children from 11 to 14 and Chickaajrats Which featured young boys.(57)

In 1977 when evidence of the extent of the exploitation came to light through
media investigations, police probes and congressional committee hearings, President
Carter signed a new federal law entitled Protection of Children Against Sexual
Exploitation Act. This act "prohibits anyone, including parents and guardians, from
using children under 16 or enticing them to be depicted in sexual acts, and from
shipping child pornography through the mails or in interstate or foreign
commerce."(58) Until this act became law, states had relied upon rape, incest and
child welfare statutes to punish those who sexually exploited children.
"Prosecut!.on under these statutes was uncertain and ineffective."(59) The
California Department of Justice estimated that in 1978 pornographers were
collecting $4 billion a year. This amount is what conventional motion pictures and
records, combined, make in one year.(601)

Child advocates and lawmakers felt at that time that the susceptible children
were primarily runaways who were easy prey for operators of prostitution and
pornography rings and those unlucky children whose parents would use them for their
own financial gain, possibly to pay for expensive drug habits. They also felt that
this lucrative business was being increasingly penetrated by organized crime.(61)
Because of this belief, the 1977 Protection of Children Against Sexual Exploitation
emphasizes ccmnerce and the commercial aspects of the pornography problem.

Today most experts believe that after the enactment of this law, the child
pornography business went underground. They feel that more "brown bag kiddie porn
is being produced today than slick professional products available, if at all, only
via surreptitious under-the-counter sales at adult bookstores or other outleta."(62)

Dr. Frank Osanka, professor of sociology and social justice at Lewis;
University, claims that "there appears to be an incredible amount of swapping and
ccrarunication among child porn collectors that apparently doesn't appear among
collectors of regular porn."(63) Because child pornography is illegal these people
become "members of a select underground group and establish a very viable pipeline
of information and material."(64) The Burgess; study found that of 69 cases reviewed
by the Postal Inspection Service, "the classification of child pornography was
divided evenly between commercial use, 46.3 percent, and personal use, 46.3 percent,
and 4.3 percent were determined to include both commercial and non-commercial
purposes."(65)

111111LP.80t=11

Statistics specifically relating to child prostitution are difficult to
obtain. According to a state legislative report on "The Sexual Exploitation of
Children and Youth," one reason for this is that no one involved wants to talk. It
seems to be agreed, however, "that the incidence of teenage prostitution has
increased. Possible reasons for the increase include high unemployment among youth,
lack of educatisn and information about prospective jobs and dissolution of the
family support atructure."(66) Also, the apparent relationship between sexual abuse
at home, especially ioceat, and later involvement in prostitution cannot be
overlooked. According to Robert L. Geiser in MidAstaistimst The Sexual Movie of
Children, "75 percent of adolescent prostituted-MINUbn involved in incestuous
relationships."(67) This pattern is seen again in the early results of the Burgess
study which states that 19 of 28 male adolescent prostitutes studied claimed their
first sexual experience was coercive. Eleven of the 28 were victims of incest.(68)
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The 1983 Kentucky Teak Force on Exploited and Hissing Children reported that
nationally at least 50,000 children are abduoted by strangers and 4,000 are found
dead each year. They claim 100,000 are victims of parental abduotions with only 10
percent ever returned. These 10 percent exhibit moderately troubled to severely
dysfunctional behavior. The study states that 1.5 million children are reported
each year as runaways. Of the runaways, 35 percent are thought to leave because of
incest, with 53 percent running from physica'. abuse and neglect. Some of the
runaways are "throwaways." More than 80 percent of runaway; are white ohildren from
middle and upper -clam; families. Ninety percent of the 1.5 million runewaya return
home within the first 48 hours. This leaves 150,000 Elliman& and many others
returning to unhealthy family situatione.(69) The first 48 hours after a child is
missing are the met crucial because after that time they become more vulnerable.
The longer runaways are gone the less money they have and the more easily they may
fall prey to drug rings, prostitution and/or child pornography. The link is seen
here again between pornography and prostitution because both prey on the mile type
of lonely, homeless and pennilesa child. Children may end up in prostitution after
having been involved in pornography or pornography may be used to desensitize a
child for prostitution.(70)

[Awe, too, often work against runaways in some states. In New York a child
can leave home at 16, but without working papers, he can't work unless he ia 18.
"Working papers cannot be obtained without the signatures of a parent and school
principal and without acquiring a physical frail the board of health."(71) In other
states, laws "prohibit children under oertain ages from borrowing Roney, renting
apartments or obtaining even the most menial low-paying jobs."(72) These children
are "underage without a legal guardian or bona fide address and are ineligible for
programa which provide training, education and jobs for youth or for welfare
benefits. Without adult status, protection or a family, theyare juvenile
delinquents who are subject to arrest."(73) If they are picked up by the police,
they are sent back home, sentenced to a reformatory, or remanded to an often
inadequate, understaffed and underfunded rehabilitation inatitution.(74)

Prostitution has emotional appeal to runaways. "Despite risks, prostitution
may be the more attractive alternative to the child because no other occupation will
give the newcomer suoh immediate confirmation of his or her deairability."(75) This
emotional vulnerability allows pimps and pedophiles to gain the trust of the child
by seeming to give desperately needed affection and affirmation. Psychologiats
Dorothy H. Braoey and Samuel S. Janus olaim many runaways view their pimps as
substitute fathers. These psychologists interviewed 79 runaways, ages 14 to 17, who
were involved full time in prostitution and pornography. They found that "the pimp

builds upon the family model with himself as the exploiting father."(76)
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EFFECTS OF SEXUAL EXFWITATION ON CHILDS:2

"Someday, maybe, there will exist a well-informed,
well-considered and yet fervent public oonviotion that the

most deadly of all possible sins is the mutilation of a

child's spirit; for such mutilation undercuts the life
principle of trust, without Which every human act, may it
feel ever so good and seem ever so right, is prone to
perversion by destructive forma of consciousness." Erick

Erikson (77)

Children bear psychological and physical effects of sexual exploitation.

"Children who are used sexually by adults or who are seduced, enticed or

forced to pose for pornography are left almost inevitably with severe psychological

scarring that can never be erased."(78) They are left feeling worthless, guilty,

betrayed and angry. Dr. Julianne Densen-Cerber of New York's Odyssey House, which

treats drug and alcohol addiction, claims that the "psychological damage is

especially severe when 'highly sexualized behavior' is imposed on children in the

latency stage between the ages of approximately 8 and 15.'1(79) These children may

permanently associate sex with personal powerlessness. They take on "themselves the

guilt for what they accurately perceive as a distorted and sociably inacoeptable

form of behavior."(80) They feel as if there must be something wrong with them and

this can lead to promiscuity or it may cause some to grow up with only negative

feelings about sex.(81) "Sex can become a victim's only for, of expression or it

may become separate from feeling."(82)

Some children demonstrate self -destructive behavior either by suicide or by

"turning to drugs and alcohol to desensitize themselves during the years they are

sexually exploited or later to deaden memories."(83) According to Dr.

Densen -Gerber, sexual experiences which involve penetration, within the mouth, anus

or vagina, are especially damaging to children and can lead to feelings of lack of

control over their bodies or their destiniea.(80

The use of a child in pornography even without severe sexual molestation can

leave scars. According to a U.S. General Accounting Office report, children can be

psychologically scarred and suffer mental distress for life. The child victims may

see themselves as objects to be sold rather than people who are important.(85) Dr.

Ann Burgess has stated that the secrecy demanded by pornographers "leaves kids

feeling they are'society's outsiders and increases the chances they will turn to

antisocial behavior such as truancy, alcohol and drug abuse."(86) In the Burgess

study, the results of a follow-up study of 25 boys and 15 girls conducted over a

two-year period "support suggesting that the psychological trauma experienced by the

child is expressed as a poet - traumatic stress disorder, chronic type.(87) The

children "remember feeling anxious and fearful. at the time of the experience and

angry at the event on follow-up." They had "vivid imagery of the event, frequent

flashbacks and memory of the court/legal process. Also there was a high percentage

of intrusive thought aymptomology and avoidance behavior."(88)
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One effect of participation in child pornography which is not necessarily
found in other forms of abuse and exploitation is the fear that the piotures will be
used again. One photo can hound a ohild for a lifetime. For example, a little
league coach used provooative pictures of Brooke Shields as a child to entioe a
9-year-old girl to a photo session. The man was eventually convicted but not all
the pictures were found. Months later the young girl refused to attend her 301100115
open house because she had had a dream that her teacher was displaying the photos of
her whioh had not been found by the polloe.(09)

Physical effects of sexual exploitation can be damaging to both boys and
girls.

As a result of sexual abuse, girls may suffer physical injuries such as
laceration of the genital area, and both boys and girls may incur severe damage to
their rectums after anal intercourse with adults. Adolescent girls faoe the
possibility of pregnanoy, and both boys and girls face severe physioal damage from
venereal disease.(90) Cases of gonorrhea of the mouth and throat are seen in even
very young children.

When a child prostitute is oontrolled by a pimp, the possibilities of
physical abuse and even death increase. One 14-year-old teenager who had been
picked up by a pimp in Minneapolis end turned into a prostitute in New York
testified before a New York State Select Legislative Conmittee on Crime and
described the brutality that she had experienced. The pimp had lured her into going
with him by pranising good times and a glamorous life. After weeks of selling
herself to five and 10 men a night for $20 a triok, six or seven days a week, she
complained that she had had enough and wanted out. He beat her so brutally that he
broke her jaw. When she left the hospital with her jaw still wired shut, "he pushed
her back on to the street with instructions not to return until she had earned her
old quota."(91) She earned $4,000 in three months. An attempt at suicide failed
and she finally telephoned her family for help. She was reunited with than with the
help of local police.
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FEDERAL LEGISLATION

As of 1978, five federal laws prohibited the distribution of obscene
material. One law curbed the mailing of obscene material, another banned
importation of the material, the third prohibited the broadcasting of obscenity, and
"two others ruled out the interstate transportation or use of common carriers to
transport obscene meterial."(92) However, no federal statutes specifically forbade
child pornography. Also the 1910 White Slave Traffics Aot, or the Mann Aot as it is
more commonly known, prohibited only the transportation of females across state
lines for prostitution purposes without providing a similar provision to proteot
boye.(93)

The problem with the federal laws concerning obscenity was that no one could
agree on what was obscene. Law enforcement officials and prosecutors were hesitant
to spend taxpayers' money and their time on oases which so frequently were being
discarded on First Amendment grounds. Add to this problem the idea held by many
citizens and court officials that pornography is a victimless crime and one can
understand why the pornography business was in high gear in the mid and late
seventies. If a oaae did get to court, pornographers often used the services of a
few law firms specializing in obscenity oases which tended to increase their
expertise.

When it was brought to Congress' attention that children were being exploited
and abused by pornographers, action was taken to create a new federal law, the
Protection of Children Against Sexual Exploitation Aot of 1977. The law prohibits
anyone - including parents and guardians - from using children under 16 or enticing
them to be depicted in sexual mots, and from shipping child pornography through the
mails or in interstate or foreign commerce.(94) It also expands the Kann Aot to
prohibit the transporting of any minor, whether boy or girl,'for the purposes of
prostitUtion or "prohibited sexual conduct which will be commeroially exploited by
another person."(95) The law provides for stronger senctionsegainst those sexually
exploiting young people for financial gain. It does not deal with the problem of
pedophiles who exchange, rather than sell, their produots.(96)

In 1974 Congress had enacted the Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act
(P.L. -93 -247) which established the National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect
within what is now celled the Department of Health and Human Services. In 1978
Congress extended the Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Aot through September
1981 and amended the act by adding sexual exploitation to the definition of child
abuse and neglect. This sot has since been extended spin. As a result of three
amendments, states applying for State Child Abuse and Neglect grants are required to
include sexual exploitation in their definition of child abuse and negleot.(97) If
a state needs to amend its statute to include sexual exploitation as a reportable
condition (North Carolina slam need to amend), it has until the close of the second
general legislative session of the state legislature that convenes after the
effective date of these regulations to do so. (Effective date was Feb. 25,
1983.)(98)

Other federal sots which deal with children susceptible to exWitation are
the 1974 Federal Runaway Youth Act, now known as the Runaway and Homezuss Youth Aot,
and the 1982 Missing Children's Act. The early acts established shelters for
runaways and started hotlines to help link runaways with services in the ocmaunitiea
in which they find theaselves.(99) The Chic:ego-based National Runaway Switchboard
is part of a program including a network'of 166 juvenile

337



333

shelters around the country. The switchboard's toll-free number is 1-800-621-4000.

Sane 125,000 calls are received each year.(100) By 1980 authorities had become

aware that the "throwaway" problem was a component of homeless children. Now many

shelters provide "on-site counseling for families in an effort to reunite them with

their children."(101)

In 1982 the Missing Children's Act, sponsored by Senator Paula Hawkins, was
made law. The act:

1. Ordered local law enforcement officials to enter into the FBI's
National Crime Information Computer (NCIC), the names of children under
17 who have been missing for 48 hours and who have no history of running
away. This information is available to police across the nation.

2. Gave parents, legal guardians or next of kin the right to enter the
child's name in the NCIC computer if local officials do not.

3. Specified that information on unidentified bodies mat be placed on
an FBI computer available to coroners and law enforcement officials
nationwide. All of this provides only moos to the computer, however.
It does not necessarily mean that the FBI would investigate. It becomes

involved only if a federal law is broken; for example, proof of the
occurrence of a kidnapping, i.e. a note left and the person is held for
24 hours.(102)

In May 1984 Congress passed and the president signed into law the Child
Protection Aot which amended the Protection of Children Against Sexual Exploitation

Act of 1977. Section 2 of this act stated that child pornography is a
multi-million-dollar industry which exploits thousands of children including large

numbers of runaway and homeless youth (103) and concluded that this exploitation is
"harmful to the physiological, emotional, and mental health of the individual child

and to society."(104)

The Child Protection Act of 1984 enhanced prior legislation by 1) removing
the obscenity requirement from the distribution offense, 2) removing the requirement
that the production or distribution of child pornography be for ccrreroial purposes,
3) raising the age of protection from 16 to 18, 4) increasing the penalties for
violations, 5) upgrading the offense to include knowingly producing a "visual
depiction" of sexually explicit conduct involving a minor for distribution, and 6)
establishing criminal and civil forfeitures for those convicted under this act.(105)

Atimanocanascauura
The Missing Children's Act of 1982 amended Title 28 of the. United States Code

by requiring the attorney general to assist federal, state and local officials in
the identification of certain deceased individuals and in the location of missing

persons which includes unmzencipated youth. Another bill currently before Congress,

entitled the Missing Children's Assistance Act, if passed, will amend the Juvenile

Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974. This bill calls for a national

resource center and hot-line which would do the following: 1) provide technical

assistance to state and local governments, agencies and individuals in locating and
returning missing children; 2) coordinate public and private efforts to locate and
return missing children; and 3) disseminate Information nationally on innovative
missing children's programs and services. The proposed center will also compile,

analyze, publish and disseminate reports on research conducted on missing children.

338
39-879 0 - 85 - 22



834

The bill before Congress is different from its 1982 predecessor in that it
calls for a full-time administrator and a five-member advisory board composed of.
experts in the public sector with expertise on missing children. Besides the

responsibilities listed above, the administrator will be authorized to offer grants

and enter into contracts with public and non-profit agencies for research,
demonstration or service programs designed to educate the public, provide
information in tracking missing children and compiling data to assist in

investigations.

The proposed bill calls for appropriations of $10 million a year beginning in

1985 and continuing over a four-or five-year period.
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APPENDIX A

AN ACT ENTITLED

THE CHILD PROTECTION ACT OF 1983

The General Assembly of North Carolina enaota:
Section 1. G.S. 14-318.4 is amended by rewriting the last line of

subsection (a) to read: "is guilty of child abuse and shall be punished as a Class
I felon (imprisonment up to 5 years or fine or both)." and by adding new subsections
(al) and (a2) to read:

(al) Any parent of a child less than 16 years of age, or any other person
providing care to or supervision of the child, who comae', permits, or encourages
any aot of prostitution with or by the juvenile is guilty of child abuse and shall
be punished as a Class I felon.

(a2) Any parent or legal guardian of a child leas than 16 years of age who
commits or allows the °omission of any sexual act'upon a juvenile is guilty of a
Claaa I felony."

Sec. 2 G.S. 14-190.6 is amended by inserting the following language
between "under this Article" and "and": "other than G.S. 14-190.12".

Sec. 3. Chapter 14 of the General Statutes is amended by adding a new
section to read:

" 14-190.12. Sexv.z.a_Earkomancaksliall. --(a) The use of a child in a
sexual performance or the promotion of such a performance by a child shall be
punished as a Class 1 felony. A person is guilty of the use of a child in a sexual
performance if, knowing the character and content of the performance, he employs,
authorizes, or induces a child whom he knows or reasonably 'should know is lest: than
16 years of age to engage in such performance. The parent, legal guardian, or
custodian of a child less than 16 years of age is guilty of the use of a child in a
sexual performance if he consents to the child's participation in such performance.
A person is guilty of the promotion of a sexual performanoe by a child if, knowing
the character and content of the performance, he produces, directs, or promotes such
performanoe by a ohild who he knows or reasonably should know is lers than 16 years
of age.

For purposes of this section, promotion includes manufaoture, delivery or
dissemination. A sexual performance is any play, motion pioture, photography,
dance, or other visual presentation exhibited before an audience which includes
sexual intercourse, buggery, bestiality, masturbation, sadomasochism, or. lewd and
lascivious exhibition of the genitals by a child less than 16 years of age.

(b) In addition to any other penalty imposed by left; a person found guilty
of violating subsection (a) may be remanded by the court to a State authorized
psyohiatrio facility to receive treatment and counseling for at least 90 days, to be
served as a ooncurrent portion of any imposed sentence."

Sec. 4. This act shall become effective October 1, 1983, and shall
apply to offenses oommitted on or after that date.

In the General Assembly read three times and ratified, this the 22nd day
of July 1983.
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APPENDIX B

GRIMM. LAW
RAPE AND OTHER SEX OFFENSES

First-degree Rape.

(a) A person is guilty of rape in the first degree if the person engages in
vaginal intercourse:

(1) With a victim who is a child of the age of 12 years or less and the
defendant is of the age of 12 or more and is four or more years older
than the victim; or
(2) With another person by force and against the will of the other
person, and:

a. Employs or displays a dangerous or deadly weapon or an article
which the other person reasonably believes to be a dangerous or
deadly weapon; or
b. Inflicts serious personal injury upon the victim or another
person; or

o. The person commits the offense aided and abetted by one or more
other persons.

(b) Any person who commits an offense defined in this seotion is guilty of a
Class B felony (life imprisonment). (1979, o. 682, a. 1; 1979, 2nd Sess., o.
1316, a. 4; 1981, o. 106, as. 1, 2.)

Second-degree rape.

(a) A person is guilty of rape in the second degree if the person engages in
vaginal intercourse with another person:

(1) By force and against the will of the other person; or
(2) Who is mentally defective, mentally incapacitated, or physically
helpless, and the person performing the sot knows or should reasonably
know the other person is mentallY defective, mentally incapacitated, or
'physically helpless.

(b) Any person who commits the offense,defined in this section is guilty of
Class D felony (up to 40 years). (1979, o. 682, s. 1; 1979, 2nd Sess., o.
1916, 8.5.)

First-degree sexual offense.
(a) A person is guilty of sexual offense in the first degree if the person
enfagea in a sexual act:

(1) With a victim who is a child of the age of 12 years or leas and the
defendant is of the age of 12 years or more and is four or more years
older than the victim; or
(2) With another person by force and against the will of the other
person, and:

(a) Employs or displays a dangerous or deadly weapon or an article
which the other person reasonably believes to, be a dangerous or
deadly weapon; or
(b) Inflicts serious personalinjury upon the victim or another
person; or
(c) The person commits the offense aided and abetted by one or more
other persona.

(b) Any person who commits an offense defined in this section is guilty of
Class 8 felony (life imprisonment). (1979, o.682, a. 1; 1979, 2nd Sess., c.
1316, a. 6; 1981, 0. 106, as. 3, 4.)
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Second-degree sexual offense.
(a) A person is guilty of a sexual offense in the second degree if the person
engages in a sexual act with another person:

(1) By force and against the will of the other person; or
(2) Who Is mentally defective, mentally incapacitated, or physically
helpless, and the person performing the act knows or should reasonably
know that the other person is mentally defective, mentally
incapacitated, or physically helpless.

(b) Any person who commits the offense defined in this section is guilty of a
Class D felony (up to 40 years). (1979, c. 682, 5.1; 1979, 2nd Sess., o.
1316, a.7.)

Taking indecent liberties with children.

(a) A person is guilty of taking indecent liberties with children if, being
16 years of age or more and at least five years older than the child in
question, he either:

(1) Wilfully takes or attempts to take any immoral, improper, or
indecent liberties with any child of either sex under the age of 16
years for the purpose of arousing or gratifying sexual desire; or
(2) Wilfully commits or attempts to commit any lewd or lascivious act
upon or with the body or any part or member of the body of any child of
either sex under the age of 16 years.

(b) Taking indecent liberties with children is punishable as a Class H felony
(imprisonment up to 10 years or a fine or both). (1955, so. 764; 175, c. 779;
1979, c. 760, s.5.)

Incest between certain near relatives.
The parties shall be guilty of a felony in all cases of carnal intercourse

between (i) grandparent and grandchild, (10 parent and child or stepchild or
legally adopted child, or (iii) brother and sister of the half or whole blood.
Every such offense is punishable as a Class 0 felony (up to 15 years). (1879, c.16,
s. 1; Code, s. 1060; Rev., B. 3351; 1911, o. 16; C. S., a. 4337; 1965, o.
132; 1979, c 760, a.5.)

Incest between uncle and niece and nephew and aunt.
In all cases of carnal intercourse between uncle and niece, and nephew and

aunt, the parties shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and shall be punished by a fine
or Imprisonment, in the discretion of the court. (1879, a. 16, s. 2; Code, e. 1061;
Rev., s. 3352; C.S., a. 4338.)
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APPENDIX C

REPORT INTERVIEW

For the purpose of this report, the following people and agencies were

contacted:

Bill Andrews, District Attorney, Onslow County
Wade Barber, District Attorney, Orange County
Charlotte Police Department
Peter Gilchrist, District Attorney, Meoklenburg County
Evelyn Hill, Assistant District Attorney, Wake County
Middle District, Office of U.S. Attorney
Raleigh Police Department
Rob Showers, U.S. Attorney, Eastern District
State Bureau of Investigation
Western District, Office of U. S. Attorney

This examination of child pornography and prostitution is an attempt to

provide sound information on this important topic. However, in no way can it be

considered comprehensive or scientific.
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DEFINITIONS

Abuse: to use so as to injure or damage - physical maltreatment.

Buggery: same as sodomy; copulation with a member of the same sex or
with an animal; or noncoital and especially anal or oral copulation
with a member of the opposite sez.

Chicken Hawk: street name for pederasts, i.e., one who pre:Aloes anal
intercourse especially with a boy.

Chicken porn: pornography involving children generally - more specifically
involving boys.

Child sexual abuse: (tentative definition adopted by National Center on Child
Abuse and Neglect) - contacts or interactions between a child and an
adult when the child is being used for the sexual stimulation of the
perpetrator or another person. Sexual abuse may also be committed by a
person under 18 when that person is either significantly older than the
victim or when the perpetrator is in a position of power or control over
another child.

Child pornography: sometimes called kiddie porn refers to films, photographs,
magazines and books depicting children in explicit heterosexual or
homosexual acts.

Exploitation: an unjust or improper use of another person for one's own profit
or advantage.

.John: client of prostitute.

Molest: to annoy, disturb or persecute especially with hostile intent or
injurious effect.

Pandering: to pimp; or to provide gratification: for other's desires;
or to cater to and exploit the weaknesses of others.

Pederast: one who practices anal intercourse especially with a boy.

Pederasty: anal intercourse especially with a boy as a passive partner.

Pedophile: one whose preferred sexual object:: are children.

Pimp: one who encourages, supports and supervises a prostitute and is
compensated from a prostitute's earnings.

Pornography: the depiction of erotic behavior (as in pictures or writing)
intended to cause sexual excitement.

Sodomy: copulation with a member of the semesex or with an animal; or
nonooital and eapeoially anal or oral copulation with a member of the
opposite

Throwaways: children forced or encouraged to leave their homes or abandoned
by parents.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

By Executive Order dated May 14, 1984, Governor James B. Hunt, Jr.
appointed the Task Force on Missing Children and charged the Task Force
to: (1) Develop a policy on missing children and to recommend to the
Governor how that policy Should be carried out; (2) Be responsible for
promoting public awareness and the prevention of missing children; (3)
Initiate prevention programs aimed at involving schools, day care
centers, law enforcement agencies, child advocacy organizations, and

other public and private organizations; (4) Develop a public
information program for educating the general public.

The Task Force brought together a group of; people with knowledge,
experience, and long standing interest in the subject. At its first
meeting the Task Force was asked to: (A) Define the term missing
children; (B) Determine the adequacy of existing laws relating to

missing children; (C) Review collection and analysis of data on missing
children; (D) Review public and private responses to reports of missing
children; (E) Identify and develop effective prevention and education
programs on missing children.

Public hearings were held by the Task Force in Raleigh, Greenville,
Charlotte, Asheville, and Wilmington. Work sessions and subcommittee
meetings were held throughout the state.

One of the problems encountered by the Task Force is that there is
no systematic statewide record keeping on missing children in North
Carolina.

Based on data being kept in Florida (which is a state of comparable
population to North Carolina), our state may have as many as 4,000
children currently missing. National estimates place the number of
missing children at almost two million annually. Most of the missing are
runaways who return within a few days usually, but each runaway is very
much at risk from adults who criminally exploit children. The longer
the child remains away from home the greater the risk of injury or
death. The Federal Bureau of Investigation estimates that in some areas
seventy-five per cent of runaways are teenage females.

There is a distressing problem of abduction of children by
non-custodial parents; however, the most dreaded problem is the criminal
abduction of children. Every parent, aware of the dangers which exist
in today's society, lives in constant fear of criminal abduction. This
calls for an immediate, comprehensive response by law enforcement
agencies and the intelligent use of all resources.

The Task Force found a great desire among all law enforcement
agencies to improve the response to reports of missing children and for
a statewide coordination of resources.

In a few North Carolina cities innovative programs have been

developed to protect children before and after school and to provide
support for families of missing children. However, little is being done
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in the areas of education and prevention other than fingerprinting
programs scattered across the state.

The Task Force recommends establishing a network for the immediate
response and coordinated followup of all law enfvcement agencies to
reports of missing children. The reports should be responded to
immediately by local law enforcement officials and reported to the state
Police Information Network (PIN). PIN should make appropriate
distribution of the information to other law enforcement authorities
including the FBI and the National Missing Children's Center.

The Task Force recommends that a state agency be designated to
serve as the North Carolina Missing Children's Information Center. The
designated state agency will be responsible for the development of
education and prevention programs.

Utilizing existing state agencies and local ' non-profit
organizations, the Task Force recommendations will require lmest no new
funding except for the additional computer program for the Police
Information Network.

The Task Force had the benefit c, many perceptive presentations by
people with experience and knowledge. A wealth of material was
utililized from studies made in other states.

The recommendations finally adopted by the Task Force represent a
summary of what the members consider to be basic protective measures
which should be undertaken by government to promote the safety of our
children.

At its first meeting the Task Force defined the term missing
children as follows: Any individual under 16 years of age who
voluntarily leaves and remains away from home without parental consent,
and any individual under 18 years of age missing from home under
circumstances which indicate that the child has been abducted by either
a parent without proper authority or by an individual not known or
approved by the child or his family.
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GOVERNOR'S TASK FORCE ON MISSING CHILDREN

October 1, 1984

RECOMMENDATION ONE

THE TASK FORCE RECOMMENDS THAT PARENTS, GUARDIANS OR

CARETAKERS REPORT THE DISAPPEARANCE OF A CHILD TO THE CITY
POLICE DEPARTMENT OR COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE AS SOON AS IT
IS DETERMINED THAT THE CHILD IS MISSING. THERE IS NO
WAITING PERIOD.

EXPLANATION

In'order to receive the most immediate response the
local law enforcement agency should always be the
initial contact. It is imperative that this be done
immediately. The local law enforcement agency will
make the response in accordance with the danger which
may or may not exist depending on the age of the child
and the circumstances surrounding the disappearance.
The call to the local law enforcement agency will
trigger the coordinated state and national information
network if need be.

The Task Force found the widespread misconception that
there was a necessary waiting period of 24 to 72 hours
before a report would be responded to. No such law or
regulation exists. Immediate search is always
indicated where criminal activity is suspected. The
local law enforcement agency will know the resources
available to begin the search for a lost child.

RECOMMENDATION TWO

THE TASK FORCE RECOMMENDS THAT ALL LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES
MAKE AN IMMEDIATE RESPONSE TO ALL REPORTS OF THE
DISAPPEARANCE OF A CHILD AND DEMONSTRATE CONCERN AND TAKE
POSITIVE LEADERSHIP IN THEIR COMMUNITIES IN THE PROTECTION
OF CHILDREN, AND RECOMMENDS THAT:

A. A LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCY RECEIVING A MISSING CHILD
REPORT ACT IMMEDIATELY WITHOUT DELAY TO GATHER
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION THROUGH DIRECT INTERVIEWS WITH
THE PARENT, GUARDIAN, THE MISSING CHILD'S FRIENDS, AND
OTHER RELEVANT PERSONS.

B. THE APPROPRIATE LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCY ENTER ALL
ELIGIBLE MISSING CHILDREN REPORTS, INCLUDING RUNAWAYS,
INTO THE POLICE INFORMATION NETWORK AS SOON AS THE
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MINIMUM INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR ENTRY IS COLLECTED.

POLICE INFORMATION NETWORK (PIN) SHOULD ESTABLISH

CRITERIA FOR ENTERING MISSING CHILDREN INFORMATION INTO
THE SYSTEM.

C. LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES, THROUGH THEIR CRIME

PREVENTION OFFICERS, SHOULD ENCOURAGE BUSINESSES,

COMMUNITIES, AND CIVIC ORGANIZATIONS IN DEVELOPING
PROGRAMS TO PREVENT CRIMINAL ACTS AGAINST MISSING
CHILDREN AND TO ASSIST WITH EFFORTS TO PREVENT CHILDREN
FROM BECOMING MISSING.

D. LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES SHOULD ENCOURAGE PARENTS TO
PARTICIPATE IN PREVENTION AND EDUCATION PROGRAMS IN

EACH COMMUNITY, AND SHOULD OFFER ASSISTANCE TO PARENTS
AND CHILDREN WHO WISH TO OBTAIN CURRENT PHOTOGRAPHS OF
THEIR CHILDREN, AND SHOULD OFFER ASSISTANCE IN

VOLUNTARY FINGERPRINTING PROGRAMS FOR CHILDREN AS A
PART OF THE OVERALL EDUCATION AND PREVENTION EFFORT.

E. SPECIAL IN-SERVICE TRAINING PROGRAMS SHOULD BE

DEVELOPED BY THE JUSTICE ACADEMY AND MADE AVAILABLE TO
ALL LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES FOR THEIR USE IN TRAINING
THEIR PERSONNEL.

F. THE MANUAL PREPARED BY THE SUB-COMMITTEE OF THIS TASK
FORCE WITH THE ASSISTANCE OF THE SHERIFFS' ASSOCIATION
AND ASSOCIATION OF CHIEFS' OF POLICE BE USED BY ALL LAW
ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES FOR STUDY AND AS A GUIDE IN MAKING
THE BEST POSSIBLE RESPONSE TO A MISSING CHILD REPORT
AND IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF CHILD PROTECTION PROGRAMS.

EXPLANATION

The Task Force found a sincere interest and concern on
the part of all law enforcement agencies in improving
their response to the report of a missing child. They

welcomed a coordination of reporting and assistance by
the state and FBI. The Sheriffs' Association and the
Association of Chiefs' of Police worked with the Task
Force sub-committee in the preparation of a manual

which will assist law enforcement officers gathering
critical information upon receiving a report and

through direct interviews and in making an immediate
evaluation and response to the problem. The manual
also provides material which will assist in the

development of prevention and education programs.

RECOMMENDATION THREE

THE TASK FORCE RECOMMENDS THAT THE POLICE INFORMATION

NETWORK IMMEDIATELY BE PROVIDED RESOURCES WHICH WILL ALLOW
IT TO EXPAND THE CURRENT STANDARD REPORTING FORM IN ORDER TO
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OBTAIN NECESSARY INFORMATION ENCOMPASSING THE BROADER
DEFINITION OF MISSING CHILDREN: (a) MISSING - MENTAL AND
PHYSICAL DISABILITY; (b) MISSING - INVOLUNTARY; (c) MISSING
ENDANGERED; AND (d) MISSING - JUVENILE.

EXPLANATION

The Task Force found that there is no systematic
reporting statewide on missing children. The PIN is
available to receive reports which will- give immediate
distribution to a missing child report and also
accumulate data which would present the scope and
nature of the missing child problem in this state.

Currently, there is no solid information on the scope
and nature of the problem. After establishing a data
collection system, the State of Florida found that
there are currently 4,000 missing children in that
state. Based on the Florida data, as well as a study
of the few towns and counties in North Carolina, where
accurate data is being kept, we know we have a serious
problem. Additional funding must be provided to the
PIN to program its computer system to receive the
reports of missing children and to properly store and
distribute the information. PIN cooperated with the
Task Force in developing this recommendation. The
classification of the data will be compatible with the
PIN.

RECOMMENDATION FOUR

THE TASK FORCE RECOMMENDS THAT GOVERNOR JAMES B. HUNT, JR.,
IMMEDIATELY ESTABLISH, BY EXECUTIVE ORDER, A NORTH CAROLINA
MISSING CHILDREN'S INFORMATION CENTER WITHIN AN EXISTING
STATE AGENCY TO ASSIST LAW ENFORCEMENT IN THE RESPONSE TO
REPORTS OF MISSING CHILDREN AND TO WORK MTH OTHER STATE
AGENCIES TO MAKE STATE RESOURCES AVAILABLE; TO GATHER AND
DISTRIBUTE INFORMATION AND DATA ON MISSING CHILDREN; TO
CONTINUE RESEARCH AND STUDY; TO SERVE AS A STATEWIDE
RESOURCE CENTER AND ASSIST LOCAL COMMUNITIES IN PROGRAMS AND
INITIATIVES FOR CHILD PROTECTION AND PREVENTION OF CHILD
MOLESTATION; TO CONTINUE PUBLIC AWARENESS OF THE PROBLEMS OF
MISSING CHILDREN AND COORDINATE WITH THE FUNCTIONS OF THE
NATIONAL MISSING CHILDREN'S CENTER.

EXPLANATION

The Task Force found unanimous agreement among law
enforcement agencies and private organizations
throughout the state that there should be a central
agency in state government to improve efforts to
locate missing children and initiatives for the
protection of children. This function can be carried
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out by an existing department of state government such
as the Crime Prevention Division of the Department of
Crime Control and Public Safety. The Task Force is of
the opinion that the State Center should have an
advisory board, the membership of which would be
representative of the several state agencies which
already have involvement in the problem such as the
Governor's Advocacy Council on Youth and Children, the
SBI, PIN, Department of Public Instruction, AOC and
DHR, as well as the FBI, Sheriffs' and Chiefs' of
Police Associations and private organizations (similar
to the makeup of this Task Force). The details as to
the function of the center woula be set forth in the
Executive Order.

RECOMMENDATION FIVE

THE TASK FORCE RECOMMENDS THAT THE MISSING CHILDREN'S
INFORMATION CENTER BE INSTITUTIONALIZED BY THE ENACTMENT OF
LEGISLATION BY THE NEXT GENERAL ASSEMBLY AND ALSO ENACT
LEGISLATION REQUIRING THAT ALL LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES
REPORT CASES OF MISSING CHILDREN TO THE POLICE INFORMATION
NETWORK.

EXPLANATION

In the recommendation preceding this one, h4 Task
Force recommended that the Governor act in 1Lately
through Executive Order to establish the center and
designate an existing state agency to organize and
begin operation of the center.

This recommendation recommends that the Legislature
authorize the North Carolina Missing Children's
Information Center by legislation and provide support
through the budget.

The Information Center should have responsibility to
assist the various public and private agencies in the
development rf programs that avoid duplication of

effort and to assure that everyone involved is fully
informed of basic and factual information.

The center should be authorized to work with its

Advisory Board to assure that information on missing
children is regularly issued to law enforcement through
the state, and is entered on the state Police
Information Network and the National Crime Information
Center. The information should be kept current and
should include information on children who have been
found.
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RECOMMENDATION SIX

THE TASK FORCE RECOMMENDS THAT SAFETY HOUSE PROGRAMS, FOR
THE BEFORE AND AFTER SCHOOL PROTECTION OF ELEMENTARY AGED
SCHOOL CHILDREN SIMILAR TO THE SAFETY HAVEN PROGRAM, BE

ESTABLISHED IN EVERY COUNTY.

EXPLANATION

In the public hearings conducted across the state the
Task Force learned of several excellent local programs
and efforts to protect children. The Safety Haven
program in Charlotte and the Block Parent Program in
Raleigh offer children safe houses to seek sanctuary in
the event of danger or perceived danger. The volunteer
residents are carefully screened and trained to be
alert to the children's needs. The safety houses are
located along routes to and from school. The program
is both a prevention and education effort as well as a
concept offering actual sanctuary, in event of danger.

The North Carolina Missing Children's Information

Center should immediately initiate cooperative efforts
with the North Carolina Girl Scout Councils, the North

Carolina Congress of Parent Teacher Association

Councils, local law enforcement agencies, local

governments, local school systems, local school boards,
local women's clubs, and other organizations to

establish steering committees which will start safety
house programs throughout every county in North

Carolina.

RECOMMENDATION SEVEN

THE TASK FORCE RECOMMENDS THAT LEGISLATION BE ENACTED BY THE
NEXT SESSION OF THE NORTH CAROLINA GENERAL ASSEMBLY AMENDING
THE LAW TO MAKE CLEAR THAT CHILDREN WHO ARE INNOCENT VICTIM
OF CRIMINAL ACTS MAY CLAIM COMPENSATION FROM THE NORTH

CAROLINA CRIME VICTIMS COMPENSATION COMMISSION FOR

PSYCHOLOGICAL AS WELL AS FOR PHYSICAL INJURIES.

EXPLANATION

Innocent child victims of criminal acts who suffer
bodily or psychological injury would be able to claim
compensation from the North Carolina Crime Victims

Compensation Commission under the amendments. Current

General Statutes 15 -B omit words like psychological or
mental and apparently mean physical injury alone in

describing personal injury. It is not clear that
psychological injuries are precluded from recovery, but

neither is it certain that they are included in the
definition of criminally injurious conduct.
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Often the personal injury to a child from a criminal

act. against the child is a lasting psychological

injury. A child may be tormented much of his or her
formative years and into adulthood as result of the
criminal act. The mental anguish and suffering can be
as painful and debilitating as any purely physical
horror. A .child victim so injured should be

statutorily permitted to recover from the North

Carolina Crime Victim.'s Compensation Commission.

RECOMMENDATION EIGHT

THE TASK FORCE RECOMMENDS THAT CHILD FINGERPRINTING PROGRAMS
CONTINUE TO BE ORGANIZED IN EVERY NORTH CAROLINA COUNTY TO
INSURE THAT EVERY NORTH CAROLINA CHILD HAS THE OPPORTUNITY
TO BE FINGERPRINTED AND THAT HIS OR HER PARENTS ARE PROVIDED
WITH THE FINGERPRINTS.

EXPLANATION

Child fingerprinting projects have a larger purpose

than simply fingerprinting children. That is, a

child's fingerprints may be of help in locating a

missing child, just as a recent photograph of the child
and accurate physical description might help.

Even more important is the increased awareness that
child fingerprinting programs have created. Children

and their parents need to know the risks that children
face of being abducted, abused, or hurt in order that
they can properly protect against these things.

Nothing has been found to better focus a young child's
attention on the problem and on his own vulnerability
than the very personal approach that is made through
fingerprinting.

RECOMMENDATION NINE

THE TASK FORCE RECOMMENDS THAT CALL-BACK PROGRAMS BE

INSTITUTED IN EVERY NORTH CAROLINA SCHOOL THROUGH WHICH

PARENTS ARE IMMEDIATELY NOTIFIED WHEN A CHILD FAILS TO

REPORT TO SCHOOL AS SCHEDULED. SCHOOL BOARDS SHOULD

INSTITUTE SIGN-OUT AND IDENTIFICATION PROCEDURES GOVERNING
PERMISSION OF STUDENTS TO LEAVE SCHOOL DURING THE SCHOOL DAY

WITH AN ADULT. WHEN A CHILD FAILS TO REPORT TO SCHOOL AS

SCHEDULED, AND SCHOOL OFFICIALS BELIEVE SUSPICIOUS

CIRCUMSTANCES ARE PRESENT, THEY SHOULD CONTACT POLICE

IMMEDIATELY. THE TASK FORCE FURTHER RECOMMENDS THAT THE
NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION SHOULD

REQUIRE CHILDREN ENTERING NORTH CAROLINA SCHOOLS TO PRESENT
PREVIOUS SCHOOL RECORDS, AND THAT OFFICIALS OF THE NORTH
CAROLINA SHERIFFS' ASSOCIATION, THE NORTH CAROLINA POLICE
CHIEFS' ASSOCIATION, THE NORTH CAROLINA POLICE EXECUTIVES'

ASSOCIATION AND THE NORTH CAROLINA SUPERINTENDENTS OF
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SCHOOLS ASSOCIATION MEET AT THE EARLIEST POSSIBLE TIME TO
DEVELOP A PROGRAM AND PROCEDURES TO IDENTIFY AND LOCATE
MISSING CHILDREN.

EXPLANATION

All investigators of missing children agree that in

cases where foul play is involved, time is of the
essence. If a child does not report to school as

scheduled and is the victim of foul play, the seven
hours lost in notifying a child's parents and the

police (between times the child is to report to school
and return home) are extremely important. In the case
of Etan Patz, a first grader in New York whose case
received national attention, his parents were not

notified until the end of the school day that he never
arrived at school that day. Etan Patz is still missing
today.

When a student, primarily in elementary or middle

school, does not arrive as scheduled and an hour passes
without notification by the parents, the school should
call the home or place of employment of the parent to
verify that the absence is excused. If the parent is
not aware of the child's absence, the police should be
advised. Such a notification system is critical if

abducted children are to be safely found.

If the school system claims that such a procedure is
too time-consuming for school officials, volunteers
from the PTA/PTO should be requested to do it. Call

back programs are easy to set up, and th* time taken is
worth the lives that may be saved.

RECOMMENDATION TEN

THE TASK FORCE RECOMMENDS THAT THE NORTH CAROLINA JUSTICE
ACADEMY, IN COOPERATION WITH THE NORTH CAROLINA SHERIFFS'
ASSOCIATION, THE NORTH CAROLINA CHIEFS' OF POLICE

ASSOCIATION, THE NORTH CAROLINA POLICE EXECUTIVES'

ASSOCIATION, AND THE NORTH CAROLINA CRIME PREVENTION

OFFICER'S ASSOCIATION, DEVELOP AND PRESENT TO LAW

ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS STATEWIDE AN APPROPRIATE TRAINING
PROGRAM DEALING WITH THE PROBLEM OF MISSING CHILDREN.

EXPLANATION

A call involving ,a missing child is a very sensitive
one for even the most experienced officer. Usually it
is difficult to determine whether the call is about a
small child who is lost from its parents, a child taken

by a non-custodial parent, or a child taken by an
unstable person. The caller is often upset and highly
emotional. Regardless of the motive or reason, for the
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missing child the most treasured of treasures is

missing from the parents, and they want the child back.
It should be understandable that this is a sensitive
call and the officer must respond accordingly.

Some parents, and even some law enforcement officers,
have incorrectly thought there was some mythical 24,
36, 48, or 72 hour waiting period after discovery of a
missing child before parents should report the missing
child to police.

There are no state or federal laws or regulations which
require a waiting period of any duration. The Task
Force has found no written local regulation which
requires a waiting period before reporting missing
children.

When children are missing, especially young children,
the first few minutes may be crucial. What parents do,
or do not do, and what law enforcement does, or does
not do, in the first few minutes and hours, after a
reported missing child becomes missing, may determine
whether the child is found or not found.

The Task Force has found that parents, educators, and
law enforcement can respond better and more
intelligently to a report of a missing child when
everyone knows what to do and what not to do.

RECOMMENDATION ELEVEN

THE TASK FORCE RECOMMENDS THAT LOCAL TASK FORCES BE

ESTABLISHED IN COUNTIES OR MULTI-COUNTY AREAS COMBINING
RESOURCES AND FOCUSING ON THE MISSING CHILD PROBLEM FROM AN
INTER-AGENCY COOPERATIVE APPROACH, TO DISCUSS THE PROBLEM,
RAISE PUBLIC AWARENESS, AND INITIATE EFFORTS TO IMPROVE
LOCAL SERVICES FOR MISSING CHILDREN AND BETTER PROTECT ALL
CHILDREN.

EXPLANATION

LOCAL TASK FORCES ON MISSING CHILDREN

Local task forces are recommended primarily for two
reasons: first, to coordinate investigative resources
already available within existing criminal Justice
agencies and secondly, to develop for the community a
clear understanding of the problem. The experience in
Jefferson County, Kentucky, since early 1980 when a

local task force was appointed, indicates that by

sharing agency resources a dramatic impact can be made
on the problem without the allocation of additional
resources. By acting together with common goals and
shared commitment and resources, task force agencies
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are better able to uncover the problem locall, and make
a marked local impact.

RECOMMENDATION TWELVE

THE TASK FORCE RECOMMENDS THAT MISSING CHILD UNIT TEAMS OF
POLICE AND SOCIAL WORKERS SHOULD BE ESTABLISHED IN COUNTIES
AND MULTI-COUNTY AREAS SO THAT COMBINED LAW ENFORCEMENT AND
JUVENILE COURT EFFORTS CAN FOCUS ON THE PREVENTION OF CHILD
TRAGEDIES.

EXPLANATION

Missing children, expecially runaways, have sometimes
been considered violators of the law, and too little
attention has been directed at the reasons children
become missing or runaways. Little, if any, attention
has ever been given to uncovering the adults or groups
of adults who actil2ly use children for sexual or other
criminal purposes, partly because the exploitation is
so incomprehensible to most people.

Because of these problems, child victims have often
simply fallen through the gaps of the system. If

runaway or missing when found by police, often no
attempt was made to determine how the child survived
during his or her absence from home and who the child
may have associated with, particularly any adults.

RECOMMENDATION THIRTEEN

HAVING FOUND A SERIOUS PROBLEM IN NORTH CAROLINA CONCERNING
CHILD ABUSE AND EXPLOITATION, THE TASK FORCE RECOMMENDS THAT
THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY CREATE A LEGISLATIVE STUDY COMMISSION
TO CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING LEGISLATION:

A. A CHILD SEXUAL ABUSE AND EXPLOITATION PREVENTION ACT TO
EDUCATE CHILDREN ABOUT THE DANGERS OF SEXUAL ABUSE AND ABOUT
THE LURES OF EXPLOITATION AND WHICH ENCOURAGES PARENTS AND
SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS TO TEACH CHILDREN ABOUT BODY SAFETY
RULES AND TECHNIQUES. A CHILD VICTIM'S TRUST FUND SHOULD BE
ESTABLISHED TO FINANCE LOCAL PREVENTION PROGRAMS.

EXPLANATION

Similar legislation has been adopted by Kentucky and
four other states to teach about the problems of
exploitation of children. Child Victim's Trust Funds
have been established.

The focus of the fund will be on prevention programs
which educate children about the dangers of sexual
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abuse and about the lures of exploitation and which
encourage parents, school officials, and communities to
teach about child "body safety" rules and techniques.

B. LEGISLATION TO ENCOURAGE YOUTH SERVING AGENCIES TO BE
MORE AGGRESSIVE IN ADVOCACY FOR YOUTH AND MAKE CLEAR THAT
YOUTH SERVING AGENCIES HAVE THE RIGHT TO REQUEST CRIMINAL
RECORD CHECKS ON ALL PERSONS WHO APPLY FOR EMPLOYMENT OR
VOLUNTEER FOR POSITIONS IN WHICH THEY WOULD HAVE SUPERVISORY
OR DISCIPLINARY AUTHORITY OVER CHILDREN.

EXPLANATION

WHAT WILL THIS LEGISLATION ACCOMPLISH?
Individuals who have a perverted sexual interest in

children (pedophiles) too frequently are able to

infiltrate agencies that operate youth programs. By

occupying positions of trust in respected agencies and
organizations, pedophiles have the ready access they
desire to numerous unsuspecting children who view the
adult in a position of authority and trust, It is

difficult for any organization to know the backgrounds
of those who are hired or volunteer their services to
work with children, and sometimes when criminal records
information is requested from a police agency, the
agency is too busy or unwilling to provide the
information in a timely manner. This legislation
should require the North Carolina Department of Justice
to furnish an employer with records of all convictions
involving sex crimes of a person who applies for
employment or volunteers for a position in which he or
she would have supervisory or disciplinary power over a
minor.

C. LEGISLATION TO ESTABLISH CERTAIN SEXUAL OFFENSES AS
OFFENSES WHERE PROBATION CANNOT BE GRANTED AND THE EXECUTION
OR IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE CANNOT BE SUSPENDED.

EXPLANATION

WHAT WILL THIS LEGISLATION ACCOMPLISH?
The idea that we could take convicted child molesters
out of society and cure them in hospitals, or probate
them and trust that they will simply secure their own
treatment, has long been fashionable in this country.
However, a growing body of evidence and an increasing
number of medical, legal and sociological experts are
concluding that child molesters with life-long
histories of emotional as well as sexual involvement
with children are not curable.
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The recent final report of the national Task Force on

Victims of Crime stated that "child molesters have a

sexual preference that manifests itself in repeated

criminal acts and that is highly resistant to

treatment. For them, any child might be a peential

victim and thus their access to children must be

restricted. It is a profound disservice to children to

fail to take reasonable and necessary steps for their

protection."

D. LEGISLATION TO PERMIT THE PRETRIAL VIDEOTAPED TESTIMONY

OF CHILDREN AGE 12 AND UNDER TO BE USED AS EVIDENCE IN

SEXUAL ABUSE CASES.

EXPLANATION

The legislation will allow the pretrial video taped

testimony of children 12 years of age and younger to be

used as evidence in sexual abuse cases. Also allowed

will be closed circuit television interviews during a

trial. Pretrial video tapes will be admissible only if

certain requirements are met; attorneys for the parties

may not be present; the child's statement may not be in

response to a "leading"question by the interviewer; and

both child and interviewer must be available in court

at the Judge's discretion.

It would also be discretionary for the Judge to order

the taking of a child's testimony during the trial

outside of the courtroom, in the presence of only the

parties' attorneys, the video equipment operators, and

any other person "whose presence could contribute to

the welfare and well-being of the child." The child

would be questioned only by the attorneys, and the

defendant would be able to see and hear the testimony

through closed-circuit television projected into the

courtroom, or in person, as long as the child did not

see or hear the defendant. The Judge's order for such

out-of-court testimony would prevent the child from

being compelled to testify in court.

E. LEGISLATION TO AMEND THE LAW TO MAKE CUSTODIAL

INTERFERENCE A CLASS *F FELONY IN ALL CASES SO THAT

EXTRADITION FROM ANOTHER STATE OF THE PERSON INTERFERING

WITH LAWFUL CUSTODY IS ALWAYS POSSIBLE.

* Up to 20 years, fine, or both.

EXPLANATION

CUSTODIAL INTERFERENCE - WHAT WILL THIS LEGISLATION

ACCOMPLISH/
Presently in North Carolina custodial interference is a

Class J felony. Legislation is needed to upgrade the
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offense of custodial interference where a family member

interferes with custody to a Class F felony status.

F. LEGISLATION TO MAKE IT A CLASS *D FELONY FOR A PERSON
WHO KNOWINGLY INDUCES, ASSISTS OR CAUSES A MINOR TO ENGAGE

IN ILLEGAL SEXUAL ACTIVITY.

* Up to 40 years, fine, or both

EXPLANATION

North Carolina does have statutes protecting children

from sexual exploitation, but does not have a

comprehensive statutory scheme.

G. LEGISLATION TO AMEND G.S. 110-90.1 AND G.S. 110-91(8)

REQUIRE THAT NO PERSON BE ALLOWED TO WORK IN A LICENSED

DAYCARE CENTER UNTIL THAT PERSON HAS OBTAINED A DAYCARE

EMPLOYEE PERMIT.

EXPLANATION

WHAT WILL THIS LEGISLATION ACCOMPLISH?
Individuals who have a perverted sexual interest in

children (pedophiles) too frequently are able to

infiltrate agencies that operate youth programs. By

occupying positions of trust in respected agencies and

organizations, pedophiles have the ready access. they

desire to numerous unsuspecting children who view the

adult in a position of authority and trust.

It is difficult for any organization to know the

backgrounds of those who are hired or volunteer their

services to work with children, and sometimes when
criminal records information is requested from a police

agency, the agency is too busy or unwilling to provide

the information in a timely manner. This legislation

should require the North Carolina Department of Justice

to furnish an employer with records of all convictions

involving sex crimes of a person who applies for

employment or volunteers for a position in which he or

she would have supervisory or disciplinary power over a

minor.
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RECOMMENDATION 14: The Task Force recommends that magistrates be authorized to issue
appropriate orders and authority to law enforcement officers to
take necessary action where a custody order is concerned.

Explanation: Many times a missing child has been "snatched" by a non-custodial
parent. Unfortunately, this often occurs on week-ends or evening
hours. in such cases, a parent may not be able to reach an attorney
or judge to take action. Also, there are times where the custodial
parent fears that the non-custodial parent will snatch the child.
It would be extremely helpful in preventing the abduction to enable
magistrates to declare the restraining order. This will avoid delays
in finding judges during non-business hours.

RECOMMENDATION lb: The Task Force recommends legislation to be passed by the North
Carolina General Assembly making interference with a pending
custody decision a felony.

explanation: Many of the parental abductions occur before a custody order has
been declared. If the abduction takes place prior to the custody
order no law has been broken. Precious time is lost by having to
find a judge to declare a temporary custody order. In far too
many cases, once the temporary order exists the parent and
abducted child have disappeared. This recommendation will guarantee
that abducting a child while custody decisions are still pending
will be a felonious crime, enabling an immediate response to
find the child and enabling extraditions of the parent if necessary.
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JAMES B. HUNT, JR.
GOVERNOR

EXECUTIVE ORDER 107

TAU FORCE OM MISSING CHILDREN

WHEREAS, there is a need to address the plight of missing children and

their parents through a concerted statewide effort; and

WHEREAS, national figures estimate 5,000 children are abducted by

strangers, 150,000 are abducted by parents in custody disputes, and over a

million 'run may from home each year; and

WHEREAS, there is a Missing Children Act passed by Congress and signed by

the President, and there now exists a tonal clearinghouse for information

on missing children available to law enforcement; and

WHEREAS, there is a need for the State of North Carolina to take affir-

mative steps toward setting forth a statewide policy and central coordinating

function on kidnapping and safety awareness
program for children and parents.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED:

Section 1. I hereby create the Task Force on Missing Children.

Section 2. The Task Force shall be composed of at least twenty members

Appointed by the Governor. These members shall be representatives of law
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enforcement, business, media, interested citizens (including parents of

missing children), local groups involved with missing children, and members of

the Governor's Advocacy Council on Children and Youth. The Governor shall

designate one of the members to serve as Chair and one as Vice-Chair.

Section 3. The Task Force shall meet at the call of the Chair or the

Governor. The duties of the Task Force will be to develop a policy on missing

children and to recommend to the Governor haw that policy should be carried

out in the State. The Task Force will also be charged with the responsibility

of promoting public awareness and the prevention of missing children by

calling upon existing child advocacy agencies, the public and private sector,

volunteer and other State agencies to join in our efforts to safeguard the

State's children. The Task Force will also initiate prevention programs

aimed at involving schools, day care centers, law enforcement agencies, child

advocacy organizations, and other public and private organizations to develop

a public information program for educating the general public.

Section 4. Members of the commission shall be reimbursed for such

necessary travel and subsistence expenses as are authorized by N.C.G.S. 138-5.

Funds for reimbursement of such expenses shall be made available from the

Department of Administration.

Section 5. The Department of Administration, through the Governor's

Advocacy Council for Children and Youth, and the Department of Crime Control

and Public Safety shall provide staff support to the Task Force.
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Section 6. The Task force shall make its recommendations and complete its

work on or before October 1, 1984.

Section 7. This order shall be effective Immediately and shall terminate

on October 1, 1984.

Done in the Capital City of Raleisn, North Carolina, this the 14th day of

Say, 1984.

368
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TASK FORCE ON MISSING CHILDREN

Secretary Heman R. Clark, Chairman
Department of Crime Control and Public Safety
Archdale jJilding
Raleigh, NC 27611
919/733-2126

Charles Dunn - Vice-Chairman
Executive Director
NC Textile Manufacturers Association
PO Box 31448
Raleigh, NC 27622
919/782-8416

Teresa Bloom
10013 Bushveld Lane
Raleigh, NC 27612
919/848-0885

919/833-3780

Gwyndolyn Blount
1224 Eastside Drive
Greensboro, NC 27406
919/272-3242

Richard C. "Pete" Brake
908 Churchill Crive
Gastonia, NC 28052
704/867-8988

Sheriff Philip H. Ellis
PO Box 219
Tarboro, NC 27886
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Ivan Hardesty, Jr.
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PO Box 25511
Raleigh, NC 27611
919/833-1951
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Chief of Police
Town Hall
PO Box 1670
Hendersonville, NC 28793
704/693-9597

Curtis Holloman
Route 3, Box 55-B
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919/398-5652
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Executive Secretary
NC State Association
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PO Box 1914
Goldsboro, NC 27530
919/736-0506

Dewitt McCarley
City Attorney
PO Box 7207
Greenville, NC 27834
919/752-4137, ext. 258

Henry E. McKoy
Deputy Secretary
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Raleigh, NC 27611

919/733-7232

Robert L. Pence
FBI
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National Bank Building

Charlotte, NC 28282

704/372-5484

Rev. Ernest R. Porter
PO Box 10955
Raleigh, NC. 27605

919/832-9560

Mebane Pritchett
Morehead Foundation
PO Box 348
Chapel Hill, NC 27514
919/962-1201
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Charlotte, NC 28208
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Haywood Starling
SBI Director
3320 Old Garner Road
Raleigh, NC 27611
919/779-1400

Andrew A. Vanore, Jr.
Deputy Secretary
Justice Building
Raleigh, NC 27611

919/733-3377

Rep. Tom C. Womble
7557 Tanglewood Court
Clemons, NC 27012
919/766-5286

Bonnie Cramer
Assistant Director for
Program Administration,
Social Services
Department of Human Resources
919/733-3055

Jimmy Morrisey
P. O. Box 501
Raeford, NC 28376
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PROPOSED LAW ENFORCEMENT RESPONSE

FOR

MISSING CHILDREN

INTRODUCTION

A call involving a missing child is usually one that
even the most experienced officer would rather not take.
Usually, it is difficult to determine whether the call is

about a small child who is lost from its parents, taken by a
noncustodial parent, or taken by a deranged person. The
caller is often upset and highly emotional. Regardless of
the motive or reason, the most treasured of treasures is

missing from the parents, and they want the child back. It

should be understandable that this is a sensitive call and
the officer must respond accordingly.

How they handle the call and the sensitivity they

display for the parents can have a major impact on how the
parents, friends, relatives, and neighbors interact with the
law enforcement agency for many years to come.

Believing that most officers would find informat!on of
this type to be helpful, this suggested response has been
put together in hopes that it will be of some benefit.

A. Responding to the Call

The officer should prepare himself mentally and

emotionally to be confronted by exl.remely emotional parents.
While the officer should display a strong, positive,
sensitive, and professional demeanor, he must assume until
it is known otherwise, that he is investigating a crime of
greatest proportions.

B. Arrival at the Scene

1. The scene should be considered a crime scene until
otherwise known. Therefore, it should be entered by the

route least likely to disturb evidence. An officer should
mentally note his route of travel as well as time and

weather conditions for future reference.

2. Immediately determine the nature of the missing
child call, i.e. lost-runaway-abduction by noncustodial

parent or a criminal abduction. Note: Remember to

determine if the child is in immediate danger. This will
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affect your initial response greatly. Also, remember that

what may appear initially to be one type of call, i.e.

walkaway may later turn out to another type call, i.e.

neglect or abduction for criminal intent.

3. If the call is criminal in nature the responding
officer should immeuiately take steps to secure the crime
scene and apply techniques associated with any other crime

scene process with regard to evidence, witnesses,

photographs, searches, etc. Remember: Communicate the

information to other agencies immediately.

4. If the call is noncriminal in nature, the immediate

concern has to be the safe return of the child to its

parents or guardians. This usually involves a complete and
detailed area search using volunteers, friends, neighbors,
other police units, rescue squad, etc. Remember:

Communicate all information immediately to other officials.

Z. Conducting the Initial Investigation

I. Assign specific tasks to other officers so that an
intelligent and directed investigation can be conducted.

2. Determine the officer in charge of the

investigation to reduce confusion.

3. Obtain detailed and specific information

a. Obtain recent photographs and fingerprints if

possible.
b. Establish movements prior to disappearance.

1. Time last seen.

2. Who with?
3. What were they doing?

4. Exact location.

5. Any movement or statement relative to

disappearance.
6. Check the vicinity, and the neighborhood

for possible witnesses. Obtain statements if appropriate.

c. Examine the missing chilfils background,

including the following:
1. Relatives
2. Friends
3. Employment
4. Possible criminal record or activities

5. Finances

6. Possible use of narcotics

7. Physical and mental condition
8. Appearance, habits, and behaviors which

might have had sexual connotations
9. Possible romantic involvements

4. Determine actions of missing child's family before

incident.
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I. You may be required to cover a period of days,
weeks or months before the disappearance, depending on
circumstances.

2. Pay attention to any unusual actions of the
victim or the family, i.e. trips; absences from work, home;
family arguments, etc.

5. Determine actions of the family after the incident.
NOTE: When possible and appropriate, keep the parents
informed and briefed as to what you are able to learn from
your initial efforts.
THIS IS VERY IMPORTANT.

D. Practical Hints and Follow-up Suggestions

I. Consider reinterview of all parties concerned.
2. Be careful in questioning witnesses; they may turn

out to be principals in the crime.
3. Do not divulge critical information carelessly to

unauthorized persons or witnesses.
4. Go back to the scene and interview passers-by

exactly seven days later at the time of the disappearance.
They may have been witnesses.

5. Classification of the case, i.e. runaway,
abduction, or lost shouldn't negatively affect your attitude
toward the investigation.

6. Confer with your co-workers and experienced
investigators about the case for their ideas and help.

7. Give constant attention to distribution of

pertinent information to other law enforcement agencies and
"helping" organizations. (See reference listing in Section
III of report)

8. If necessary, seek out experts in other fields who
can help. (i.e. psychic, astrologist, child psychologists,
criminologists, etc.)

9. Confer frequently with parents. They need to know
what is going on.

E. Writing the Report

Note: No investigation, regardless of how thoroughly
and competently executed, is complete unless accurately
recorded. It will serve many useful functions for future
activities surrounding this specific case as well as others
like it.

No matter what form or format is used, there are
certain essential items of information that should be
recorded.

I. AGENCY - Name of your law enforcement agency - Agency
identifier.

2. CASE REPORT NUMBER - Case file number. This number
will be entered from the complaint/dispatch card.
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3. AGENCY IDENTIFIER NUMBER - This number is used by the

FBI to identify all law enforcement agencies nationwide and
by the Police Information Network.

4. NAME - Enter the complete name of the missing person or
runaway and always give the last name first.

5. ALIAS(ES) OR NICKNAME(S) - List any aliases or

nicknames that the missing person or runaway may have or be

known to use.

6. ADDRESS - List the complete address of the missing

person or runaway.

7. RACE - Indicate the race of the person using standard
abbreviations when needed.

8. SEX - Indicate the sex of the person by using M for

Male and F for Female.

9. AGE - Enter the age of the missing person or runaway.

10. DATE OF BIRTH - List the date of birth in this block.

11. HEIGHT - Indicate the height of the missing person or

runaway in this block.

12. WEIGHT - List the person's weight in this block.

13. HAIR - Indicate the color of the person's hair using

standard abbreviations.

14. EYES - Indicate the color of the person's eyes using

standard abbreviations.

15. COMPLEXION - Indicate the person's complexion in this
block (i.e. dark, fair, swarthy, olive, etc.)

16. SCARS - MARKS - LIMP, ETC. - Record any of these

features in this block.

17. COMPLAINANT'S NAME (RELATIONSHIP)- List the name of the

person filing the complaint with your agency and indicate

their relationship to the missing person or runaway.

18. TIME AND DATE - Record the time and date that this

complaint was made to their department.

19. ADDRESS - PHONE - Enter the complete address and

telephone number of the person filing this complaint. Do

not use post office box or general delivery.

20. BUILD - Indicate the person's build using standard

abbreviations when necessary.
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21. GLASSES - Enter YES or NO in this block.

22. OCCUPATION - Enter the occupation or types of interest
held by the missing person or runaway.

23. SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER - Record the missing person or
runaway's ,Social Security Number.

24, MONEY CARRIED - Indicate the amount of money that the
missing person or runaway may have on his person at the time
of disappearance.

25. HAT - Use this block to indicate whether or not the
missing person was wearing a hat, if so, identify the style.

26. SHIRT /BLOUSE - Strike out whichever word does not apply
and enter the color or colors of the person's shirt or
blouse.

27. TIE ,- Use this block to indicate whether or not the
person was wearing a tie and the color of that tie.

28. COAT - Briefly describe any coat worn by the person
including the color of that coat.

29. PANTS/DRESS/SKIRT - Strike out the words that do not
apply and enter the color and/or type of the apparel.

30. SOCKS/HOSE - Strike out the word that does not apply
and indicate the color or style of the person's socks or
hose.

31. SHOES /BOOTS - Strike out the word that does, not apply
and enter the color and style of the person's footwear.

32. VEHICLES ASSOCIATED WITH INCIDENT - (1) victim, (2)

complainant, and (3) suspect.

33. YEAR - Indicate the year of that vehicle.

34. MAKE - Indicate the make of that vehicle using standard
abbreviations when necessary.

35. BODY TYPE - Indicate the body type or style of the
vehicle when known.

36. COLOR - Indicate the color or colors of the vehicle.

37. LICENSE NUMBER/STATE - When known, enter the license
number and state of registration for that vehicle.

38. IDENTIFYING MARKS, DENTS, ETC. - List all identifiable
features of the vehicle in this space.
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39. LOCATION LAST SEEN - Give the complete address or

geographic location of the area where the missing person or
runaway was last to be seen.

40. DAY - DATE AND TIME - Record the day, date and time
that the missing person or runaway was last seen.

4', DESTINATION OR DIRECTION OF TRAVEL - If known, enter

the person's destination or direction of travel in this

space.

42. MODE OF TRAVEL - Indicate the person's moce of travel
when known.

43. LAST SEEM BY - Enter the full name of the person last
known to have seen the person.

d4. ADDRESS - PHONE - Enter the full name of the person
last known tc have seen the person.

45. PHOTO ON FILE - Enter Yes or No as to whetner or not a

photograph of the missing person is on file with your

agency.

46. FINGERPRINTS ON FILE - Indicate Yes or No as to whether
or not a record of the missing person's fingerprints are on
file with your agency, and if so, the fingerprint card file
number may be entered in this block.

47. DENTIST - List the name of the missing person's dentist
in this space.

48. ADDRESS - Indicate the full address of the dentist in

this space.

49. NARRATIVE - Use the narrative portion of this form to
describe all circumstances of the disappearance not

indicated above and to list all additional information

necessary including names and addresses of close friends,

schools attended, etc.

50. PIN FILE NUMBER - Use this space to record the message
number of any PIN message sent to other agencies by your
department. Once a missing person's file has been

reestablished in the PIN system, then you will be able to
list the file number on the missing person's report in this

block.

51. LIST OF EVIDENCE - List items seized, using consecutive
numbers for each item - specify the following:

I. What?
2. Where seized?
3. From whom?

4. Where stored?

52. LIST OF WITNESSES - Will need a brief statement of what
the testimony concerns, and the connection with the case,
etc.

I. Attach witnesses; tement to the report.
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LEGAL AREAS

Following are areas of law surrounding several
categories of missing children which an officer may find
helpful. These should not be considered all inclusive since
a number of laws apply equally to adults and young people.

REMOVING A CHILD FROM THE STATE TO AVOID A CUSTODY
ORDER--See G.S. 14-320.1.

It is a Class J Felony (imprisonment of up to 3
years and/or fine) to take or have a child under
the age of 16 years taken from the State, or to
keep a child under the age of 16 from the State to
avoid a custody order.

REMOVING A CHILD FROM PARENT TO PLACE IN FOSTER
HOME--See G.S. 14-320.

It is a misdemeanor (imprisonment up to 1 year
and/or fine) to take or aid in taking a child less
than six months old from a parent legally entitled
to custody, for the purpose of placing the child
in a foster home or institution or remove the
child from the State for that purpose without the
written consent of the county department of social
services or a private child-placing agency.
Consent is not necessary if the parent places the
child with relatives or in a boarding home or
institution inspected by Department of Human
Resources and licensed by Social Services.

KIDNAPPING--See G.S. 14-39.
If any person confines, restrains, or removes from
one place to another any person under the age of
16 without the consent of a parent for ransom or
use as a hostage, holds in involuntary servitude,
terrorizes or does bodily .harm, or commits a
felony, he is guilty of kidnapping.

ABDUCTING A CHILD OR INDUCING A CHILD TO LEAVE PARENTS,
ETC.--See G. S. 14-41.

In addition to the kidnapping statute, it is a

Class G Felony (imprisonment up to 15 years and/or
fine) to abduct a child under the age of 14 years
from, or induce it to leave, its parents, aunt,
uncle, brother, elder sister, or school.

CONSPIRING TO ABDUCT A CHILD--(See G.S. 14-42).
It is also a Class G Felony for anyone to conspire
to abduct a child from any person designated in
G.S. 14-41.

ENTICING A CHILD TO LEAVE THE STATE FOR TPLOYMENT--See
G.S. 14-40.

It is also a misdemeanor (6 months imprisonment
and/or fine) to entice a child under the age of 18
years to leave the State to obtain employment
without the consent of the parent.

UNIFORM CHILD CUSTODY JURISDICTION ACT--See G.S. 50A-1,
et seq.
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Like almost all other states, North Carolina is a
party to the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction
Act. This statute is meant to and usually does
permit interstate enforcement of custody orders.
The federal Parental Kidnapping Prevention Act, 28
U.S.C. 1738A has the same effect. This was
enacted to prevent jurisdictional conflict and
competition over child custody and to deter
parents from abducting children for the purpose of
obtaining custody awards.

INTERSTATE COMPACT ON JUVENILES--See G.S. 7A-687, et
seq.

The Interstate Compact on Juveniles, sets out
procedures of detaining and returning runaway
children.

NORTH CAROLINA JUVENILE CODE--See G.S. 7A-516, et sec.
The Code defines undisciplined juvenile as a
juvenile under age sixteen who has run away from
home, is also regularly disqbedient to parents and
beyond their disciplinary control, or regularly
found in places unlawful for a juvenile to be.

CONTRIBUTING TO DELINQUENCY OF A MINOR--See G.S.
14-316.1.

It is a misdemeanor for anyone who is at least 16
years old to help a child under age 16 commit an
act which would make him undisciplined,
delinquent, neglected or abused.

PARENTAL CONTROL OF CHILDREN UNDER AGE 18--See G.S.
110-44.1, et seq

This statute permits a parent to obtain a court
order (1) requiring a child under age 18 to return
home and (2) enjoining others from assisting him
in leaving or staying away. Any child under age
18 is subject to the supervision and control of
his parents.

FEDERAL PARENT LOCATOR SERVICE USE--See G.S. 110-139.1.
This statute allows courts, clerks, district
attorneys, and U.S. attorneys to use the parent
locator service to locate children for the purpose
of enforcing custody laws or laws against the
unlawful taking or restraint of a child.
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NATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS OFFERING ASSISTANCE
WITH MISSING CHILDREN CASES

Bay Area Center for Victims
of Child Stealing

30 N. 10th Street
San Jose, California 95112
Georgia Hilgeman, Director
408-723-7804

Center for Missing Childrer
PO Box 10088
Rochester, NY 14610
Gary Hewitt, Director
716-473-2389

Children's Rights of Florida
PO Box 173
Pinellas Park, Florida 33565
Katheryn Rosenthal, Director
813-546-1593

Children's Rights of NY
19 Maple Street
Stonybrook, NC 11790
John Gill, Director
516-751-7840

Children's Rights of PA
PO Box 2764.

Leheigh Valley, PA 18001
Phyllis Watts
215-437-2971

Dee Scofield Awareness Program
4418 Bay Court Avenue
Tampa, Florida 33611
Betty DiNova
813-839-5025

Hide & Seek Foundation,
West Coast
PO Box 315
Carlton, Oregon 97111
Linda Rivers, Cirector
503-843-3118

Child Keyppers of Florida
PO Box 6292
Lake Worth, Florida 33466
JoAnn Courrier, Director
305/586-6695

Oklahoma Parents Against
Child Stealing
PO Box 2112
Bartlesville, Oklahoma
74005

J. C. Kincaid, Director
918/534-1489

The Stolen Children
Information Exchange
PO Box 465
Anaheim, California 92805
714-526-4414

SEARCH - The National
Central Registry for
Missing and Runaway
Persons

560 Sylvan Avenue
Englewood Cliffs, NJ
07632
201-567-4040

Society for Young Victims
29 Thurston Avenue
New Port, RI 02840
June Vlasaty, Director
401-847-5083

Society for Young Victims
Mass. Chapter
5 Washington Street
Manchester, Mass. 01944
617-526-1080

Society for Young Victims
Mass. Chapter
119 Corey Street
Lowell, Mass. 01851
Dianne Delmore
617-453-7467
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Louisville Exploited &
Missing Child Unit
400 South 6th Street, 3rd Flr.
Louisville, KY 40202
Leo Hobbs
502-581-5787

National Center on Child Abuse
and Neglect
Children's Bureau/Administration
for Children, Youth and Families
US Dept. of Health & Human Ser.
PO Box 1182
Washington, DC 20013

Nationd Committee for the
Prevention of Child Abuse
Box 2866
Chicago, ILL 60690

The American Bar Assoc.
Legal Resources
Center for Child Advocacy
and Prevention
1800 M. Street, NW
Washington, DC 20036

Florida Dept. of Law Enf.
Missing Children
Information Clearinghouse
PO Box 1489
Tallahasse, FLA. 32302
904-488-5221

Parents Anonymous
Toll Free Number:
800/421-0353
In CALIF. 800/353-0386

Child Find, Inc.
PO Box 277
New Paltz, MY 12561
800/431-5005

National Center on Nat'l
Missing & Exploited
Children
PO Box 50180
Washington, D. C. 20004
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THE NATIONAL NETWORK OF RUNAWAY & YOUTH SERVICES, INC.

-Region I: Vermont, Connecticut, Maine, New Hampshire,
Rhode Island, Massachusetts
Youth In Crisis, 3030 Park Avenue, Bridgeport CT. 06604
John Cottrell (203) 374-9471

-Region II: New York, New Jersey, Puerto Rico, Virgin

Islands

Punaway and Homeless Youth Advocacy Project, 444 W. 56th

Street, New York, NY 10019
Stu Aaronson (212) 489-3588

-Region LIT: Delaware, District of Columbia, Maryland,
Virginia, West Virginia, Pensylvania
Voyage House, 311 S. Juniper St. Suite 1000-10th Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19107
Roberta Hacker (215) 545-0166

-Region IV: Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky,
Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee
The Family Link, PO Box 40437, Memphis, TN 38104
Bill Myers (901) 725-6911

-Region V: Illinois, Indiana, Minnesota, Ohio, Wisconsin,
Michigan

Walker's Point Youth & Family Center, 732 S. 21st St.

Milwaukee, WI 53215
Richard Ward (414) 647-8200

-Region VI: Louisiana, New Mexico, Oklahoma, Arkansas,

Texas

Youth Services for Oklahoma County, 1219 Classen, Oklahoma
City, OK 73106
Sharon Wiggins (405) 235-7537

-Region VII: Iowa, Kansas, Missouri, Nebraska
Youth In Need, 529 Jefferson Street, St. Charles, MO 63301
Sue Schneider (314) 724-7171

-Region VIII: Colorado, Montana, North Dakota, South

Dakota, Utah, Wyoming
Mt. Plains Youth Services Coalition, PO Box 1242, Pierre, SD
57501
Doug Herzog (605) 224-e696

-Region IX: Arizona, California, Hawaii, Nevada, Guam,

Territorial Trusts
San Diego Youth & Community Services, 1214 28th St., San

Deigo, CA 92102
Liz Goldsmith (206) 328-0902
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-Region X: Alaska, Idaho, Oregon, Washington
The Shelter, 1545 12th Avenue, S. Seattle, WA 98144

Linda Reppond (206)328-0902

-At Large: Racial Minority Caucus
Project Contact, 315 East 10th St., NY 10009
Madelyn McDonald (212) 533-3570

-At Large Sexual Minorities
N.Y.C. Runaway Hotline, 2 Lafeyette St., New York, NY 10001

Marsha Day (212) 577-7770

-National Chairperson
Detroit Transit Alternatives, 2211 Woodward, Suite 1208,

Detroit, MI 48204
Roy Jones (313) 869-4040

-Chief Executive Officer
National Network of Runaway and Youth Services, Inc., 905

6th St. SW, Suite 612, Washington, DC 20024
June Bucy (202) 488-0739
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The
National
Center for

%ONG EL

17:010111151)
Children

Each year hundreds of thousands of children disappear.
while many return home safely. thousands arc exposed tri
senous danger. exploitation and even death. The criminal
and sexual exploitation of children Is a growing epidemic
confronting families, communities and the agencies of
our criminal Justice system.

THE NATIONAL CENTER for Missing and Exploited
Children has been established to address these difficult
issues and to assist families, citizen groups, law
enforcement agencies, and governmental institutions in a
new national effort to ensure the safety and protection of
our children.

1835 K Street, N.W.
Suite 700

Washington, D.C. 20006
(202) 634.9821

rum all indications, the case of a missing or
exploited child is a national nightmare that strikes
thousands of families each year. All estimates lead us
to the inescapable conclusion that our children are at
risk.

No one is certain of the exact magnitude of the
prohlems of missing and exploited children. What
we do know suggests increasing evidence of the real
tulnerability of our children:

at least 1,500,000 children I are missing from
their homes each year,

apparently 1,000,000 of these children are
voluntarily missing or labeled as "runaways" or
''t I rowaways." This Is an endangered group, the
frequent victims of street crime or exploitation.
Unfortunately, many end up as homicide
victims,

estimates of the number of children who are the
victims of noncustodial parental kidnapping
vary from 25,000 to 500,000. This, too, is an
endangered group of children who are often
exposed to emotional and physical abuse,

between 20,000 to 50,000 children disappear
each year and their eases remain unsolved by the
end of the year. Included in this group are the
victims of criminal abduction and foul play;
small children stolen by individuals to raise as
their own, or for sale; children who remain
voluntarily missing for months; and the victims
of accidental deaths,

expensestimate that 1 in 4 female children and 1
in 10 male children will be molested or raped by
the time they reach adulthood,

pornography and prostitution of children are
highly organized multimillion dollar industries,

recent studies have shown that 85% of the
children who have been criminally or sexually
exploited were missing from their homes at the
time of the act of exploitation,

each year, at least 3,000 persons are burled
unidentified, in "John" or "Jane Doe" graves;
hundreds of these unfortunates are children.
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Division on Missing Children

The Center's technical staff of former law
enforcement professionals, who are experienced in
the handling of missing child cases, will provide:

Assistance to individuals, groups, agencies, state
and local governments in locating and safely
returning missing children.

Coordination and support for action groups,
private sector organizations, and agencies which
are actively involved in missing children issues.

Additionally, In the near future, the CENTER
be able to provide to Every Searching Parent and Law
Enforcement Agency:

Technical Assistance Packets On

Effective Searching Techniques
Action Plans for Parents

The American Bar Association NonCustodial
Parental Abduction Packet setting guidelines for
the most effective means of preventing and
dealing with noncustodial parental abductions.

A National Directory of available (nonprofit)
action citizen organizations.

And Most Important
By late summer the CENTERwill provide a toll.

free number for the use of individuals who

believe they have information which could

lead to the location and recovery of a missing

child,

385

Division on Exploited Children

Former criminal justice system professionals.
experienced in the successful investigation and
prosecution of cases of secually and criminally
exploited children, will provide:

Pro active assistance to law enforcement
agencies regarding techniques for the
investigation of child molestation, pornography.
prostitution and other forms of criminal
exploitation.

Training and assistance to the law enforcement
community and the criminal justice system in
dealing with child victims and their familivs

Coordination of the exchange of information
regarding child exploitation.

Proactive dissemination of Information on the
networking of the criminal exploitation of
children.

A clearer understanding of the impact of crimes
against children and how to guide the child
victim through the criminal justice system.

Additionally, in the near future the CENTER will
provide Law Enforcement, Social Service Agencies,
Action Groups and the Criminal Justice System with
analysis of and guidance on existing state and federal
statutes relating to the protection of children.

And for the first time, THE NATIONAL CENTER

win collect specific sets of statistical data that

were preciously either nonexistant or
fragmented.



381

Division on Education, Prevention,
and Public Awareness

In the future, THE NATIONAL CENTER will provide;

Prevention and education programs for parents,
schools, action groups, agencies, communities,
volunteer organizations, law enforcement, and
local, state and federal institutions.

Coordination among parents, missing children
groups, and all media to distribute photos and
descriptive data on missing children.

Instruction packets which will aid communities
in protecting children.

A network of information exchange among
school systems (public and private), school
hoards, parentleacher associations, and
community organizations regarding proven
techniques for the implementation of education
programs.

An outreach program of public speaking and
communication to alert families, communities.
the criminal rastice system, and concerned
ownizations to the nature and extent of child
sictimization and exploitation.

Through structured education, a greater public
awareness of the danger children may encounter
in their everyday lives.

The exchange of information and offer
education and training for the medical and
iiirensiy communities.

And to Effect
Permanent Change

The CENTER will provide a national

clearinghouse of information on effective state

and federal legislation directed at the

protection of children and the reduction of

child victimization.

39-879 0 - 85 - 25

National Conference

In t he fall THE NATIOVAI. CENTER will sponsor and
host the first National Conference on Missing and
Exploited Children

This conference will bring together a vast number
of highly motivated, experienced professionals who
re familiar with the realities of the issue of missing
and exploited children. These participants will share
their expertise with parents, law enforcement
personnel, school officials, community leaders and
other child advocates, to address and deter the
problem of missing and exploited children.

In conjunction with the National Conference, the
CENTER will prepare a series of action guides and
provide the forum for the exchange of information
on the following topics:

Stranger Abduction
Noncustodial Parental Abductions
Voluntarily Missing Children
Searching Techniques for Missing Children
Investigative Techniques for Cases of Missing
or Exploited Children
Interviewing Techniques for Victimized
Children
Children and Families in the Criminal Justice
System
Prevention and Education for the Home
Prevention and Education for tht Schools
Community Safety Programs

The Center is NOT

A law Enforcement Agency

A Private Detective Agency

An i.doption Search Agency

A Legal Counseling Service

A National Registry Service. for Missing

Children
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HOLLYWOOD TURNS KID POD A DAY
RUT THOM A SERIOUS REASON-
TO FIGHT CHILDHAPPING

The street on 20th Century-Fox's
back lot In L.A. seemed like kidsluff
balloons. roving clown* Ice cream,
popcornbut the purpose was an
grown-up. The party and premiere of
Jaws 3-0 raised some eS0,000 to bene-
fit Find the Children, an antikkinappIng
and missing children organization. "It's
so unfair that the government cares
more about recovering cars than a hu-
man life," Said Brooke Shields, le.
"They cannot enter a child's statistics
Into *computer, but they will a car."
Added comedian Howie (8f. Else-
where) Mandel. 21, "Ma Isn't *Holly-
wood fantasy. We can make a differ-
ence so that children will be safer In
this world." LI

3 87

TISMAI WNW el* Snake WINN.
toll hell stet Ins TV wane Weems sh110

mew Nat roma *WI Ow Mildew

daps Teo fromait/Paaten: -any ow. met
hs*InioPeertios snit Wholes Nies* can't
MS bad way to se..

ligambyleektiAn Jos Preolso brought
els fencybutwouloni idiot**Jow.4. to
ARP$41:11ffilfit with him"

Wry Wpm me husband Hong XIV hod
arse twat, a ationd thelt no. cons*, le
Nene* and nwry's ilea. Peeve an0 Henry.
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THE NEWS AND OBSERVER - TUES. OCT 11, 1983

, ,Fighting to save children
The NBC-TV movie "Adam" has

dramatized a major American
problem: An estimated 50,000 of the
1.8 million children who will be re-
ported missing this year will never
Lc seen again by their families. This
bleak commentary on life in the
United States has one bright note.
The fight of one victimized family to
change things could spare many
other families the grief it suffered.

Thanks to the crusade of Reve
and John Walsh of Hollywood, Fla.,
who lost their 6-year-old son to a
kidnapper in a department store
two years ago, Congress last year
adopted the Missing Children Act.
This legislation provides more fed-
eral help to parents in extending the
search for their abducted children
across state lines.

The Walshes grew furious while
seeking state and federal help in

finding: Adam. They found, as had
many -frantic parents before them,
that state and federal agencies tried
to keep a missing child's case con-
fibed to narrow local levels. An ex-
ception was made when a ransom
note or other concrete proof of a kid-
napping existed.

With understandable scorn, John
Walsh told a congressional commit-
tee that the FBI had entered the
search for a missing horse because
of its monetary value, but without a
ransom note. Nothing in the law re-
quired the agency to look for a child
under similar circumstances.

By making appeals for public sup-
port on national talk shows and lob-
bying intensively in Washington,
the Walshes turned their grief into
constructive action. The Missing
Children Act sets up systematic
ways to provide information nation.
wide about lost or kidnapped young-
sters. Their efforts also have
changed the rigidity of FBI rules
about involvement in child-abduc-
tion cases.

Many of the missing youngsters,
especially those in their teens, are
runaways. But authorities believe
that most who disappear perma-
nently are killed or victimized in
other terrible ways.

"Adam" is an urgent appeal for
more cooperative law enforcement
on behalf of American families. But
it also teaches parents and children
that they must think about and pro-
tect themselves against situations
that could add them to the list of
victims.
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Computer has its eye on kids
Sy RUSEN ROSARIO

A computerised system designed to
educate parents on ways to ufeguard
their children from kidnapers and
child molesters was launched yeller.
day at it rte in Long Island and Staten
. land with the help of 'Hill Street
Blues" TV star Daniel *haven&

The system, called an Abduction
Safety Test. uses a computer to quiz
adults and children on safety ques.
tions, then provides the correct answer
on a. video screen. It was installed by
Find the Children Inc., a nonprofit
organisation.

Trevino, Capt. Frank Furillo of
"Hill Street Blues,' demonstrated the
Abduction Safety Test system for
scores of shoppers at two ltockbottom
drugstore outlets In Massapequa on
Longpland and on Richmond Ave. In
Staten Island

IN A TV MOV12 next month. Tre
vents will play John Walsh, the father
of a Slur-old Florida boy who was
abducted and murdered two years ago.
"There are close to LS million es
reported missing tech year. and bu,Z..10
of the.m are over heard from again.*

Mesa WPM OW NM
Boy lies silly Ma on sowapolsr as Mar Masi Twang' wash*

known only to the child and parent in
Soma of the Ups provided by the cue a stranger tries to lure them by

computer include teaching children as pretending that they were sent by the
young as 2 years of age to memorise Pmts, and Informing school officials
theta home phone numbers and ins to contact parents If the child never
odes, daelltpCs, sent password .

he told shoppers.

art
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NEW YORK POST, TUESDAY. SEPTEMBER 20, 1003

LOST, STOLEN, SLAIN:
50,000 KIDS A YEAR

By LINDA STDVIDIS
DURING this bow
alone, Mil children will
be reported missing. The
total comes to about LS
million each year:-

Many are runaways
and others are abducted
by their parents. Many
of these rehire or are
found.

But we lose about
50.000 kids each year for.
ever," said Daniel J.
Travanti. Sammy award-
winning star of
Hill Street Blues

"Disappeared. Gone.
doesn't have to be."

It
Travanti win at a

Roekbottom store on
Staten Island Sunday,
showing off a little com
puter that asks pareati
and children a few brief
questions about fin-
gerprints and bow to sot
around strangers.

More ir porton. it gets
them Uni.I.:na about
what would kipper ft tho
unthinkable occurred.

It's little enough to be
doing." said Trav
appearing as behalfof
an OrfalliSitiell called
Find the Children.

The little computer
Met, which tali be takes
around the *mu,, is
part of Plod the am-
dren's threepart cam.
paign to inform and
motivate. to raise money

TV stew dos Troniati OW) sad John
Wails virstfind 11w Cleadrsa 111,1ffy.

for ehildprotective oo July toss and found far.
Patalatailk and to lobby dared two weeks later.
Ear strafe' hiStatotiom That Mary and theVarna usually do men m Wit foe
worse than kids in the modeling hi

aloW
eig

fig
ie
ht

the
Mat That makes. my Matt* toe Wising ail-blood run cold. ", said ens free home a TV
Joke Walsh, whom ease movie caw -mew.
Adam was abducted in merrier Teeemett and

31

Jobeth Williams. It airs
Oct. 10.

"I learned so much so
fast. filming "Adam".
Zveryone who sees it is
going to learn from it."
said Travanti, whc has
no children but describes
himself u "avuncular."

"They'll be shocked at
the extent of the prob.
km and they'll know
they can give just a little
attention to every lone
child out there without
sacrificing any of their
time or their money or
their Rao."

"Adam" producer,
Linda Otto. founded and
is president of Find the
Children.

"I'm In this because all
those kids out there are
my children," she said.
"I want to protect them
Maim they're my hi-
sure. Unt future of my
coustry.

"It has to be ddite.
pie as that," she said Sow
ly."and I want to do IV

"We've had this prob
Inn for a Nag
said Travois**. "Ind it's
only recently that we've
been will's* to bee It
and count the matbers

which are made uP
individual children.

of

"And what those sum.
bars say, louder than
everything. Is that we're
all in thin together."
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Milwaukee Journal
OCT. 20, 1983

TV's massive potential for good
bletvh:ek televialtm isik Its Malone of viewers,

Is In a mime, vodka so help matte more Masks
children vrith their Mika That MOM discov-
ery was aids la the aftermath of the NBC We*
sica movie Was."

The km about child stelae's* was !allowed by
a monism of pboteimplie of 118 'arias Milan.
Om Mid am hot ova Wawa Yd called bar
mandemeeta who WIN CM Pled lee., the vol.
eatery eatioevide coMakellts Mw far, as sad
three others rive Mee teemed boss. Network
titivate' has dose what the RN, local yoke sad
Mousse& et vol inters molds% de without TV.

Is there some way that astwort IV milt ea s
regular WNW help Mats men Maim Mita
end thus help relieve cm of this BMWs nog vex-
lei nodal emblems/ Probobly m. AM to lie credit.
NBC Is explodes how to mewl& OM. Several
of the eetwerk's employe Wished la the 'Adam"

fer:Ittesirisitaccomtleaset frees Itaoleisec"
they Wiped m rearm Malta W their torawated
famines.

Betty Mon. MC vios-preekleet of corporate
Madam meets at that If a mime* wen to OW
tribute Motu of MIMI Wilkes regularly, fat
voluntary etomisitica ChM Pled mould mild
more stay, more UMW Meteors sad extra

393

phase Nam Helm also gems OM 51 et the II
skim Wilma pictured la ths NBC malt.
were white Woe* Maim may mewhIle
Maim Makes ere aspoor est dld
sot Mee ph= of as maiptable "OW let
tiomlag oe

U PA* pitsoli, Mod Medals and Mars M
MUwaikee, for IMMO. meat to wake Thee s mkt
city for children, Hodson segmestA the essamalty
could magter (a) Melee mossy so that school
photos could hs kept for seek AIM, wieldy Meer
chilttrea who dal o=tiglicheobgrOM
astahlieliag a local sal W)
spoimmites tidily =Wm for wrests ald
drea.

la our wham sod Byre/est wield have dealt.
lastly more easels! Mae the maim effort w
flamrpriat Andre& thfortmetaly, flaisrallats
ere el valve prictilteli ==s WON
whereas photos as are likely W
be recosaMed piople who as mist Is Mew
Inc akin Mika. eke.

That more moils anroma M Maltle8
America's Malmo Mama with WO MOW M.
servos widesyned swat. Ivostrelly. NM of
liming a child rempisal es Wealdos could pew
to be it metal deterrent to tat Maga alms of
Wild ebeactiom
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SHOUT Or DgeTti EI,. what
could be more shocking to a fam-

ily than Miring to report a child mine
lug? Yet it hoppensto tens of thou.
sands of parents every year.

That painful experience is especial
ly sharp for Ruth Mort, 35. Told by
doctors that she couldn't have chil-
dren, she finally gave birth to a son.
Rowell, only to lose him on May 4.
1982, when the 2-year-old vanished
from the back yard of her mobile
home. Below, she tells of the anguish
she shares with her husband Rob-
ertand how they keep hope alive.

NIAGARA FALLS, N.Y.
It started as a normal Wednesday.

My husband had gone off to work,
and little Russell went outside to
play, as he often did, in the sandbox
of our fenced-in back yard.

He hadn't been gone more than 5
minutes when I went out to check on
hint. My heart stopped He was gone!
The toys he had taken out were right
at the edge of the sand pile Nothing
had been disturbed or played with.

Fear hit me immediately because
of the hazardous Niagara River about
150 yards from the rear of our home.
But Rune!l was too tiny to climb the
fence, and I don't even think
he realized the river wus
there since other homes
blocked his view. Still, I
raced down to the riverbank.
No tight of him.

I ran back to search
among the other trailers
in our project. No one
had seen Russell Within
minutes. 30 people were
roaming the area franti-
cally calling for him.

I notified the sheriffs
department, and my sir
ter.in.law calk ay hits
band at work. Russell had
been gone less than an
hour.

NNW hops.. It was
the beginning of whet
for us has become a
nightmare that has no
enda year and a half
in which our hopes have
been tailed and dashed
again and spun

Mk Somebody
Has My Child"
Needless to say, we wereand

areobsessed with finding our boy
In the first few days. we had to sit
back and let others handle the search
because bloodhounds wore brought
in. and our participation would throw
off the scent.

Soon, more than 500 people were
looking for RussellIn the fields, un-
der the mobile homes, in utility
shacks, in every hole and trash can.
They tipped over things you wouldn't
think a little boy could get under.

The police dragged the river but it
yielded nothing. Not then, and not in
the months since. But they refused to
go into the homes in our develop-
ment They told us that would take
dozens of march warrants. Yet I
couldn't help thinking; "Someone
has him in their trailer."

"Find our boy." My anger and
frustration grew because of some-
thing else: The police were investi-
gating us. I know now that this is
routine because of fears of child
abuse, but it was upsetting to have
them questioning relatives and
friends. We wanted to shout: "We
didn't'do anything. Just find our boy.
Look for him."

Somehow, though, we
had to go on. After the
first week, my husband
had to go back to work.
He wasn't going to get
paid if he didn't, and I

thought at least work
would keep his mind
off things.

-. My fulltime job be.
came looking for Rus-

sell. I circulated punters of
him, searched for him in
schools, went on talk
shows. Friends set up
fund to raise money to
help me find him. I wrote
letters and made countless
calls, looking for any lead.

People would ca. Just
10 or 20 minutes ago they
had seen a little boy who

looked Just like Russelltiny, blond
hair. big brown eyes. Ile was bow-d-
ing a bus with a lady in Niagara Falls
4 miles away (Sr they saw him at a
shopping mall in Buffalo 10 miles
away

My motherm-law and I would
jump in her ear and drive wherever
this or that sighting was, hoping that
"this is the one this time

Frustrating events. At least six
Hines. we've thought we were getting
close. One lady told pollee of seeing a
boy who looked like Russell with a
couple in a white Corvette "look
what we have here." they told her
But the Corvette seas never found.

I became suspicious of friends and
other people who had admired Russ
tell. 1 wondered if people who had
already raised their kids had taken
him for their own or given him to
their children I'd see total strangers
on the street and if they smiled at
me. I wondered: "Does he or she
know something?" I wondered about
kindly strangers who were being too
nice to me or who called too often
wanting to offer help.

Our hearts still jump each time
there is a piece of mail, a knock on
the door or the telephone rings. With
each disappointment, I cry or pray cr
start smoking againpack after peck.

I don't know '.ow our rnuriage has
survived It all. We were told at the
start to seek counseling, and we have
been visited by a minister. Mainly,
it's been Robert and 1 helping each
other. I feared he would blame me,
but he hasn't and has encouraged me
in all my efforts. Still, he has become
withdrawn and refuses to talk about
Russell with anyone but me. It's as if
no one else could possibly under-
stand what we are going through.

I'm told there's a black market for
babiesslit healthy white males go
for 1130,11... or more. If someone does
have Russell, our only hope is that it
is someone who loves him, but that
doesn't stop us from wanting him
back. Not even the birth of out
daughter in September has changed
that. Not knowing where he is,
whether he is alive or dead, leaves a
terrible hollowness inside that will
never be filled.

We've been told we only have a 10
percent chance of finding out child,
but I'd be looking if they said it was
only I percent. Russell. now 4. is a
little boy who would cos w up and
say. "I love you, Daddy." Nobody
will ever be able to say that just the
way he did. We want to heir it again.

---0,....11111111111111111.-
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SI4in boy's father
backs bill for help
in finding children

WASHINGTON <UM The father of Adam
Walsh, 6- year -old who was kidnapped and killed,
joined lawmakers Thursday In urging federal help to
find the estimated 1.6 million American children who
disappear each year.

Sens. Arlen Sp er, RPa., and Paula Hawkins, R-
M.. Introduced senate bill that would establish a
national tollfree. telephone number for reporting in.
formation on missing children and a national clear
inghouse for coordinating efforts to find them.

An identical House bill was proposed by Reps. Paul
Simon,D-111., and Michael Andrews, D-Texas.

Despite what the senators called footragging in
the House, Congress last year passed a bill creating a
national register of missing children and another of
the unidentified dead.

Sponsors said the new bill would provide $10 million
a year for the hot line and the national center to help
state and local agc neies and individuals search for
missing youngsters.

Adzm's father, John Walsh, accompanied the Sen.
ate s ?onsors to a news conference, where he was
praised as an effective lobbyist in winning the atten
tion d Congress and the public to the problem of miss-
ing children.

Walsh's agonizing experience and his crusade for
government action was the subject of a recent televi-
sion movie.

Adam was abducted from a shopping mall in Holly.
wood, lola two years ago, and his head was found
weeks later. His body has never been recovered. A 311
year-old drifter confessed last week that he killed
Adam.

Hollywood Police Chief Sant Martin said Thursday

THE NEWSAND OBSFRVER
Raleigh, North Carolina
Friday, October 2R, 1983
(Page 9A)
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John Walsh with Sen. Paula Hawkins Thursday

that It would be difficult to snake a case against Ottis I
Elwood Toole, 06, if the boy's remains could not be
found.

Toole took au horities to an area where he said het
had buried the body, A search of the swampy area
resumed Thursday.

Walsh said it took 16 months to get the earlier bill
through Congress and said the fact it was not passed
years ago was "a national disgrace."

Asked whether the legislation could have saved his
child's life, Walsh said "it might have made a great
difference" by leading to special program- ssigned
to make children more wary of strangers.

"I told Adam not to take candy from a str., bar," he
said, adding that this was not enough because those
who prey on children are "more sophisticated" now.
'Child molesters don't offer candy anymore," he
said.

Also appearing at the news conference was Linda
Otto, the producer of the television drama "Adam,"
Ms. Otto said the drama, broadcast Oct. 10, ended
with pictures of 50 missing children and resulted in
the return of eight children "to people who thought
they would never see them again.'

3 96
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THE NEWS AND OBSERVER - SAT OCT 29, 19C3

Information base
on serial murders
to be organized

WASHINGTON (UPI) As part
of an effort to track down missing
children and adults, federal au-
thorities said Wednesday that they
plan a program to develop profiles
of serial murderers and coordi-
nate information on their crimes.

Although there is no money for
the program, officials say they
hope to identify slaying patterns
and pool the data through the Vio-
lent Criminal Apprehension Pro-
gram being set up by the FBI.

"It's like trying to identify and
solve a new disease," said James
Stewart, head of the Justice De-
partment's National Institute of
Justice.

Officials said that they think
many missing children are vic-
tims of serial murderers killers
who travel, often picking victims
one at a time based on a common
trait. About 35 serial murderers
are operating in the United States,
officials said.

"When a serial murderer strikes
today and roams about, law en-
forcement (officers in different
communities) have no way of com-
municating with each other," said
Pierce Brooks, a homicide investi-
gator working with the Justice De-
partment.

The FBI's program will use data
from various agencies to compare
unsolved slayings and link similar
mr thods of oDeratior.
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Drifter left trail of death in journey through Sun Belt
VIM.
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den woe'sikeedheheallidandoheetincesiotheet.Mur.
byathillatweeekkoow erublestwe iniowahooglekeriedhoe, the pair is offkiaBy Chanted °My zemci Lucas and his sometime perW to their claims, may be low.

have killed is5 people, alth Ali La., to compare notes on the ear- But even Ulm numbed, cod*iodide) appearance.
Many officials think Lucas corn- In the m Took. Now, L the modal of IS people in nor-

Neither men, for example, hasrake murders than are at- "Wide Prim "WI be le saving 4cededidErtitteitheDellee PsYeldalrist kle, Louisiana and Texas. At the end of the extraordinary been charged with murder in Cali.to any wow persona Urns foranon, E. Clay "Lucas is mad But mat behove this to be Just t7 day meeting, the officiate fords, where they ate known toAmerican history more than the Het ww, Hollywood, plc, po. that Toole Is Gelid* to have taw. 11. eaglikkg or a list that mid concluded that they had 33 "very have roamed extensively.John Wayne Oacy MI, Theodore Ike Oil ago Math said that Ile
Um. Idle, othelkadooperatedBuda) and Juan Corona (S)
with police there, waa responsible
for the 1111 murdir of Ileareld
Adam Walsh. The
murder led to the =PP&
dren's AM, approved by Cooped

Cltn MD", perhaps, than
sawn de Reis, the Rah-century
Trend nobleman who confessed
to
children

torturing and murdering 140

"1 believe Lucas is good for ev-
erything he said he did," Harris
County (Texas) Sheriff's Depart-
meet IA. Grace Patricia Osmer
amid. She thinks Luau killed 10
people in Harris County alone.

Sometimes accompanied by Otis
Toole, II, his Jacksonville, Fla.,

' friend and homosexual lover, Lu-
ear, by his accounts, roamed high-
Wit )3, randomly selecting:sale

yand oamonally Ingle v to
malady ing necrophilia.

Mfg Acts impotently were
Most-4 by then randomness and
by" rootless anonymity of many
etb t ims. who. he said, 'wind.
al large number of female
hli.hhikers on intents% Mill-
ivolt.

Although mat of his victims
were stabbed and dismembered,
some were shot. Although most
were female, a few were male. Al-
though most bodies were found na-
ked and violated, others were
clothed and untouched except for
the fatal wound. They were of no
consistent age, rue, height or
wel

In
t

warped morality of a la
duet* kWer Lucas told of (I-
tem that he Would never take

Imes. "God doesn't like you
or money off the bodies of

to steal," he told one investigator.

rifter's journey
left trail of death

toomoottatea PONirs WON

RINGGoLD, Texas Kate Rich reared
.4ht girls and one boy In this shriPearlveled fortner
railroad and cotton center near the Oklahoma bor.
der. She took In laundry, cleaned housesand baby-
sat for neighbor children.

Every day, she traded at the grocery of Vernon
and Stella Euell. Every night, she gossiped on the
phone with Rolle Boyd.

She was part of the meticulous routine of a small
town. Then she dlvd on a September evening in
ten A drifter named Henry Lee Lucas took the so-
year-old woman in his car, stabbed her to death
and hid her body in s culvert. Part of the routine of
a small town ended.

"She was missed the very next day," Stella Er-

398

sell said. Word of her disappearance coursed the
red-dirt roads and mesquite savannahs of Mon.
taus Comity.

Lucas says he killed more than 130 women In the
same way he killed Mrs. Rich. Lucas, 47, the 13th
child of a prostitute mother and an alcoholic fa-
titer, is a man who, quite literally, loved death. He
murdered his mother In 1930.

He said that he murdered two women the same
day he was released from a Michigan kilo in
Mt He had only a vague Ides that what he did was
WORM

"1 know It ain't normal for a person to go out and
kW a girl Just to have oex with her," he said In
court.

In vivid descriptions to police officers, he de-
tailed a serpentine path of unprecedented, horribly
violent murder stretching from Florida to Califor-
nia. When they doubted him, he led them to shallow

stiaturrsit. pg. HA
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[rents agonize over lost children

Trees Puyear

Sy BILL KRORGER
wwwwew

Faye D. Pier/eat spuds lot of
lonely nights In her Pt them days,

00w may be staking out a the
quey-Vartna video arcade, roam-
lag the toads of Angier or travel.
leiget a coest. untry-weeteen bar in
Wae For

She also cries herself to sleep a
let

Mrs. Puppet is searching to
bar le-yea-old daughter, Teresa,
who has been missing since Sept,
IS. Mrs. Puryear has been frus-
trated in ber efforts.

"I just want her to call home and
till me she's OK," Mrs. Puryear,
vibe Is divorced, said last week In
an interview at her West Raleigh

Colima I INN par IA

lowing the FBI to provide more
help is missing-children eases.

An amortisation In North Caroli-
na that has taken an Interest le
such children, along with other Is-
sues involving juveniles, la Child
Watch Inc. Charles J. Dunn, peesi
dent of Child Watch and a karst
director of the State Bureau of Is.
vertlgation, said last week in a
telephone Interview that th
km In North Carolina probably
was not as bad as in other parts of
the

"I would say we're probably In
better overall situation than molt
of the nation," Dunn said. "But
certainly we have our share of
miming children. We're not sure
how many, but I expect it would
shock us."

Law enforcement officials said
in interviews that the state had
been lucky In the low number of
child abductions it bed experi-
enced.

"It's not been a problem In
North Carolina," said Charles S.
Richards of the Fill in a telephone
interview from Charlotte. "'Pare
not to say there haven't been lace
hted incidents We haven't had
dramatic problem, to my Mewl.
edge."

Although there are no annual to-
tots tabulated for miming children
in North Carolina, the Police info.
motion Network, eked
for law enforcement agencies

how manychildren are miss.
Ing at a certain time.

On Thursday, to Juveniles were
missing in the state, the network
said. Most probably were run.
sways, sold Director Bill C. Cop

home. Wiping the tears from her
cheeks, she saki: "II she knew bow
worried I was, she'd come back. I
believe that. I love hat."

Tulsa le one of IS million end.
drat acmes the country who are
reputed mimin

afire
Of

thou, about MOM
g

are thouglg to
have been abducted. The rest are
l'ullawtarnaYs. mast of whom events.
ally up.

hirrroscome by because no ctn.
hi North Catalina are

Val agency keeps track of missing
ehildren. But officiate estivate
that I to 1,100 chid= are re.

is
mining each year. No one

even willing to gueaa hew many
an not found.

"My guess In that there are a lot

CHUM J. Deem

ley, but he said three youths aged
IS or under were thought to have
been abducted.

A spot check of pike deport-
ments arises the state found that
most do not distinguish between
mating juveniles tap la ot
der) and adults. But officiala esti.
mated that 10 percent of the eases
were juvenile* and more than M
percent of thole probably were
runaways.

"The majority would be what I
call overnighters," said Raleigh
Detective Sgt. R K. Carroll. "They
are either back home In 14 hours
or have made canted with their

Raleigh police think Teresa Pu.
ryear is a runaway, and while her
mother doesn't &min the post.
bility, she is not convinced.

of disappearances that y

D

b
keeping track of," L.P. Hpe, aP
stela* unetary of the N,C.

=ei Crime Cuero! and
Sy, said last week In an

loterview.
Tbe problem of miring children

bas received Increased attention
reculdi because of a television
movie, 'Adeni," that dramatised
the true story of a Hollywood.
couple whose spear-ein son &up
Ared and later was found slain.

A plena inmate confessed to the
crime last week, saying It was one
of several killings for which he
was
iris lered

s p nsimble. ig'Pn m that yb'rs

o upeet
changes in federal taw last year al.

So PARENTS, MK AA

"I don't know U the ran away,"
she said. "Tense would get mad,
but her anger never ran tong. She
has never rev away before."

Mts. Punter said she under.
Axel that her daughter's ease was
enly one of many that pollee must
lareetigate, but she is satisfied
with the depertment's

not
handling of

K.
"I seat to see Chief (Frederick

K.) Heineman and could not see
NM," Abe said. "I went toe* BBL
They told me that they could not
get Involved MN= Ma police re.
quested help."

Raleigh Detective It S.W. Pec
plot said his drnent treated
moot missing children cases as if
Pare were fad play involved.

"We treat a missing kid as e
WI-priority ease," he sold. "We
foam up on a cue Just as Inhere
Was SOlnelliag wrong. We do a lot
of interviews and neighborhood
canvassing If it's necessary, and It
trusts necessary'.'

In Purer cue, he said,
"we've been to numerous places In
the city and county to try to locate
the child. We have talked to sever.
al other agencies In an attempt to
find her."

Carroll, who will) recently tan
the department's juvenile unit,
Yid: "I've had thole types of
cases where the parents felt there
was something wrong and said
their child would not take oft and
run, but nothiem in the investigs.
Hon indicated foul pity. But I've
been fooled. All you can do is go on
face value."

Harold E. Elliott, deputy direc-
tor of the MIL said his agency did
not

ked.
get involved unless It was

u
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"That's s ballpark we don't play
in too often," he said. "On any
missing-person case, we don't
have jurisdiction. We only get In-
volved when there's a reason to be-
lieve foul play's involved. And
then only if the local agency re-
quests our assistance."

Richards said thi FBI took a
similar stance.

Advocates for children say par-
ents often encounter confusion and
frustratic in dealing with law en-
forcement agencies, particularly
if the child is leas than 12 years
old.

"In some places, there is a prob-
lem where it's still looked at as a
domestic problem," said Alice M.
Byrne, a private detective in New
York City and a director of Child
Find, a national advocacy group.
"There are still a lot of parents
that are having to fight to get help.

"When the Justice Department
was approached (about placing in-
formation on missing children in
the national crime computer),
they said we can't do this because
it would bog down the computer
because it was so big.

"I said, 'If it's so big, shouldn't
we do something about it?"' Mrs.
Byrne said in a telephone inter-
view.

Dunn said he thought law en-
forcement agencies in North Caro-
lina did an adequate Job of dealing
with missing children. "I guess the
situation could be improved, but
it's much more than a law enforce-
ment problem," he said.
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Most officials argued that before
police could get a better handle on
the problem, major changes were
needed in the information-gather-
ing process.

The first steps were taken last
year when Congress passed the
Missing Children's Act. The law
gave the FBI greater authority to
participate in the cases and al-

the agency to place desalt,-
time of missing children in its na-
tional crime computer.

Another important development
has been the growth of programs
to fingerprint children in case they
ever &appear. The prints can
then placed in the FBI comput-
er and

be
distributed throughout the

country.
One such program, IdentA

Child, was started in Raleigh in
March by Winn-Dixie. Robert D.
Emerson, security manager for
the chain's Raleigh division, said
more than 300,000 children in 14
states had been fingerprinted.

Hyde said that until information
on missing children was email.
dated, it was doubtful a consider.
able dent could be made in the
problem.

A major advantage of a central
information agency, he said,
would be the increased possibility
of detecting "serial" kidnappers,
people who abduct children in sev-
eral locations. Without a statewide
information system, it is too easy
for similar cases to slip by, he
said.

"Let's say there was a kidnap-
ping in Orange County, one in Dug-

401

ham and one in Wake County,"
Hyde said. "As it is now, they
might never be linked. My guess Is
that if there was some system
there might be some similarities

believefoss believe there's a
y
demonstrat-

ed need for some to keep up
with records on the

bod
statewide ley-

el. Somebody ought to be doing it.
But I'm not sure if law enforce-
ment is the logical choice. Every-,
one leans on them."

Some effort is being made at the
state level to set up such a source.
Henry E. licKoy, deputy seem
tary of the Department of Admin.
istration, said he expected the
Governor's Advocacy Council on
Children and Youth to propose a
task force that would develop a
Pent"' on

The panel's:1101i:: stud* crest-
ing an information - collecting
agency and starting a media cam-
paign to educate parents to the

We" kidlianoinS, MaoBut
it's hard to explain all that

to Mrs. Puryear. She spoke of her
frustration while sitting In a room
surrounded by pictures of her six
children

gained pounds since
Teresa left she said "Nerves. I
cry a lot.' I haven't been sitting
still. I've been looking for her. I
know Teresa's get to be out there
somewhere. Even though It may
just be a wild goon chase, it
makes me feel better

"You never think It can hit
home, but it can."
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Andrews seeks
aid for finding
missing youths

Rep. Ike Andrews, DN.C., Is

=Ayin the Rouse tor
legislation to be in-

federal help In locating missing
children.

The legislation would authorize
7 the Artie* Department to spend

$10 million a yesr for a national
hotline telephone ber tor re-
porting information

numabout
miming

children, set i* a clearing house to
disseminate the information and
award grants to local
meats that try to deal with tire
problem.

Anthievm is the
le&lation with Rep. Paul
DM. Ina story in The News
Observer, United Press Interne-

t tional incorrectly reported last

thg

week that Rep. Michael A. An-
. drews, Dfflecas, was co-sponsor-

the legIsladon.
me House bill to be introduced

is a companion bill to legislation
introduced in the Senate last week
by Sens. Arlen Specter, It -Pa., and

, Paula Hawkins, 11-111s.
Andrews le chairman of the

House Human Resources Wpm.
mitten of the House Education and
Libre Committee, which will have

. jurisdiction over the hW. Gordon
A. Raley, staff director for the sub-
committee, said Specter asked An-
draws tom co-sponsor the legislation
with Sion.

39-879 0 - 85 - 26
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U.S. to Open Center on Missing Kids
By' Rita Ciotti
Newsday Washington Bureau

Washington After years of resisting
any type of involvement in the problem,
the Justice Department yesterday an-
nounced funding of a $3.3-million na-
tional center to aid local police rind
families in the search for abducted and
runaway children.

The center, scheduled to open next
month, will try to locate, identify and re-
turn some of the estimated 500,000 chil-
dren who disappear each year, including
those "kidnaped" by divorced parents
during custody battles.

By late summer, the privately run
center will operate a toll-free number to
report sightings of missing or exploited
children, sa'd Alfred Regnery, adminis-

trator of the Office of Juvenile Justice
and Delinquency Prevention.

"After exhausting their own finances
and state and local resources, parents
frequently turn to the federal govern-
meat for aid. Until now, there has been
no federal program to help them," Reg-
nery said.

The center also will conduct public-
awareness campaigns, collect statistics
to better document the scope of the prob-
lem and counsel parents who need help in
such areas as designing posters to draw
public attention to their missing child.

The program will not expand the role
of the FBI, which still will enter a case
only if there is evidence of an abduction.
After much resistance from the FBI in
1982, Congress required it to enter po-

aorraftftr... .... Modsmomagrowamlida.SoMmwaftWoierm.m

lice reports of missing children on its
National Crime Information Center
computer.

The center is " like a dream come
true," said John Walsh of Fort Lauder-
dale, Fla., a special adviser to the facili-
ty. The abduction and murder of Walsh's
son, Adam, wne dramatized last year in
a television movie.

"No one sht Id assume it couldn't
happen to them," said Walsh, who spoke
before television cameras yesterday to
dramatize the Justice Department's an-
nouncement. However, Justice Depart-
ment officials cut abort the news
conference and refused to let Walsh an-
swer more questions.

The announcement of the center
snatched the spotlight,from congress,

4:3

which had been moving quickly to act
again on the politically popular issue.
House and Senate bills propose a $10-
million program with a similar goal ofa
national information clearinghouse.

There were doubts on Capitol Hill yes-
terday that the new center would last
beyond its initial grant. It is funded
through a budget line known as Title II,
which the Reagan administration has
refused to include in its proposed 1986
budget.

"Unless they plan to solve the problem
of missing children in one year, I don't
see how they can reconcile this," said

on Rale , staff director of the House
subcomm ttee on human resources,
which just finished hearings on the bill,

I OPARsing c101dren!ei Act ofmac
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State publication
has photos, facts
on missing persons

United Press International

To improve efforts to find miss-
ing people, the N.C. Department of
Justice has begun to publish the
"Missing Persons Bulletin."

The bulletin, which contains
photographs and information
about missing people, will be in ad-
dition to material available
through the automated Missing
Persons-Unidentified Persons
File.

The file is operated in conjunc-
tion with the National Crime Infor-
mation Center.

North Carolina has a daily aver-
age of 185 missing adults and chil-
dren.

William C. Corley, director of
the state's Police Information Net-
work, one of three Justice Depart-
ment agencies responsible for
coordinating the bulletin's publica-
tion and distribution, said Thurs-
day the bulletin attempts to in-
crease public awareness of miss-
ing persons.

"By highlighting some missing
persons, we're attempting to in-
crease our recovery rate," he
said. "Lots of times We see people
walking the streets, but we have
no idea if they are missing."

Eight months in the making, the
first issue of the monthly bulletin
was prompted by a growing na-
tional interest in locating missing
persons.

"A year ago in October, federal
guidelines began requiring the
FBI to get involved in some miss-
ing persons investigations," Cor-
ley said. "This made us all con-
scious of the need to get people
back."

Florida and Oklahoma are
among the few states to compile
bulletins on their missing persons.

404
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EDITORIAL

0120 - Editorial - Presented by J. D. Lewis
MISSING CHILDREN
Thursday, July 19, 1984

trn 1(11114

It is estimated that one and a half million children are
reported missing each year across the United States. Most of
them are run-a-ways, young teenagers with a spirit of adventure,
or distraught teenagers trying to escape the confines and disci-
pline of the family structure or emotionally disturbed young
people fleeing from the misery of a broken or unhappy home.

Even more alaiMing is the fact that between 20 and 50 thousand
of these young people are abducted (taken away by force) and not
heard from for more than a year.

These statistics, that come from national missing children's
programs, are often read or heard with a detached interest by many
of us. But for a country that takes pride in the family unit as
the basic structure of a democratic society, this !s a national dis-
grace of such magnitude that it clearly indicates that we can no
longer be detached in our concern and indifferent to the problem of
locating missing children.

Imagine the pain, suffering and anguish you would feel if your
child was missing. What can we do about it? Aside from improving
and maintaing a wholesome family environment, we need a nationwide
network of law enforcement officials and. organizations to give the
problem the priority it demands.

Winn Dixie stores in North Carolina, as a community service.
has instituted an identification program for children. Parents can
have their children photographed and fingerprinted. If a child is
missing, this information could be distributed nationwide upon
parental approval.

That's the kind of corporative community involvement we could
use more of.

- 0 -
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MISSING AND RUNAWAY CHILDREN

RUNNING AWAY from home is as American as, well, apple
pie. The lure of the road has beckoned millions of children

from Huckleberry Finn to the flower children of the 1960s. But
most children leave home for reasons that have little to do with
romance or adventure. Huck Finn, remember, was escaping
a father who "got too handy with his hick'ry." And for most
runaways, conditions on the road soon turn dreams of nir-
vana into the reality of doing without the basic necessities of
life.

Although it is impossible to determine the exact number,
experts believe that between one million and two million chil-
dren and young adults run away from home each year. At least
100,000 children a year leave home involuntarily abducted by
a parent involved in a custody dispute. In addition, an es-
timated ' 9,000 to 50,000 children a year simply disappear. Some
of these children return home, but every year about 2,000 miss-
ing children are found dead. Many are never heard from again.
"Finding missing children," President Reagan said last October,
"has become a national problem. "'

Runaways are also a national problem. Parade magazine
writer Dotson Rader called the nation's runaways "the most
abused and neglected segment of our population." Many run-
aways find themselves in an emotional bind, forced to choose
between living under what they consider intolerable conditions
at home and the hazards of life on the run. Young runaways are
particularly vulnerable, not only to the physical risks of living
on the streets, but also to pimps and criminals who take advan-
tage of their inexperience and force them to work as prostitutes,
in pornographic films or as drug runners.

Experts believe that the nation's runaway problem has gotten
worse in recent years. More and more children are showing up
at runaway shelters across the country, or are being reported
missing by parents. The number of "throwaway children"
kids forced out of the house by their parents also is rising.
"Over a million kids a year run away. Of that figure, 50 percent

' Speaking Oct. 12,1962, at tlx whirs House. after signing the Miming Children Act bee
p 1

Tettifying Max 1982, Wore the House Education Committee% Subcommittee on
Human Hemmers.

111
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of them would be considered throwaway kids kids that the
parents have told basically to get lost," said Robbie Callaway,
executive director of the National Youth Work Alliance in
Washington, D.C'

Reasons for increased Family Tensions
One reason for the increasing number of runaways is the state

of the economy. Economic problems such as long-term un-
employment usually are not the only reasons a child runs away
from home, but they can exacerbate family tensions. "What
happens is that certain normal adolescent issues, including
curfew and independence from the family ... can get escalated
by these additional pressures ... on the parents," said Neil
Brown, a counselor who works with parents and teen-agers at
Huckleberry House, a runaway shelter in Columbus, Ohio (see
p. 124). Unemployment is particularly hard on all family mem-
bers According to Cynthia Myers, executive director of the
National Runaway Switchboard in Chicago, "Teen -agars will
sometimes leave home thinking that their family cannot sup-
port them."

Economic pressures also contribute to the volatile atmosphere
in which child abuse can occur.' According to James S. Gordon,
a National Institute of Mental Health psychiatrist and longtime
consultant to runaway shelters across the country, "90 percent
among the predominantly black youth who now run to the
Washington, D.C., Runaway House and fully half of the teen-
agers who come to the Youth Service Bureau in white, middle-
class Huntington, LI. ... report that they left because they
were physically abused by their parents or guardians."' Neil
Brown said that about 80 percent of the runaways who come to
Huckleberry House "have encountered significant physical or
sexual violence in the last year."

Even before the current recession, experts noticed an increase
in cases of child abuse. The American Humane Association
reported that there were 788,844 official reports of child
maltreatment in 1980, involving an estimated 1.2 million chil-
dren. This represented a 91 percent increase over 1976. Many
oche: incidents were never reported.

About 7 percent of reported child abuse victims, or approxi-
mately 84,000 youngsters, were sexually abused. "There seems
little doubt that the incidence of sexual abuse committed

The National Youth Work Miami, formerly known se the National Youth Ahernalivw
Praise', is a nortpmilt group that provide. technical 'willowy and training to thaw
working with iunaways or in drui abuse. employment and other youth service more.

' See "Violence in the Family. EAR., 1979 Vol. 1. pp. 305424.
Writing in "Reaching Troubled Youth: Rudman and Community Mental Health."

U.S. Department of Health and Human &MC" National Institute of Mental Health.
1991. p. 7.
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against children is vastly higher than anyone would like to
believe," stated a pamphlet published by the National Commit.
tee for the Prevention of Child Abuse (NCPCA). According to
De. Ann H. Cohn, NCPCA's executive director, 90 percent of
teenage prostitutes claim to have been sexually abused as
children.

The Grim Reality of Ufe on the Streets
Many runaways return home within 48 hours after they leave.

But many of those who stay away from home for longer periods
face harrowing lives on the streets. Large numbers become
involved in prostitution or child pornography. "1 can take you to
Times Square ... and I can show you children 10, nine, 11 years
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of age, boys and girls, selling their bodies," Dotson Rader told
the House Human Resources Subcommittee last year. "They
run away, they are picked up at the Port Authority (bus termi-
nal( and they are picked up in Times Square by pimps. They are
addicted to heroin. They are beaten up and they are put on the
street and ... when a child like Warren, for example, one of the
boys I intervie wed, hes a rectal hemorrhage, he is killed."'

Such horror stories are not confined to New York City's
notorious Times Square. Hoards of teen-age prostitutes can be
found elsewhere across the country: in downtown Boston's
"combat sone," along the "meat rack" on Hollywood's Santa
Monica Boulevard (where young boys are the specialty), on 14th
Street in Washington, D.C., in downtown Seattle at First Ave-
nue and Pike Street and on the streets of many other cities.
Seattle Times reporter Carol M. Ostrom, who recently com-
pleted a four-part series on that city's runaways, described what
street life is like: "There's no place to sleep, no security, and
nothing to eat. Unless you steal or bustle, that is. For a new-
comer, there are always plenty of new-found Mends willing to
provide the how-to of hustling. For many of the girls, all the
money they earn goes to their pimps a middleman or woman
moat girls on the street find necessary."

Runaways who come to big cities often encounter a reception
committee. Sometimes it is a social worker offering shelter and
counseling. More often it is someone with more sinister things in
mind a pimp, a child porlographer or a drug dealer looking
for recruits. Author Myron Brenton sketched the scene at New
York City's Port Authority: "Here they come, like chickens
down the conveyor belt ready to be plucked. And there to do the
grading and the plucking canny eyes casting for the meat
part for the most attractive of the young girls, the gentlest of
the young boys are the rail-thin, smartstepping, broad-brim-
hatted pimps."

It appears that organized crime has become increasingly in-
volved in the business of child prostitution. "Organized crime
has stepped into this kid business," said Robbie Callaway of the
National Youth Work Alliance. "You've got guys outt the bus
stations and out at the parks picking up the kids and offering
them places to stay and treating them to nice meals and things
like that.... They have their people doing the outreach, grab-
bing the kids as they show up." As Joyce Strom, executive
director of Act Together, a non-profit group based in Wash-

Rader wrote an article in the Lab. 7. 1982. issue of Parade me nine chronicling the
bhirdshi!A faced y teen.age prostitutes in Seattle and San Diego. The maguine received

more than 70.000 letters in reaction to the article, the largest response in its Itiyear history.
Writing in the Seattle Times, Bee. 8. 1982.

' Myron Brenton. The Runaways 11978). P. be.
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Phoning Horn*

Runaways and missing children can find shelter, help, counsel.
ing and other services through three national toll-free numbers.
They are

Cbild Find: 800-431-5005
National Runaway Switchboard: 800421.4000 or

8004724004 in Illinois
Runaway Hotline: 800. 2314948 or

800. 392-3352 in Texas

Two organisations that help runaways nationwide are:

National Youth Work Alliance
1348 Connecticut Ave., N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20038
phone: 202-785-0784

National Fund for Runaway Children
2001 1:1 St. N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20007
phone: 202-7834417

ington, D.C., that funds runaway shelters, put it "When you
run away, (your fate) many times depends on who gets you
first."

Not all runaway children, of course, become involved in child
prostitution or pornography. But many do. Although accurate
figures are impossible to obtain, experts believe that the num-
ber of teen-age prostitutes has increased during the last five
years and that it is likely that the number of children involved
in child pornography also has risen since the mic1-1970s. Studies
indicate that some teen-agers turn to prostitution voluntarily to
escape intolerable conditions at home, most often beatings or
sexual abuse. "Generally, teen-agers become prostitutes as a
means of survival after they have run away to escape a poor
home environment," concluded a report released by the Govern-
ment Accounting Office (GAO) last year.'

The problem of child pornography so called "kiddie porn"
is particularly vexing. The thought of films and photographs

showing pre-pubescent childen and teen-agers engaged in sex
acts with each other or with adults is repulsive even to those
who profess to take pornography in stride." Some children
appearing in pornographic films have been as young as three
years old; some of the adults have been their parents, relatives
or neighbors. The psychological effects on children who are
forced to take part in pornography often are felt for many years.

&worriment Amounting Chat "11olual Paplaltation of Children A Problem of
Unknown Magnitude," April 20, 1982, p.

"Ste "Pornography Bulimia Upsurge," tR.R.. 1079 Vol. 11, p. 771.
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As the GAO report put it "Literature shows that children
involved in pornography can be psychologically scarred and
suffer mental distress for life. They see themselves as objects to
be sold rather than people who are important. Some of these
children feel dirty and unwanted and become bitter toward
adults."

Even worse fates than falling victim to organised crime,
pimps or child pornographers await some runaways: death at
the hands of deranged persons who prey on runaway children.
Unfortunately, there have been several such incidents in recent
years. Elmer Wayne Hanky Jr., of Houston, for *sample, was
found guilty in 1974 of killing 2'? young men and boys most of
them runaways after enticing them into a homceezual-tor-
ture ring. John Wayne Gacy of Des Plaines, Ill., was convicted
in 1980 for the murders of 33 boys and young men in the worst
mass slaying in U.S. history. Court testimony revealed that
Gacy, a building contractor, had lured his victims into his home
by promising them jobs. He engaged in sea with them and then
murdered them.

Might of Missing Children

J UST BEFORE eight o'clock in the morning on May 26,1979,
Julia Pats said goodbye to her sin-anda-half-year-old son

Etan. Mrs. Pats was letting Etan walk by himself the one.and-
a-half blocks to his school bus from their home in the Soho
section of New York City for the first time. Mrs. Pats watched
the boy walk the first half block. She then went inside. That was
the last time she saw her son. Three-and-a-half years have
passed since that day, and efforts by the polite, private inves-
tigators and the family have uncovered no clue as to the boy's
whereabouts.

On July 27,1981, at about 12:30 in the afternoon, six- year -old
Adam John Walsh and his mother Revs were browsing in the
toy department at Sears in the Hollywood (Fla.) Mall. Adam
and his mother were three aisles apart when the boy vanished.
When Adam did not respond to a page, the police were brought
in. Thousands of volunteers helped search for the boy. Rewards
were offered for his return. The local media launched a massive
campaign to publicize Adam's dirappeartutce. All the searching
was fruitless. Two weeks after he disappeared, Adam Walsh's
severed head was found by a fisherman in a canal ditch in Vero
Beach, Fla.

118

413



409

Missing and Runaway Children

The stories of Etan Pats and Adam Walsh are unfortunate
examples of what happens to thousands of childrn who dis-
appear each year. Although precise figures are difficult to pin
down, experts believe between 20,000 and 50,000 children a year
simply vanish some are abducted by strangers, some are
runaways. Experts also believe that at least 100,000 children a
year are "snatched" by parents involved in custody battles, The
number of missing children is far below the number of run-
aways. Nevertheless, the abduction of a child is one of life's
most terrifying events for both the child and the parents.
"There is nothing more heart wrenching for parents than to
have their children missing, not knowing the whereabouts of
their youngster and not knowing whether they are alive or
dead," said Rep. James F. Sensenbrenner Jr., R-Wis."

Problems With Law Enforcement Agencies
Many parents of missing children have difficulties obtaining

help from law enforcement authorities. "Local police agencies
already overburdened with criminal cues are apparently reluc-
tant to plunge into the investigatition of a child reported as
missing," the House Judiciary Committee concluded in a recent
report. "In most cams parents get little, if any, support or
assistance...." " President Reagan recently recognised this
probity, saying that, "because of overlapping jurisdictions and
the lack of centralised information, parents of missing children
have faced frustration and anger in their attempts to locate
their children. " 'g

The inability or in some cases the unwillingness of local
police departments to undertake large-scale searches for miss-
ing children has caused some parents to spend large sums of
money hiring private investigators. Others have given up their
jobs in order to search for their children on a full-time basis.
The long search for Etan Pats, for example, drained his family
financially. "When Etan disappeared, employment ceased for
both my husband and me," Mrs. Pats said. "For seven years, I
had run a day-care center in my home. Due to extended involve-
ment in police matters, I have been unable to reopen that
school. My attempts to obtain a job at other schools even at
those where I was known and respected were fruitless.... My
husband, a free-lance photographer, was physically and emo-
tionally unable to work for months. By that time, many of his
clients had, understandably, switched their accounts to other
photographers." '4

" Speaking on the foot of the House of Rapresentatives, Sept. 20, 198t
" Houie Judiciary Committee Report No. 57.820 on the Miring Children Act, Sept. 19,

1982.
" Remarks made at the signing of the Miming Children Ac Oct. 12, 1982 (see p. 118).
"Testifying Oct. fl, 19111, before the Senate Labor and Human Rootage's Committee's

Subcommittee on Investigations and General Oversight.
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Yet another problem facing parents trying to find their miss-
ing children has been the lack of a national directory of missing
persons. "A country that can launch a space shuttle that can
return to the Earth and take off again, a country that can
allocate millions of dollars to save a small fish, the snail darter
in the Tennessee Valley River, ... does not have a centralized
reporting system or a nationwide search system for missing
children," Mr. and Mrs. Walsh told a Senate subcommittee in
1981.4 Rep. Paul Simon, D-111., in a Sept. 20, 1982, House
speech said; "... if your car disappears, that automatically goes
on that [FBI) compuier; if your child disappears, it does not."

Passage of the Missing Children Act in 1982
The Missing Children Act, which Congress passed last

September and President Reagan signed into law Oct. 12, 1982,
attempts to remedy that situation. The act for the first time sets
up what amounts to a nationwide clearinghouse on missing
children by ordering local law enforcement officials to enter into
the FBI's National Crime Information Computer (NCIC) the
names of children under 17 years old who have been missing for
48 hours and who have no history of running away from home.
The NCIC information is available to police departments across
the nation. The law also gives parents, legal guardians or nut of
kin the right to enter the child's name into the NCIC computer
if their local law enforcement agency does not do so. In the put,
the FBI required evidence that had met with foul play or
that the child was abducted and was in imminent danger before
his or her name could be entered on the NCIC computer.

The act also mandated that information cn unidentified bod-
lee be placed on an FBI computer available to coroners and law
enforcement officials nationwide. Rep. Simon, the original spon-
sor of the legislation in the House, explained the importance of
this section ' the law. "Many of the children who are missing
are found tit%ao in areas of the county far remote from their
families," he said during House debate on the bill. "There is no
way for these children to be identified and their parents notified
because there is no centralized system for maintaining informa-
tion on unidentifed bodies in this country. For many parents,
knowing even that their child is dead would be preferable to the
anguish and uncertainty of not knowing what happened."

The law's passage was hailed by backers as a step forward in
helping ease some of the problems associated with finding miss-
ing children, "It is reassuring to know that the law of the land
now makes clear our commitment to return our missing children
to their homes," said Sen. Paula Hawkins, R-Fla., who spon-

" Testifying, Oct. EL 1061. before the Renate !Abut and Human Rinourcas Committed's
Sub.-tit:mint* on Investigations and (Waal Oversight.
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Parental Kidnapping Prevention Act

After four years of legislative maneuvering, Congress on Dec.
13, 1980, enacted the Parental Kidnapping Prevention Act as an
amendment to an unrelated bill involving Medicare benefits. The
1980 law required states to honor the child custody decrees of
courts in other states.. It also authorised the federal Parent
Locator Service of the Department of Health and Human Ser-
vices set up under a 1914 law that required states to track
down absentee fathers of children on public assistance to help
find abducting parents and missing children. Finally, the 1980
law directed the Justice Department to use the Fugitive Felon
Act a statute that allows the FBI to help state officials locate
fugitives in parental kidnapping cases.

For the put two years, supporters of the Parental Kidnapping
Prevention Act have argued that the Justice Department was not
enforcing the law as Congress intended. Critics were particularly
unhappy with a department requirement that the heti,* Felon
Act not be used unless there were "independent credible infor-
mation" that an abducted child was in physical danger or was
being seriously neglected or abused. Tha Justice Department
recently announced that it was dropping this requirement for a
one-year "trial period" (see p. 120), a decision Sen. Paula Haw-
kins, R-Fla., said would "provide a dramatic breakthrough in the
FBI's ability to find and return missing children to their homes."

Immo/

sored the bill in the Senate. "The Missing Children Act provides
a vital step forward in addressing this national tragedy. This law
will finally provide our law enforcement officers with the tools
they need to help locate and identify missing ,...hildren. We can

restore some hope and some peace of mind to those distraught
and confused parents who are searching for their children." San.
Orrin G. Hatch, R-Utah, agreed. "This legislation is not a total
cve-all for these senseless crimes," he said in an Oct. 1 floor
speech. "But it is an additional tool to help solve and possibly
halt these senseless crimes.

There is some concern that parents of missing children will
misinterpret the new law, thinking that it orders the FBI to
investigate each missing-child case. In fact, the law simply
closes a loophole in the way the FBI keeps track of missing
children and unidentified bodies. "It seems incredible that it
should have taken so much effort just to gain access to a
computer, but that's all the act does," said Kristin Brown,
information director of Child Find, a private, non-profit group
that helps missing children contact their parents. "Most people
... who've written to us wanting to know about the act assume
that the computer is a very small part of some kind of investiga-
tive package.... I think that most people assume ... that every
time you report a child missing an FBI agent will be assigned to

the case."
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But this is not the case. FBI policy on missing-child investiga-
tions remains the same. The agency will not join the search
unless there is an indication that a federal law has been broken.
A ransom or extortion note or other proof of kidnapping is
sufficient to get the FBI involved, providing the kidnapped
person is held for at least 24 hours. if that happens, the FBI
presumes the person has been taken across state lines and will
begin its own investigation.

In cases where a child has been kidnapped by a parent,
however, there has been a change in FBI procedure. Responding
to congressional calls for more vigorous enforcement of the
Parental Kidnapping Act of 1980 (see box, p. 119), Assistant
Attorney General Robert A. McConnell WI in a letter to Sen.
Hawkins dated Dec. 27, 1982, that the FBI was dropping two
requirements for getting involved in parental kidnapping cases
for a one-year "trial period." First, the FBI suspended the
requirement that there be 'independent, credible" evidence
that a snatched child's life was in denser. The agency will now
investigate such cases, McConnell said, "on the same basis as
other fugitive felon mei." Also eliminated was the requirement
that the Criminal Division of the Justice Department in Wash-
ington authorize FBI involvement. Now local federal prosecu-
tors have the power to make that determination.

The new procedures, McConnell said, will "increase the nutit-
ber of cases in which fugitive felon warrants will be obtained by
United States attorneys ad fugitive investigations inititated"
by the FBI. The changes have been widely praised. "By elimi-
nating the two provisions, the FBI is clearly getting itself in-
volved in an enormous amount of parental abduction cases,"
said Kristin Brown of Child Find, "and we're delighted." Sen.
Hawkins said the FBI action was "evidence of a new and far-
sighted attitude toward the tragic dimensions of the missing-
children problem in America. It will provide a dramatic break-
through in the FBI's ability to find and return missing children
to their homes."

Despite such praise, many people are still critical of the FBI's
record in investigating missing-child cues. "While I realize that
the resources of the FBI are strained because of demands on the
bureau, children meat be a priority," Rep. Simon said in recent
testimony before the Senate Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice.
"I do not expect that the FBI should get involved every time a
child disappears. That would clearly be unreasonable. But when
a small child is taken from a family and it is obvious the child
... has been taken by an adult without the parents' consent,
then the FBI should become involved." '6 Oliver Revell, *Isis-

"Teetifying Feb. 2, 1983.
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cant director of the FBI's criminal division, admitted during the
same hearings that "to some the bureau may appear to be
uncaring or insensitive" in missing-child cases. Revell said the
main reason the FBI goes not get involved in more cases is a
lack of field agents.

Private Efforts to Find Missing Children
A number of independent, private groups have been formed

in recent years to help find missing children. John and Reve
Walsh, for example, set up the Adam Walsh Outreach Center
for Missing Children two years ago in Hollywood, ne., with
donations they received following the highly publicised search
for their son. The center, which has a paid staff and also
receives some funds from the federal government, maintains a
computer file of missing eqildren from Browsed County, Fla.,
and works to publicize the I. toblems of finding missing children.
The Dee Scofield Awareness Program (DEE) was set up in
Tampa, Fla., in 1976 by relatives of a 12-year-old girl who
disappeared that year in Ocala, Fla., and has not been heard
from since. The group sends out literature on what parents can
do to help avoid child snatching, helps other groups run child-
safety conferences and lobbies to stiffen laws for child molesters
and child murderers.

Local efforts to fight the missing children problem include
fingerprinting programs started by police and school officials in
California, Florida, New Jersey, Virginia, Utah, Wyoming and
other states. In Union County, N.J., for example, 16 private and
parochial schools recently began participating in a finger-
printing program set up by the county sheriff's office. The
endeavor began Jan. 25 when 408 pupils at St. Elizabeth's
grammar school in Lin had their fingerprints taken by police
officers. The program, watch requires parental approval and
gives parents the option of storing the fingerprints at home or
in the school, was conceived by Union County Undersheriff
John J. Trois= and Sgt. Charles Harris. "You hope that miss-
ing children will be found alive, but if nothing else, at least
the parents will know what happened to their child," said
Harris."

Child Find, based in New Pals, N.Y., was created in 1980 by
Gloria Yerkovich, whose divorced husband abducted her daugh-
ter Joanna in 1974. The girl remains missing to this day. Child
Find was originally set up to help parents find children like
Joanna who had 'been snatched by non-custodial parents. "But
it was not long before we were also appealed to by parents of
simply missing children to expand the service," said the group's
information director, Kristin Brown.

"Quoted in an Associated Press story published In the Baltimore Sun. Jan. 28, 1883.
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The organization encourages parents of missing children, the
children themselves and anyone else with information on miss-
ing children to call a toll-free number: WO-431-5005. Informa-
tion given by parents is entered into a computer and dissemi-
nated through a directory of missing children that Child Find
sends to school administrators to help find abducted children
who may be enrolled in schools under false names. The direc-
tory, which contains photographs and physical descriptions of
the missing children, is updated twice a year. Child Find also
uses radio and television public service announcements and
other forms of advertising to publicize its toll-free number so
that children themselves can get in touch with the organization.
When a child calls, Child Find staffers use the computerized
information to help reunite the child with the searching parent.

''Since it was formed in 1980, Child Find has located 270 children
and seen them safely returned to their families.

Programs to Help Runaways

LIFE ON THE ROAD is difficult for most runaways. They
are easy victims of criminals; they are exploited by pimps

and drug pushers. But all across '..he country there are people
and organizations working to help runaways, providing skate:,
counseling, job training and other services. These are now some
350 runaway shelters nationwide. The first runaway shelter
opened its doors in 1968 in San Francisco to help the huge
number of young persons who came to sample the city's cotin-
tercultural waters. The problem was that many of the kids
who came to San Francisco wearing flowers in their hair soon
found themselves penniless, hungry and in need of medical
help.

There is only one federal government program designed to
help runaways. The National Program for Runaway and Home-
less Youth, which began in 1974, is run by the Department of
Health and Human Services' Youth Development Bureau
(YDB)," Among other things, the bureau provides grants to
public and private non-profit runaway shelters and other groups
that work with runaways such as the National Runaway Switch-
board (see p. 126). In fiscal year 1981, the last year for which
complete statistics are available, the bureau helped fund 166
runaway centers across the country. Those centers served
133,000 drop-in clients and 'sheltered 45,000 children.

...rat Youth Development Bureau is pert of the Npartment of Health and Human
Services' Administration fur Children. Youth and Families.
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The Fords and the Runaways
The federal government's involvement in the runaway youth

problem dates beck to 1971, when the Department of Health,
Education and Welfare (HEW) funded the development of a
handFlok describing how one local runaway shelter had been
created. The following year HEW's Youth Development and
Delinquency Prevention Administration sponsored the first no-
tional conference for workers at runaway youth centers. In 1973,
HEW's Office of Youth Development was set up to determine the
government's role in helping runaways. A number of programs,
including the distribution of grants to runaway shelters and the
setting up of a toll-free national hotline for runaway youth, were
established on a trial basis that year.

Iii 1974, Congress passed the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency
Prevention Act, which included a provision known as the
Runaway and Homeless Youth Act that authorized HEW to
make grants available and to provide technical assistance to local
runaway shelters. By June 1975, 66 grants totaling just over $4
million were awarded under the act. Today the act is adminis-
tered by the Youth Development Bureau located within the
Administration for Children, Youth and Families in HEW's suc-
cessor agency, the Department of Health and Human Services.

The actual number of runaways served by shelters receiving
federal funds is small less than 10 percent of all runaways.
But most experts believe it is essential that the federal govern-
ment remain involved. "The government should definitely get
into it more," said Robbie Callaway. "Organized crime rings
don't keep young prostitutes in their immediate communities.
They pick the kid up in Baltimore, let's say, and the kid ends up
in New York City. They transfer the kid somewhere elseso that
there's less likelihood they'll run into someone they know.
Those are the kids that are causing real problems. Those are the
kids that the federal government has to address...."

The Reagan administration asked Congress last year to cut
the runaway program's funding to. $6.6 million in fiscal 1983
from $10.2 million in fiscal 1982. Clarence E. Hodges, commis-
sioner of the Department of Health and Human Services'
Administration for Children, Youth and Families, said funding
from other government agencies, private contributions and help
from volunteers would more than make up for the reduced
funds. But officials of social service agencies and some members
of Congress argued that the national runaway program could
not survive without a substantial increase in government fund-
ing. "The national runaway program has been severely crippled
by insufficient funding" and is "needed now more than ever
before," said June Bucy, who heads the National Network of
Runaway Youth Services in Galveston, Texas. "Rising youth
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unemployment, increasing concern over mining, victimized and
exploited youth in our cities and towns demand the best, moat
effective response we can offer. By all measures, the nationwide
services provided through this federal program are effective.
They must be expanded to meet the growing need." "

Congress did not get around to funding the national runaway
program until late in the "lame-duck" session last year. In
disagreeing with the administration's contention that private
funds and volunteer efforts would make up for decreased fed-
eral funds, Congress approved an appropriation of $21.5 million.
"The private sector cannot and will not pick this program up,"
said Rep. Pat Williams, D-Mont. "This is a bedpan program,
the main one that no one wants to get involved in, and that is
why the feds got into it in the first place. "" Most of the $21.5
million will be used to help establish 35-to-40 new runaway
programs. The remaining funds will help expand existing pro-
grams and defray the costs of training counselors.

Successful Runaway Program in Columbus
Not long after that first runaway shelter opened its doors in

San Francisco, dozens of others were started across the country.
Huckleberry House in Columbus, Ohio, for example, was estab-
lished in 1970. The shelter, which currently is housed in a large
building near the Ohio State University campus, sees 500-600
young persons a year, most from the Columbus area.

Huckleberry House receives funds from a variety of sources.
There is a grant from the federal government under the 1974
Runaway and Homeless Youth Act (see box, p. 123), a donation
from the United Way charity, federal revenue-sharing funds
distributed by the Columbus City Council, private donations
and funds from local, state and county mental-health agencies.
Huckleberry House has a staff of 27, including 13 full-time
professionals who work as counselors.

Most runaways find out about Huckleberry House through
"word-of-mouth" advertising. "Runaway shelters are hard ones
to advertise," said Administrative Assistant Maddy I{nill. "Ad-
vertising sometimes sounds like advocating. So we do a lot of
presentations to high school classes, ... describing the services
that we provide. That then gets sort of passed around word of
mouth." The shelter also runs public service announcements on
television.

The program at Huckleberry House has one basic goal: family
reconciliation. Counselors work to try to establish contact be-

"Hodot and Buoy testified May 6, 1982, before the House Education and labor
Committee's Subcommittee on Human Resources.

"Quoted in Nettateck, Oct. 18, 1952. p. 98.
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tween a child and his or her parents within 24 hours after a
runaway comes to the shelter. "Sometimes we'll have the parent
calling up looking for their son or daughter. More often, a young
person and the staff member here get on the phone to that
home and begin to focus on the issues of why the child is here,"
said staff counselor Neil Brown. "We tell the parents who we
are, what we can do, and then ask if they're willing to be
involved with us,"

Most runaways stay at Huckleberry House from three-to-five
days. "Usually within (that time) the crisis has been stabilised
to the point that families can agree to live together or make an
agreement about where people can live," Brown said. "At that
point a counselor will work with them in an after -care program
called Parents and Teens, which keeps in touch with people
after they leave here and makes efforts to engage them in some
ongoing counseling to resolve the issues that were identified
during the crisis."

Programs In New York, Boston and Seattle
New York City's Covenant House is a shelter for runaway and

homeless children begun in 1970 by Father Bruce Ritter. The
shelter's Under 21 Center currently provides beds for about 200
young persons a day. It is (men 24 hours a day and has a policy
of not turning anyone away. The center provides many services
including medical care, counseling, tutoring and job placement.
Although young homeless persons are permitted to stay at the
center for as long as two weeks, the average stay is about seven
days. Covenant House also runs a program for young mothers
with children, providing temporary housing for up to 30 young
women and children. Covenant House workers make special
efforts to contact runaways before they come under the influ-
ence of pimps and drug pushers. "If a kid has lived in the street
for a month or so, it becomes very hard to reach him," said
Father Ritter. "If it's been six months, we've almost lost him,
and if it's a year, he's gone. The poison works very, very
quickly. ""

Another shelter that makes a special effort to reach runaways
on the street is The Bridge in Boston, which went into operation
in 1970, and now works with about 3,000 young persons a year.
The community-based, non-profit group provides counseling,
medical and dental care, life-skills training, food and shelter.
The Bridge takes its services to the streets in a mobile van
staffed with volunteer doctors, medical and dental students,
drug counselors and other social service workers. The van parks
in sections of the city frequented by runaways. "The kids just

"Quoted in Newsweek. Oct. 18, 1982, p. 97.
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know it and trust it," said Joyce Strom, executive director of
Act Together, a private agency that funneled more than
6200,000 in government and private funds to The Bridge last
year (see p. 114). The van offers hot coffee and sandwiches, as
well as counseling and medical services. "Kids actually come
there and start to trust the people and decide that better than
being on the streets is to go into an emergency shelter...
Strom said.

Act Together also provides funds to Seattle's only 24-hour
walk-in shelter for runaways. It offers temporary, short-term
shelter for children in its six-bed home, u well as individual and
family counseling. Known as The Shelter, the facility is using a
16-month demonstration grant of $130,000 from Act Together
to set up two "professional foster homes" In Seattle. These
homes will becoma long-term far idences for six runaways in
need of professional counseling. A., tout one of the foster par-
ents in each home will have a background in social work or
psychology. The Shelter also is planning a move into a new
facility that would provide medical care, drug and alcohol coun-
seling and job training for runaways.

Central Runaway Switchboard and 'iodine
There are many other organizations that run programs for

runaways. For example, Greyhound Lines, Inc., the intercity
bus company, has billboards in 27 bus stations around the
country listing the phone numbers of agencies that work with
runaways in need of help. The Travelers Aid Society of Los
Angeles helps runaway youths in the downtown Los Angeles
Greyhound Bus Terminal arrange for transportation home, or
find counseling, shelter, food, and clothing. The New York Port
Authority Youth Services Unit, made up of three police officers
and three social workers, tries to reach runaway children In the
mammoth bus terminal before pimps and others reach them or
before the runaways get out onto New York City's streets.

Two organizations the National Runaway Switchboard in
Chicago and the Runaway Hotline in Houston run 24-hour-a-
day, toll-free telephone lines to help runaways across the nation
(see box, p. 115). The Runaway Hotline is funded by .he state of
Texas through the Governor's Office of Volunteer Services. The
hotline, which began operating in 1973, receives from 200-250
calls a day from runaways, parents and from children thinking
about leaving home. The hotline is run by two paid staffers,
director Marilyn Collins and a secretary; the phones are an
swered by volunteers who work in pairs on four-hour shifts
around the clock. The hotline offers two basic services. One is a
relay message system to put runaways in touch with their par-
ents. The other is designed to get runaways off the streets and
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to provide them with shelter, counseling, medical care, food or
anything else they need.

The National Runaway Switchboard has been in operation in
Chicago since August 1974. It evolved out of a local telephone
crisis center called Metro Help started in 1971 to offer 24-hour
telephone services to teen-agers. The program went national
when it began receiving federal funds through the 1974 Run-
away and Homeless Youth Act. Cynthia Myers, the switch-
board's executive director, told Editorial Research Reports that
the program last year received about 200,000 calls from young
people and their families.

The switchboard uses television public service announce-
ments, articles in national magazines and newspapers and post-
ers in bus terminals, libraries and other areas to publicize its
toll-free number. The service also has received help from direc-
tory assistance operators throughout the country who give out
the toll-free number. "What often will happen is that a teen-
ager will pick up a phone and just dial information and say,
'Where can I go?' or 'What can I do?' And they will get our
telephone number that way," Myers said.

Myers said that most runaways who call the switchboard do
so because they cannot decide what to do. "They're terrified to
return home because they took this rash action," she said. "But
by the same token, they're terrified on the street. They may
have just run up against somebody who scared them and they
really just don't know what to do."

The 200 volunteers who answer the switchboard's phones
have one main job: to get the runaway caller off the street and
into shelter. This is accomplished by finding out where the
caller is and contacting the nearest runaway shelter to make
arrangements to get the child into shelter. The volunteers do
not attempt to counsel callers over the phone, but they do offer
callers the option of either talking to their parents directly
through the switchboard, or sending a message to the parents.

Tens of thousands of youngsters are assisted each year by
switchboards, hotlines and shelters, but they remain a small
percentage of the nation's runaway population. "The problem in
getting through to runaways is that, on the surface at least, most
have what look like perfectly good reasons for leaving," said Dr.
Martin Stein, medical director of Dominion Psychiatric Treat-
ment Center in Falls Church, Va' As long as so many troubled
youths are willing to risk life on the run rather than put up with
what they believe are intolerable conditions at home, the na-
tion's runaway problem will continue.

"Quoted in U.S. News & World Report, Jen. 17. 1983. p. 64.
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blEBEING AND DUNAWAY 0111.1DIU3N

by Mayo boopsoa

Editorial Research Reports
TIAMINGION. Feb....--Running away from home is ae American as, well, apple

pie. The lure of the road has beckoned millions of children from Huckleberry Finn

to the flower ohildxsn of the 1910s. it most children have home for reasons that

have little to do with romance or adventure. Muck Finn, remember, was escaping a

father who got too handy with his hiok'ry.' And for most runaways, conditions on

the road soon turn dreams of nirvana into the reality of doing without the basic

neoessities of life.

Although it is impossible to determine the met number. spirts believe that

between one million and two million ohildren and young adults run away from hose

each year. At least 100.000 children a year leave home involuntarily -- abducted by

a parent involved in a oustody dispute. In addition. an estimated 20.000 to 50,000

children a year simply disappear. Some return home, but every year about 2,000

missing children are found deed. Many are never heard from again.

The plight of hissing children and their wen:s attracts the sympathy of

nearly everyone. The same thing oannot be said for the nation's runaways, who one

writer called 'the most abused and neglected segment of our population.' Many run-

aways find themselves in an emotional bind, forced to choose between living under

what they consider intolerable conditions at home and the hasards of life on the

run. Young runaways are particularly vulnerable, not only to the physical risks of

living on the streets, but also to pimps and criminals who force them to work as

prostitutes, in pornographic films or as drug runners.

Wrens believe that the nation's runaway problem has gotten worse in recent

years. More and more children are showing up at runaway shelters across the coun-

try or are being reported missing by parents. According to Robbie Callaway, execu-

tive director of the National Youth Work Allianoe in Washington. D.C., as many as

half of the nation' runaways ore 'throwaway children" -- kids forced out of the

house by their parents.

The number of missing children is far below the number of runaways. Neverthe-

less, the abduction of a child is one of life's most terrifying events -- for both

(NOM
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the child and the parents. "There is nothing more heart wrenching for parents than

to have their children missing...not knowing whether they are alive or dead.'

Said Rep. F. James Bensenbrenner Jr.. R-Wig.

Many parent* of missing children have difficulties obtaining help from law

enforcement authorities, who often do not have the time or resources to investi-

gate sliming-child oases. The inability -- or in some oases the unwillinsees -- of

local police to undertake large-scale searches for missing children has (mused

some parent to spend large sums of money hiring private investigators. Others

have given up their jobs in order to search for their missing children full time.

Last year Congress passed. and President Reagan signed into law, a measure to

provide some FBI help to parents of missing children. The Hissing Children Aot for

the tint time sets up what amounts to I national clearinghouse apologias children

by ordering local law enforcement officials to enter into the FBI's Rational Crime

Information Computer the names of children under 17 who have been missing for 48

hours and who have no history of running away. The information is available to

pollee departments nationwide. Me law also mandated that information on unidenti-

fied bodies be placed in another FBI computer available to oorunere and law en-

forcement authorities aOroes the country.

While backers of the new law were happy with its passage, they stressed that

the met ,urn was not a cure-all for the problem of missing children since it merely

closed a loophole in the way the FBI kept track of missing children and unidenti-

fied bodies. The FBI still will not join the search for a missing child unless

there is an indication that a feder%1 law has been broken. However, in cases where

a child has been kidnapped by a parent, there has been a change in FBI procedure.

Responding to congressional calls for mare vigorous involvement in parental

kidnapping cases, the FBI suspended the requirement that there be 'independent.

credible' evidence that a snatched child's life was in danger. Also eliminated was

the reouirement that the Criminal Division of the /unties Department authorise FBI

involvement. Row local federal prosecutors an make that determination.

'By eliminating the two provisions the FBI is clearly getting itself involved

in an enormous amount of parental abduction cases, and we're delighted,' said

Kristin Broen, information director of Child Find, a private, non-profit group

based in New Pals, N.Y.. that helps missing children contact their parents.

Child Find is one of a number of private groups that have been formed in re-

cent years to help find missing children. The organization encourages parents of

missing children, the children themselves and anyone else with information on

missing children to call its toll-free number. 'The problem, said Kristin Brown,

'is that perhaps 1 percent of those calls actually leads to the location of a

child.'

(Brief of Report issued Feb. 11, 19831 E.R.R. 1983 Vol. I, Ho. 8)

425



SNIAL WOKE July-Aug. 1983 V, 28

423

CIS PO PILE COI

Early Sexual Exploitatibire
as an Influence In Prostitution

MOSTST OF THE research on the
exploitation ofjuveniles

has focused Its attention on the of-
fenders and their families.' In the few
studies that have focused on the vic-
tims, the samples have not consisted
of subjects chosen from a general
population of victims but have In-
cluded only those victims who have
sought help from agencies that pro,
vide therapeutic services.' Thus, the
samples do not represent victims
whose experience may not have had a
negative Impact on them or victims
whose experience may have had such
a negative Impact that they do not
even discuss the problem or seek
help.

There are numerous references in
the itterature to early sexual exploits
Hon In the background of prosti'
lutes.* The problem with most of the
research on prostitution is that It
tends to be limited either to women
arrested and jailed or to those who
had sought therapeutic help. The
study reported in this article repre-
sents the first major systematic at
tempt to determine whether street
prostitutes were sexually exploited
during their childhood. Its target
population was unique in that it con-
sisted of street prostitutes who were
not recruited through any agency and
who were usually hostile to the
academic world and unavailable to
social scientists for research,

METHOD
The interviewers in the study were
members of the Delancey Street
Foundation, a selhelp residential
facility known for Its work with pros-
titutes, criminals, and drug addicts.
All the interviewers had been juvenile
or adult prostitutes. Given the sen
sitivity of the subject matter as well as
the lack of trust among the target
population for professionals and offl

Mimi H. Silbert
Ayala M. Pines

Were street prostitutes sexu-
ally exploited during their
childhood? The study re-
ported represents the first
major systematic attempt to
address this question. It re-
ports on the negative and
long-term effects Qf the ex-
ploitation and draws tmplt-
cations for the treatment qf
victims,

eta's of the "square" world, the credi-
bility of the Interviewers was of crit-
ical Importance. Because the Inter-
viewers reflected the makeup of the
sample, their credibility was estab-
lished. They could understand the
subjects' jargon and lifestyle and es
tablished the Immediate rapport nee
essay to create the kind of atmos-
phere conducive to the subjects'
sharing of painful emotions and expe-
riences. All interviewers participated
to three weeks of intensive training,
which covered Interviewing tech-
niques and the basics of research
methodology. Emphasis was put on
uniformity of presentation, common
usage and definition of terms, wit
formity of scoring, and sensitivity to
the needs of the subjects.

A special instrument, the Sexual
Assault Experiences Questionnaire,
was developed for the purposes of the
study. In Its final form It had the fol-
lowing parts: (1) background infor-
mation, (2) histOry of sexual assault
during adulthood, (3) history of sex-
ual exploitation during childhood.

and (4) plans for the future. The sec-
ond part of the questionnaire was
administered to all subjects on the as-
sumption that entry into prostitution
effectively forced them to function as
adults rather than children. The third
part of the questionnaire was ad-
ministered only to those subjects who
indicated that they had been sexually
abused as children. For each case of
sexual exploitation, a series of ques-
tions Inquired about the following: (11
age at time of first assault, frequency
of assault, witnesses to the abuse, re-
port Ingot the abuse, and action taken
as a result of reporting, (21 the re-
lationship of the assailant to the vic-
tim, his approximate age, and his use
of alcohol and drugs, (3) type of force
used and sexual acts involved, and (4)
the physical and emotional states of
the victims and their attitudes toward
men, themselves, and sex after the
exploitation and the effect of the
abuse on the victims' decision to
enter prostitution. The whole series of
questions was repeated separately for
each male who had sexually molested
the subject In her youth.

Sample
Two hundred current an 2 former fe-
male prostitutes In the San Francisco
Bay Area served as subjects in the
study. Public service announcements
and distribution of leaflets and cards
were the major methods of recruit.
ment. Many came through informal
word of mouth. All subjects volun-
teered to take part In the study.

The questionnaire was individually
administered to the 200 street prost
t. tee. Responses to questions posed
by the Interviewers were coded di-
rectly into categories on the ques-
tionnaire during the course of the
interview: responses were also tape
recorded and transcribed. Interviews
lasted from two to four hours, de
pending on the number of Incidents

OCC Code: 0037- &Mein ei.000 lent National &Kennon of Beetle Inc.
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of sexu al abuse reported by the subject.
The mean age of the subjects was 22.

Ilse youngest subject was 10; the old
eat. 46. Seventy percent of the current
prostitutes were under 21; about 60
percent were IC and under; many
were 10-13 years old. Seventy-eight
percent became prostitutes as Juve-
niles.

Sixty eight percent of the subjects
were white; )8percent. black; 11 per-
cent, Hispanic; 2 percent. American
Indian; and 1 percent. Asian. Sixty-
eight percent were single and had
never married. 22 percent were di-
vorced. separated, or widowed; and
only 10percent were either married or
living under common law. Although
two thirds of the sample came from
families of middle or higher incomes.
the average financial situation of all
the subjects interviewed was de-
scribed as "just making it."

RESULTS
Results of the study documented high
levels of victimization of street prosti-
tutes before and following their en-
trance into prostitution. Sixty per-
cent of the subjects were sexually
exploited as juveniles by an average of
two malts each. (This mean included
as many as eleven abusers ) Over an
average period of twenty months,
each abuser assaulted the child an
average of two or three nines (one
time. 30 percent of the subjects; two
or three times. 20 percent; repeatedly.
49 percent; cannot ascertain. 1 per-
cent). Victims ranged in age from 3 to
18. with the mean age of victimiza-
tion being 10 years. Two-thirds of the
women were sexually abused by their
fathers or surrogate fathers: 33 per.
cent 'of the women were sexually
abused by their natural fathers; 30
percent. by their stepfathers or foster
fathers: and 4 percent, by their
mothers' common-law husbands
Twenty-eight percent were sexually
abused by their brothers; 17 p,is ent.
by their uncles; 15 percent, tn. other
relatives; 31 percent. by friends of
the family, neighbors, and acquain.
lances; and 10 percent. by strangers.

The average sex abuser was In his
thirties. Fifty-eight percent of the
subjects Indicated that the abusers
were drinking ae using drugs when
the sexual exploitation occurred, and
14 percent were 'unsure whether the
abusers were under the influence.
Fifty-four percent reported that it
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was usually dark outside, and 7 per-
cent were unsure. Of the 17 percent
who revealed that there were wit
nesses to the abuse, 98 percent Melt.
cared that no one came to their aid.
When the subjects were asked to ex-
plain why they were left unprotected,
they often responded that "he was the
one supposed to do the protecting."

In 81 percent of the cases, some
eon of force was used; physical force,
25 percent; emotional coercion (either
promises or threats), 23 percent; and
both emotional and physical force, 33
percent. On the average. four acts of
force were involved to each case of
abuse. Yet In some cases, as many as
eleven acts of force were used. The
most frequent act of force used by the
abuser was holding the girl down,
which occurred In 61 percent of the
cases 0111er frequent coercions were
the following- promising love and Im-
plying that sexual intercourse was a
show of love (48 percent of the cases),
Implying that sexual relations was her
duty if she loved him (44 percent).
and verbally threatening her (40 per-
cent). In 3) percent of the cases, the
abusers hit or beat the girls; in 29
percent. they squeezed or twisted the
girls' arms; In 25 percent, they
threatened to withdraw love; In 22
percent. they locked up the girls; and
in 1 percent. they used a weapon.

Fifty nine percent of the subjects
reported that there was vaginal pene-
tration with the penis; 6 percent,
vaginal penetration with an object; 10
percent, anal penetration with the
penis; and 5 percent, anal penetra-
tion with an object. Thirty-six percent
of the incidences of abuse involved
fellatio; 43 percent, masturbating the
man; 13 percent, cunnilingus; 32
percent. masturbating the girl; 49
percent. fondling the breasts and
genitals; 20 percent. kissing lips; and
2 percent, pornographic picture tak-
ing.

The subjects reported that the sexual
exploitation often produced severe phy-
sic.al harm. Sixty-eight percent received
bruises, 51 percent suffered cuts.
19 percent suffered shock, 3 percent
had broken bones, and 2 percent had
concussions. The vast majority of the
young victims lost their virginity
through the sexual exploitation. Five
percent of the victims became preg-
nant. 10 percent got a venereal dis-
ease, 26percent required medication.
and 28 percent required medical
follow-up.
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The Immediate emotional harm re-
ported by the victims was also severe:
"I felt disgusted by sex," "I felt dirty,'
and "I felt terrible" were molt fre-
quently mentioned. The average re-
sponse was "terrible": R 1.4 (1
terrible: 5 * good). Only 1 percent of
the women reported feeling good or
feeling loved. At the time of the as-
sault, 73 percent were frightened
during the experience, 53 percent felt
disgusted by sex. 58 percent were
confused and shocked and did not
know how to react. 49 percent hated
their abusers. 44 percent felt guilty
and thus blamed and hated them-
selves. 41 percent cried. 40 percent
became afraid of men, 11 percent
tried to forget the exploitation, and 9
percent felt nothing. In addition. 91
percent believed that there was
nothing they could do about the
exploitation. When asked why they
believed this, 55 percent reported
that they did not know what to do.
and 36 percent Indicated that they
were afraid of the repercussions or
were tcoashamed todoanythingabout
It.

A series of questions Inquired
about the long-term effects the expe-
rience had on the way the subject felt
about herself, about men, about sex,
and ahout someone else In the family
(usually the mother). Only 1 or 2 per-
cent of the subjects responded posh
tively to each question. All the rest of
the subjects reported negative feelings
about themselves IR * 1.6), about
men (R 1.41. about sex lit v 1.6).
and about their mothers (R - 1.8).
Furthermore, In response to the glues-
non inquiring about the effect of the
abuse on the victims' decision to Se-
come a prost flute. 70 percent reported
that the exploitation affected their
decision.

In 1/ percent of the cases, the girls
ran away from home to avoid the sex-
ual abuse; in 2 percent, they tried to
commit suicide. Only 1 percent went
to court, 1 percent tried to hurt the
abusers physically, and 4 percent tried
to hurt them In other ways, such as
writing hurtful letters.

In 63 percent of the cases, the
subject never told anyone about the
sexual explottation until the present
study. Of the 37 percent who did tell.
68 percent of them told their mothers:
26 percent told siblings, other rela-
tives, or friends; 2 percent discussed
the exploitation with teachers: 2 per-
cent reported it to the police: I per-
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The few girls who dared discuss their abuse were often confronted

with blame and shame and., in most cases, inaction.
PP

cent told social workers; 1/2 percent
told people who worked In the medical
field; and1/2 percent discussed It with
members of the clergy. Respondents
indicated that of the people who were
told 12 percent expressed spiv
pathy for them, (21 45 percent voiced
their anger toward the abusers, (3132
percent showed hostility toward the
victims. (4) 26 percent responded In
disbelief, and (51 9 percent were
ashamed of the victims. In 9 percent
of the cases, there was 'to response.
Fifty-eight percent of the women re-
ported that telling about their sexual
exploitation had a bad effect on their
relationship with the person who was
told. The average score on the Item
Inqub ing about this relationship was
2 211 very bad effect; 2 bad effect:
3 mixed effect; 4 good effect: 5 .=
very good effect). In addition. 52 per-
cent of the subjects felt that the
people they told about the sexual
exploitation were dir.appointed In
them, and 49 percent felt that the
people they told blamed them for the
Incident.

In only 21 percent of the cases did
the abuse stop after the girl told
someone about the exploitation. In 42
percent of the cases, no action was
taken; In 22 percent, telling resulted
In some other action such as tnoving
to another city; In 5 percent. the fam-
ily broke up. In 4 percent, the man
was punished by the courts, either for
the exploitation or for another crime
for which the mother turned him In;
In 2 percent. the girl was punished: In
2 percent, an authority or doctor was
notified; and In 2 percent. the infor-
mation was shared with other people.
but no action resulted. Thus, the few
girls who dared discuss their abuse
were often confronted with blame and
shame and, in most cases, Inaction
as well.

DISCUSSION
In the present study, only 10 percent
of the subjects were abused by
strangers. De Francis found that the
sexual abuser Is a stranger In 25 per-

cent of the cases.' Th-t a significantly
smaller number of subjects In the
present study reported being sexually
abused by strangers is Important In
light of those studies reporting that
sexual assault by a stranger seems to
result In fewer psychological chi-neut.
lies for the child.' One reason that
may explain the latter finding Is that
sexual abuse by a stranger Is likely to
be a one-t Igoe occurrence. In contrast.
Intrafamlllal abuse Is likely to con-
tinue over an extended period of time
(and indeed the abuse In the present
study was repeated over an average
period of twenty months). Weisberg et
al. noted that frequently the abuse
terminates only upon disclosure, in-
tervention by the authorities, or the
victim's marrying or leaving home for
some other reasons' In the present
study, running away was often the
only way the subject could escape the
abuse at home. Indeed, most of the
victims never told anyone about the
abuse until the Interview. Only I per
cent reported the abuse to a social
worker. and only 2 percent reported
it to the police.

In contrast to the prevalence of
force In the incidents of sexual abuse
reported In the present study Ian av-
erage of four acts of force per victim),
some of the prior research described
the victim as a passive or seductive
partner in the abuse. For example.
Radrinowire reported that the victims
in 66-95 percent of all the sex of-
fenses "encouraged" the offenders.'
Gagnon described victims of sexual
abuse as having "collaborative role"
In 8 percent of the cases.' Weiss et al.
noted that the victims fully partici-
pated In 60 percent of the offenses.
and Glueck described 11 percent of
the victims as seuucers' In addition
to the quantitative data reported in
this article, a content analysis of the
qualitative data (lengthy descriptions
of 178 of the 200 prostitutes) stands
in clear contrast to the literature that
reports on the collaborative role of the
victim.

There Is little systematic evidence
about the short- and long-term effects

Silbert and Pines / Early Sexual Itspiehetion

of sexual exploitation on children;
what literature does exist opens the
subject to conflicting Interpretations.
Gager and Schurr reviewed the expert
opinions In the field which hold that
negative effects have been exagger-
ated."' Some of these experts argue
that sex relationships between a
young child and an adult may be
beneficial to the child, that overt in-
cest would be less harmful to victims'
personality development than re-
pressed Incestuous desires, and that
the sexual exploitation of children
before puberty has less chance of
causing psychological damage than
exploitation after puberty." In con-
trast, the results of the present study
document the high prevalence of
physical and emotional harm and the
negative attitudes toward men, sex,
and self produced by the sexual
abuse.

There is. however. research data
that support the present study's
findings. For example. De Francis. In
his study of more than 250 cases of
sexual abuse, reported that 67 per
cent of the children were emotionally
damaged by the experience, that 14
percent were extremely disturbed,
and that 11 percent became preg
nant. Tormes studied twenty victims
of Incest and found that all the vie-
Urns were severely oppressed by the
experience and showed symptoms of
depression, low self-esteem, and a
heightened sense of guilt." Kaufman.
Peck, and Taglurt administered par
chological tests to seven girls who
were sexually abused and found that
although the victims presented a
facade of adjustment and stability.
they were often depressed and felt re-
sponsible for family disruption after
their mothers' discovery of the in-
cest." Confusion over their sexual
Identity and fear of sexuality were
also found among the young women.

The negative impacts of the sexual
exploitation were evident to the sub-
jects of the present study even at the
time of the interview, which in many
cases took place years after the abuse.
Similar long-term effects of sexual
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abuse of children were reported In the
literature," It is Interesting to note
that (t) most of the studies that found
longterm negative effects of sexual
abuse were recent studies that tn-
volved a large number of cases and (21
those that found no negative Impacts
of rape were done In the 1950s and
often involved psychoanalytic reports
of a small number dowses. The most
frequently cited long-term effects in-
cluded bitterness, hostility. and dlr.
trust toward adults; severe conflicts
involving guilt, shame, and depres-
sion; behavioral disorders; psychiat-
ric illness; and disturbance in the be-
havior of victims as parents such as
the mistreatment of thetr children.

Another characterlsile noted in the
literature is a tolerance or seeking
out of relationships in which one
is victimized. Meiselman found that
women who were abused during their
childhood were willing to tolerate mis-
treatment, which allowed them to en-
dure abusive relationships with hur
himds and boyfriends." The present
study found a similar pattern but
staggc. ted that the willingness of
subjects to endure abusive relation-
ships (such as those with pimps and
with customers) IS related to a
developed sense or "psychological
paralysis" in which the subjects have
been unable to make sense of a series
of early abuses and therefore react
with Inaction, depression, and self-
blame. As the abuses Continue and as
their ability to make sense of them
diminishes, the women retreat Into a
totally passive role In which they fed
powerless, out of control of their
life. debilitated, and psychologically
paralyzed.

Several studies noted the charac-
teristics or promiscuity, sexual prob.
!ems, and homosexuality among
women who were sexually abused as
juveniles." The present study corrobo-
rates these findings. For example. 80
percent or the subjects were consid-
ered promiscuous while juveniles.
Seventy percent of the subjects felt
that the sexual abuse affected their
decision to become a prostitute. Yet it
Is important to remember that be-
cause there was no control group in
the study (that is, children aho may
have been abused but did not become
prostitutes), the study could not show
that sexual abuse leads to prostitu-
tion.

The present study also found that
sexual abuse affected sexual prefer-
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ence. Only 8 percent of the subjects in
the present study were lesbians. but
of those who reported being lesbian.
80 percent were sexually explotted as
juventles. The influence of early sex-
ual abuse as s contributing factor to
homosexual orientation was noted by
Meiselman. Weisberg et al.. and
Kaufman. Peck. and Tsglurl."

More significant than the relation-
ship between the sexual explottatton
of juveniles and homosexuality is the
relationship between .sexuality and
such exploitation in the present
study, 14 percent or the subjects re-
ported being asexual; moreover, of
those subjects who were asexual, 98
percent were sexually abused as juve-
niles. Similar findings were found
when the frequency of orgasm was re-
ported. Close to 50 percent of all the
subjects in the study reported almost
never reaching an orgasm.

IMPLICATIONS
The study's findings document an ur-
gent need to provide services for juve-
nile victims or sexual exploitation.
There is little literature devoted to
interventions exclusively for juveniles
who have been sexually exploited. The
majority or the existing literature Is
devoted to family treatment for vic-
tims or incest."

Findings of the present study sug-
gest different points at which victim-
oriented Intervention services are
needed: (II at the time of the exploita-
tion (medical and psychological ser-
vice should be provided within sup-
portive and caring environment
whenever abuse is suspected) (2) at
the time the juvenile runs away from
home because of sexual exploitation
(at bus depots, where juvenile run-
aways often are recruited for prostitu-
tion, outreach workers are needed to
offer them counseling and alternative
options). and (31 at the time a juvenile
street prostitute experiences sexual
abuse (counseling and 'octal support
services should be available). The SO-
dal worker who treats street prosti-
tutes can assume they have a pattern
of disturbed growth marked by physt-
cal, emotional, and sexual abuses and
can help them share these expert-
ences as the first step in therapy.

A critical area for social workers to
the treatment or the psychological
paralysis that underlies the inability
of prostitutes to leave their self-
destructive lifestyle. Before prostl-
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tules can take advantage of behav-
ioral or environmental changes. they
must learn to develop a sense of con-
trol over their Byes. Recovery from the
sense of paralysis requtres a gradual
reestablishment of feelings of per-
sonal power over some aspects of We,
knowledge that thetr actions can af-
fect outcomes, and the replacement or
helplessness with a sense of control.
The study suggests that the first
focus of the social worker wtth this
population be on the development of
personal eontrot and ability to exer-
cise options to mitigate the sense of
psychological paralysis that prevents
clients from taking advantage of posi-
tive opportunities.
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Sexual Exploitation of Children and Youth

by

Shelley A. Friend

NCSL Youth Services Project

INTRODUCTION

Sexual exploitation of children--an insidious form of child abuse--is
the focus of increasing concern in America. In the past six years, state
legislatures have tried to respond to these concerns, however, the legisla-
tive approach has been piecemeal, primarily addressing definitional prob-
lems. Only one state, Georgia, has succeeded in passing what is viewed as a
comprehensive legislative package dealing with pornography, and no state has
passed in-depth laws to fight teenage prostitution.

This issue brief explores the problem of child pornography and teenage
prostitution and examines some of the strategies federal, state, and local
governments employ to address this social problem. It studies the approach
taken in Georgia and, finally, it highlights innovative programs designed '1
assist teenage prostitutes.

THE PROBLEM

Scope. Experts disagree about the actual number of sexually exploited
children and youth in our country because the business of sexually exploit-
ing children is covert and data are difficult to gather and to substantiate.
Estimates range from 300,000 to 1.2 million young Americans who are involved
in commercial pornography or prostitution.1 Available trend data indicate
that juvenile prostitution is increasing, while toamercial child pornography
is decreasing. The two problems are interrelated, however.2 Many times the
activities of young prostitutes are filmed and sold to distributors.

Child pornography, sometimes called "kiddie porn," refers to films,
photographs, magazines and books depicting children in explftit heterosexual
or homosexual acts.3 Producing, distributing and selling child pornography
are the three key elements of the "trade." Researchers agree that
commercially produced pornography for profit has declined. Some factors

noted for the drop are:

o passage of the Protection of Children Against Sexual
Exploitation Act of 1977 by Congress;

o some tougher state laws against child pornography;
o stricter enforcement of obscenity laws involving child

pornography;
o increased media attention;
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o tendency of juries to convict child pornographers more quickly
than adult pornographers; and

o the ban of child pornography imports from Sweden and Denmark
, (the major overseas suppliers) in 1979.

While commercial "kiddie porn" has declined, many authorities concur that
today child pornography continues to flourish underground through a network
of pedophiles who trade, instead of sell, their goods.' Some law
enforcement agencies have not considered non-commercial child pornography a
high priority.

Statistics on teenage prostitution are difficult to obtain because of
the unwillingness of the people involved to disclose any information. It is

agreed, nonetheless, that the incidence of teenage prostitution has in-
creased.5 Possible reasons for the increase include high unemployment among
youth, lack of education and information about prospective jobs, and dis-
solution of the family support structure.

Characteristics of the Victims. Current research reveals that young
prostitutes and victims of child pornography share some of the same charac-
teristics. Typically, these children are:

o between the ages of eight and 17;
o from families where one or both parents are absent and parental

supervision is lacking;5
o from unhealthy home environments which often lack strong reli-

gious or moral structure; and
o from low socio-economic backgrounds.

Often, victims of sexual exploitation are runaways, underachievers, or
abused and neglected children. Y9ung girls involved in prostitution fre-
quently have experienced rape or incest. Boys in prostitution usually have

no previous homosexual experience.7

Characteristics of Perpetrators. Child pornography depends on people,
known as pedophiles, who are stimulated by sexual activities with children.
Research has shown that pedophiles do not fit into the stereotype of the
"dirty old man." Many times they are young or middle-aged adults and are
married or have sexual involvement with adults. Some people believe sex
offenders physically injure the young victims and are heavily involved with
drugs and alcohol, however these myths are false. Pedophiles are stimulated
when they control, rather than hurt, the child, and data indicate that they
are usually not intoxicated. With younger children, a pedophile usually
earns a child's confidence by buying gifts and enticing the child into com-
promising situations.

FEDERAL ACTIVITIES.

Prior to 1977, few laws, either federal or state, existed to combat the
problem of child pornography and prostitution. Today, federal legislation
addresses interstate trafficking of child pornography and a 1982 U.S.
Supreme Court case clears the way for strong state laws to combat
pornography.
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Congressional Action. In 1978. the Congress enacted the Protection of
Children against Sexilii-Exploitation Act to extend federal authority to
prosecute distributors and producers of child pornography.8 Through federal
controls of the postal service and interstate commerce, Congress outlawed
much of the production, mailing, and trafficking of child pornography. This
legislation also prohibits transporting children across state lines for sex-
ual exploitation. The law provides for stronger sanctions against those
sexually exploiting young people for financial gain. It does not, however,
address the issue of pedophiles who exchange, rather than sell, their
products.

More recently, the U.S. Senate passed amendments which would extend
coverage of the act to non-commercial and non-obscene pornography. (The
obscenity standard was established by the U.S. Supreme Court case Miller v.
California, 413 U.S.15 (1973), which requires proscribed material be judged
by y-iaTitempordry community standards, taken as a whole.") The amendments
would raise the fine applicable to offenses, raise the age limit of the ex-
ploited children from 16 to 18, remove the obscenity requirement and pro-
hibit shipping any child pornography across state lines. This bill is cur-
rently in the House Judiciary Committee.

Court Deci_sion. in 1982, The U. S. Supreme Court in New York v. Fer-
ber, 1U2 S.Ct. 3348, unanimously affirmed the constitutionality of state
laws which outlaw dissemination of films and other materials depicting chil-
dren engaging in sexual conduct regardless of whether the material is legal-
ly obscene.9 The Ferber decision clarified the issue of prohibiting child
pornography which bad been unresolved in earlier federal court case.. Paul
Ferber, owner of a Manhattan bookstore specializing in pornography, was in-
dicted for: promoting a sexual performance by a child and promoting an
obscene sexual performance by a child. The jury acquitted him on the charg-
es of promoting obscene sexual performance by a child, but found him guilty
of promoting a sexual performance of a child. New York's Court of Appeals
ruled that the law that prohibits promoting non-obscene sexual performance
by a child violates the First Amendment. The Supreme Court, however, upheld
the state's statute. Supreme Court Justice Byron White, speaking for the
court, said that using children as subjects of pornographic materials."is

harmful to the psychological, emotional, and mental health of the child" and
that preventing 'sexual exploitation and abuse of children constitutes a
government objective of surpassing importance." This decision allows states
to strengthen their state laws with regard to the obscenity requirement,
prohibit non - commercial pornography, and permit the exploited children to
sue for damages.

STATE PERSPECTIVE

The states have followed the federal government's lead to curb sexual
exploitation of children and youth. Today, almost every state has passed
laws to battle the problem. However, few states have comprehensive laws
addressing child pornography or teenage prostitution.

This section will review state statutes affecting pornography and pros-
titution, describe innovative state approaches, and detail the comprehensive
package recently passed in Georgia.
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Porno_graphy laws. As of 1980, 11 states had statutes covering the four
categories of offenders in pornography cases--producers, coercers,
distributors, and parents. These states are Arkansas, California,
Connecticut, Illinois, Moine, New Jersey, New York, Oklahoma, Texas, West
Virginia, and Wisconsin.lu Forty-eight states (all but Vermont and Wyoming)
hold producers of pornography criminally liable, and most states outlaw
coercion of children.11 Only a few states, however, allow for the
prosecution of parents as violators for pornography activities. A total of
32 states follow federal law by specifically holding distributors
responsible for promoting child pornography. (Alabama, Arizona, Arkansas,
California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Hawaii, Illinois,
Indiana, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota,
Mississippi, MontanA, Nebraska, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, North
Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Dakota,
Tennessee, Texas).12

Prostitution Laws. State laws on child prostitution usually cover pro-
curing, causing, encouraging, soliciting, advancing or aiding any child
under the majority age (which may range from 18 to 21) for the purpose of
prostitution. Many times each aspect of prostitution is prosecuted as a
different offense, and therefore the guilty adult may be subject to stiffer
punishment." Some states base the class or the seriousness of the offense
on the age and activity of the child. The child is usually considered
delinquent, rather than a violator of a status offense. Many law enforce-
ment officers, nonetheless, try to charge the youth with running away, or
violating a curfew or other status offense, as a means to refrain from
labeling the offender as a prostitute.

Many states provide penalties for people who promote, advance or profit
from prostituting another person. The person who financially benefits by
child prostitution is more likely to receive stricter punishment. States
differ, though, on whether or not a permissable defense is that the
defendant believed the prostitute was not a minor. A majority of these
criminal offenses are felonies with prison terms ranging from one year to
life imprisonment. The average prison sentence is ten years. Fines also
vary from $1,000 to $50,000 with an average of $10,000 for felony
convictions. A few states consider child prostitution a misdemeanor and
provide for minimal penalties of less than one year and $1,000.14

Innovative Approaches. Generally, the more innovative state strategies
have been aimed at strengthening and clarifying laws, solving evidentiary
questions, and mandating administrative changes:

o Under its child labor law, Idaho prohibits he employment of
children in productions depicting sexual cooduct.15 The legis-
lature, in 1919, also strengthened penalties for any activities
which invol:e sexual exploitation of minors. Child labor laws
provide an additional avenue for prosecuting and penalizing
pornographers.

o Maryland and Hawaii have clarified their statutes on child por-
nography. Maryland, in 1980, amended its child abuse laws to
prohibit using or permitting A child to perform in a sexually
explicit act.16 Hawaii defines the distribution of child por-
nography as promoting child abuse.11 Including sexual abuse and

exploitation in state child abuse laws allows existing social
service programs to be expanded to assist victims of sexual
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exploitation.

o Following legislation in 1980, Arizona's criminal code ow lists

separate offenses outlawing child sexual exploitation.lo The
greater number of offenses increases the likelihood of success-
ful prosecution and stiffer penalties on some aspect of sexual
exploitation.

o In 1983, Utah state legislators redefined sexual exploitation of
children as a second degree felony under the state criminal code
and specified that material which sexually exploits children is
not protected under the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitu-

tion.19 This addresses evidentiary problems by abolishing the
defense that a perpetrator of child pornography enjoys the First
Amendment's protection of freedom of speech or press.

Georgia. In 1983, Georgia became the first state to pass what is con-
sidered a comprehensive legislative package combatting pornography. The

reason Georgia's legislation is viewed as comprehensive is because it ad-

dresses multiple aspects of the pornography question, whereas most other
states tackle, only one part of the issue. The legislation's provisions

address:

o keeping sexually explicit materials away from young people;

o keeping pornographers from taking advantage of children and

youth;

o setting strong penalties for using minors in any type of sexual-

ly explicit or lewd performances, photographs, movies, plays, or
anything of similar nature; and

o prohibiting parents, guardians, or a person with custody of a
minor to allow the young person to either assist or engage in
sexually explicit conduct for performance purposes.

Violators may be subject to imprisonment from three to 20 years and may be

fined up to $20,000. Effectively, this doubles the previous maximum penalty
which had been one to ten years in prison and up to a $10,000 fine.20

OPTIONS FOR A COMPREHENSIVE APPROACH

The problem of sexual exploitation of young people may be addressed by

state legislators from a variety of perspectives, and the followicg pro-

posals, which have been highlighted in the previous state examples, might be

considered as state legislators ,eview initiatives on child pornography and

prostitution:

Strengthen Laws

o Prohibit any sexual acts with children ..nd all child pornog-

raphy, including non-obscene and non-commercial;

o Strengthen penalties for crimes against children (i.e., rape,
incest, sexual abuse, indecency and harm) and crimes contribut-

ing to delinquency;

o Criminalize participating in selling or producing child pornog-
raphy or inducing a minor to engage in any sexual performance;

o Regulate "adult" bookstores through licensing, auditing, and
comprehensive recordkeeping;
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o Toughen child labor laws to make minors less vulnerable to
pornographers;

o Require film processors to report and turn over negatives of
sexually exploited children to law enforcement officials;

o Confiscate assets of people who have earned their investment
money illegally (i.e., prostitution, pornography, drugs);

o Regulate modeling or photography studios who employ children:

o Allow victims to sue perpetrators for damages and attorneys'
fees and to obtain an injunction against selling or distributing

the pornography.

Clarify Laws

o Redefine state laws on obscenity or pornography in light of the

Ferber decision;
o S'iWite penalties for offenses which sexually exploit minors;
o Include sexual abuse of children in child abuse statutes;
o Increase and clarify responsibilities of juvenile courts;
o Treat all sexual exploitation offenses involving minors as

"obscene" using the community standard provisions of the Miller
decision and establish strong sanctions.

Solve Evidentiary Questions

o Increase the age limit of children who are protected by anti-
pornography laws to the age of majority;

o Allow expert witness to establish age of child victim and do not
require prosecutors to establish identity of victim;

o Eliminate, as a defense, arguments that the perpetrator had a
lack of knowledge of the child's age or consent of the child,
parent, or guardian.

Administrative Changes

o Develop prevention and public information programs to inform all
citizens, including children, of the severity of sexual ex-

ploitation. This may be done through the schools and other ap-

propriate vehicles;

o Ensure the service delivery system includes crisis intervention
and rehabilitative or treatment programs for the victims;

o Mandate child protective service or law enforcement agency to
report suspected sexual abuse or exploitation to prosecutors;

o Require the state department serving young people to assume im-

mediate custody of sexually abused victims.

PROGRAMS FOR VICTIMS

A number of programs address the specific needs of young victims of

sexual exploitation. While most of these are local program . they receive

financial and programmatic support from the state or feder.: governments.
Programs provide outreach, residential protection, therapy, referral, com-
munity education, and coordination involving multi-disciplinary
professionals.
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The federal government plays a major role in funding these projects.
In addition to the programs discussed below, the Department of Health and
Human Services is supporting new programs dealing with prostitution in Seat-
tle, San Francisco, New York City, and Charleston,. W.V.

The Chrysalis Project in Denver, Colorado, is a highly specialized
outreach and residential treatment program for young people between 12 and
18 who are either vulnerable to or engaged in prostitution. The trained
professionals who staff the project offer a broad range of therapeutic ser-
vices to help youth consider alternatives to prostitution. Referrals come
primarily from law enforcement officers, juvenile judges and public
educators.

An estimated 90 to 95 percent of the clients were sexually abused
between 3 and 12 years of age. Almost all come from violent, dysfunctional
families with a high level of drug and alcohol abuse. Many of the young
people come to the proJ2Lt with medical problems. Because of these factors,
these youth initially may be involved in truancy, running away, stealing,
and lying. Chrysalis maintains that these behavior patterns indicate the
client's attempt to obtain recognition or gratification, regardless of their
needs for protection, affection, attention, and love.21

Project LUCK (Link Up the Coinnunity for Kids) of Portland, Oregon,
which receives federal funding, provides direct services to juvenile pros-
titutes, coordinates community group services, promotes public awareness,
and offers special training for professionals and volunteers in the
metropolitan area. The project comprises the following parts: street out-
reach, residential services, employment, education, counseling, Big Brother/
Big Sister Program, interagency coordination of services, and preventive and
public education. Through Project LUCK, local governments, youth service
agencies, schools law enforcement officials, and citizens have united to
specialize and increase services to street youth from 10 to 18 years old.
They have developed prevention curricula for middle-school children and
presented information to the public about the causes and effects of pros-
titution of young people.

The children resorting to prostitution in Portland are basically run-
aways who are seeking a survival mechanism. Clients are referred to

by

by

the juvenile court and social service agencies, or may be contacted by the
street, outreach team. Clients are, in turn, sent to the most appropriate
agencies in the community.22

Covenant House in New York City serves over 10,000 runaways, pros-
titutes and troubled young people each year. Staff provide food, shelter,
medical care, vocational, educational, and family counseling, and legal ad-
vocacy to their clients. The average length of stay at Covenant House is
two weeks. Afterwards, about 20 percent of the clientele return home to
their parents, 20 percent move to a structured residence such as a foster
home and 10 percent establish independent living arrangements; but, about
half return to the streets. Covenant House receives federal, state, county
and private monies."

CONCLUSION

Many states have addressed the issue of sexual exploitation of children
and youth. While few have passed comprehensive statutes, legislatures are
beginning to deal with various aspects of the problem. Legal issues,
evidentiary problems, definitional concerns, and service gaps remain. Given
the opportunities opened by the U.S. Supreme Court decision in Ferber, state
legislatures can play a significant role in combatting the probririnif child
pornography and teenage prostitution in America.
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1. Child Sexual Exploitation A monograph by the National Legal Resource
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S. Ibid.
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12. Ibid.
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14. Ibid.

15. Idaho Code sec. 44-1306 (1979).

16. Md. Code Ann. Art. 27, Sec. 35A (Supp. 1980).

17. Hawaii Rev. Stat. sec. 707-750 to 751 (Supp. 1978).

18. Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. sec. 13-3552 (Supp. 1980).

19. Utah: HO 188, 1983 legislation

20. Georgia: HB429, 1983 legislation.

21. Author Interview with Elena Theos, Program Director, Chrysalis Project,

Denver, Co., August 9, 1983.

22. Telephone interview with staff of LUCK, Portland, Oregon, August, 1983.

23. The Covenant Experience, pamphlet, Covenant House, 460 W. 41st St.,

Na., -qv 10036, (212) 354-4323 n.d.
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Development Bureau, Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Human
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YOUTH SERVICES PROJECT

PROJECT OVERVIEW

In September, 1981, the Youth Development Bureau (YDS) in the U.S. Department of Health
and BUman Services entered into cooperative agreement with the National Conference of
Stet. legislatures (NCSL) under which NCS1. would provide information assistance to the
nation's state legislatures. The goal of the NCSL' Youth Services project is to
support the decision-making capacity of state legislatures in the area of youth
services.

The project focuses on a broad range of yoUth services policy issues encompassing the
child welfare and juvenile justice fields.

PROJECT OBJECTIVES

The project has three primary objectives:

(1) to share interdisciplinary information on service, for vulnerable youth with
state legislatures, state and local government agencies, and private and
voluntary organizations;

to provide linkages between programs aervicine vulnerable youth and the state
legislatures; and ,

(3) to establish a mechanism for systematically gathering and disseminating
information on exemplary, cost-effective, and replicable models for delivering
services to vulnerable youth.

PROJECT IMPLEMENTATION
.. .

The project is carried out through:

*General resource information assistance and research capabilities. NCSL maintains
files of state activity concerning youth services and requests that state legislators
and legislative staff send bill copies, updated information and relevant reports and
articles on this`subject to our Denver-office c/o Michele Negri.

*On-site technical assistance to state legislatures. Formal assistance may take
the 'form of expert teatimony.during pertinent hearings, while less formal assistance may
include briefing meetings with legislators and legislative staff. State workshops
geared to the needs afthe states ma' also be arranged.

*A quarterly issue brief, feature article, and legislator's guide. These
publications providegenerarand epecific information on'youth services:

*Concurrent session on youth services at the 1983 NCSLAnnual Meeting.

*Nationwide legislative Institute on Youth Services, April 7-9, 1983, Denver,
Colorado.

(2)

PROJECT STAFF

The project manager is Michele R. Magri, who may be contacted in PCSL's Denver office at
(303) 292-6600.

The federal project officerie Robert Radford, Youth Development Bureau, (202) 755-8206.
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SPECIAL REPORT

Stolen Children
Thousands of youngsters are abducted by strangersand only a few are ever found.

Has anyone seen Kevin Collins?
Kevin is 10 years old and 4 feet 6
inches tall, with brown hair,
green eyes and a cheerful dispo

siticn. When he vanished without a trace
after basketball practice at St. Agnes School
in San Francisco on Feb. 10, the assumption
was that he had been abducted, and the city
responded with all the shocked. if usually
short-lived, attentiveaesssuch out rages pro-
yoke. WhileSan Franciscopolicecanducted
a massive, roundthe-clock search for the
missing boy, volunteers distributed more
than 100,000 fliers carrying his picture, the
school offered $2,000 for Information lead-
ing to his return and Mayor Dianne Fein
stein posted an additional reward of 55,000.

Kevin's parents, meanwhile, offered the
only thing they could, a public appeal to hit.
abductor that seemed all the more wrench
ing for the self-control it must have re-
quired. "We are not interested in seeking
Justice or punishment," said David and
Ann Collins on local TV. "We are only
interested in his safe return. We love ou r son
and we need him." A month has passed
without a hint of the boy's whereabouts.

Predatory Crueler Of the approximately
1.8 million children who are reported miss-
ing each year. 90 to 95 percent are likely to
be runaways or youngsters abducted by a
parent involved in a custody fight. By wide.
ly varying estimates, anywhere from 6,000
to 50,000 missing children are, like Kevin
Collins, presumed to be victims of "st ranger
abduction," a crime of predatory cruelty
usually committed by pedophiles, porno-
graphers, blackmarketbaby peddlers or
childless psychotics bidding desperately for
parenthood Only a few cases are solved.
Even fewer stratiger.abducted children are
recovered alive.

Though they constitute the smallest por-
tion of the hthainy-children phenomenon,
they can be weighted at 10 times their
number for the emotional havoc they lave
in their wake. Noreen Cloech, of West
Des Moines. Iowa. whose 12.year-old son.
John David, vanished from his paper route
on the morning of Sept. 5, 1982, recalls
the sheer "physical pain" of the vigil.
"Our hearts hurt, out stomachs hurt.
We thought of him being tortured or mur-
dered." she tays. Eighteen months later
Noreen still holds whispered converse-
tions with her son's picture to steel her-
self for public talks about him: "Johnny,
1 know the percentages," she murmurs.

.. But I also know you might be alive Awe era Dow Collinx ,IVe we i.e imiersulai la praithstint, ealy in Alt set return'
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"Our hearts hurt our
stomachs hurt "says Nor-
een Gosds. "We thought
of [Johnny] being tor
lured or murdered. "

lag numbs: of the mining turn out to be
runswap, police often avoid taking vigor-
Ow action until 24 to 4$ hours have
elapeedlong enough for an abductor to
bosomed to another jurisdiction, where
the search is apt to get low priority. RiLhard
Rubio, supervisor of the mining{-bureau

oftheBagenCounty(N.J.)Sherirs
Department (and himself* kidnappins vic-
tim when he was nine), says that ovabur-
dated police departments "will play the
pacentaget if they Posta Up wagenine. I
can't conceive ot any agency that wouldn't

Crosch's panto in his bedroom 'Johnny,' know Mt pereesam kit yea migler be atire' Ira out. immeffilklY. rof a
1 But when it gets into Wage of tbe so-called

and I'm doing somee. 'rig about thia"
Until recent years It was ohe of the sec-

ondary shocks for parents of stolen children
that they were alone in their aidsand
often nightmarishly thwarted by foot-dreg-
ging police departments, jurisdictions! tan-
gles and an FBI unable to enta a cue unless
there was clear evidence of an abduction.
But things began to change about eve years
ago, when the disappearance of
Stan Pats from Manhattan's Soho neigh-
borhood brought the considerable force of
the New York media into play. Since then.
interest in the subject has snowballed.

Pinnerprino To counteract what they re-
gard as lawenforcement dawdling, self-
help organizations --some of them founded
by parents of victimshave sprung up to
provide information and educational pro.
grams and lobby for stiffer laws against
abductors; some communities have begun
to fingerprint children and teach them how
to protect themselves against potential ati-
doctors (page 40). On the national level, the
use of Adam Walsh added to the trz1.3
public awareness. Adam, six, disc
from a Sears store in Hollywood. Fla., on
July 27, 1981; two weeks later his severed
head was found In canal 100 miles away.
Last October, after NBC aired "Adam," a
two-hour dramatization of the tragic case,
the network showed pictures and data on 55
missing children. As a result. 14 of the
children have since been found. (The pro-
gram will be rebroadcast next month, with
41 new cases appended.)

It was the anguished testimony of Ad-
am's father, John Walsh, before two Senate
subcommittees that helped lead to the Miss-
ing Children's Act of 1982, which a/
lows local police and parents appealing
to the FBI to log local cases Into the bu-
reau's National Crime Information Center
(NCIC) computer, (Public pressure has

NEWSWEEK/MARCH 19, 1994

also forced the FBI to cheap its policies
they now enter cases after 24 hours on the
assumption that the child has been trans-
mud across state lines.) Last month a
Senate subcommittee began bearing testi-
mony on * bill to strengthen the '42 set by
providing fonds fora national reeoureseen-
ter on missing children, buttressed by a toll-
free hot lint "Millions of children remain at
risk, vulnerable to exploitation. Muse and
murder," said Sex Arlan Specter, the NIP'
cosponsor, as the bearings opened. "It is
imperative that the federal government as-
sume a more active role."

But in spite of Untamed legisletive wily-
ity, the law-enforeunent effort remains er-
ratio and wenn& Damns the overwhelm-

runaway tone, whips more clan individu-
aldeterminationconsesintopley."

Ado Iambi On the whole, police dread
such eases. Kidnappings of children are
dhuessingly nay toe:omit and notorious-
ly difficult to solve: a stranger or a vaguely
familiar neighborhood figure talks a child
into accompanying him on someone, with-
out attracting the suspicions of paseasby.
The trail, if there is one, soon goes cold
and the pollee investigation :inks under a
crushing number of fale leads. Says Jay
Howell. a consultant to the Justice Depart-
ment on missing- and exploited-ebildren's
eases: "The abduction of a child is often a
friendly encounter leaving no evidence be-
hind to suggest the nature 'tithe dieeppeer-

he Morn, when their Ion diaamwarak 'The nightmare begins wefh einakS nsarannas'
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The Simple Rules of Safety slgoallgeVid

someone
owt

that he
7,err-BV.

us". at. pltellenWhO kids to go
Dr. Spook's bible on child-rearing

doesn't mention it, and parents usually
avoid it entirely or never venture beyond
the old axiom: "Don't talk to strangers."
In fact, child psychologists agree that next
to sex the most difficult subject for parents
to discuss with children is kidnapping. But
the need for a more sophisticated sp
prosch to the possibility of child abduc-
tion seems clear.

Experts believe that the best way to talk
to youngsters about the problem without
instilling undue fear is to give them "sim-
ple, direct messages" delivered straight
forwardly and geared to individual age
levels. "This should be like telling your
child to finish all his vegetables," suggests
Dr. C. Tomlinson Keatey, a professor of
developmental psychology at the Univer-

once. It is unique in taw enforcement."
The nightmare can begin with chilling

suddenness: Adam Walsh vanished during
the eight minutes in which his mother says
she left him alone in the toy department of a
San store while she shopped for a lamp
nearby. A Security guard remembered
throwing a rowdy group of older boys out of
the store and admitted six-year-old Adam
might have been among them. Beyond that.
there was nothing but vague recollections of
witnesses, including a 10-year-old who un-

sity of California, Riverside. To demon-
strate what can be done in a potentially
dangerous situation, parents can engage
children in role playing or make a game of
exercises in precaution. But adults should
avoid giving children postabductioo de-
tails. "It's the ars-drill syndrome," says
Nancy McBride, an instructor at the
Adam Walsh Child Resource Center in
Plantation, Fla. "You teach kids what to
do but not what would happen to them if
they are caught in a fire."

RIO* Most important, children need
to know that they have rights where
adults are concerned, that the stranger
who towers over them doesn't necessarily
have the authority to tell them what to
do. Ken Liutning of the FBI's Behavioral
Science Utile calls this "auertiveness

training for kidsteaching
children that they have the
right to say 'no'."

Many tips provided by
missing-children
dons and law-enforcement
agencies seem obvious. But
authorities stress that par-
ents will often convey in-
complete infbrmation. It is
common, for example, for
children to know their
home-phone number but
not their area code; they
may haw. their street Id-
dreudorm cold,but ifasked
where that is, they might
AM sadly say Minneapo-
lis, Massachusetts or Mil-
*auks& To help increase a
child's awareness of poten-
tial danger, parents should
consider these eeneral rules:

Make sure your child
knows his full name, ad-
dregs (including state) and
telephone number (includ-
ing area code) and how to
teach the operator or nuke
a long-distance call.
@ Teach your child that a

Polk* in Masseelnisetzt
data Inonins whom boll

somewhere with mutat toglve them
a present, like candy or a puppy, or want to
take their picture. Tell your child that if he
meets any bad strangers he should tell you
about them. Many experts offer even
stronger advice: they ay children should
avoid strangers entirely,
is Tell your child that it is unusual for
adults to ask children for help or for dim-
tiom and that It is best to ignore them. Ile
stranger calls your child to a car, he
shouldn't go near it. Ube is followed by an
automobile or on foot, be should run
home, to the nearest public place or yell,
"Helpl" Children should not run and hide
in a deserted place.

Keep a copy of your child's fingerprints
and be able to locate dental records. Take
photographs every year (four times annu-
ally for children under two).

Don't buy items with your child's name
on them, such as T shirts or lunch boxes.
Children will respond more readily to a
stranger if they are addressed by name.

Instruct your child never to answer the
door when home alone or tell anyone over
the phone that he Is home alone.

Outline what your child should do if he
becomes upended from you. If separated
while shopping, the child should not look
for you but go immediately to the NUM
checkout counter and ask a clerk for
assistance. Tell him never to so to the
parking

er
lot.

s Nev leave a child unattended in a car.
Advise him to walk and play with other
children if you are not around.

Be sure your child's school or daycare
center will not release him to anyone but
you or someone designated by you. Set a
code word with your child to be used as a
signal if you send an unfamiliar adult to
pick him up.

Tell your child that no one has the
right to touch him or make him fed un-
comfortable or ask him to keep a secret
from eau.

Often, spurred on by tragic incidents in
their own areas, parents are organizing
outside the home as welt After a three-
month-old infant girl was abducted from a
day-care center in Oland Prairie, Texas,
Iasi 'September, the city council puled

dement hypadds, of wing Mans with a
mustached -man with a blue nut. Two weeks
later fishermen found Adam's bud in a
canal near Vero Beach.

Two-and-a-half-year-old Russell Mort
disappeared on May 5, 1982, some time
between 12:20 p.m., when his mother sent
him to play outside their trailer in a Wheat-
field, N.Y., mobile-homes court, and 12:25
p.m.. when she poked her bead out the door
to check on him. By 5 p.m. around 500
people, plus the police, the volunteer ere

445

department and a bloodhound were search-
ing for him. The bloodhound traced his
scent to a road lading out of the troller
park, a. d police have since followed leads in
21 dates and Canada. But Russell is still
missies, and Ruth Mort says she trim. at
this stage, to keep her weeping down to
"three times a week."

Kevin Collins finished basketball prac-
tice at San Francisco's St. Agnes School at 6
p.m. on Feb. 10. Then be and some school.
mates beaded towards truck driven by Paul

NEWSWEEK/MARCH 59, 1914
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Rprpritaixe is leaver bawd aping

etringent daycerocenter regulstioft that
model for stale i*elOoe. now

;rending. In Salt Lek, Cin, where Arthur
Guy Bishop is on trial, charged with the
murder of lye boys sps 4 to 13, demon.
toy schools have Mooched a program
celled "You're in Charge" to tech chil
dren about street safety and the ploys of
would-be abductors

Lfthenforcemen officials are con-
vinced theft measures ow make a differ.
cps "Ws need to make children comfort.
Able about reporting situations when
60(0414 has wftthed them or touched
them ineppeoly," says Jay Howell,*
former Senate investigator now serving as
a consultant to the Junta Deper.ment on
missing and exploited children. "Uwe can
get that single merge acmes to America,
we wW see a muthroolons in the invades-
tioo of these sees." If legislation now
fore Corpses is peeled,. national hot line
will be established to oast in missing.
children cases. Until then, preen inv.:.
aged in finding out about local programs
should all Child Plod Inc.'s tollfree caw
her (10204315003) or contact their local
school or police.

14111 POOLS 011117919190 91
HOLLY 140100 k Allow aid Innis mons

Fattens. the dethlrede bauhulball coach,
for a lift home. But Kevin never got to the
truck. parked only a block away, and net.
that Fontana nor the other children have
any ides what happened to him. One wit.
nest claimed to have seen him 13 minutes
later et abut stop. a Week to the south. Two
other witneres say they saw hire 13 minutes
after that on a corner two blocks north
standing new s man and a large black dog.

Since then, searchers have questioned
mound 2,000 people who live along the bus

NEWSWEE11/14AJICH 19, 1914

448

SPECIAL REPORT
touts Kevin sometimes took bane, There
hove been score of tips -come from py-
cam who are of celled in on midair
person cues Op took them to an abets.
dosed brewery, where they searched all 35
wee. More were three eishtlap in the Sac.
rsmento west one woman sew a child re-
Paint Kevin meted in a frosts
sW bower two men another saw ha
with two mot in as old Chevrolet sedan
looted with camping per. Police actually
tricked do ow dosshow too swiftly,
Kevin's weal complainedbut the child
was not Kevis. Megawatt. Dlykl end Ana
Conine sit as home, with their eight other
ekildres, wake for news.

The wait can be excruciating. Almost eve
pen sod thousands of dished hopes after
their son Mes Pas disappeared co kis way
to his Meehan' school one *rift morn-
loe, Stan awl Julie Pam are in &Nein,
USN W regain MN MOWN" on th*
lives The mos ubiquitous pews of Eton
have &opposed, put& interest has kz
dace 041414 and although shoplift
checkout Iseds(more this 1.01:012 thew*
year Poe. including one that took them es
he ft head), there has nap beans residue
to Hereto. "Don't think we're kids," says
Stan. "We're pate sousselig sad 1 tank
some kind of there v seeded M esitiotioe
such Is out WV. woks it more Mica
than a mugging ors homicide is there is oo
resolution. We have no eviday.s
he is dead sod no *videos he is
alive. The Int week we couldn't
sot, we didn't think we maid eft-
avocet month without kiss Thal
in May it will he yeasts some-
thing that when it stand would
have been leo:Payable

Moe Isar Is is always bloom
savable, the more so became it
an begin, as Stan Pats says of
Era's dieoppentufts "with
very ordinary mortars He is
latevery lawman{ home from
school." lohn David Gooch still
hasn't come home from the paper
route he went out on in Wat Dos
MOH" lows, on Sunday maw.

Sept. 3, 1912, although
dachshund, Otetthea

did"the only living thine " hie
mother banes, "that saw what
happetted to Johnny." There wee
no other direct witness to the
event, but at private detectives pieced it
together, the boy may have been sand by
one oftwo men who approeched him, one in

blue sedan and one on foot. "1 grew up
witching 'The FBI Sr -y' with Man Kim.
ballet Jr. bluing across the screen as be
solved all those kidnappings," Noreen
Oath says "It was had foto to realm we
wouldn't get an answer soon."

Noreen and her husband. John, have
done about ell that is humanly possible to
find the answer themselves. They have held

"r he abduction of a
child is often a friendly
encounter leaving no evi-
dence behind. It is unique
in law enforcement."

prep mks, suctions. paean breakfasts.
not bons Chows, and sold 11X4000 candy
hers with wrappers cenying his pkture end
the legend "Help FIndlohnny Ooech"all
to TOW around $10,000, moo a/which has
pp to pivotdetective agencies. They
have cooducted 20p "abduction aware-
ness" propams for schools. PTA's and
service organizations On ammo Friday

Ctrsthey meet with 20or 30 tuppences to
Moors possible lode in the cose. They send
out a monthly newsletter sod, with theft*
at two pins chains and several other busi.
news. they have blanketed the country
with 1 million Wen seeking information on
Johnny. "It's the kind °Neon you have to
make," whim WM& "You're just MX
obi thoussod good causes."

CftentleisCastisethe nasowide nevi-
tebly kftkought sesame arms fish. The
Oaches have twit*, wooed 700 creak
alit since Many'. Aleppo** Moo
amorvinpwes September IMIcall fronts

welows-onswawasees
Canis Komi, (1011,0111froulbo: Ram oakum

man who said, "I'verctslohnny. His dive
and you're never beak,
Mrs. (Mech. after. The detective
agency now working for the family says
there have also bees hundreds of
meaning but erroneous reports

One esoninely per miss Ps tormented
the Oftehes. According to Noreen, ply
lest year teeata boy approached a *um-
an keying a convenience store In a South.
western city and urgently said, "My name is

(Continued on page
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A Stranger Comes Home
Steven Stayner has come home, in a

way. In 1980 Steven's parents and the
media celebrated the blessed return of a
boy who had been kidnapped at seven in
Merced, Calif , and escaped to freedom
%even years later, with a tattoo on his arm
but otherwise seemingly undamaged. As
he told the story then, he bore no grudge
against the abductor he had learned to
all "Dad"-48-year-old Kenneth Par.
nellwho he said had never sexually
abused him and had enrolled him in var-
ious schools around the state. Even Dis-
trict Attorney Joe Allen, who eventually
won a kidnapping conviction against Par-
nell, acknowledge* "The two developed
a close relationship. Apparently the man
was kind to him."

It was something like that, and it was
nothing like that. kecently, after some
counseling sessions with Gary Hewitt
of the Center for Missing Children, Ste-
ven gave a more candid account to
NEWSWEEK'S SIAM *greet. According
to Steven, Parnella man whose own
father deserted him at eve and who once
served time for molesting an eightyear.
old boybecame both his daytime father
and his nighttime sexual abuser. Parnell
sodomizedhim on then ant day together,
threatened him with beatings, convinced
hint he wain% wanted st home and paths-

ally demoralized him into half-willing
captivity.

It had begun in December 1972, when
Parnell and a male companion got Steven
into their car on the pretext that tin,' were
going to drive him home and ask his
mother to make a church donation. In-
stead, Parnell got out and
pretended to phone Mn.
SiaYner, then said he had
gotten her permission to
keep Steven overnight.
He learned that Steven
had been punished by his
father the day before and
played on it. telling Ste.
ven later that his parents
didn't want him. "I won-
dated if it was true," re-
calls Steven. "For the
first 10 days I cried and
said I wanted to go home.
But shortly after that
I began to play in his
house. It was also fear
he didn't like to see me
cry." Parnell, says Ste-
ven, had a terrible temper and would whip
him when he wasangaed.

A week after the abduction, Parnell
said he bad court papers to change
Steven's name to Dennis. and be asked

fictional family history to answer ordi
nary questions school chums asked about
his life. He got Christam promote and
birthday gifts, made friends and went
to schoolthough he was repeatedly in
trouble for setting fires and fighting.

At times he attended some of the very
same schools that his family had sent
Alen to in ketch of their missing Son,
but apparently no one had looked hard

enough at the Stayner
Photorph to realize
that Dennis Parnell"
was the missing child.

Cosapanisder's On
Vahmtme's Day 1980,
Parnell brought home
a fresh captivea five-
year-old boy named
Timmy Whiteand be-
gan taunting Steven that
be was growing too old.
Timmy kept crying and
asking to so home, pain-
flatly reminding Steven
of his own Ant days
with Parnell. "I couldn't
see Timmy suffer," he
says. "It was my do-or.
die chanceand I also

would be coming honk for doing
somethizzonss.iLive, maybe get some
congest

Sixteen days after Timmy had been
kidnapped. Steven brought him to a
Ukiah, Calif., pollee station, and was
himself reclaimed. (Parnell was subs&
quently tried and convicted of kidnap-
ping charm Currently be Is imprisoned
at Soled.* and will be eligible for puck
in September 191$.) But the homecom-
ing has been a troubled one, as Steven
evokes it in a stream of anguished. con-
uadictory reflections. "I returned al-
most a grown man, and yet my parents
saw me at Srst as their oevemyear-old,"
he says. "After they stopped trying to
teach me the fundamentals all over again
it got better .. . Why doesn't my dad hug
me anymore? I guess seven years
changed him, too. We used to go to the
lake Salting. He just sits in the house.
Everything has changed . Sometimes I
blame myself. I don't know sometimes if
I should have come home. Would I have
been better off if I didn't?"

His parents my "absolutely not."
though last year they ordered him out of
the house twice atter quareele "Small
arguments get out of hand," he says.
"We're all emotionally strained. I don't
cryIn seven yeses I built a wall around
myself. If I could, I might not be able to
stop." At IS, he is planning to go off to a
Junior college, and worried that his de-
ri:uparture upset his parents again. But

senese, the boy the Stomas lost never
came all the way home.

DAVID OILMAN

With Manx Lb or die

nwea the boy to call him Dad.
I had hopes some day

my parents would want
me beck," says Steven.
"I used to have fantasy
thoughts of family life, but
as time went on tbay
dimmed and dimmed."

Chews At about the ase
of nine, he began to realize
"things weren't right
my parents wouldn't have
hired a guy to pick me off
the street." Afraid ofbeing
beaten, he made no at-
tempt to run away even
when Parnell was out of
the house working. But
he would scan newspapers
end TV to see 'This parents
was seeking him. "I'd ask
myself, 'Mom and Dad.
whore the hell are your It
somehow reinforced the
lie that Parnell told me
they didn't want rot."

Despite the constant
fa.. and usual abuse, Ste-
ven settled into a sem.
blocs of family life as
Parnell's lost. He created a

Seas" his pittab. 'Why
dant Dal hut me?'
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SPECIAL REPORT
(Continued front page 81)
John David Gowbplease help me, lade'
Before the woman could do anything, two
men appared from around the corner,
twisted the boy's arm behind his back and
Waned him off. She followed them to an
apartment complex, then called the police,
who dismissed the incident as probably a
family problem. Seven months later she rec.-
opized Johnny's face in a gallery °foliating
children shown at the end of the "Adam"
drama ',ration on NBC, and she sot word to
the tiowhes.

DasespdhainTliedetective agency is note
concentrating its search in the area of that
sighting. But the GOSChei are bitter at the
indifferent police response. "The feeling of
coming that close and not getting him just
runs a knife through me," says Noreen. The
family's relations with the West Des Moines
police soured shortly after Johnny's disap-
peanince and deteriorated into name-call-
ing as the weeks and months wore on. At
one point the °caches threatened SI5
million damage suit apinst the city. "It
became our burden to prove Johnny was in
danger," Noreen complains.

The relations with police are almost un-
avoidably rancorous in missing-children
casesmuch as they often are in a mugging
case. The frantic families of victims under-
standably want an all-out effort, but what
they encounter are the routine. sometimes
enigmatic, processes of the law. Despite the
massive hunt for her son, Ruth Mort Is still
furious that police only searched under the
186 trailers in her mobile-home park and
never got warrants to search Inside the trail'
era-- although they did tear apart her own.
Once, she recalls, she even bawled out the
federal lawmen. "When I start praying to
the FBI, then I'll believe you make no mis-
takes," she told an agent. Typically, the
families vent "displaced anger," says Gary
Hewitt, executive director of the Center for
Mooing Children in Rochester, N.Y.. which
counsels victims and their relatives. "Like in
suffering a death, they go through denial,
anger, grief --but there is no funeral, no
funeral director to takecaredtheirneeds."

No Man's Leib In any case, the problem
is not so much the local police department,
which may keep track of a case for years.
but the difficulty of getting the same
degree of interest from other departments.
Unfortunately, miming children fall al-
most immediately into the jurisdictional
no man's landacross state lines and bu-
reaucraciesthat Is one of the weakest
areas of the Justice system. It would seem
the natural place for the FBI to step in,
but the bureau Is not required to do so and
the onus of investigations still falls on
local police.

The Justice Department itself lobbied
vigorously against the missing-children act
because it feared the new law would thrust
the bureau into the free-fire zone between
police and parents and that parents would
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misinterpret it to mean the FBI was always
obliged to become involved. Some federal
agents, moreover, believe that when a child
vanishes, chances are he has run away, ce
succumbed to enticement, owing to trouble
at home. "What hu to be recognized." says
Ken tinning of the FBI Academy's &haw
'oral Science Unit in Quantico, Va., "is that
it's relatively rare to have a family with Mr.
and Mrs. All - America andboomthe
kid's gone. By and large, in moat of these
cases, there's something there."

Indeed, the parents, because of the statis-
tics, are often the first suspects when a child
disappears. It Is one of the many insults
added to their injuryalong with the with-
perinp of friends and total strangers about

Welsh alb 1 roperieng 'Wing maw Ism

"Parents are often sus-
pects. It is another insult
added to their injury,
along with whisperings
about their competence."

their parietal competence. Many are made
to Submit to lie - detector tests and intensive
investigation of their east Noreen Gosch
had to produce her first husband's death
certificate when rumors circulated that he
was alive and had abducted Johnny. Where
there were no answers, Julie Pats told a
Senate subcommittee in 1911, people
"made up their own." Blaming the vie-
time, apparently, satisfies MIN perverse
public need.

About the abductors themselves, rela-
tively little Is known because there has been
so little coordination of investigative data
from around the country. The FBI Acade-
my's Behavioral Science Unit broadly rate-
prises them a:

The psychotic: Usually a woman who has
lost a or cannot conceive and steals a
child to a 1 the maternal void.

The profiteer: A criminal exploiter who
sells babies to pornographers or adoption
rings. Another type under this heading Is
the kidnapping for ransom, but far fewer of
those have occurred in recent yews.

Tie pedophile Perhaps the largest cite-
Jur/. Often an otherwise respectable com-
munity member who abducts a child 11;

madly for sexual purposes. A
may abduct a child for only a day ors few
hours cc he may try to keep him indefinite-
lyand murder him when he demands to
be taken home.

The"serial" killer:The best known ease in
reran history wasinAtlanta when 29 young
blacksages 7 to 27were abducted and
killed. Wayne Williams was convicted for
the murders of twooftheolde victbru.

TheFBI hasa considerablefileof manuals
and other materials on child seduction that
have purportedly been produced by and for
pedophiles. And some authorities corrobo-
rate the unit's categorisation. 'There are
people out there looking for surrogate chil-
dren, the' are people who Owl kids to sell
them, there are people who want to exploit
them sexually or kill them," says Tacoma
detective Roger Price."Wased but true."

Price is working on a tragic case of his
owns' the moment. A Ilttk over *year ago,
a Tacoma men named Stanley Guidroz
went strolling in a neighborhood park with
hie two-yew-old son, Wallace, and moon
nixed 'couple with asnudl blond girL While
the children played together, the adults
struck up a friendly conversation and, pres-
ently, the two men went off to have a quick
beet, leaving the toddlers with the woman.
On the way back, Guldtors companion

448



446

Keeping Mope alive The Contra foully sled beet veleiusets wit &Ilia &Me

took off in another direction and be re-
turned to the perk to retrieve his SOS. but
the woman and the children were gone.
Wallace has not been found. His father,
stricken with guilt, took an overdose of
sleeping pills two days later and had to be
hospitalized.

Leaving Wallace with a stranger may
have been a careless act, but no parent is
always on guard. Guidroz thought he was
dealing with a wholesome family group;
Detective Price thinks it may have been
a preplanned abduction. Seven-week-old
Cherie k -needy was stolen from her moth-
er's arms t a Ft. Worth outpatient clink
last May by a Noman in white" who asked
if she could show the baby to "the other
nurses." Six months later, on a tip from her
titter, federal agents arrested a woman
ruined Linda Gomez, and recovered the
Kennedy baby. Gene, described by rela-
tives as "a very sick person" who wanted a
child of bet own so badly that she mud to
stuff pillows under her blouse and
she was pregnant, is scheduled to

pretend
she
for kidnapping nest moods.

INeareesd Patailes Puente of older kid-
nap victims often berate themselves bitter-
ly for raising their children to be too sub-
missive to adults "If I had taught him to
"cream, he might be alive now," says John
Walsh in NBC's "Adam" docudrama. It
is a sentiment that has been echoed in
almost precisely those words by the other.
Yet, as the Guldroz and Kennedy cans
demonstrate, parents themselves can be
disarmed Just long enough to be victim -
lied. And it would take an uncommonly
alert childor a very skittish oneto run
"creaming from an encounter with a
friendly stranger.

Self-help groups counsel parents against
the lacerating guilts that destroy so many of
their marriage' after a child disappears. But

the main educational effort is aimed at
teaching chUdren to be monseflanstesed,
even agtreseive, with adult strangers whe
approac them. It ie a Dolton that man
per -ets Ind heretical, and some worry that
itwill makstheirchlldrnueedlerlyfeerfW.
But others believe it is the lane evil. "I'd
rather have Mesh= a little paranoid than
have to identify her body in the morgue,"
says John Walsh, referring to the daughter
who wasbontafter Adem was killed.

The elf-help groups have became a vit
mous force not only in educational pro
grams but lobbying for legislation and na-
dant networks of 131ton:sedan that beveled
to the recovery of miming children. The
Society for Young Victim', bred in New-
Pon. ILL, circulate photon of the children
and assists police and parents in the search-
es. In the mike of the murders rf Ave chil-
dren, Salt Lake City's SLAM (Society's
Lague Against Child Molestation) helped
push through a new state lawbilled as the
country's toughestthat mandates

lade amino prhon terms for per-
sons convicted of kidnapping or 'many
abusing& child under 14. "Weep* shout-
ing a little louder out hers," eye Dorothy
Williams, had of Salt Lake City's chapter
of Child Find.

The Adam Walsh Child Resource Can-
ter, beaded by Adam's father, John, anger.
prints young children and monitors court
room trials asexual molesters. Child Fh-A
'yell, the Mad (19110) and perhaps target
of the self-help group, puts out an annual
directory of minks children, with month-
ly supplmens. In Connecticut and New
Jersey the directories are distributed
stasewee la the public schools, and the
organization is aiming at national distrait*
tion by nest yeas.

Yet for all their efforts, the self-help
groups are barely able to cover the tern.

419

"Like in suffering a
death, (parents] feel an-
ger and griefbut there
is no funeral director to
take care of their needs."

tory. Most of then are overextended. The
Center for Miming Children, for example,
operates on a shoestring; since last June it
has spent Just S20,000, raised from loans,
donations and a emelt party. 'The prob-
lem is bigger than any of us," says Child
iFind founder Gloria Yerkovich. "We refer
and refer and refer."

The principal burden still rats with the
police, and it is a messure of the finnan of

'the law-enforcement effort that there are
still no reliable statistics on child abduction.
The figure that is most often hard Is 50,000
abductions a year, but that number, argues
the Center foe Mining Children's Gary
Hewitt. is "not even is bed item The num-
bers came out of the sky." Based on his own
research. Hewitt says, a more accurate esti-
mate is 6,000 to11,000.

Put of the problem, clearly, is that most
police-department records don't dine
guish between runaways and abductions or
adult and Juvenile minks persons. In met
cases, amusing child is simply miming. For
&canoe In the field, and in the absence of
0111*k:evidence, that conundrum under-
scores the importance of fiu.idt.ifilem-
done! resource center and
=die the pending M 'aM7s

Act. Beide oat
elk local data, it could thresh vital or.
elation "patterns" on typical abductors.
typical victims or places and circumstances
In which abduction happen.

Menames Peden Meanwhile, for scene
wants, the data on seeing children ere all
te... precise. Ruth Mon still fantasise that
her son, Russell, has sonsebenv, miraculous.
ly, kited with lovig foster parents. The
Palms still cling to the bops that Elan is
alive, alter In years. At the doschee home
in Wen Des Moines, Johnny's form re-
mains as he left It, except for his bed, upon
which sits a suitcase packed with his cloth
in. ready to pat &moment's notice should
he be found.

The bed also holds greeting cards and
presents meant for their son for every holi-
day since his disappearance. The marks of
their grief are everywhere, yet they keep it
muted. "Sometime it's toughoh, is it dif.
*cult for us," says Noreen. "But we Wok a
vow never to forget who the victim it The
victim is Johnny."

DAVID011114AN sith..SRIANAORtSils W. Yet.
iatiNligC011111CK Mips.
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Victims of Violence and Psychiatric Illness

Elaine (Hilberman) Carmen, M.D., Patricia Perri Kicker. Ph.D.. and Trudy Milk, Ph.D.

]he Authors imestigated the relationship between
pbsso al .2n11 sexual abuse and psychiatric illness. 1 be

etperiences of 188 malt and female ps:siluatrir
patient were reronstructei through an in-depth
examination of psyclisatris is:P.11101i ?Penal. Abiltin
1,J11 of fir patients bad histories of physical and or
sexual abuse; 91e; rif the abused patients had been
t [(Minced by family members. the abused pabents'
responses to thrfolfIC virtimizaisoi, Included diffitulty
in ..oping with anger anti aggression, impaired !cif
err.m, .inil inabilth to trust. 'Ilse authors compare
n,..le and ',malt t ki1111) and discuss the clinical
unpin Jillelff o1 abuse.

Am l l'sschiatr. 141:1-4-383, 1984;

Tht go.%
ing hods of knowledge about stems of

%intense strongly suggests that physical and sexual
abuse in.'s he f 'equent, if not inesitable, hie expert.
dices for mint' pmplr. litovever, psschnIngical and
social conditiors that link such sictinotation to subse-
quent psschistric illness mot only recently been identi
fitd as subjects for clinical insestigatic-i. As a result,
the importance of the sictim-inpatient process is
ntither appreciated by clinicians nor adequately con
ceptualized hs researchers. This lack of recognition
perust% in spite of an extensive, but unssntheored,
literature tin the psschosocial consequences of child
abuse, sponse abuse, rape, and incest. As a was of
addressing this gap in our knots ledg.., In this paper we
report the results of an insestiganon into the relation.
ship hi:meets physical and sexual ahuse and pssehlat
ric illness in a psychiatric inpatient population.

Ag1M..ANIIINYCHIATRI1 11.1 S1.SS

Only in the last decade base mental health proles.
annals begun to examine th extent to which victims

ste.el..rd Ser. 4, 1551. marked teb. and Aprd IS 19141: at
Drell sea. 1t, 1441 Iron the Der Intnent of IN, dilate., Una
ter0r. ..1 4.rt I ar.g.e.a S.4vd nn Nfedoune. ham'. H..., leans.

arlvt an.er frtrwe and Harrod Medical 1/4.a.o..1, Pent,". and
1)(0,001, 0 t no mite on Anima, lurwn Softest
trpr.n: 4.est. lo f.arnen, laertartnent of l'sso.hia.ra. I rot ernr an., ett Vbearl of %Wean', Chapti !WI tit 2'f 14.

lace .0, I% San. Jean rom..4.1 S.W., and I comae 'tterrhent.
1111 ..r .t ......o.1.nen% to the h.

; k! I ,1Cill.in l'aaluatt,t

ateltuuta/., hAniw'f
ptticitcouri

3r: retire ,ented in a sandy of clinkal settings. For
Rounsas ilk and Weissman :1, reported that

3.8% of the women presenttng to an emergency trait
ma service and 1.4"0 of the women presenting to an
emergentcy ps.chiatrie service had been battered hs
men with whom they were intimate. However, Alicn
Stark and associates .2. analyzed nest data from the
',awe emergency trauma service. the concluded that
-where physicians saw I out of 35 of their pativnts as
battered, a mot: accurate approximatum is I in 4;
where the acknowledged that I iniury out of 2I)
resulted Mint domestic ahuse, the actual figure Ap
proaehed I in 4. What they described as a rate newt-
rence was In reality an esent of epidemic prrportions."

Rosenfeld 3., in a review td all o' his female
psychotherapy patients seen in a group practice setting
neer 1 year, found that six of the 18 women were
Incest victims, finis one of whom offend this infrirma
lion spontaneously, 1 he underreporting lit victims in
psychiatric samples is consistent Is the finding of
Hilberman and Munson r4, th . of all women
referred 110 psychiatric consult ,t) a rural medical
clinic were in battering relate 1st" . host and assn.
dates '4,, in a preliminary re; the preialence of
chunestic siolenee Among ps. a. H. inpatients, fi r
they suhstannated the rdation.litp of al.tise and pss.
cholngical disorder, Of the 60 patients ,11% women and
22 men,, 48"6 Ease histories of a batwing relation.
ship; SO% of the women had been battered and 21 ",
reported abusing their partners; 14% of the men hat
been haltered :nd 27% reported abusing their part
ners, Pint and associates did not discuss other forms of
ahuse in their paper.

Several studies 2, 6-8, provide es Menet of the
profoundly selfdestructne behaviors that emerge after
victimization, lly:se are the hi:hasn't% that demon.
straw a clear link between ahuse esperiences and
psychiatric illness, Green (6, compared 49 ahused aid
neglected children with 29 neglected childr.:n and in
children who were neither ahused nor neglected Self
destructive behaviors (biting, cutting, horning, head
banging, suicide attempts; were exhibited h. 40.6% of
the abused children, 17.2% of the neglected children,
and 6.7% of the commit. Careen concluded that "the
ahused child's stns.: of worthlessness, badness, and
sclf.hatred a eons +twice of parental assault. row
non, and %ear:gaming formed the nucleus fir subs«.
quent selfdestructisc behavio' (6, p. 5811, The new
research on s 'Menet against women tint only corrobo-
rates this pattern hit also provides a %mid psycholn

1 JO

Am J Psychiatry 141:3, March 19114
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cal portrait of female victims of incest, spouse abuse,
and rape .7-1 I).

\IRMA)

To explore the relationship between violence and
psychiatric disorder, we reconstructed the life viral-
ences of patients through an in -depth examination of
psychiatnc inpatient records. To clarify this relation-
ship, it was necessary to compare male and female
patients as well as to compare abused and nonabused
patients.

The nonrandom sample for this retrospective study
included all patients discharged over 18 months jam-
ary 1980 through June 1981) from one of three adult
psschrunc inpatient units in a university teaching
hospital, The final sample consisted of 188 adult and
adolescent male and female patients. Multiple dis-
charges were treated as one case. A comparison of the
demographic characteristics of this sample with those
of inpatients from all wards during the previous 2
years confirmed that the study sample was mire-
sentative in term: of race and sex.

A standardized coding instrument developed by the
research team ;two psychiatrists, two sociologists, and
one social worker) was used to analyze the following
content of the discharge summary and other patient
records: demographic information; social, medical,
and psychiatric histories; behavior before and during
hospitalization; and details on the type and extent of
siolence. Clinicians were interviewed to verify ambigu-
ous details or to supply missing data.

Violence was defined as ary form of serious physical
or sexual abuse described in the discharge summary or
in the record. These abuse events included child abuse,
incest, marital violence, and assault or rape occurring
outside of the family. Instances in which abuse was
suspected but not confirmed in the records were not
coded as violence. Decisions about what behaviors
constituted abuse were conservative, and ambiguous
cases were discussed until the research team reached a
consensus. In this way. a high degree of intercoder
consistency was achieved We collected data about the
type of abuse. the seventy and duration of the abuse,
and the relationship of the patient to the abuser.
Similar data were collected for those patients who
were abusers. In addition, a scale was constructed for
measuring the patient's ability to cope with anger and
aggression during the hospitalization.

Crosstabulation and multivanate techniques were
used to analyze the data. Chi-square analyses were
used to compare Or abused and nonabused patients.
We used the .05 level of significance to point out
important differences between groups. Because this
was an exploratory study with a nonrandom sample,
the chi-square values are presented as descriptive sta-
tistics and not as statistical tests conducted to retain or
reject null hypotheses. We will report the results of
additional analyses of these data elsewhere.

Am J Psychiatry 141:3, March 1984
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Description of the Sample

The patients in the study were a diserse group.
Eighty percent were shire and 20"o were black; 6i%
were female and 35% were teak. Their ages ranged
from 12 to 88 years. Adolescents made up 15°. of the
sample and ti,r elderly made up 4%. Only 25% of the
patients were married: 4".° had neser been married.
Educational and occupational data showed that 26%
had not graduated from high school 'some were
students) and that 18% were college graduates; 21%
were professionals and 31% worked in clerical, sales.
craft, or unskilled jobs. Fifty -two percent had annual
incomes of less than 510,000. The low income of the
patients may reflect s.e substantial percentage (35%)
who were disabled or unemployed betore hospitaliza-
tion. However, the income data *tete less accurate
than the educational and occupational data and should
be interpreted cautiously. Half of the patients had
affective disorders, and the other half seas divided
among psychoses 118%), personality disorders (13%),
adjustment reactions (11%), substance abuse (5%),
and psychosomatic disorders (2%).

Extent of Abuse

Given our conservative coding of abuse, the preva-
lence stream quite high. Eighty of the 188 patients
(43%) had histories of physical or sexual abuse or
both. Abuse was suspected but not confirmed in
enough detail in the records of an additional 7%. Of
the 80 ahused patients. 53% (N=42: had been physi.
call,. abused, 19% (N= I.5) had been sexually abused,
and 29% (N=23; had been both physically and sexu-
ally abused. The majority of sexual abuse (71 %) had
occurred more than a year before admission, com-
pared with 40% of physical abuse. Forts -one percent
of the abused patients had been abused by more than
one person.

Ninety percent ;N =721 of the abused patients had
been abused by family members. Filtyone percent had
been abused by husbands or former husbands, 40% by
fathers or stepfathers, and 23% by mothers or step-
mothers. Sixty -six percent N=25; of those who had
been sexually abused had been abused by family
members. The largest group of sexually abused pa
tients had been abused by fathers ;34%); siblings
accounted for 16% of sexual abuse cases and strangers
for 29%.

Female patients were much more likely than males
to have histories of abuse. Fifty -three percent (;*:631
of the females and 21% ,N =15) of the males had been
abused. There were also differences between sexes in
the patterns of abuse. Males (mainly teenagers) were
most frequently abused by parents during childhood
and adolescence, whereas females were abused by
parents, spouses, and strangers. For the females, abuse
had started in childhood and continued through adult.
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hood. Only four of the 3$ patients who had been
sexually abused were males, as were their assailant,.
Teenagers were much more likely than adults to have
been abused. Set enty-:;:e percent of the 2$ teenagers
had been abused, cumpared with 39% of the adults.
The blacks were slightly more likely than the whites
to have been victims of abuse (50% compared with
41%), but this reflects the fact that the hlacks in this
sample were predominantly female (85%) and the
females were more likely than the males to have
histories of abuse.

Comparison of Abused and Nonabused Patients

Can abused patients be differentiated from nona-
bused patients in a clinical setting? To answer this
question, we made comparisons on the basis of social
history data, behaviors at the time of admission,
behaviors during the hospitalization. and diagnoses. In
the analysis, diagnoses did not differentiate between
abused and nonabused patients.

One significant family charactenuic of the abused
patients was the excessive use of alcohol by parents.
Thirty percent of the abused patients had alcoholic
fathers, compared with 13% of the nonabused pa.
tients. The figures for alcoholic mothers were 13% and
5%, respectively. Table 1 provides a further compar
son of social history characteristics of abused and
nonabused patients. We found that abused patients
were more likely than nonabused patients to have past
histories of suicidal and assaultise behaviors and crim-
inal justice involvement.

The patients displayed a wide range of behaviors
and symptoms at the time of admission to the hospital.
As table I indicates, these behaviors did not differenti-
ate abused from nonabused patients. At the time of
admission, precipitants for hospitalization were equal-
ly Itkely to include suicidal behavior, aggressiveness,
depression. drug abuse, disordered conduct, anxiety,
and psychosomatic symptoms. The patients Mend
only with respect to organic symptoms. However. this
may he a spurious finding that derives from limitations
in the data.

Two important differences emerged when we exam-
ined various behaviors during the hospitalization.
First, abused patients tended to remain in the hospital
longer than the nonabused group. Twenty-six percent
of the abused group were hospitalized longer than 90
days, whereas only 9% of the nonabused group were
hospitalized for that length of time. The average stay
for nonabused patients was 43 days, and for the
abused patients it was 58 days.

Second, abused and nonabused patients differed in
how they dealt with anger and aggression during the
hospitalization. This is especially pertinent to our
study, since anger is an expected response to abusive
events. We developed a measure of the coping hehavior
of the inpatients that focused on whether the anger
was mainly directed inward or outward and whether
behavioral control of aggressive impulses was main-

TALI 1. Sabi Mislay and Admission Batavia% al Abroad and
Nansbusad Psychiatric Patianb

behavior

%bused
Patrons
N.11111

N s

Ntinabused
rittron

IN* ME

N

Social tummy
Abuse nt alsoltal 21 .13 3$ 1.666

Abuse of dltat druid 14 IN 26 24 01126

Suns& artempt,s, .16 4% .12 10 4.0619
Umlaut justice
insists einem 12 IS S t 4.1110
Abuse of often 20 25 14 I 1.110

Admission
Suicidal 35 44 4S 42 0.019
Agressise deurusene 20 25 20 IN I."95
Ikpressise WillptssiTIS 49 61 66 61 0010
Substance abuse IN 24 2% 11 0.000
Ofganis symptomv
conlumun 2 .1 IS 14 5.910
Conduct d,vvdn I! II 9 I 1.441

Anmeq aunanon 21 31 13 11

Psy bowman.; I.1 16 11 12 0.17
Pssthntu IS 14 41 Is 1.45

Vehnuages J. rse heal ion
ant Wismar

iv< 05.
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tanned. Four categories were used to measure this
aspect vhf hospital behavior.

Category 1 describes a behavior pattern in which the
anger was directed inward in a passive, overcontroUed
manner. These generally depressed, frightened, and
withdrawn patients felt worthless, hopeless, and unde-
serving but were not actively suicidal. Although these
passive patients were not behavioral prohlems on the
ward, the passivity frustrated clinicians' attempts to
establish therapeutic relationships.

Category 2 patients directed their anger Inward but
in a more overt, active fashion. This coping style was
characterized by active suicidal intent and or savage
self-hatred, with loss of control reflected in a variety of
self-destructive and self-mutilating behaviors. At
times, some of these patients alarmed even experienced
dMicians with their uncontrollable self - mutilation and
their resolutely maintained unempathic attitede to-
ward themselves.

Category 3 patients directed their anger outward in
a controlled manner. Some of these patients expressed
anger appropriately, while others displaced and pro-
jected their anger and hostility elsewhere (must promi-
nently toward hospital staff). In all cases, however,
control of aggressive impulses remained intact.

Category 4 patients directed their anger outward,
with aggressive and sometimes violent behaviors to-
ward others. Such loss of control was reflected in
outbursts of barely contained murderous rap , threats
to harm others, and actual assatilts. The four behavior
patterns were not mutually exclusive and some pa-
tients displayed aspects of more than one type at
coping hrhavior. For some patients, the information
available was insufficient for classification.
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A higher percentage of abused patients (20%) than
of nonabtsed patients (10%) displayed me behavior
pattern of category 2, that is, directed their aneir
inward in an actively self-destructive fashion. This
finding will be discussed further as we examine the
issue of sex differences.

Comparison of Abused Malts and Females

As noted earlier, abused patients were more likely to
be female. In this section we will compare. the 6S
abused females and the IS abused males.

The majority of abused males were teenagers (60),
and the insionty of abused females were adults (81%).
There were other differences between male and female
abused patients. First, they presented themselves dif-
ferently at the time of hospitalization (see table 2). The
behavior of the abused females resembled that of the
oche- females at the time of hospitalization, that is,
they were equally likely to be suicidal, depressed, and
so forth.

Abused males, however. differed from the other
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males, as shown. in table 2. The small number of
abused maks in the study deceased the fikelibood that
the findings would statistics*. signifsemit. NOW'
thekss, three of the relationships were statistically
significant and three of the remaining campanulas
showed substantial differences beaten petamaurs of
abused and noseband males. The abased males were
less likely to appear depressed, suiidal, or at
the time of Isomitainatioa (see table 1), were
more likely than marbling males to be swath.* or
to have disordered conduct or psychosomatic symp.
toms. Since the majority of abused males were teen-
arts. the increase in disordered =educe named age
as well as abuse.

Other differences between the abused males and
females emerged when behaviors before hospitaliza-
tion were examined. Table 2 shows that the abused
males were much more likely than the abused females
(and other males) to have abused others. Sixty percent
of the abused males had been violent toward others,
while only 17% of the abused females had been
violent. Abused males were also more likely than
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abused females (and other males) to have had criminal
justice ins olvement.

Perhaps the most important characteristic that dis-
tingunhed the behavior of the abused males and
females was that the males ' become more aggro-
sire whdc.the females had I me more passive. In
some ways the sex role ster.mtypes seemed to he
exaggerated in this sample. This was evident in the
way that the abused males and females coped with
anger (see table 3). Thirty-three percent of the abused
males coped with anger by directing it aggressively
toward others ( :ategory 4), but only 14% of the
abused females did so. The majority of abused females
(66%) directed their anger inward (categories 1 and 2),
compared with only 20% of the ahused males. As
shown in table 3. abused males, more than nonabused
males, coiled with anger by aggressively directing it
toward others, while abused females were more likely
than other females to turn their anger inward. For
example, 24% of the abused females, compared with
9% of the nnnabused females, were actively self-
donative during hospitalization.

DISCUSSION

Our finding that almost half of the psychiatric
inpatients in this sample had histories of physical or
sexual abuse or both should not come as a surprise,
given the prevalence of violence in the .veneral popula-
tion. As this study demonstrates, most of the abuse
occurred in the context of family. Although families
are usually viewed as providing the primary support
networks for individuals. our data confirm the findings
of other researchers (7, 9, 12, 13) that female adults
and children of both sexes arc t highest risk for
violence within the family. In a retrospective study of
40 patients with multiple personality disorder, Putnam
(14) found that NO% had been severely abused by
family members during childhood. It is important to
hear in mind that victims of family violence might be
overrepresented in any psychiatric sample because
violent family systems may produce a population at
risk for chronic abuse as well as for psychiatric illness.

Victims of physical and sexual abuse are faced with
an extraordinary task of conflict resolution as they
look for a context in which bodily harm and threats to
life can be understood. When the assailant is an
intimate or a family member, this process is immeasur-
ably complicated by the profound betrayal of trust.
Such victims must also cope with ongoing vulnerability
to physical and psychological danger when the abuser
has continuing access to the victim. It was not uncom-
mon, in our sample, for a patient to have experienced
multiple kinds of abuse. 1 nere were numerous cases of
women who were physically, or sexually abused as
children and subsequently raped or abused by spouses
and others in adulthood This pattern of increased
vulnerability of female victims to other kinds of abuse
was also described in Herman's study of incest victims

(7) and Hilberman's review of research on battered
women (8). It is unclear if such vulnerability to multi
ple abuse is the same among men with prior histories
of victimization, since the number of males s:as small
and the majority were adolescents.

What is clear, front the inpatient suinntarics and our
clinical experiences, is that the rsycholugical and
behavioral manifestations of chronic abuse reflect ex-
traordinary damage to the self, which then becomes
the object of the victim's hatred and aggression. While
there are psychodynamic issues specific to each kind of
abuse, our observations indicate a common pattern of
responses to chronic victimization. Although these
psychosocial responses may have different behavioral
manifestations in abused males and females, the psy-
chic trauma is similar. These victims have extreme
difficulties with anger and aggression, self-image, and
trust.

In contrast to the outrage and disgust experienced
by others hearing of the abuse, victims do not usually
acknowledge their anger toward their abusers, in part
because their rage is perceived as dangerous and
potentially uncontrollable and in part because of the
complex relationship between victim and abuser. After
years of abuse, victims blame themselves as they come
to believe that the abuse can be explained only by their
essential "badness."

In our sample, the abused females directed theit
hatred and aggression against themselves in both overt
and covert ways. These behaviors formed a continuum
fi am quiet resignation and depression to repeated
episodes of self-mutilation and suicide attempts. Self-
destructive behaviors were related to feelings of worth-
lessness, hopelessness, shame. and guilt. These affects
escalated when anger threatened to surface and, at
such times, often culminated in impulsive self-destruc-
tire episodes. Markedly impaired self-esteem was
prominent among these patients, as they conveyed a
sense that they were undeserving of any empathic
understanding or help by clinicians.

In comparison, the mainly adolescent male victims,
although experiencing many of the same feelings of
selfhatred, more dint directed their aggression to-
ward others. It is likely that these outward displays of
aggression were defenses against intolerable feelings of
helplessness and vulnerability. In the hospital this
internal dynamic was reflected in alternating expres-
sions of anguish and despair followed by threatening
"macho" behavior and displays of physical prowess.
Patterns of sex role socialization ohiously shape the
differential responses to abuse of males and females.

The social histories and inpatient process notes
provide Impressive evidence of the abused patients'
lack of trust and the way in which inability to trust
complicates the evaluative and treatment processes.
Herman (7) reported the same finding in her study of
father-daughter incest, in which she described a dual
pattern of inability to feel trust when this would be
appropriate and to protect oneself when trust is inap-
propriate. In our sample, expectations of abandon-
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ment and exploitation by the clinician were prominent.
hence victims dud nut spontaneously reveal the ahuw
or easily form therapeutic alliances.

In the absence of d 'nformation about past or
current alum, our data suggest that ahosed patients
are not easily distinguished from nonabused patients at
the time of admission to the hospital. Rather, the
significant differences between abused and nonabtised
patients emerged during the course of hospitalisation
and were reflected both in the treatment difficulties
and the greater length of time that abused patients
remained in the hospital. These outcomes may be the
end result of victims I) inability to trust, which delays
nr prevents the development of a therapeutic liaison, 2)
impaired self-esteem, whereby abused patients judge
themselves as undeserving of treatment, and 31 diffi-
;ashy in cnping with aggression, whereby anger is
destructively directed toward the damaged self or
others.

CONCLUSIONS

Clinicians generally ask patients abcwit abuse experi-
ences if they have some reason to suspect abuse.
However, these suspicions are often based on un-
founded stereotypes about victims and violent families.
Increasing awareness of the extent of violence in this
so, leads us to suspect that psychiatric patients are
ft likely to have experienced physical andrnr sexual
violence than to hear unites, yet clinicians are system-
atic in their inquiries about hallucinations while over-
looking the reality and importance of violent assaults.
Our research underscores the discrepancy Iwtween the
alarming numbers of people who are physically and
sexually abused and the Malice lack of attention that
is given to these topics in taking rnutine psychiatric
histories.

Clinicians are largely unaware of the psychosswial
consequences of abuse because the victim-to-patient
process is an area of clinical research that his been
underconceptualised. Thus, even when abuse is identi-
fied, clinicians' confusion about the role of abuse in
psychiatric illness leaves them unprepared to imple-
ment special treatment apprnaches for what appears to
be a large proportion of psychiatric patients. In j
separate paper, wo will analyse a series of inpatient
case examples that illustrate and capture the complex-
ity of the victim-topatient process and its implications
for treatment. From our perspective, a major locus of
treatment must he to help victims become survivors.
This transformation is contingent on recognizing how
shrunk abuse constructs the individual's social identi
ty as a victim and how the survival strategies employed
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by victims interfere not only with emotional develop.
ment but with the therapeutic alliance and process.

Because the theoretical understanding of the victim.
to-patient process lags behind clinical ;Amiens.... with
victims, our research raises more questions than
answers about the effects of Amw and the condition.
that leave some, but not all, victims % idnerable to
psychiatric illness, %I: believe we have provided a
realistic description of the lives of chronically buwd
females whose self-destructive behaviors and silence
make them hard to identify and treat. Fkwever,
because most of the abused males to our population
were adolescents, we can only conjecture alsOut their
fates as adult men. It may be that, if the behavioral
response pattern of the abused adolescent males seen
in our population continues into adulthood, they
become inmate. in tither structured environments,
such at state mental hospitals and prisons. It is possible
that these men are coerced into treatment only alto
they have become dangerous and awaultive, hence the
treatment focus is on their abusive behaviors while
their histories of victimization go unrecognized. The
large population of Pict Nam veterans in prisons and
psychiatric hospitals would provide a relevant sample
of adult male victims for further study.
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A Hidden Eifilemic
Sexual abuse of children is much more common than most Americans suspect.

Laori, a ihrtmymrold with rosy cheeks.
blond haw and blue eyes, was playing

outside her home in a Denver subu rb when a
man enticed her into has crr. Three days
ista, a party of hikers found Lori at a park
in the foothills of the Rockies. They heard
child's cry coming from sr. outhouse, and
when they looked down into the pat, there
was Lon She was ankle-deep in sewage,
naked except for her panties. When they
asked her what she was doing there. she
replied: "I'm home. l live here." After the
ens pulled out of the 10foot pat. doctors
discovered that Lon was suffenng from
hypothermia, bench rJOIAnd sexual
abuse. A few Jays after that. she admitted I
21.yearold man in a police lineup. "He was
the bad man." she said. "Ile put ma in the
hole." The alleged attacker, Robert ThireL

highschool dropout and Air Force veer.
an who says police have the wrong man.
hasn't been toed yet; that ordeal still lie*
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ahead of Lori. Otherwise, she's slowly get.
ling buster. She has nightmares. of course.
Two or three time week, she wakes up
lemming: "Get me OW of here'

All at once. the wingl abuse of Anthem
wenn as ublitous as it once was uneaten.
tionabk. A California daycare coon is
shut down, stall' members accused of Im-
buing thechIldew andsmeetedof matins
them out to pedophiles and pornographers.
A U.S. senator reveals that, si a child, she
was sow lly it' nal by "a man around the
comer." A respected theatrics/ director in
Minneapolis IS charged with wducing some
ofhisboystudems. As heir toepharmaceu.
tkal fortune in Michigan pleads no contest
to a charge that he sexually assaulted his
stepdaughter for/seven yeast she judgesets.
Races him to a dose of his own medicine' a
controversial drug that deadens desire.

"Why suddenly its all them things big
amour asks Sen. Paula Hawkins. The
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Floelda Republkan knows from bitter per.
tona espericnce that child molesting is g
vary old vice Is there mote brawl abuse of
children these days, or are we just hearing
more about It? 11te 'spins dial really
know. S01114 of them argue that in our
stressful, permissive society, child moleib
ing has Increased along with other foam of
witualactivity.Othen, Including weviefrn.
Mink maintain that society has always es.
plaited the weak. Whit stems certeln is that
thaseaualabuseofchildren by theleeldenis
much more widespread than MOSS AM
cans suspect- at want As believe.

Piety Swett Thoroughly reliable watts
pass don't yet cant, sad they never will as
long as the victims of molestation alb be
shamed or teeriSrl into treating the 'ape*
ince as a dirty secret, Out according to the
estimates of various reseatehen, acme
what between 100,000end SCO,CCOAmerl.
can children will be ennlened this year. kw
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the offenders will be reported to anyone
in atiihnInt, and fewer still will be pun.
Med. Millions of today's adults we the
grownup victims set usual abuse in one
form of another, some relatively harmless,
others unimaginably saves'. David
hor of the Family Violence Research Pro
gram at the univasity of New Hampshire
has done one study showing that 19 percent
of all American women and 9 percent of all
men were usually victimized as children.
And he says it is fair to speculate" that
between 2 million and 3 million AMMO%
women have had Incestuous relationships

Madera Despite all the approaima
dons in their data, researchers When they
are compiling an accurate composite of the
child molester. Moss abusers are not "ditty
old men." Many apnea, to be quite respect.
able, and most are relatively young; in .me
study only tO percent of the a..sellants were
Loud to be older than 50. Most child mo-
lesters are well known to their victims;
thteequattets or more ate Mends, neigh-
bors or telstivn. MOM abusers were abused
themselves as children. A great many are
repot offenders. One study of arrest rec.
ords and etufeuksns tallied an avenge of
73 victims for tech betercemual pedophile
and 30 tumid homosuusi child molester.
And many *toms will never change.
"There's no such thing as a cum for pro-
philia," says Warren K. Mumpower of

No
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Florida, whose amnia woo from rig
a convicted *Gorr himself (page 34

Semiramis. are trying locum molesters
anyway, or at least get their urges under
cannot. Manymonatetndinswsystolual
the vietinse. Lae courts in many states are
waking it rain for children to testily
Wiest abuser (page 32). Therpins are
helping children to exorcise (r demons
shrub doll play and aureola, drawing.
Ildwasots are taring rustle) victims
Om dinners Woven "geed touching"
NI "bed Mohler" sad how tory "oo" to
retheritative people meek bluer than
shusseire. It- mistake hes suddenly
bassist another howeress topic for the
stewsmedia.perhips !West loth/rood
*. font sip that attentive is /sally being
rid too guilty seems that pemmican have
dreaded So kr
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gallon includes the possible abuse of girls.
In penult the aspens say that child MO.

nuns tend to be weak, insecure men who
need to feel that they are lord and are in
control of a relationship. Wert Coast ft.
searcher Sandy Butler says that some men
these days are searching for "partners who
remake and younger. As the youth cult
becomes more pervasive." she says, "and
at women make more darner men turn
away from peers as partners and turn to.
ward Iloyearmids or even I Inermlds."

neltinsys Some to arches divide nu.
bees into two rural categories. The
"lasted" offender sten claims to be "in
lovierlthchildren"a pedophileend haa
been snolestiss them for ran. Frequently
abusaelthasstives asyounpterk thesepec
pie see kris who become bated on
pubeecent children, often reining their
actual appetite to hat pins orjUtt boys. It's
comma pot porphliss to lie staple, el
though same try man*. and may even
become prate Many of them wallow in
Melly. "Whoever! felt insecure sad sick
sad not le retro! of my life, that's when the
echoes word kappa," says "Danny," who
boring e 30yeet term at theConneetion
Conectional Inatitstion in Semen, Cam.
"Fr a *dm, too,"

k corm, "repressur molester may
have led normal marled Ines for years.
Their suer involvement with glares
meter museums of theappositear and
Oro pest pubertymu be trIOned
surto stair seek Is NaldM crier"
"An mum* wear be as adult male of
about 40. where hit marries dissolve' rat
he pets Involved Mika agbtterye
Dr. Mickel Cos, director of the Sea Ot
Centre Treatment Program aillat.ftsrOt



SPECIAL REPORT
College of Medicine In Houston, Texas.

It kincest that strikes many 'took as the
most disffeceftil form of Karl abuse. In
fact. studies show that in about twothirds
of aU Incest car, the offender is not
the biological pert He is a stepfather.
Deirdre O'Dolloghue still has flashbacks
about hers. The smell of a country ban or
the scent of the after abase he used to wear
bangs it all back: how her stepfather forced

455

her torrent* with him etre family's ruul
home in Michigan. Sometimes be would
single her out from her five brothers and
sisters to drive into town with him. "He
wouldstopona Ward and make me have
oral sex olds him until he climaxed," she
says. Her Mather was sick, and her sure
thee said she would die if anyone found out.
"I believed him." O'Donoehue recalls "I
thought my mom would die and I would be
left with this man." Deep down she felt
guilty. Itwasonlytwoyu ut aso, after 101101'

therapy, that O'Doriogra, now.27, Nair
lad: "I am not responsible."

Ina 19111 study, Harvard Medical School
psychiatrist Dr. Judith Herman coffluded
that the most striking similarities among
incestuous families were the father.' tend.
try to tyrannize and the mother's fear of
questioning Ins 'balm authority. The tyr
anny may be all heads. "People always
thinkofthefalurasen arressivesutocrat,
but in many rasa, he's like e child," says
Hank Chef fell° Of Sae Jose, Calif., director

Children and the Courts
"He touched me with his peanue." the

12.yearadd girl told aSt. Paul. Minn.,jury.
"What's a peanut? asked prosecuting at
torney Kathleen and n. Then she handed
the frightened child. who is retarded, two
anstoreallycorrectdollsandgently asked
her to explain. Weeping, the child used the
dolls to graphically demonstrate a sexual
a "t. The shock in the courtroom was Audi.
hie. "I thought the jury was going to jump
over the ad and attack the defendant,"
Garin said. Instead, the Jurors convicted
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that they both knew 'Indifference between
the truth and Iles and could express what
they had Seen. What% different about the
current situation is thatjudgesare not only
permitting more kids to get their day in
Melt, but their elailttS If I being taken sal.
mak. Judges have learned that often theta
is no !Of f ti/t1011 bttliittll ate a rid honesty,
and, with the tato( all converts. have tried
to make their courtrooms more inviting
places for children. Properly handled,
sense experts believe that the aware,

can do is show, that should be enough."
Can children be ',lead? "We have a

very Irma Intellectual tradition that dis.
credits the testimony of women and chil
drat when they complain of sexual as
sault," says Harvard Medical School
psychiatrist Judith Herman. False charges
are rare, she indite "More commonly
there are false retractions of true rm.
plaints" after a child gives in to family
pressure not to testify against an abusive
relative. Child advocates won't deny that
children invent taks sometimes. But 'nor.
nay David Lloyd of Washington's Oil.
dress's Hospital has test listen for

details the child would
not know if he or she
had not witnessed sera
conduct. As Miran°.
Us psychologist Michael
O'Brien says, "Children
juudon't fantaluabout
DrdyOrgains pules in

r mouth."
aidesonTeehnkally,

In most states, the vie
tines testimony WOW is
enough to win a mac
ilon, but in practlapros.
motors prefer to have
moreevIdeice Only
brash and the District
of Columbia still ff.
Claire independent e01,
reharation to prove sex.
ual abuse. Two weeks

U ego. New York finally
repealed that require.

resent--andnonetomoort,ffeemstonsaY.
"It ems heartbreaking." reap New York
County seaima chief Linda Pairstein.
"The kids would come in, tell their ram.
end therersnothing wetoulddo."

fudges and juries tend to be most suspi.
Moue of area errors that are pert of a
divorce or antody "It's not that
children are vicious." says New York Ir.
yer Norman alma, "but they're used eu
pawns." ledges and kilos recognize that
risibility, and as a result may overlook
14140141 abuses. ay Waffinfon. D.C.
pffeholonntlara Donald arsoffes-
peciallyglandasmix-ondratchsatureof
the wader family. anal troglodyte to
leak toe"rectlephysicalandpsycholoni.

the child's stepfather on two felony
countsand thejudse sentenced him to 42
months in jail.

There was a time when a usually abused
child who complained to the relict had
only one thing to look forward to: another
rept In thecourtroom. Out for many young..
Iambi many courts, that is no longer tate.
ChIldrenanbeinatamboardand believed
in MO that previously were consigned to
the closet. "The trend." says University of
Nebraska Prof. Guy Melton. "is to let the
tadroony of children In and to be fairly
liberal in &procedure.*

Children have bees permitted to testify
under AngloAnserkan law at lout sloes
1779, provided that they unified a judge

cube helphd foe theehild. Says San Rem
ciao counselor Julie Robbins, who has
tracked 400 cases. "I sot COWS as a nee.
ury 'tiptoe abused kids lescathartia"

affordable In Masuchusetts,jodges
bring In pintsise witness theirs so Young.
sten' feet won't dangle. In Maryland, chil-
dren who have trouble soaking may draw
what happened. In Mini:mar a child fro.
ten with Rae was permitted to testify from
under the prosecutor's table. And from
Mohair leach, Calif.. to 8
N.Y.,eltildren Inman tuedolleto=
ores whoessanteatherret row. "We
have to quit yarding that kids have to
tat* like adults," offs Kathleen Morris,
a prosecutor in Minnesota. "If all they

41440
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of Parents United, which helps adults. sic.
IIMS and offenders alike to cope with the
consequences of child molestation. "He has
an adolescent romance with his daughter."
One father told a researcher how he had
worked his way through his children. W.
clueing two sons and two daughters to turn.
Only the third chid, a daughter. escaped,
and when the father was asked why, he
shrugged: "She said no."

Habitual molesters often claim that their
victims gladly say "yes." They meat that----- ---

cal reactions" that abused children show.
Defending an alleged abuser is not

child's play. A defense attorney who rips
into a young witness may irreparably hues
his client. "That approach doesn't have
much jury appeal." says San Francisco
Judge Robert Mike. Most defenders as
sort that the assault never happened and
conAny their cross- examination to just
enough questions to point out tnconsist..n
clove lapses in a child's mcmurya tactic
that is particularly effective if the child has
been testifying fora longtime. And there is
good reason to give the defense consider-
able latitude. "Nobody wants to vicurnice
the victim again." says Houston Judge Ted
Pot. "But we can't allow emotion to take
over, either. Just the stigma of being
charged is so great that the defense must
haves realehance."

Ftwerstiont In fact, the odds still favor
the molester. Most cases still to unreport-
ed. Most complaints never lead to
charges. Most charges are reduced in plea
bargains. Those that survive can dray on
for years. Ft. Lauderdale prosecutor Carl
Weinberg quit his job attar in months
because he couldn't stand the frustrations
any longer. "I can think back on maybe
two or three cases in which I really helped
the child," he recalls. "It's a funk battle
that tee -a your heart out "

Several states are now trying OM reforms
to ease a few of the problems. In Texas,
victims' statements are vidrotaped early in
investigations and can even be introduced
at trislsolong as the child is available foe
cross-examination. In Colorado.counsare
experimenting with funneling lawyers'
questions through a friendly therapist. In
Washington and Colorado, state laws per.
mit a counselor to tell thejury white young
child told him,eventhoughit'shearsay that
can't be crosseu m Med. Each of these new
Ideas may runafoul dadefendanticonsti.
tunnel right to "confront" his accuser.
And they all may be tied up In appeals
awns for years. In the meantime, parents
and teachers would do well to tell their
children when to scream for help--so they
neverhave tokam whattheview isfromt he
witnessstand
AaICiMlatW
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some "seductive" children initiate Waal
contact and that others cooperate w.11ingly,
without being forced. "Mari t ma she
thoroughly enjoys iheact,"eonvietedpedo
phde Warren Mumpower told Senate inoes.
nesters recently. But studio., show that
although even small ch ildre. can feel usual
pleasure of a sort. they don't enjoy sea with
an adult for long, if at all. They become
involved with grownups through trickery.
emotional pressure or physical coercion.
And in any case, ihechild'senjoyment isnot
the issue. The real point is that children are
simply not able to give informed consent.

Danis Siandards About 90 percent of all
child molesters are men. But women may
be more active than moat people suspect.
Society has a double standard. at lent for
heterosexual abuse it phies the girl who is
molested by a man. but when a boy is se.
duced by an older woman, he may be re-
girded as "lucky." In feels say the (*Perks
even that kind of sea can
be traumatk for a child.
"You don't need a penis
to hurt kids," says Kith.
ken Morris, a county
prosecutor in Minima.
ta. One of her current
caw involves the small
townof/ordan, where 16
adultshave been accused
of belonging to a an
ring that 'than more
then twodosenthildmi.
Eight of the alleged of-
fenders are women.

So k the principal Ig
me in the country's mot
publicized current ease
of abuse. Up until last
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March. Virginia McMartin. 76, ran a presti.
gMot preschool iii Manhattan Beach, Calif.
Then the police arrested McMartin, along
with other us, members! her daughter, a
grandson and granddaughter and three fe-
male employees. The authorities charged
that for at kiss a dank, more than 100
children at the private Khoo, were fondled,
sodomized and raped. and there are suspi.
dons that some of the tots may have been
hired out for pornography and prostitution.
With growing numbers of eroding mothers
and single parents. American society is in.
crankily dependent on daycare facilities,
and the Manhattan Beach case still seems
unbelievable to many people. How could
suchathingloonforsolong1Whydidn't tha
children tell?

Allegedly. youngsms at the McMartin
school were forced towetch the slaughter of
pets such as rabbits and birds and were
warnedthat thesansething would happen to
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them or their families if they told anyone
what went on at school The children also
were made to feel guilty "Secrecy is the key
to child abuse." says Dr Roland Summit. a
Los Angeles psychiatrist who's an authority
on molestation. "The children feel that they
themselves hsvebeen badbypamicipatingin
this dreadful were*" Kee MecFarlane, a
therapist who has been working woo the
Mch4snin schoolchildren, says thet incases
of incest, "there is a terrible conflict for the
children between wanting to tell what hap-
pened to them and not wanting something
bad to happen to the molester " The same
cover-up instinct may apply to a teacher.
And if a child does try to complain, even
those closest to him may ignore his cry for
help "Parents do not want to believe what
h as happmed," says Bill Dworin.adetective
whoworks with the sexually exploited-child
unit of the Los Angeles Police Department.
"Often. they accuse the child of lying or
making things up."

If patents have their doubts, it should be

1444/44.1

no surprise that other people do. Many of
them cannot believe that a respectable man
or woman would do such foul things. When
Boeing Aerospace executive Vincent Fitz.
gerald was tried in Seattle last year for the
statutory rape of two girls aged I and 10.
testimony in his behalf was given by 11
Boeing executive* Fitzgerald was convict.
ed. When Mike Baker, a police detective in
Denton. Tens, investigated allegations of
sexual abuse at alocalday-tarecenter run by
the Full Gospel Church. he was the target of
angry phone calls. The pastor of the c h urnh
voluntarily closed the center and says ht
doesn't plan to reopen it.

Fantarin Still, many people aren't con
vinced that children know the difference
between fact and fantasy."Ijustsat foreight
hours in a day.cate center full of hreo year.
olds." publicdefender CraiflTruman.whois
representing the defendant in the Denver
abduction case, said last week. "You realize
how much a threeyearold will want to
please you, no if you ask them 'how did you

SPECIAL REPORT
coos to school today? they'll say in a pr.
DUI if you change your question and aak
them what kind of speaship. 01001 say
awed* It really leads you to believe that
you can make a three-year-old my any.
thing." Most 'evens insist. however, that
eltIldrenalmostneverlieaboulsexualabuse,
WO mast of It goes beyond anything they
men Imagine or even see on TV. Yvette
Kane, adeputy district attorney In Denver,
flestsstoriesthat ring I rue, "We've had kids
come in and tell us. 'Daddy took that thing
that he pea with and he put it between my
legs and then he peed on me'." she says.
"When four- year-olds describe ejaculation
that way. You know that they didn't hear it
somewhere else. That happened to them."

Even when molesters are convicted.
judges are reluctant to send them to prison.
Behind both, sex offenders are likely to be
beaten, raped or even murdered by other
convicts, ethodespise "diddlers." And most
prisons offer no therapy for child molesters.
Accordingly. judges often sentence offend-
en to probation. requiring them to get tiler.
spy, The problem is that therapy isn't very
effeetive in many cases. "The molester
knows that if he sings the right song and
dances the right dance, he'll be out a lot
quicker." lays Jay !towel!. executive direr-
torathelustice Department's newnlemoo-
al Center for Missing and Exploited Chil-
dm* "So he sells the 121114 bill of goods that
Theodore Frank sold." Frank rapid and
kith:de two-yes r-old California girl in 1978.
just a few weeksafter he was released from a
state mental hospital. Irving Prager. a law
professor who prosecuted Frank. toys that
aspen of his treatment. "Frank's with, who
weighed 300 pounds, was asked to dress up
asachild.Sheand Prink. who wassmall and
skinny, were then supposed to have sea to.

A Troubling Family Affair
Mary had been susmeious for a lint

time. Her husband. George. 43. had tip
ways been close to Ann. his 13year.old
daughter by a previous marriage. But
Mary repressed her concern. She herself
had been molested at a child by two older
brothers, and she worried about project
ing her doubts on Ann. "I'd tell myself 1
was just being jealous." she says. "Ann
never acted afraid of him. She always
wanted to be with him." Finally. when she
couldn't bear it any longer. Mary con-
rased her fears to George.

In fact, Georgehadbeen molesting Ann
for more On lOyearsprogressIng from
petting to intercourse. "It wasjust some-
thing 1 wanted to do, something I thought
1 needed." he captains. "I knew I was
doing something wrong," he say,. "She
loved me and I loved her. She was Just

thereand 1 helps. t I." He alweys felt
potty ifterw. ' pleaded with her not
to let him do O again. But within days the
guilt would give way todestre. "It was like
an addiction." he says. How much that
addiction had to do with his own child-
hood. George can't say. Hut when he was
live, an 11yearold uncle forced him to
performs sexualact. Henever told anyone
about it, and theunclelater died.

%Victim) When she finally confronted
the two of them. Mary recalled her own
experience. "1 had no anger with Ann,"
shcsays "I knewshewesavictim.Shewas
very calm. She seemed relieved." They
agreed George should seek professional
help. and Mary and he went to a nieral-
health agency. The agency reported the
problenstolepl authorltirsurequired by
law Mary was shocked when the shell

entered the case. "I didn't even know it
was &sal," she isys..I'd never wanted to
accuse Ann of anything that would mess
her up I thought that what had happened
in my life wascausingthe problem."

George served four me... ha in s work.
furlough program, carefully hiding his
crime from other pnsoncrs. "If you're a
child molester. they'd as soon kill ya as
look at ya." hesays. "I felt like the lowest
scum on earth." Then Mary and George
sinned group therapy. "1 kept waiting for
all the guys will raincoats and greasy hair
to thow up," laughs Mary. "But everyone
looked him regular middle.class moots."
Through counseling, they've been able to
rebuild their marls:tend fled *measure
(shelf-esti...m."1 feel very bad about what
I did," saysGeorge, holding Marys hand
ashespeaks. "Rut it'sin thepastandwert
pinion. Right now, I fed more love than
Pruner felt Wine."
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robw that be could work out hie

Another spiny conuovereial
*envy invohas tbe drug Depo=b

amnions bormonetbst is need ass coats
umbls women. In mew roducesses
duke,

e
and for pure doesors at Johns Hoop

Mu Hospital la Odium law been Ping
hasprimentally to male imuifendus Ear.
Nu this year. a Neds. in Kalamazoo. Mick..
ordered that the drug be ethiPistersel to
Roger Gauntlett. 42, the vestimndson of
the foundeeoftbe Upjohn Cooehich makes
DepoProura. Gamlen had pleaded no
**WO to *harps be usaulted his Nip
duskier. and at Uri another Mae was
ping to let isle of with a S2 million chains-
bieconuibution. The ensuing public proem
led to a *bulge on the bench. and the new
Jude. Kober' Bona. sentenced OeuntInt
to result:6°6nd DeproPtovere. Gaudin
is appealing the genuses penly became the
drug is Pito be nay for No* who suffer.
u he does, from high blood presort and a
beencondition.

Plumes Some evens haven't OM up
hope for mm conventional therapy. "We
look at it like an alcoholbuse problem ."
'us Dr. A. Nocholas Grath. director of the
program for child =Wets at the state
prison in Somers. COOL "We don't think
there's a cure, but you can learn to control
it. " Rut precisely Paine then!, moan for
many rooks errs. measure is rising In many
pens of the country for longer prison se
team If only to keep abysm away from
children. In Scat County. Minn.. a while
whoa Cennak and live adult memben
of Ns family were prosecuted for molesting
several child relatives. When Coronet's's...
yeareNd son was informed that his father
had been convicted and sentenced to 40
years in prhott.hk ant mention mellow
Ptsise0yeant"Prosecutot Kathleen Mot.
rte replied: "You'll be as big as your dad
when he pq out." With a sigh of relief. the
child said: "Tim Pellet bun me."

Molesters do hurt children, sometimes
physically and almost always in spirit. The
bodily damage can include torn vaginas and
rectums and venereal disease. Foreign ob.
Jens are used with sickening frequency.
Members of the sea ring in Jordan. Minn..
are accused a/Inserting mirkre and candles
into their little violins.

Eleven-year-old "Andrea" seemed to be
cured of her epileptic seizures until a M.
yearmid man nut door abused her a year
ego. Then At tuned bangle seizures
spin she wee called back to
coon to t . Her motel torment may be
even stealer t an Peppin! suffering. The
neighbors and their children seem to blame
her for the roolestatice. "TM kids at school
isY.'Well. you probably In him do it eoyou,'
and I 'ay. 'No, 1 didn't,' and they say. 'Well,
than bow did be do it to you? " Andres
paumefot breath. "llseytkinitl let him Pit
foe mooey." she says. "I told theft 'I didn't
know he'd do anything like this' Rut they
uid.'You probably In him do IF."
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Monenenshasexisalabuseloodstomore
massive mental dump. A undy directed
by Ann W. Burgess, a praetor at the UP
verity of Pennsylvania School of Nursing.
found that the victims of child sea nap
uttered foot nightmares, hyperaemia'.
luau's and nashbacksthe suite sums
toms of put mums* sines disorder *et
are found In combo veterans Other re.
surds shows that the victims of Wink
weal abut cope with repeated austitts by
developing multiple personalitima dotes
or so co averspand sometimes mote then

little 110 he couldn't bon me*** child
100 identities. 11 became another

told rti Yolk socisl worker Fiore Cols°.
'Twain The dint testate children from

orb ordeals is taking many innovative
forms. One of the more succeund is the
Illusion Theater of Minneapolis. whose
playecting :4Ips children to recopied the
perk of ew! slone.
''hethaternanpenyhea v
traveled to 35 stow and
liaised t1 "frazubiam"
to perform its plays At
the Hale Elementuy
School in Minneapolkh
500 kids Pulsed a pa,
Macau of "Taub"
lee Pek.Sis players act.
ul out nem of sexual
pabusea pendfathee'sodidgla Maim
into fondlikWn of IP
Peru, two
UK* kids into Pilo
olfIlesirelothas

It le longer mouth
for parents to warn then
children ISAMU Wept.
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inguady or rides fru, stringers Thereon
aka lessons that need tobetausht et home:

it's all right to say no to an adult. "This is
the chapter that Dr. Epoch Ill out." says
socielworkerCoiso."Witteechourchildren
to be quiet. to obey. to always be pod. We
tuck them to be perfect victims." Instead,
kids should ham thee there are terrain
elthiss that noadult--even a relativehas a
right to:imbrue/40We AWL

Trust yourisaincis Ifacitild Phantom.
fortablewitk the hussorkistesheseu from a
missive or friend, his parents should not
encourage him to put up with them for the
sakeofavoldings fuse.

If a situation aeon leteedne, run away.
Or yell your heed ot the Children's Self
Help Project In Son Francisco ouches kids
Ina self.derenseyett. adeep, feanonse sound
that rumbles up from the diaphragm and
sounds deals, dlfeoint from the high.
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pitched WWI of ordinary childish play.

Don't keeper:emit When sexual abuse is
concerned, duldren should be encouraged
to"tell"and parentsthouldlluen.

Don't blunt yourself. Children should be
taught, even before anything happens to
them, that sexual abuse is not the victim's
fault."ft isjust strask accident. much likea
ear crash, says UCLA psychologist Paul
Abramson.
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Is it poulble to Overdo
Ryan Campbell. seven. ems eying by hit
housain Austin. Tusk** agoteheahe
noticed that his father, who had been doing
yard work. was Ito loapr In sight. Panicked.
thaboyran huidmindtoldhlaniothsel was
afraid someone Wahl grab met" Ryan's
mocher.Cathy, woeksfot gum agency that
investiptes child Mem and she knows
about the ugly things that can happen to
kids. Still. she says, "It grabbed my beau to
hear the fear. I want my children to be

cautioukbut Idun'twantthantobelfteld."
But there's only a thin line basics cau-

tion tad fur. In the peek parents tried to
shield their children from ugly realities
and probably did not tell than enough. To.
day, as the MI taunt of child attestation
becomes clear, parents must Pad ways to
acquaint their children, as calmly at pouf.
hie, with the new factsollife.
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`Letter From a Pedophile'
Warren K .Hampower Ira pedophile.

He masts that pedophiles are different
from "rapists" and other molesters. Mr
pedophile.hesaya soon loving"relarion
ships with cbildren. Rut the law islet
interested In such dor/net/out In 19112
Mumpower, ea a twit...chromed lathery/
four, was convocted of lewd and lascivious
behavior with an eightyear-old girt Ile is
cuwentlyserving a ISIMOIMSORZelltflite
at Avon Park Correctional Institution in
Floridm Following, attempts from a Amer
Manpower wrote too US Senatecommit-
iminvestigatingchildabust:

The sexual abuse of children is of such
magnitude that it would stagger the mind
of the average person. Stop some dry and
watch the children on the playground.
Then say to yourself, "Most of those little
girls over the age of eight have had or w,11
hare sexual contact (nut necessarily inter.
course)beforepuberty."

A emitted We an- ,

fester at the term
terrectlemal Mitts-
dee M Coetteeticut.
Are Beleehltes run
remeatles hales to
sem from aeon
mete

The pedophile's experiences with his
girls are, in his mind, romantic experi
cores, and he may truly believe he is "in
love" with her. Ills level of understanding
of life and love is very childlike. He lives in
a fantasy world and still tries to believe
Cinderella lived happily to er after. He has
experienced the realities of life, found
them distasteful and tries to return to his
Cinderella world. He is generally very
polite, kind and appears to be genuinely
concerned . !which! plays right into la
child's! vulnerability. A few kind touches
and she is a hotbed °hese.' feelings.

The pedophile is generally a somewhat
successful manat least totheliminnf his
education and abilities. He may have been
rejected by a wife or adult girlfriend but
otherwise is accepted by society and is
probably a respected citizen or the corn.
m um ty Society has not rejected himhe
has rejected society. The child molester
has troubles with society as a whole. He

has generally been rejected by society for
thinks he has) and is unstable in his wort
habits, is unable to function socially and is
fairly much a loner. Ile is living in reality
and ea nnot copewith t t. He has nowhere to
escape but to the child's world. Sea be.
comes Isiseicammechanism.

Unfortunately, solving the problem of
sexual abuse of children is not so simple as
to tell the child to not accept candy from
strangers .. The sinekparent family is
the most important group to reach. Gen-
erally the mother is unstable emotionally

. As much as parents do not wish to
admit, they must realize their lire is the
EXAMPLE that the child will follow. If
the mother is of immoral character and
allows her boyfriend to"move in," then it
iv certain the eiehtyeat.old s ill have her
own boyfriend. Chances are It will be a
man. First, she is looking for a replace
mat for "daddy." Second, she feels fur.
ther rejection because some other man is
nulling attention from her mom Met she
feels is hen ... Many single parents, and
married ones also. are an wrapped up in
"self" that they actually pawn their chi!
dress of on the pedophile ... to get the
"brats" aut of their hair. This rejection
plays right inrothehandsofthepedopitik.

'Lunn I a mild like to relate an experi
cue of mine involving a young neighbor
gi rl °hewn or eight. I hadjust come home
from work on a Friday afternoon and was
in my bedroom relaxing fora few minutes
beforestartingsupper for mythildrat and
myself. The girl came bursting into my
room in tears. After I calmed her sobbing
downtothepoint whenshecouldtalk.she
asked if she cOuld spend the weekend. I. of
course, was curious why she wanted to
spend the weekend and what was all the
sobbing about. Het reply war bet morn
was having another fiber boyfriends for
theweekendandshecouldnotbearhaving
tort upin the middle of the night togo to
the bathroom walking put her mom's

1

swan and seeing mine "fat are" bobbing
p tad down. After moth careming. cud-
0Mg and mutual fondling in the nude. I
uhnSkr,"Whatisthediferencebetween
that we Pet did and what your mom
dourHerrespouci"ILOVEyou."

Have you hugged your kids badaYT If
not, a child molests WWI

0
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